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TRIAL.

JUNE 10, 1867.

The court was opened at 10 o’clock. Present : the district attorney, E. C.
Camington, esq., his assistant, N. Wilson, esq., and associate counsel, Messrs.
Edwards Pierrepont and A. G. Riddle, for the United States, and the prisoner
and his counsel, Messrs. Joseph H. Bradley, R. T. Merrick, and Joseph H.
Bradley, junior.

The CourT said : Gentlemen, this is the day assigned for the trial of John
H. Surratt, indicted for the murder of Abraham Lincoln, late President of the
United States. Are you ready to proceed?

Mr. BeavLey. The prisoner is ready, sir, and has been from the first.

The CourT. Are you ready, Mr. Carrington ?

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, I am happy to be able to
announce that the government is ready to proceed with the trial. Before we
proceed, however, sir, to empanel a jury, we desire to submit a motion to the
court, which motion we have reduced to writing. With the permission of the
coart 1 will now proceed to read it to your honor. It is as follows:

In the Supreme Court of the District of Colambia. United States vs. John
H. Surratt. Indictment, murder.

And now, at this day, to wit, on the 10th day of June, A. D. 1867, come the
United States and the said John H. Surratt, by their respective attorneys ; and
the jurors of the jury empanelled and summoned also come ; and hereupon the
said United States, by their attorney, challenge the array of the said panel,
because he saith that the said jurors comprising said panel were not drawn

according to law, and that the names from which said jurors were drawn were not
selected according to law; wherefore he prays judgment, and that the said panel
may be quashed.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. This motion, if your honor please, is sustained by
an affidavit which I hold in my bhand, and which, with the permission of your
honor, 1 will now proceed to read. We think that it will be found unneces-
gary, after this affidavit has been read, to introduce any oral testimony.

The affidavit was then read as follows :

DisTricT oF CoLUMBIA, County of Washington, to wt:

Be it remembered that on this seventh day of June, A. D. 1867, before the
wubacriber, a justice of the peace in and for the county aforeeaid, in the District
aforeaaid, personally appeared Samuel Douglass, who, being first duly sworn,
depozes and says, that in the months of January and February, A. D. 1867, he
was register of Washington city, in the District aforesaid ; that about the first
of February in said year, this affiant deposited in the box required to be kept
in the office of the clerk of the supreme court of the District of Columbia, four
bundred names, (each name being written on a separate piece of paper, and each
paper being carefully rolled and tied,) as a part of the names from which jurors
were to be selected under the provisions of the act of Congress of June 16, 1862;
that at the same time the clerk of the levy court deposited forty names, and the
clerk of Georgetown deposited eighty names in said jury box; that the names
deposited by thie official were selected by him partly from the poll lists of
Washington city and partly from the names of citizens who he thought well
qualified to serve as jurymen; that the names of the persons so selected by this
affiant as register were not communicated by him to the clerk of Georgetown or
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the clerk of the levy court, nor did they at any time know the names selected
by this affiant, nor did this affiant know at any time the names of those selected
by the said clerk of Georgetown, nor by the clerk of the levy court; that the
names having been deposited as aforesaid, the box was returned to the clerk of
the supreme court of the District of Columbia, and by said clerk sealed, as this
affiant believes, in the presence of this affiant; that the petit jurors for the March
- term of the criminal court, 1867, were selected or drawn from the names depos-
ited in said box on said first day of February, and were drawn by the clerk of
Georgetown, as this affiant recollects and believes; that the names were deposi-
ted in the manner hereinbefore stated and in no other way, and that, if it appears
that any of the names for Washington city, deposited as aforesaid, and in the
-handwriting of any persopn, whether this affiant or his clerk, then the same were
deposited without the knowledge or consent of this affiant; and further, this
affiant says that the paper or papers containing the names of those whose names
were written on said four hundred pieces of paper and depogited as aforesaid, he
cannot fiow find, although he has made diligent search for the same.
N : SAMUEL E. DOUGLASS.

Subseribed and sworn to before me this seventh day of June, 1867.
: ' CHAS. WALTER, J. P.

The CourT. Mr. Carrington, will you be kind enough to read that part of
the affidavit which speaks of the handwriting of the affiant

Mr. Carrington then read as follows : .

“That the names were deposited in the manner as hereinbefore stated, and in
no other way, and if it appears that any of the names for Washington city, de-
posited as aforesaid, are in the handwriting of any person other than this affiant
or his clerk, then the same were deposited without the knowledge or consent of
this affiant.”

The CourT. Are there any of those names which are not in the handwriting
of Mr. Douglass ?

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. Perhaps it is better that I should proceed at once
to state to your honor the pointa upon which we rely, and which we think will
satisfy the court that the law has not been complied with——

Mr. PirrrRPONT. In any respect.

The DisTrRicT ATTORNEY, And that a verdict rendered by this jury would
be entirely illegal. Feeling that it would be ile to proceed to trial with the
present panel, we have considered it our duty to present this point to the court,
and with your honor’s permission, will lay before you the law bearing on the sub-

ect.

I will read first, sir, those sections of the act of June 16, 1862, (12 Statutes
at Large, p. 428,) which we regard as necessary to elucidate the propositions
which we propose to submit, and will then state, more clearly than I have done,
the objections which we make. The act is entitled “An act providing for the
selection of jurors to serve in the several courts of the District of Columbia.”

Mr. Carrington then read aa follows :

Be it enacted by the Senate arnd House of Representatives of the United States
of America in Congress assembled, That it shall be the duty of the register of

ashington city, and of the respective clerks of the city of Georgetown and the
levy court of Washington county, in the District of Columbia, within one month
after the passage of this act, and on or before the first day of February in each
year thereafter, to make a list of such of the white male citizens, tax-payers,
regiding within their respective jurisdictions, as they shall judge best qualified to
gerve as jurors in the courts of the said District, in which lists may be included,
in the discretion of the officer making the same, the names of such qualified
persons as were on the list of the previous year, but did not serve as jurors, and
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the lists thas ‘made by the register and clerks aforesaid shall be kept by them,
respectively, and be delivemg| over to their successors in office.

Sec. 2. And be it further enacted, That the officers aforgsaid shall select from
the Iist of the register of Washington city, the names of four hundred persons ;
from that of the clerk of Georgetown, eig{ y persons, and from that of the clerk
of the levy court, forty persons, which proportion, after-the yeareighteen hundred
and sixty-three, may be varied from year to year accortf;ng to the increase or
decrease of population in the respective jurisdictions, by order of the judges of
the circuit court of Washington county. :

8&c. 3. And be it _further enacted, That the mayors of the cities of Washing-
ton and Georgetown, all judicial officers, salaried officers of the government of
the United States, commissioners of police, and those connected with the police
or fire department, counsellors and attorneys at law, miniaters of the gospel and
r-ienu of every denomination, practicicg physicians and surgeons, keepers of
:apihls, asylums, almshouses, or other charitable institutions created by or

er the laws relating to the District of Columbia, captains and masters and
other persons employed on veseels navigating the waters of said District, and
keepers of public ferries, shall be exempt from jury duty, and their names shall
not be placed on the list aforesaid.

8ec. 4. And be it further enacted, That the names selected from said lists
thall be written on separate and similar pieces of paper, which shall be so folded
or rolled up that the names cannot be seen, and placed in a box, to be provided
by the register and clerks aforesaid ; which box shall be sealed, and after being
thoroughly shaken, shall be delivered to the clerk of the circuit court of Wash-
ington county for safe keeping.

Sgc. 5. And be it further emacted, That the said register and clerks, and the
clerk of the circuit court, shall, at least ten days before the commencement of
each term of the circuit court, or of the criminal court, meet at the City Hall in
Washiugton city, and then and there the clerk of the circuit court shall publicly
break the eeal of aaid box, and proceed to draw therefrom the names of 8o many
persons as are required ; and if the jury about to be drawn is intended for service
in the criminal court, the twenty-three persons whose names shall be first drawn
thall constitute the grand jury ; and the twenty-six persons whose names shall
pext be drawn shall constitute the petit jury for that term; but in a capital case
where the gaid panel zhall have been exhausted by rearon of challenge or other-
wise, the court before whom such capital caze is pending may, in its discretion,
order additional names to be drawn ; and if all of the namea in the box shall
have been drawn out and no jury found, the court may order the marshal to
rummon talesmen until a jury ehall be found. And if a jury be required for the
circuit court, the twenty-six persons whose names shall first be drawn shall con-
etitute the jury for that term, and the names of the persons drawn as aforesaid
rhall not be again placed in such box for the period of two years. If any per-
son whose name is so drawn shall have died or removed from the District, or
bas become otherwise disabled from serving as a juror, the said register and
clerka ghall draw from the box another name, who shall serve instead ; and after
the requirite number of jurors shall have been so drawn, the said box shall be
again sealed and delivered to the clerk of the circuit court as aforesaid.

Sec. 6. And be it further enacted, That it ehall be the duty of the marshal
of the District of Columbia, at least five days before the meeting of the court
for which a jury is required, to notify each person drawn, by serving on him a
notice in writing of his selection as a juror of the court he is to attend, and of the
day and hour he is to appear; which notice shall be given to each juror in per-
son, or be left at his usual place of residence, a copy of which notice, with his
certificate stating when and in what manner the original was served, shall be
returned by the said marshal to the court before the commencemeut of the
erm for which the said jurors were drawn.
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SEcC. 7.  And be'it further enacted, That in case either of the officers whose
duty it is to make out the lists aforesaid, shall neglect or refuse to act, or in case
either of them shall be interested in any action or proceeding pending in the
said circuit or criminal court, the chief judge of the circuit court shall appoint a
fit and proper person to discharge the duty instead ; and if the persons selected
as jurors do not attend, the court may order the marshal to summon other re-
spectable tax-payers, possessing the other legal qualifications, to supply the de-
ficiency. And if at any time there should not be, by reasoun of challenge or
otherwise, a sufficient number of jurors to make up the panel, the court shall
order the marshal to summon as many talesmen as are nccessary for that pur-

ose.

Sec. 11. And be it further enucted, That the names on the lists specified
in the second section of this act shall be selected, as near as may be, from
- among the citizens of the several wards of the cities of Washington and George-
town, and the three divisions of the county of Washiugton outside the limits of
said cities formed by the Eastern Branch of the Potomac river and Rock creek,
in proportion to the number of taxable inhabitants residing in said wards and
districts, respectively.

Now, if your honor please, we submit the following propositions:

First. That the jurors constituting this panel were not selected in the manner
required by the act of Congress, to which your honor’s attention has been called.

Second. That the jurors were not drawn in the manner required by this act
of Congress.

Tkird. That the officers have failed to preserve and perpetuate, as required
by this act, the list which they are required by the act to prepare, reduce to
writing, and safely keep, to hand over to their successors in office; and,

Fourth. That the box has not been sealed, as required by the act of Congress,
to which your attention has been called.

Mr. BRapLEY. Is that in the affidavit, that the box was not sealed ?

Mr. PIERREPONT. Yes, sir.

Mr. BrapLEY. It had escaped my attention.

The DistricT ATTORNEY. Now, if your honor please, in regard to the first
proposition, you will find that the law requires that the jurors who are to serve,
either in the circuit or criminal court, for the District of Columbia, shall be
selected by the three officers, constituting a board for this purpose. Congress
evidently did not intend to leave the selection of jurors to any one officer, or any
one person, but in 8o many words, it charges the duty of selecting the jurors upon
the threc officers named —the register of the city of Washington, the clerk of
Georgetown, and the clerk of the levy court of the county of Washington.

Your honor understands the mode in which it is done. The register of the
city of Washington makes out a list of four hundred persons, whom he, in the
exercise of his discretion, shall think best qualified to serve as jurors. The
clerk of Georgetown makes out a list of eighty; the clerk of the levy court
makes out a list of forty; and from these three lists, thus prepared by these
officers, by their joint action, the jurors are selected. Then, if your honor please,
tha§l being the case, let us see if this requirement of the law has been complied
with. :

Your honor will observe from the affidavit of Mr. Douglass, (and surely, sir,
there is no more faithful and intelligent officer than he is, but he may have mis-
apprchended this law,) that he selected four hundred names, wrote them down
upon separate pieces of paper, and deposited them in the box without communi-
cating with the clerk of the levy court, or the clerk of Georgetown, with whom
the law requires him to co-operate in making the selection of jurors. In other
words, according to the affidavit which has been read here, he selected the
names of four hundred persons to serve as jurors, in which selection neither the



TRIAL OF JOHN H, SURRATT. 7

clerk of the levy court, nor the clerk of Georgetown, bad any voice. It is
the act, then, of one man, whereas the law requires, if your honor please, and
very properly, as we conceive, that it should be the act of three men. You will
see, 8ir, from the language of the act, that it was the intention of the national
legislature that it should be the joint action of the three officers charged with the
important duty of selecting persons, who should represent the community, in the
administration of justice, as jurors. They were unwilling to intrust this import-
ant duty exclusively to the discretion of a single officer. Not only has this dis-
eretion been, in violation of law, exercised by one, but, sir, according to this
affidavit, it further appears that a similar mistake was committed by the other two
officers. Mr. Laird, the clerk of Georgetown, selects eighty persons; Mr.
Callan, the clerk of the levy court, selects forty; and thus the case is pres-
ented to your honor of four hundred jurors selected by one man, eighty jurors
selected by another man, and forty jurors selected by a third man, when the law
distinetly requires that it should be the joint action of all.

Then, if your honor please, if this affidavit is worthy of your confidence, this
is a fatal objection to the present panel.

But, again, sir, the section to which I called your attention specifies distinctly
the mode in which these jurors shall be drawn. Congress has thought proper
that jurors who shall be charged with the highest and most solemn duty of an
American citizen, who are intrusted with the lives and liberties of their fellow-
citizens, should be selected by one board, and drawn by another officer. But
how is it in this case? One of the men who selected a portion of the jurors,
according to the testimony of Mr. Douglase, assumes to discharge the duty which
ia devolved by law upon the clerk of the circuit court. He selects, and then
draws. The law says the three officers, to whom your attention has been called,
shall select, and the clerk of the circuit court shall draw. It is unnecessary
tllmt I should detain your honor further upon this point, for it is clear and con-
clusive.

Agnin, sir, in the discharge of this important duty, Congress has very wisely
provided for all the details. It may appear to your honor at the first glance to be
unimportant, but upon a moment's reflection you will see that it is not so. Con-
gress having prescribed how these jurors shall be selected ; how these names
shall be deposited, it also designates the officer by whom the jurors are to be
drawn, and when and where such drawing is to take place. We submit, there-

fore, that this important requirement of the law has not been complied with by
the officers charged with the performance of the duty. These three points we
think are fatal objections to proceeding with the present panel.

Again. if your honor pleases, Congress has thought it proper that the founda-
tion of the action of these officers should be preserved and perpetuated, and
very wisely. The officers charged with this important duty, and invested, as
your honor will observe here by the language of the act, with a discretion,
shall preserve and perpetuate the teatimony, or rather the lists of the names
from which they made their selection ; and why 1

Mr. PIrRREPONT. No list was ever made.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Exactly, I am coming to that. The law
Tequires, not only that they should make a list, but that they should preserve
and perpetuate it, handing such list over to their successors, when they shall
rtire from office. If through misapprehension, or mistake, or for any other
Teason, these officers fail to properly (llischm-gc this important duty, the court
baving a supervisory power over their action may correct it, if it be capable
of correction, but if they fail to reduce these names to writing—if they fail to
Perpetuate them, and therefore cannot now, when called upon, submit them to
the inspection of your honor, how can this court, charged by the law of the land
with & supervisory power over the discretion intrusted to these officers, discharge
itsduty ? These liste, according to the affiduvit, were never made—at least there
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is 0o’ certainty of ‘their baving been made. They cannot be produced at all
€vents,

This failure of duty. then. on the part of these officer=. iz fatal, because the
testimony, or rather the first preliminary step required by the act of Congress
to be taken. has not been taken ; and second, because vour honor cannot be ad-
vised from these lista, of the selectionz which wepe really made. Therefore, if
in point of faet. there has been either through frand or partiality, which we do
no; charge in this case. or misappreheusion of the law, snen dereliction of duty
as we have stated, it will be impossible for your bonor to dircharge that saper-
visory duty. which iz clearly incumbent upon every coart in tue administration
of justice.

I do not know that it is necessary that I should detain yoar honor farther.
We think these objections are fatal. It may be proper for me to state in this
connection that the object of this motion is not delay. We are ready and anx-
ious for a trial. and may I be pardoned for saving here tha: never at any stage
of this case, have I been dizposed to delay it any longer thaa we thought neces-
sary for the promotion of the canse of jnatice and of wath. 1 repeat we are
ready nw. bu: we want a jury summoned according to law, a0 that no objection
can be made hereafier. either by the government or the accused. whatever may be
the event of this mest imporiant and solemn trial.  To show your honor that
need be no delay. I will eall your atzention to thie 5th section of the act, which
gives the court plenary pow:rs to proceed at once, if there has been such in-
formality in the selection of the jurors by the officers chargel with that duty;
or if from any cther cause i1 is found impossible to proceed with the panel 2o ee-
lected, the court may order the marshal to summon talesmen at once. I will
read.
Mr. Carrington then read the 5th section as follows:

SEc. 5. dnd be it _further emacted, That the said register and clerks, and the
clerk of the cirenit esurt. shall, at least ten days bzfore the commencement of
each term f the circuit or of the criminal court, mee: at the City Hall, in
Washington eity. and then and there the clerk of the circnit court shall publicly
break the seal of said box and proceed to draw therefrom the names of 50 many
persons as are required: and if the jury about 10 be drawn is intended for
gervice in the eriminal court. the twenty-three persan: whoze names shall be
firet drawn shall consiirute the grand jury : and the twenty-six persons whose
namex shall next he drawn shall constitute the petit jury for that term; bat in
a eapital eaze where the said panel shall have t-een exhausted by reason of chal-
lenge or otherwise, the eourt before whom such capital case iz pending may, in
its diseretion. order «dditianal names: 1o be drawn: and if all of the names in
the box shall have been drawn ont aad no jury found the court may order the
marshal 10 summon talesmen until a jury shall be foand. And if a jury be
required for the eircuit court. the twenty-six persuns whose names shall first be
drawn shall eonstitate the jury for that term. and the names of the persous
drawn as aforesaid shall not be again placed in such box for the period of two
vears. If any perzon whase name iz 80 drawn shall have died or removed from
the Diatrict. or has become otherwize disabled from serving as a juror, the said
register and clerkz shall draw from the box another name, who zhall serve
inst-ad : and afier the requizite number of jurors shall Liave been 20 drawn the
said box shall be again sealed and delivered to the clerk of the circuit court as
aforesaid.

That is what we now ask vour honor to do. I have authorities showing that
the whole matter

The CorrT. Thar relates 1o the entire panel !

Mr. PiERREPONT. Yes, sir.

Mr. BrabLey. Before we proceed at all to the discussion of the questions
raised upon thi* motion and affidarit. I beg leave to submit to the court that, as

A
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Mr, Douglass is at quite 4 convenient distance from here, he be sent for and
examined by the court, in order that we may see what the facts really are. I
am not apprised; up to this moment, that they bave departed from the mode of
preparing and drawing juries observed from the year 1862 up to this time. I
take it for granted that they have pursued the same course all the way through.
T would be very glad to lmveghe opportunity of cross-examining the witness.
I see the affidavit is in the handwriting of Mr. Wilson, the assistant district
attorney, and I should like to have Mr. Dounglass brought in and examined as
to particalars, I think it is beat to first ascertain the facts before we attempt
to apply the law to this particular case.

Mr. PigrREPONT. We do not see how there can be any objection to that, if
your honor sees fit. I think it is a very proper request. .

The CouRrT. Do I understand the counsel for the prosecution to agree to an
oral examination ?

Mr. PigrrEPONT. I know nothing as to what the custom here is, your honor.
Whatever is right and fair in the matter, of course, we want done. If such
is the custom, we assent to it; if such is not the custom, we do not. Where I
am in the habit of practicing it is the custom to bring on the affidavit before the
court where a motion is made.

The CouRT. I cannot speak as regards the custom here, except for the four
years past. In that time there has been no custom at all, for the simple reason-
that no case of this sort has ever been presented to the court. I understand!
from Mr. Middleton, who has been deputy clerk of the court for a number of”
years, that no case has ever occurred under his observation. I presume, Bow--
ever, that it is to be viewed in the same light as a motion to change the venue..
In that case the motion is granted upon affidavit ; oral explanations are not cus--
tomary. I have never myself, in my practice anywhere, seen a case of the sort..
Itis right, in a case of this character, that everything which forms the basis of a.
decision by the court should appear upon the record. For that reason, 1 pre-
sume, the law requires that motions of this kind should be grounded upon.
written testimony.

Mr. BeapLry. I will simply state, in reply to the suggestions throwa out by
Yyour honor, that the reporter is here to take down the affidavit of the party.
The examination and cross-examination so taken down, being written out in
tegular order among the other proceedings, will thus appear as an affidavit
on record, duly signed by the party, if deemed necessary. I am.not aware of
any case in my experience of this kind. We raised the question once, many
years ago, but it was disposed of without any examination into the facts.
That was a challenge of the array by the prisoner, so far as my memory
trves me, and the case went on. We desire, however, to have spread upon
the record all the facts of this case, what construction this law. has received,
aud how it has been interpreted and carried out since its passage to this day.
Ithink we can prove very clearly that in this instance these officers have fol-
lowed the uniform practice since the pagsage of the act, in June, 1862. How
far that may tend towarde the proper construction of the-law is another ques-
tion, to be considered when we come to ascertain what the facts are. What we -
Propose is, to have put upon the record a history of the. action.under -this law.

Mr. PigreikPONT. I suppose, sir, if your honor please-if that is the case—
and perhape it is proper, as the learngd counsel suggests, that it should be
glﬂeed upon the record for future guidance—that it is- necessary it should be
y affidavit, to be regularly filed. 'The district attorney and my=elf; upon con-
tltation think, accepting the theory of the learned:counsel, that the facts, with
the decision, should be preserved as a part of the record ;. that it should be by

affidavit, and we feel impelled, therefore, to ask the court that such a course be
pursued.
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Mr. BRADLRY. And in that view I desire that the affidavit may be made in
open court, in the presence of the counsel and the prisoner, taken down by the
reporter, and afterwards read over to the witness and signed by him. That
can be done very rapidly, and I hope, ae it i a matter entirely within the dis-
cretion of your honor, that such a course will be pursned.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Will your honoreplease defer your ruling for a
moment until I have an opportunity to consult with my associate ?

After a brief conference, Mr. Pierrepont said : If your honor please, with the
understanding that it be, as courlsel suggests, taken down here in the presence
of the court and counsel, and made to become a formal affidavit, to be placed on
the files of the court, we consent.

Mr. SaMuEL’E. DoucLAsSS was then sworn by the clerk, when the affidavit,
which had been read to the court, was handed to the witness, with the request
that he would read it, and state if it was correct in all particulars.

Witness did as requested, and then stated that it was correct.

He was then examined as follows:

By Mr. BRADLEY:

Q. Mr. Douglass, how long have you been a register of the city of Wash-
ington?

gA. Since the 1st of July, 1861.

Q. You were then register at the time of the passage of this act of 1862, pro-
viding for the selection and drawing of jurors {

A. Yes, sir.

-Q. State whether, in the drawing of this last panél of jurors, you pursued any
new practice, or whether you observed the dld one?

A. The old practice. The same, of course, that I had always pursued in
selecting jurors, viz., placing their names on slips of paper, and then putting
those slips in the box.

Q. From the time of the passage of the act?

A. Yes, sir; from the time of the passage of the act.

Q. Do you recollect whether, shortly after the passage of that act, the register
of the city,the elerk of Georgetown, and the clerk of the levy counrt did or
did not take'the advice of the judge of the old circuit court as to the mode of
discbarging their duty?

Mr. PierrBPONT. Please wait one moment. I do not think the question is
a proper one. I do-not propose to discuss the matter, but design simply to make
the objection, and allow the court to decide upon it, without argument.

The CourT. I cannot see that it has any relevancy to the matter.

Mr..BrapLey. It may be relevant to this extent, your honor, that if the court
then  having jurisdiction, immediately after the passage of the act, gave construc-
tion to it, and these officers acted in pursuance of that construction, and have
since that time followed the same, and have done in this, as in other instances,
as-the court advised them to do, it might have some effect, perhaps.

Mr. PiegrrPONT. The records of the court must determine ita decisions, and
not the actions of the witness.

Mr. Brapiey. That is all very true. The records of the court must show
in the cases between parties; but not with regard to a matter outside of the court,
of the records of the court, and not in g judicial proceeding.

The Court. I suppose, Mr. Bradley, you are directing your inquiry to some
extra-judicial opinion which was given -by one or more of the judges of the old
cireuit-court. '

Mr. Braprry. Thatis it, sir. All three of them were sitting in court. There
was no case before them, however, and therefore, of course, the opinion was
extra-judicial to that extent.

Mr. P1errEPONT. Of course that would have ro binding effect.
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Mr. BRapLEY. I"do 'mot claim that it would have any binding effect. I
simply want to get at the opinion upon which those gentlemen acted, and which
was given at the time of the passage of the act. I would state farther, sir, that,
even had this opinion been announced from the bench, it, of course, would not
control your honor’s decision ou the same question; but——

Mr. PiegrePoNT. It could not be evidence then in any shape.

The Court. I do not see that it has any bearing.

Mr. BeapLey. I will not press it, then, your honor.

The examination of the witness was then resumed by Mr. Bradley:

Q. I understand you to say, Mr. Douglass, that in drawing the jurors for the
present term of the court, you made out your list of four hundred tax-payers of
the city of Washington? -

A. No, sir; I do not know that they were all tax-payers.

Q. Were you not limiting the list to tax-payers ?

A. Not that I was aware of.

The DistricT ATToRNEY. The act says that should be done.

WitNess. I did not look into the books in the collector’s office to ascertain
whether they were all tax-payers or not.

Q. Have you any recollection of putting any one on the list who was not a
tax-payer ?

A. 1 bhave not.

Q. From that list of persons, thus made out, you afterwards wrote on little
slips of paper to the number of four hundred, each name, rolled them up, and,
without consultation with the clerk of Georgetown, or the clerk of the levy
court, deposited them in the box ?

lAf\. We each deposited our quota in the box—Mr. Callan, Mr. Laird, and my-
self. :

Q. Bat neither of them saw your list?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you see theirs ?

A. No, #ir.

Q. Do I understand you to say Mr. Laird brought in a list of eighty, and Mr.
Callan forty ? '

A. Yes, sir; I think that is what the law requires.

Q. They were already rolled up?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And each of you deposited the number required by law; you 400, the
other 80, and the other 40 ?

A’ Yes, sir.

Q. At the same time ?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. In the presence of each other ?

A Yes, sir.

Q. That has been your mode of executing that law since the time of its
Passage §

A. Yes, sir.
Cross-examination by Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. Mr. Douglass, you didn’t sce the names of those that the clerk of George-
lown deposited 1

A. No, sir; they were rolled up, and a piece of string tied round them.

Q. You did not see the names of those that the other clerk deposited ?
A. No, sir.

Q. And they did not see the names you deposited ?
A. No, sir.

Q. Were those that they deposited the names of tax-payers ?
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Al'T'do' not'know.

Q. Were those that you deposited the names of tax-payers?

A. T am not certain. There may have been some that were not tax-payers.

Mr. MeRRickK.. I desire to interpose an objection here. The counsel asks
Mr. Douglass whether he saw the list that was presented by the officer of the
corporation of Georgetown, and whether that officer saw the list that was pre-
sented by Mr. Douglass. It is to that inquiry that I desire to make au objec-
tion; and suggest to your honor its inadmissibility upon this ground: Mr-
Douglass testitied that these three officers were present, and together engaged
in discharging the duty which the counsel upon the other side maintain devolved
upon the three jointly. :

I understand their position to be this : That the act vested a sort of judicial
or discretionary {)lower in the three, which one could not exercise without the
co-operation of the other two; and that as the power was exercised by one
without the co-operation of the other two, it was improperly exercised, and
therefore vitiates the act done.

Now, the register of the city of Washington testifies upon the stand that
when this duty was discharged, it was discharged by the three; that the three
were together, and together deposited certain names in the box, in which, ac-
cording to law, they were to deporited, and from which they were to be
drawn. Now, I submit to your honor, that it is not competent for the counsel
to go behind, and ascertain from one of the parties how far they exercised judg-
ment or discretion. They were present, acting together; and the act being
done in the presence of all, is, according to law, as a presumption of law, the
act of all under the statute; and it is not competent for the counsel to go be-
hind the doing of the act thus done conjointly by the three combined, and
ascertain what part of the judgment of each entered into the execution of the
act. It is enough that they were present at the doing of the act, and that the
act was done.

Mr. PIERREPONT. My learned friend seems to be argying anew the general
proposition. If he confines his argument to the question that I put to the wit-
ness, that is one thing. I do not intend at this stage, until the evidence is be-
fore your honor, to argue the general proposition; and do not propose to
answer him upon that question. I have not finished the re-examination of the
witness, but was interrupted, as I understood. by the learned counsel objecting
to the live of examination being pursued. My question was as to the mode in
which the jurors names were put in the box, ang which he has answered. Now,
I understand, he substantially moves to strike out

Mr. Merrick. If the counsel will allow me a single moment. I did pot in-
terpose the objection at an earlier moment for the reason that my associate was
engaged, and I had not the opportunity of consulting with him.

{r. PIERREPONT. I am not objecting on the ground that the gentleman’s
motion comes too late.

Mr. MErRICK. I am objecting to the testimony, and not arguing the general.

Pproposition,

Mr. PiERREPONT. My learned friend, run somewhat, I thought, perhaps in-
advertently, into the general proposition.

The question as to the mode of selecting these jurors is surely a proper
question. I do not think it admits of debate, and I do not think your honor will
require it to be debated.

The CourT. I can see no impropriety in the question which you put. The
question which is addressed to the court is as to whether these parties upon
whom the law devolved this duty of selecting the 520 names that are to go into
the general jury box acted together, or acted in their individual and separate
capacity. The question is one which you are seeking to inquire into, and one
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which the court i3 to pass upon in order to ascertain whether the jury has been
duly selected or not, and any questions which are directed to that point must
be considered as relevant and admissible.

Mr. PierrePONT. I will then proceed with one or two other questions :

Q. You have just read over your affidavit ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What do you say to the court as to its being true?

A. It is true.

Re-examined.
By Mr. BRaDLEY :

Q. Itis said in that affidavit that you have searched for the list made out by
you. State w the court whether, in point of fact, you did make oat a list and
put it away for preservation.

A. I think I did. I divided the wards ap on sheets of foolscap paper, divid-
ing the city as near as I possibly could with regard to the number of men.
then took the names and put them on separate slips of paper and rolled them up.

Q. You are distinct you did make out such a list, and have searched for it,
but cannot find it?

A. Yes, sir; Yam. I might be able to find it in the course of time.

By ‘Mr. PIRRREPONT :

Q. You say “ paper or papers,” in this affidavit; you made memoranda, did

you?

A. Yes, sir; that is what they were, on separate pieces of paper, the first ward
on one paper, and the second ward on the other, and so on. .

Q. These separate pieces of paper, then, you did not show to these other gen-
tlemen ?

A. No, sir; the names were all rolled up.

Q. It has not been your habit to preserve these papers ?

] A. We have laid them aside in the office, some of them; we have generally
one 0. :

Q. Some of them, you say ?

A. All of them; we have generally made them out, and laid them aside.

Q. You do not know what you bave done with this last list?

A. We laid it aside somewhere amnong a lot of old papers.

Mr. BRADLEY. I beg leave to suggest that this motion has taken us entirely
bysurprise. We relied upon the uniform practice in the execution of this law
from the time of its passage, and therefore have had no reason or disposition to
look into the mode in which the jury has been selected in this particular case—
more especially as more than one person has been on trial for his life during this
term of the court, and before this very jury. I do not know as there were any-
wovictions in capital cases, but there were certainly capital trials.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Only one—Cleaver.

Mr. BeapLEY. The district attorney says ouly one; one is enough at any
nle. I repeat that this motion takes us entively by surprise. We came pre-
r-md to try the case. And with regard to the motion before us, & grave question
ies at the bottom of it: whether or not, if your honor should be of opinion with
the counsel on the other side that the jurors have not been properly summoned,
weean go to trial unless the objection comes from the defendant, he having
a full knowledge of the facts ; and whether a verdict against him, under such
Creumstances, would not be just as conclusive as if the jury had been regularly
¢tmpannelled. Y am well aware that the current of decisions is the other way,

that where life is concerned there can be no waver on the part of the accused.
There are, however, decisions, and very well-reasoned ones, supporting the right
of the court to proceed to try, convict, and execute, where the prisoner, knowing
all the facts, makes no objection. It is with this view that I ask your honor to
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indulge us for time to look into these two questions: First, the construction of
the law; and, second, as to the effect which may be produced in the event of
your ruling the question of law against us, and in favor of the United States;
that is, whether it is a thing possible for the accused to submit his case to the
jury empannelled, and which has served during this term.

Mr. PierrePoNT. If your honor please, any indulgence that the counsel shall
ask, that your honor thinks reasonable, we are, of course, disposed not to inter-
fere with in theleast. I have no doubt this motion has taken them by surprise,
and I see by the remarks which the counsel (Mr. Bradley) has already made,
that he is quite familiar with the law on this subject, and I think, therefore, is
entirely apprised of the fact that if this jury has been illegally empanelled, that
if he should stipulate, if all his associates should stipulate, and the prisoner
should stipulate to abide by the verdict, the verdict would, notwithstanding, be
utterly worthless. You canuot, for grave reasons of public policy, permit any ille-
gal conviction for the taking of the life of one of our citizens to stand a moment
if the verdict has not been rendered strictly in accordance with law, and no stipu-
lation of counsel or prisoner can relieve it. I believe if anything is settled lately,
that is well settled. My learned friend suggests that he has seen some cases in
which there were some decisions looking the other way ; 1 do not know what he
alludes to. ,

Mr. BrapLey. I beg my learned friend to understand that I do not know the
fact that such a conviction is void in law; if I did, I certainly would not stand
up here and controvert it. What the legal conclusion may be, is the very thing
I ask time to look into.

Mr. PIERREPONT. Certainly; I did not say that the learned counsel “knows” it.

Mr. BRapLEY. You did say so.

Mr. PIERREPONT. From the remarks that the learned gentleman did make, I
inferred that he knew it. In my view of it—and I certainly am in some mea-
sure responsible for the advice I may give here to the government—I should
not hesitate in saying publicly as well as privately, that a verdict of a jury
thus illegally empannelled would be altogether worthless, and that no man could
be executed upon it, or suffer any punishment.

Mr. Brabrey. I would like to know what is to be done with all those who
have been already executed.

Mr. PrerreponT. I am in no way responsible for what has been done.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, my friend (Mr. Bradley)
needn’t trouble himself about that.

Mr. Braprey. I will only say that it has been the uniform practice since the
passage of the act, and you have hung a dozen men under it.

The DisTriCT ATTORNEY. Oh, no, not quite so many as that. And I will
only say that it is never too late to do good. I don’t want to hang any more
in that way.

Mr. BrabLey. If your honor please, the construction of this law is a very
nice question, and although our friends on the other side are entirely confident
about it, I will simply say that what has fallen from them thus far, has not
satisfied our minds, and we therefore ask until to-morrow morning to look into
that question. It, sir, presents a very grave question, whether or not for the
last five years, every man who has been hung has been hung illegally.

The DISTRICT ATTORNEY. It is proper for me to state that we are willing to
grant any indulgence which the counsel may ask, and which the court thinks

roper.
P fl}‘)l‘ie Court. We will give you, then, Mr. Bradley, until to-morrow morning
at 10 o’clock.

Thereupon the court adjourned.
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JuUNE 11, 1867.

The court met at 10 o’clock a. m.

Mr. BRapLEY. When the motion was submitted yesterday, on the part of the
prosecution, to quash the array of the ganel in this case, we were taken by
surprise, a8 we well might have beeu, under the circumstances. As far as I can
ascertain no such motion was ever made in this court. The particular form of
the motion did not attract my attention at the time, but upon looking at it sinee,
I find that it is not only novel, but that there is no precedent for it either in
English or American practice. In order to present to the court a case on which
the court can decide whether the jury has been properly summoned, returned, or
impanelled, the motion must state facts and not conclusions of law. I will
read it to your honor, and beg leave to call the attention of our brethren on the
other side, to a fatal defect in the form of the motion, in order that they may so
remedy it as to place the question in a form in which it may be reviewed here-
after, if it should become necessary. The motion is in these words :

In the Supreme Court of the District of Columbia. The United States vs.
John H. Surratt. Indictment, murder.

* And now, at this day, to wit, on the 10th day of June, 1867, came the United
States and the said John H. Surratt, by their respective attorneys, and the
jurors of the jury empanelled and summoned also come, and thereupon the said
United States, by their attorneys, challenged the array of the said panel, be-
cause he saith that the said jurors composing said panel were not drawn accord
ing to law, and that the names from which said jurors were drawn were not
drawn according to law; whereupon he prays for judgment, and that said panel
may be quashed.”

Now, if the court please, the factz upon which these propositions rest, must
be stated in the motion. They are traversable, and upon them an issue may
be made. When the facts are presented, the opposite party may either take
issue or demur.

I rise, therefore, for the purpose of calling the attention of my brethren on
the bther side to the form of their proceeding, and to suggest to them that it be
o amended as to set out the facts upon which they rely for the court to pass
upon the facts as set forth in the motion or plea. Ihave looked into the English
precedents and those of this country, and I think I state the law with precision,
‘that the facts upon which they rely, showing the grounds upon which they
appeal to the judgment of the court to set aside the panel, must be stated upon
record. And that is not supplied by the affidavit, for we could neitber take
issue upon the affidavit which they have presented, nor could we demur; and
it is the right of the opposite party to demur or take issue, as they see fit. I
refer your honor to I Archibold’s Criminal Practice, p. 545, on this point. On
p. 547, is this note.

“The challenge to the array must be in writing. It may be in this form :
*And now, on this day, to wit: on , come as well the atoresaid J. S. as the
aforezaid J. N, by their respective attorneys, and the jurorsof the jury impan-
nelled, being summoned, also come; and thereupon, the said J. N. challengeth the
array of the said panel, because, he saith, [here set forth the matter of challenge
with certainty un&l precision,] and this he is ready to verify. Wherefore, he
prayeth judgment, aud that the said panel may be quashed.’’}

Then follows a long note, in which this whole case is presented, showing that
it is absolutely necessary in order to make an issue upon which the court may
determine whether the proceedings have been atrictly in accordance with the law
or not, that the facts shall be set forth in the motion.

Mr. PierrePONT. The learned district attorney is not now in court, but will
be here presently. I quite agree with my learned friend that the facts must be
brought before the court upon which they are to determine the question. It is
upon the facts and conclusions of law that the question is to be determined.
The only point now is as to the mode by which the facts shall be brought before
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your'honor) D'There 18 no-doubt but in an ordinary suit at law, where the object
is to get it in such shape that a demurrer will lie, the practice is to set out, as my
friend has suggested, the evidence for the purpose of raising a demurrer. Whether
the practice in this court is such that your honor will require the evidence to be
set out in the motion, or brought before you by affidavit, as has been done in
this case, I have no knowledge, nor do I deem it of importance except to con-
form to the practice which is usual in such cases. I do not very well see ho#
it can make any possible difference whether the affidavit is attached to the motion
or be not pinned to it.

Mr. BRavLEY. My suggestion was that the substance of the affidavit should
be incorporated in the motion. I say that the facts relied upon must be incor-
porated into the motiou to enable us to take issue.

Mr. PIERREPONT. It is certainly the same thing; it makes no difference how
you put the affidavit in, whether you write it over again or attach this paper to
the motion. It is the substance, not the form, to which we are directing the at-
tention of the court ; and there is no difficulty in getting at what your honor may
think is the proper form. I quite agree that the substance is the fact, and the
fact is to be ascertained in such mode as your honor may thiuk is the correct
mode. As I have said, I am not familiar with the practice of this court. "The
assistant district attorney is present, and may perhaps suggest what it is in this
respect. I simply wish that whatever is the proper and usual mode of getting
at the fact shall be followed. :

Mr. WiLson. Your honor will observe that the form given in the anthority
quoted by Mr. Bradley has been followed in this case. The requirement there
is that the matter of challenge should be set forth with certainty and precision.
That is the requirement, and if there is any other requirement more specific than
that, I have been unable to find it. If this motion does set forth the matter of
challenge with certainty and precision, it complies with the requirements laid
down in the text-books. It is, however, a question for your honor to pass upon,
and if, upon inspection of this motion, your honor is of opinion it does not specify
with certainty the cause of challenge, we will, of course, in accordance with'the
suggestion of your honor, amend it.

Mr. BeapLey. If my brethren will show me how we can plead or take issue
upon the motion in its present form, they will relieve me of the difficulty under
which I am laboring. If they will show me how we can pledd to an affidavit
annexed to a motion, I shall be equally pleased ; but until they show me some
form of plea by which we can put in issue the fact upon which the law is to
rest, I must say that under the practice of any court that I ever heard of thisis
a novel proceceding to me. To aver thata thing is contrary to law and fail to
state the facts upon which the motion, or application, or plea, or whatever it
may be called, is based, is, I confess, a novel proceeding to me.

Mr. PierrEPONT. I do not understand the motion to be a plea in any sense
in which that term is used. I understand the motion to be addressed to the dis-
cretion and judgment of the court, and when the facts on the motion are brought
before the court on the one side, they may be denied on the other. If one side
uees an aflidavit as a means of enlightening your honor as to the facts upon
which they base the motion, the other side may use an affidavit for the purpose
of showing that the facts relied upon are not true; or they may, if the court so
direct, bring witnesges for that purpose. I do not understand that in the motion.
before the court the forms of pleading are to be complied with in the same man-
ner as in an action at law. I am not aware that such is the practice.

Mr. BrapLiv. I wish to ask my learned friend whether, in such a proceeding
as this, the opposite party is entitled to an issue on the question presented?

Mr. PierrePoNT. Undoubtedly.

Mr. BraoLry. Then I ask how can they have an issue upon a motion of this
sort which was that a proceeding is not in accordance with law, without setting
out the facts upon which the motion is based ?



TRIAL OF JOHN H, SURRATT. 17

Mr. PiegREPONT. DPrecisely as in all other cases. The motion is made, and
the affidavit upon which it is based is read. The other side presents an issue
by presenting other affidavits or other evidence, and then the law arises upon
the facts as presented.

Mr. BRaDLRY. I mean in an issue to be tried by triers.

Mr. PiBRREPONT. I mean an issue to be tried by the court.

The CougT. It would seem from this note of Mr. Woodeson’s that there i§
quite as much formality to be observed in motions of this sort as in the pleadings
in any caunse. I read from the note referred to by Mr. Bradley in first Archibold,
“ As 8ir James Burrow has not given the record at length, I have set down the
form of these challenges (which i3 not of every day’s experience) from my man-
uscript precedents, and thereupon the said S. B. prayeth judgment of the panel
aforesaid, because he says that the said panel was arrayed and made by J. C.
and J. D, sheriffs of the said city of Chester, and that the said J. C.and J. D.
were at the time of the making of the panel aforesaid, and continually, from
thenceforth, hitherto have been, and still are citizens and freemen of the said
eit‘,{ of Chester ; and this the said 8. B. is ready to verify ; wherefore he i;mys
jodgment, and that the panel aforesaid may be quashed. And the said P. E.
and H. H. say that the matter in the aforesaid challenge to the array of the

" uid panel contained, is not sufficient in law to quash the array of the said
panel ; and this they are ready to verify ; wherefore they pray judgment, and
that the array of the panel may be allowed by the court here. And the said
8. saith, for that he }imth above alleged a sufficient challenge to quash the
uray of the panel aforesaid, which he is ready to verify, which said challenge
the said P. and H. do not, nor doth either of them, deny, nor to the same in
any wise answer, but do, and each of them doth, altogether refuse to admit that
averment ; he and the eaid S. prays judgment, and that the array of that panel
may be quashed.”

It wo:x‘d look to me, if we are to be guided by these precedents, as if the
facts and not the law should be set out in this motion, and the conclusions
of law are to be drawn from the facts as set forth.

Mr. BeabLBY. Now, if your honor please, as we are exceedingly anxions
o both eides to bring this case to a hearing as soon as possible, I submit to the
gentlemen on the other side, that they incorporate substantially the facts set
forth in the affidavit of Mr. Douglass in their motion, and then we will be
ready to proceed. .

Mr. PIERREPONT. We are quite ready to do that.

Mr. BaabLey. I have been informed by Mr. Douglass that he desires to
mend a single statement in his affidavit. I do not know that it is in any im-
portant particular, but I suggest that he have permission to make his statement
W the eourt now. :

The CourT. He may do so.

Nr. 8. E. DouaLass then came into court and made the following statement :

I wish merely to say that when I spoke of drawing the jurors from the box,
it was always done in presence of Mr. Meigs, the clerk of the court.

The CourT. You state in your affidavit which was filed yesterday morning
nd made the ground for challengiug the array, among other things, that this .
jury now in court was drawn by the clerk of Georgetown, without stating that it
wasdrawn in pregence of anybody ; and you now wish to interpolate there that it
was done by him in the presence of the clerk of the supreme court of this district.

Wirness. Yes, sir, and in the presence of the clerk of the levy court of
the county and of myself as register of this city.

Mr. Braorgy. I will also state that I have looked at the original record and
thet the head of the certificate is in the handwriting of Return J. Meigs, and
that the names of the jurors are in the bandwriting of Mr, Williams, a clerk

2
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in his/office,/and that)itis 'signed by Mr. Douglass as register, and by the clerk
of Georgetown, and the clerk of the levy court. I suggest, if there be no ob-
jection, that the correction now made by Mr. Douglass be entered in the affidavit.
Mr. PierreEPoNT. - We have no objection.
The Cocrr. It will be so entered.
Mr. BrabpLey. The motion now having assumed a shape in which we can
plead, we are ready to do so.
Mr. Bradley thereupon entered the following plea :
TUNiTED STATES,

vs. %In the criminal court of the District of Columbia, No.—
JouN H. SurraTT.

And thereupon the defendant saith the said motion is bad in law and in sub-
stance. The facts stated do not constitute any ground in law for a challenge
of the array.

BRADLEY & MERRICK, -
For Defendant.

Mr. PiggrePoNT. We join in the demurrer.

Mr. MerRrick. When the motion was made on yesterday, the high respect
that I entertained for the learned counsel upon the other side induced me to ap-
prebend that it involved a question of some difficulty, especially in view of the
assurance, which 1 was exceedingly glad to hear given by the United States dis-
trict attorney, that the motion was not for the purpose of delay, but upon an exam-
ination of the question my apprehension of any difficulty involved in it as a
legal proposition was speedily removed, and I beg to suggest to my learned
brothers upon the other side, and your honor, that if there is anything in the
motion, and it should prevail as a valid objection to a petit jury, the same ob-
jection will apply to the grand jury that found the indictment, and on the deci-
sion of your honor, should it be to sustain the ground of challenge to the petit
jury, we may deem it expedient to change the plea of not guilty and to plead
specially to the indictment. It is therefore, in point of substance, as to the re-
sult not so very material to the prisoner, for the success of the motion of my
learned friends on the other side may put him at large. It i3 somewhat
remarkable that the objection now presented to the regularity of the manner in
which this jury was drawn should be presented for the first time at this late day.
Since the passage of the act of 1862, as Mr. Douglass tells us, the jurors have
been uniformly drawn, and the lists uniformly prepared in the same mannuer in
which the list of this jury was prepared, and in the same manner this jury was
drawn ; and if this jury is illegally constituted, and not authorized to return a
verdict, your honor has been dealing somewhat inconsiderately with the lives
and liberties of the citizens of this country ever since 1863, when your honor
came upon the bench. You have hung one man and sentenced scores to the
penitentiary, and you are now to be gratified with the intelligence that in all
these acts in the taking of human life you were guilty of simply killing, and in
all these adjudications inflicting the penalty of incarceration you have pronounced
upon offenders, you are guilty of participation in the act of false imprisonment.
A pleasing reflection to your honor, and a matter for serious consideration for the
jurors who participated with you in theee crimes. But I appreliend there is no
such result following from a just construction of this statute, and I shall very
briefly submit to your honor the views that have suggested themselves to me.

The first question that arvises is upon the construction of the statute. My
learned brothers upon the other side contend that the selection of the names that
are to be deposited in the jury box is a duty devolving by the law upon the
register of Washington city, the clerk of Georgetown, and the clerk of the levy
court of the county, and that this duty must be performed by all three conjointly,
and that a part of this duty baving been performed by one of the three, the duty
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was illegally performed,’and-'the counclusion of that duty are null and void.
Your honor will observe that the first section of the act provides: “'That it shall
be the duty of the register of Washington city, and o(P the respective clerks of
the city of Georgetown and the levy court of Washington county, in the District
of Columbia, within one month after the passage of this act, and on or before the
first day of February in cach year thereafter, to make a list of such of the white
male citizens, tax-payers, residing within their respective jurisdictions as they
shall judge best qualified to serve as jurors in the courts of said District.”
This requirement of the law is addressed to these officials respectively. The
register of Washington is to make a list of such of the white male citizens, tax-
" payers, as he thinks best qualified to serve as jurors. S far as the making of the
t iteelf in the first instance is concerned, it cannot be pretended that any part
of the duty in regard to it has devolved upon any one else than the register as
to the list of Wa.shin%ton, the clerk of Georgetown as to the list for Georgetown,
and the clerk of the levy court as to the list for the county, and in the prepara-
tion of that list there is a discretionary power left with these several officers to
be exercised by each severally, independent of the other within the territory
over which the law requires him to perform his duty. The register of Wash-
ington has to select from the white male citizens of Washington, tax-payers, such
persons as he may think in his judgment best qualified. Your honor will ob-
terve that the law does not say that he shall select all that are qualified. It
does not say what proportion of those that are qualified he shall select. It docs
not say how many shall constitute his list, but it provides that he shall make a
list of those he deems best qualified; and in the execution of the duty imposed
by this law he is required to leave out some, because he cannot select those who
are best qualified, without leaving out those who are more indifferently quali-
fed. So with the clerk of Georgetown—so with the clerk of the levy court. °
In this first section, then, thereis no pretence, thereis no ground to maintain that
the duty imposed upon theseofficers is to be performe¢d by them conjointly. ""The
second section provides ¢“that the officers aforesaid shall select from the list of
theregister of Washington the names of four hundred persons ; from that of the clerk
of Georgetown eighty persons, and from that of the clerk of the levy court forty
persons, which proportion afier the year 1863 may be varied from year to year,”
&c. My learned brethren, while they will concede, and must concede the posi-
tion advanced in regard to the meaning of the first section, contend that the
second section, however,imposed the duty of selecting from the list prepared in
obedience to the first section upon the three officers conjointly. They admit,
and must admit, that each officer must prepare his own list, but they say that
after the list is so prepared by each officer severally, the three are to meet
ther and conjointly select the number required, from the list so prepared. I
submit to your honor that the same construction which applies to the first section
must also apply to the second ; that the clear and distinct langglt:ge of the first,
aids in relieving the apparent obscurity of the second, and the several duty
designated to be performed by these officers severally in the first section, re-
mains a several duty to be performed by them severally under the second section.
Each officer has to select from the list he prepares the number of names he is re-
quired to have drawn from each list, and I submit to your honor, that the
other officers—the clerks of Georgetown and of the levy court—have nothing
to do with the selection to be made from the list prepared by the register of
Washington. The law has selected three officers of three distinct corporations ;
the corporations of Washington, Georgetown, and the county are distinct.
The law has selected these three officers, and these three distinct corporations,
to perform certain duties within their corporate limits, and relating to the cor-
porators. It has imposed the duty upon these officers because they are pre-
sumed to know better than anybody else of the qualifications and character of
the corporators among whom they live, and it would be a most remarkable
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thing if the law should require an officer of the corporation of Washington to
euter into the corporation of Georgetown and perform a duty of this character
in regard to the corporators of Georgetown. It would be a remarkable thing if
the law chould require an officer of the corporation of Washington, about
whom and about whose official position there is nothing to justify the presumption
that he is acquainted with the qualifications and character of the citizens of the,
county, to go into the county and make from among its citizens a selection of &
Eortion of them who are to perform the high and responsible duties of jurors;

ut it would be in perfect accordance with reason, common sense, justice, and
law, to require the clerk of the levy court of Washington county, who lives in
the county, is familiar with the corporators of the county, to select from among
those corporators, the persons who are to perform this delicate office, and it is to
be presumed from the relation in which these officers stand, that one can in no
way aid or assist the other. The reason why they are brought together is, that
in the particular of the jury, the jury is to constitue the jury for the three cor-
gorations, but in order that it should be wisely and judiciously selected, it is to

e selected by the men best competent to make it, most likely to be familiar with
the people among whom the selection is required to be made—by the officer of
that particular corporation. .

But, your honor, it is not necessary that in this case I should take this ex-
treme pogition in the construction of the law. My second position is, that the
three officers, if the construction of my learned brethren be correet, did con-
jointly perform the duty of selecting from these lista. On yesterday, when it

ecame apparent from the statement of Mr. Douglass, made in addition to his
affidavit, that that affidavit was not entirely accurate, and that when the juror
names were deposited in the jury box, all three of these officers were present,
I objected to the further inquiry as to what particular judgment was exercised
by the one or the other in the sclection of the names 8o deposited. My learned
brethren on the other side suigested to me that the argument or view I then ex-
pressed was applicable to the main question, and should be expressed as an
argument upon the main ?uestion, and not upon the question of evidence. What-
ever might be the view of this statute when that fact was developed, it struck me
instantly that my learned brethren on the other side would see at once there
was no ground upon which to rest their motion. 1 supposed, although I had
never examined the question at all, that when Mr. Doug&ss stated these three
officers were present at the time, my learned brethren on the othersidechad been
misinformed by the affidavit which they had, and that when the fact was de-
veloped that all these officers were present acting together in depesiting names
in the jury box, it was information that would satisfy them that there was no
ground for their motion. My reason for so supposing was this familiar principle,
that where three individuals are required by law to perform a quas: judicial
duty, or a discretionary duty, and the daty is performed, you eannot go back
beyond the performance of the duty to inquire how far it was performed by each
of the three. Your inquiry is stopped the very instant the fact is developed
that the three were present and participated in the duty imposed upon them.
How far it appears of what share Ee had, how far the judgment of one guided
the other, and what passed in consultation, are not matters of inquiry by your
honor. This board, if board you call it, have rights as well as courts. 'Fhey
arc entitled to legal presumption as well as the court, and it is the first time in
my professional experience, that I have ever seen the attempt made to inquire
how far one of the several parties aided in the performance of the duty that was
imposed upon them conjointly when it was shown that all were present. The
statement of the question is so plain that argument would only tend to obscure.

I suggest to your honor, as a third consideration, that we are not now inquiring
whether these parties (these officers of the law) performed their duty strictly in
accordance with requirements of the law, but we are inquiring how far failure
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to comply 'with ‘these' requirements vitiates what was done—two very distinct
questions ; and I maintain that even if this officer failed to comply in every par-
ticnlar with the strict requirements of the law, and yet the duty was performed,
that while they may be ?iable for a failure to obey and observe the law, the act
they bave done is a valid and binding act. The statute nowhere declares that
the panel shall be void. The statute nowhere declares that their action shall be
Yugatory. It directs certain things to be done, and is what is known to the
law as a directory statute. As your honor is aware, the courts have gone to a
great extent in construing these directory requirements of the law, with a view
to uphold what may have been done under the law. I refer the court to Sedg-
wick on Statutory Law, from page 371 to page 377, for a very full collectiun
of cases bearing upon this point. I cannot gather from the case decided
any fixed general principle, sufficiently clear and distinct, and state to your
honor without reference to special cases, other than this, that whenever the court
can construe the law as directory, whenever they can uphold the validity of
vhat is done under the law, although not done in conformity to the law, it will
construe the statute to be directory. And it bas upheld the validity of what
has been done, even while punishing the officer for a failure to comply with the
mandates of the law. I read from page 377. )

“ By a paving act, commissioners were empowered to enter into contracts for the
vork, provided that no contract should be made for any longer term than three
years; and the act then went on to declare that ten days’ notice of proposals
should be given; that the contracts should specify the work, the price, and the
time of completion, and should be signed by at least three of the commissioners,
and that copies should be kept. It was held that the proviso as to the term of
the contract was imperative, gut that all the other clauses were merely direc-
tory, (Tindal, C. J., saying: * The act says that the contract skall be signed
by the commissioners, &c.; it does not say that they shall be void unless so
tigned,”’) and that a contract was good without them. Here it is obvious that
{:govisions inserted by the legislature for the protection of tax-payers, were nul-
ified by a judicial decision.

* * * * * *

“In Massachusetts, where a siatute required the assessora to assess a tax within
thirty days after the vote of the tax being certified to them, it was held that the
naming the time for the asgessmeat was to be considered as directory to the ae
gessors, and not as a limitation of their authority. So in New York, where a
school-tax was voted at a meeting of which no notice was given as required by
statute, and afterwards levied, the act was held to be directory merely, and the
tax to be well laid. A statute requiring a tax to be assessed, and the tax-list
therefore to be made out by the trustees, and a proper warrant attached thereto
within thirty days after the district meeting in which the tax shall have becu
voted, is merely directory as to time.

* * * . * .

“Indeed, the rule has been carried 8o far as to hold where a statute directed
the vote of the common council of the city of New York to be taken by ayes
and nays, that the provision is merely directory. And, again, it has been de-
cided that the provision of a statute requiring inspectors of corporate clections
to take an oath is only directory. The rule has also been applied to popular
elections ; an election has been held valid, though the inspectors werc sworn
uot on the Bible but on some other book, though they kept open the polls after
the time fixed by law, and committed other minor irregularities.”

This, then, will show to your honor the disposition of the courts to uphold the
validity of what may have been done by an officer even where he has not strictly
complied with the requircments of the law. Tbe requirements of every law are
mandatory and should be obeyed, and he who disregards them must disregard
them at his peril. But where the law itself does not gcclare that to be void which
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he is required to do, and has not done, in strict accordance with the requirements
of the statute, and the doing of the thing affects other parties and the public
interests. 'The law will uphold the act as valid, but may punish the officer as
derelict in his duty.

The general principle that statutory provisions may, in certain cases, be treated
as purely directory has been recognizetf in all the States.” 1n regard to capital
trials for murder in Michigan, a statute, requiring a circuit judge to assign aday"
for the trial, has been held clearly directory so far as time is concerned.”

In this case the statute imperatively required that a day should be assigned for
the trial of the capital cases; the statute was made in favor of the prisoner, in
favor of life, and yet the courts uphold the action of one of its officers acting
thus in a manifest disregard of this charitable and mandatory requirement of the
law.

But I do not deem it necessary, as I stated in regard to the first position, to
maintain the third to the extent to which I have carried it. The second, as I
have indicated to the court, is conclusive upon this subject. These men were
present doing the act, and you cannot inquire into what part was done by one
and what part by another. It is their act. The list of jurors was placed in the
box by them, and the certfiicate is signed by three men. They have therefore
ratified by their own signature what was done; they have, by their subsequent
act, declared that thiz box was made up according to law. Now I ask my
learned brethren upon the other side to answer me this question: Suppose three
men were to meet together in conclave—suppose the clerk of Georgetown and of
the levy court had eaid to Mr. Douglass, take your list and make out from
your list these men from Washington that ought to go in this box, and he had
done it, and conjointly with the others deposited the names in the box, would
your honor come into court and sxg these men had not performed the duties
charged upon them as guasi official duties? Unquestionably not. But, say my
brethren upon the other side, he made out no list. He did make a list, call it by
what name you please. He made out four hundred names of those he regarded
a8 best qualified in the city of Washington ; he was not required to make any
more. The number of individuals who should be upon that list or who should
compose it were matters exclusively within his own discretion, and when he
made out four hundred names it was an exercise of his discretion in the selection
of men best qualified to serve as jurors.

But I am consuming time unnecessarily, for the case is definitely settled by
the judges of England in their unanimous opinion in the famous case of Daniel
O’Connell. 1 refer to 11 Clark and Finunelly, page 167. Daniel O’Connell
being indicted of high crimes and misdemeanors, applied his challenge to the
array of jurors, and your honor will perceive that the refusal to grant him the ben-
efit of the challenge to this array was a very hard and possibly a very harsh one.

The challenge of the defendant, Daniel O’Connell, was as follows . « And
the said Daniel O’Connell thereupon, in his own proper person, challenges the
array of the said panel, because, he says, that at the special sessions heretofore
holden in and for the county of the city of Dublin on the 14th of November,
1843, before the right honorable ¥rederick Shaw, recorder of the said city, for
the purpose of examining the list of jurors for the said city for the now current
year 1844, pursuant to the statutable enactments in such case made and pro-
vided, the clerks of the peace in and for the said city duly laid before the re-
corder divers, to wit : Twenty lists theretofore duly furnished to the clerks of
the peace by the several collectors of grand jury cess within the city, in that be-
half duly authorized to make such lists, containing or purporting to contain a
true list of every man residing within their respective districts.”

Now, your honor, the law under which this challenge was interposed, and ac-
cording to the requirements by which it was expected to be made available, pro-
vided the clerks of the peace for the city of Dublin should lay before the re-

an
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corder certain lists which were to be furnished to the clerks of the peace by the
several collectors of the grand jury cess. The lists were to be made by the col-
lectors of persons qualified to act as jurors. The collectors having made out the
list were to furnish them to the clerks of the peace, the clerks of the peace were
to furnish them to the recorder, the recorder was to certify to the qualification,
and from these lists the jury book was to be made out, and from the jury book
the sheriff was to collect the panel. This was the law. Now the challenge set
forth what I have read to your honor, and goes on to say:

“And that the said several lists respectively were at the special sessions duly
corrected, allowed, and signed by the said recorder, pursuant, &c.; and that
the several persons whose names are hereinafter mentioned were then and there
sdjudged by the recorder to have the qualifications hereinafter named, and that
the names of the several persons were then and there contained in the said seve-
ral lists so corrected, allowed, and signed as aforesaid.”

Your honor will observe you have now got your list from the collectors of the
graud jury cess to ‘the clerks of the peace, from the clerks of the peace to
the recorder, and your lists are certified and approved by the recorder. He

on: .

*But that the recorder did not, as by the said statutable enactments is directed,
cauze to be made out from the said several last-mentioned lists one general list
containfhg the names of all persons whose qualifications had been so allowed,
arranged according to rank and property ; nor did the recorder thereupon, or at
all, deliver such general list containing snch names to the clerks of the peace, to
be fairly copied by the said clerks of the peace in the same order as by the said
statutable enactments is directed, but on the contrary thereof omitted so to do;
and that a certain paper writing, purporting to be a general list, purporting to
be made out from such several lists so corrected, allowed, and signed as afore-
said, was illegally and fraudulently made out by some person or persons un-
known ; and that the said paper writing, purporting to be such general iist as
aforesaid, did not contain the names of all the persons whose qualifications had
been allowed upon the correcting, allowing, and signing of said lists as aforesaid
by the recorder, but omitted the names of divers, to wit, fifty-nine persons.”

Following your list then from the collector of the grand jury cess and
clerks of the peace to the recorder, and the recorder having, as your honor ob-
serves, approved and ratified these lists, it then appears that the recorder failed
to make out a general list and make a copy of the list which he had approved,
but that some unknown party made out a list omitting fifty-nine names that
were upon the lists approved by the recorder, and that this had been done
frauduleuntly and illegally.

% And the said Daniel O’Connell further says that the several persons whose
names were so omitted from the fraudulent paper writing, purporting to be the
general list, were, at the time of the return of the collectors’ lists, and at the
time of the special cessions, and still are severally residents within the said city,
and were at the several times, and now are, duly qualified to be, and should
and ought to have been placed upon the general list; and that from the fraudu-
lent paper writing purporting to bé sach general list as aforesaid, a certain book,
purporting to be the jurors’ book of the said city for the current calendar year,
1844, wus made up and framed.”

Your honor will see that the jury book was formed from this fraudulent list,
and that on that ground the challenge was interposed. The demurrer was filed

eonceding all the facts—conceding that the lists made out had not been made up by
the recorder, that it had been made up by some person unknown, that it had been
fraudulently made up for this case, and that from the very list thus fraudulently
made up the jurors’ list had been taken, and the jury had been summoned by the
therif. The court below sustained the demurrer. The case went up to the House
of Lords, and the lords called upon the judges of England for their counsel. The
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judges of “England were unanimous in favor of the demurrer, and the lords
co-operated with them. The opinion held by Chief Justice D. Tindal, giving
the unanimous judgment on the part of the judges will afford to your honor an
easy and clear solution of the difficulty presented to you here, while the lord
chancellor in giving his opinion coincides with Chief Justice Tindal, and eluci-
dates the subject, as I think your honer will say, to your entire satisfaction. I beg
leave to read from a portion of Chief Justice Tindal’s opinion. On page 232
your honor will find the question propounded by the lords and the judges. The
question is this:

«1s there any sufficient ground for reversing the judgment on account of the
judgments of the court overruling and disallowing the challenges to the array, .
or any or either of them, or of the matters stated in such challenges 7"

On page 247 Chief Justice Tindal in his opinion says :

“The answer to the sixth question (aunte, p. 232) will depend upon the princi-
ple upon which the law allows a challenge to the array of a jury. The only
ground upon which the challenge to the array is allowed by the English law, is
the unindifferency or default of the sheriff. But no want of indifferency in the
sheriff, nor any default in him or his officers was assigned for the cause of chal-
lenge upon this occasion.

“The array of the panel is challenged in this case upon the ground that the
general list from which the jurors’ book is made up, had not been completed in
every respect in conformity with the requisites of the statutes, but that, on the
contrary, the names of fifty-nine persons duly qualified to serve on the jury for
the county of the city of Dublin, were omitted from the general list, and
from the special jurors’ book of the said county, but the challenge contains no
accusation agaiust the sheriff, or any of his subordinate officers. The challenge
by each of the defendants alleges in deed, * that a list, purporting to be a gen-
eral list, was illegally and fraudulently made out, by some person or per-
sons unknown;” and the challenge by Mr. Steele states further, ¢ that the
names were left out for the purpose and with the intent of prejudicing the said
Thomas Steele in this cause, by some person or persons unknown;” but neither
in the one case nor in the other is the most distant suggestion that the sheriff is
in fault. The sheriff thercfore being neither unindifferent nor in default, the
principle upon which the challenge to the array is given by law, does not asp]y
to the present case. I'he statute has, in fact, taken from the sheriff that duty
of selecting jurymen which the ancient law imposed upon him, and has substi-
tuted instcad a new machinery in the hands of certain officers, by whom the list
i8 to be prepared for the sheriff’s use.”

I beg here in this connection to call your honor’s atteution to one particular
feature of this opinion of the learned judge, reasoning upon the doctrine that
the only cause of challenge is unindifferency or default on the part of the sheriff.
My learned brother on the other side will see that the sheriff has nothing to do
with the selection of the jurymen. The statute having taken from the sheriff
that duty anciently imposed upon him, and placed it in the hands of other offi-
cers by whom the list is to be prepared for the sheriff’s use; and yet, although
it appeared that the list prepared Ly these officers was subatituted for another
improperly and fraudulently; still the challenge was not allowed, because
the only ground of challenge must be unindifferency or default on the part
of the sheriff. Here we have a similar substitute of machinery, the statute
having taken from the marshal the selection of the jury and placed it in
the custody of other officers in a manner very mach analogous to the law of
England. There the assessors were to furnish the list to the clerks of the peace,
the clerks of the peace to the recorder, the recorder to make out a clear list
the jury book, and a copy of that list to be placed in the hands of the sheriff.
Here the clerk of Georgetown, of the levy court, and the register of Wash-
ington are to prepare certain names and put them in a box, which box is to be



TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT. 25

placed in charge of the clerk of the supreme court to be sealed up. From that box
the jurors are to be drawn, and return is to be certified by the clerk of the crim-
inal court. The sheriff has nothing to do with all this. There the challenge is
made because the jury book was not prepared in conformity to law; here be-
cause the jury box was not prepared as alleged in strict conformity to the law.
The two stand precisely alike so far as the preparation of the jury book there
and the jury box here is concerned. The chief justice goes on:

«“If the sheriff, when the jurors’ book was furnished to him, had acted im-
properly in selecting the names of the jury from the book, such misconduct
would have been a good cause of challenge to the array; but that which is
really complained of is, that the material of the book out of which the jury is
selected by the sheriff, and for which the sheriff is not responsible, has been im-
properly composed. It is not, therefore, a ground of challenge to the array ;
and farther, it is manifest that no object or advantage could have been gained
if the challenge had been allowed, for if the challenge had been allowed, the
jury process would have been directed to some other officer, who would have
been obliged to choose his jury out of the very same special jurors’ book as
that which the sheriff had acted on, for no other was in existence. The same
objection might again be made to the jury panel secondly returned, and so foties
guoties, 80 that the granting of this challenge would, in effect, amount to the
preventing the case from being brought to trial at all. The very same difficulty
might occur in England, if, through accident, carelessness, or design, a single
jury list, directed to be returned by the overseers of any parish within the
county, were not handed over to the clerk of the peace, or if a single name
should have been omitted in any list actually delivered to the elerk of the peace.
The jury book must necessarily in either case be deficiently made up. But if
deficiency were allowed to be a ground of challenge to the array, the business
of every assize in the kingdom might effectually be stopped. That there must
be some mode of relief for an injury occasioned by such non-observance of the
directions of an act of Parliament, is undeniable; but the only question before
us is, whether it is the ground of challenge to the array ? and we all agree in
thinking it is not, and therefore we answer this question in the negative.”

I will not detain the court by reading from the opinionsof the learned lord
chancellor, for he pursues the same course of reasoning as that purswed by
Chief Justice Tindal, and coincides in the opinion I have read. He says:

«If the sheriff is unindifferent, to use the legal expression, if he is not equal
between the parties, that is a ground of challenge to the array. If he is guilty
of any default in returning the jury, that also is a ground for this species of
challenge. 'Those are the only grounds of challenge to the array. They are
of a personal nature, and are confined to the sheriff or other officer, whoever he
may be, by whom the jury is returned.”

1 do not mean to say there is anything peculiar in the character of the sher-
iff that makes him specially liable in the particular mentioned in this opinion,
but it is the officer who makes return that must be guilty of unindifferency or
defanlt ; but the opinion goes to the extent that a challenge of the array is only
proper where there is a default of the officer who makes the return of the par-

ticular jury, and not of the officer who selects the particular jury. There
ought to be, and there is a remedy where the jury book or the jury box has not
been properly prepared, but it is not a remedy by challenging the array. That
remedy applies only where the officer making the return of the particular petit
jm? has been guilty in selecting that particular jury.

respectfully submit, therefore, that if this case in England is law, there is

wo difficalt question before this court. ‘And if it is not, there is no difficult

mign. because, as I have said, those men were present in the discharge of
aty.

And Ityfurther state, that if cogdizant of the fact that there is a defect in this
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Let us see what all this means. It is a very extraordinary spectacle, truly,
to bave a Iawyer, earnest in the defence of his client, rising and telling your
honor, that if the very thing we ask is done his client is free; and yet exerting
himself with an earnestness and an ingenuity which is commendable, to prevent
his client from gaining his liberty. It is something new in the administration
of justice. 1 fancy, your honor, that I have a right to infer either that he is
not gincere in believing that the success of this motion would set his client at
large, or else he will have to meet this extraordinary result, that he does not
wish to have his client at large.

Mr. Merrick. Will the learned counsel allow me a moment? I merely wish
to say in reply to the first suggestion, which he is now eliminating, that I desire
my client to be set at large by the verdict of a jury. My judgment is that if
this motion prevail, this indictment falls ; but the blood-hounds of the law may
still track him for another indictment. I desire him to go forth from this court-
room free from accusation and protected for the future.

Mr. PigrrgroNT. Well, then, your honor, the reason is that he wants him
tried by a jury, and that is exactly what we want. I called your honor’s at-
tention yesterday to the section of the statute now before me, that whenever
there is a failure from any cause with regard to a jury, the marshal shall summon
good and lawful men under this law to exercise that high function; and we
yesterday proposed, in order that no delay might be had, that the marshal should
proceed to summon a jury, and if they choose to say g0, we will without another
word say, let the marshal proceed, under your honor’s direction, to subpena a
jury and bring them into this court to try this case. They will discover before
we progress much further, that the United States are as zealous, as earn-
eat, and as eager, to try this cause as the other eide; and they will discover
before it is through that the public mind will be set right with regard to a great
many subjects about which there have been such active, numerous, and un-
founded reports. Since I have been here in this city for these past few days,
bas it been circulated in nearly all the journals of this country, that the United
Btates dared not bring forward the diary found upon the murderer of the Presi-
dent, because that diary would prove things they did not want to have known.
All these things will be proved to be false, and all the papers, about the sup-
presgion of which so much has -been said, will be exhibited here on the trial
of this case. We are anxious that it should be proceeded with at once. It
bas likewise been circulated through all the public journals, that after the
former convictions, when an effort. was made to go to the President for pardon,
men active here at the seat of government prevented any attempt being made,
or the President being even reached for the purpose of seeing whether he would
not exercise clemency ; whereas, the truth, and the truth of record which will
be presented in this court, is that all this matter was brought before the Presi-
dent and presented to a full Cabinet mecting where it was thoroughly discussed ;
and after such discussion, condemnation and execution received not only the
sanction of the President but that of every member of his Cabinet. This and
athousand other of these false stories willee all set at rest forever in the pro-
gress of this trial ; and the gentlemen may feel assured that not only are we
ready but that we are desirous of proceeding at once with the case. '

If your honor please, it is inconceivable to the human mind that mortal man
tan be placed in a more solemn position than in coming before a court and a
Jury where a fellow min is to be tried for his life for the murder of another.

More than ordinarily solemn is this great occasion. On the 14th of April, 1865,
4 crime was committed that shocked the whole civilized world ; a crime against
buman life ; a crime against the laws; and a crime against our beloved govern-
ment, Men have suffered death for that crime, and one, who is now the prisoner
& the bar, by the grand jury of your District, has been found to have been en-
Baged in that great crime. He is here to be tried. We hope he will be tried
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and’in’ a'way'that is'decent and becoming, with all the solemnities and with all the
forms of law; that he will be tried justly and fairly; and we desire that the
jury who shall sit to try him shall be a jury brought here accorling to all the
forms of law, so that when they shall render their verdict, whether that verdict
be acquittal or condemnation. this whole country and the entire civilized world,
who will read that verdict will know and feel that the man has been tried fairly,
that he has been tried justly, that he has been tried by a judge of high moral
character and great legal learning, that he has been defen&ed by able couneel,
and that the verdict, for him or against him, has been pronounced by honest
jurors who are brought here in all respects according to the law.

This motion is made for the purpose that when this trial shall take place, it
shall be in such a way that all men everywhere shall see it has been such a trial
a8 the occasion requires, that it shall not be a mockery and a sham, and that the
prisoner shall not be tried by jurors who are not legal triers, but by jurors that
are brought here under the laws of the United States, fit and proper men to try
this case as the law directs.

My learned friend while making the assertion to your honor that the preva-
lence of our motion would set his client at large, at the same time urges your
honor to deny this motion, and says that we cannot look into the acts of this
jury, nor into the statutes which direct how a jury shall be empanelled or how
they shall be selected, and cites a case from England, which I shall presently
call to your attention, in relation to the sheriff of England. Permit me to say
that in looking at yourlaws, I discover that the sheriff has no more to do with
this jury than the clerk of the Senate of the United States. Neither the sheriff,
nor the marshal occupying the place of sheriff, has any responsible duty in re-
lation to the empanelling of this jury. Now I call your attention to the law,
and I submit to your honor that when a man is to be tried for his life, if the
verdict is to be of any validity, he must be tried according to the law. In this
country and in England from which we derive our notions of liberty, ever has
the law been jealous of human life, and so jealous that I believe it to be a well-
settled principle of law that no stipulation of counsel and no stipulation of the
prizoner cver could allow him to be tried by twelve men and convicted and ex-
ecuted upon such a verdict. The law of public policy is that the man who is
to be tried for his life shall be tried in allp respects according to law ; that the
judge who tries him shall sit according to the law; and that the witnesses shall
be sworn and testify according to the rules of law; and the jurors who are to
bring in their judgment upon such a man are to be selected in the way that the
law directe ; and if selected otherwise the verdict is good for nothing. Let us
see what the statute says about it—the statute under which these jurors have
any power whatever to try this prisoner. Save for this statute these jurors have
no more right to sit in judgment than jurors from the city of New York or from
the city of London. What does the statute say ? Let me read it:

““ Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Represcntatives of the United
States of America in Congress assembled, That it shall be the duty of the regis-
ter of Washington city and of the respective clerks of the city of Georgetown and
the levy court of Washington county, in the District of Columbia, within one
month after the passage of this act, and on or before the first day of February
in each year thereafter, to make a list of such of the white male citizens, tax-
payers, residing within their respective jurisdictions, as they shall judge best
qualified to serve as jurors in the courts of the said District.”

Now what is required by this law in the very first section? That the
jurors shall be white male citizens, tax-payers, of this District, otherwise
they cannot be jurors. Now let me ask my learned friend if he had come
into this court and discovered that every juryman -sitting in these seats was a
negro, and he had made the motion we have now made, and I had risen and
gaid to him, ““ You cannot set aside this panel because you have heard the evi-
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dence here of these men who selected it, and you cannot go behind what they
say about it.” What would my learned friend say to the argument ? Suppose
I took his own ingenious and excellent argument and turned it agaiust himself,
what would he say to it? Would he think it & good argument if every man
who gat there was a negro? Would he not turn me to this statute and say * of
the white male citizens,” and then turn to your honor and say, “ Are these white
male citizens, every man of whom is a woolly-headed African? [Laughter.]
He cannot meet that suggestion ; and the case is precisely parallel to the one at bar.

Mr. Merrick. If my 'iearned friend will allow me to ask him a question

Mr. PIERREPONT. Any.

Mr. Merrick. Does the learned gentleman include in his motion challenging
this array any objection to the personal qualification of these jurors?

Mr. PierrREPONT. I most assuredly do.

Mr. Merricg. 1 was not aware of it.

Mr. PierrepoNT. They are just as much disqualified as though they were
negroes. The statute says they shall be “white;” and the statute says they
shall be “tax-payers;” and the statute says they shall reside within this Dis-
trict. We find they are not a jury of tax-payers, and they are not a jury of
negroes ; but they might just as well have been tax-payers and negroes, for on
inquiry of my learned friend, the district attorney, I am informed that you have
in your District negroes who are tax-payers. If these, then, had been tax-paying
negroes. they would have been just as well qualified as white non-tax-payers,
and there is no getting rid of it.

Let us see what further the statute says on this subject. I am only in the
beginning of it. Those are the men that the law says are to be selected as
jurors. I repeat, let us see what further it says. And they may put in “ the
names of such qualified persons as were on the list the previous year, but who
did not serve as jurors; and the lists thus made of the register and clerks afore-
said shall be kept by them respectively and be delivered to their successors in
office.”” These three men shall make their lists of tax-payers who are white
in these three districts. What shall they do when they get together? The
officers aforesaid ehall select from the list of the register of Washington city the
names of four hundred persous. That is what these three men are todo. This
board, as my learned advereary calls it, and very justly, are to select first from
the list of the rcgister of the city of Washington four hundred names. Let us
start there. Did they select from the register’s list of the city of Washington
four hundred names? He tells you that they never selected one name, and that
he never had there a list, first or last. When I asked him on the cross-exam-
ination here yesterday, after they had brought him here, * Did the others even
tee the rolls of the names that you put into the box?” He said “No.”
“Did you see any that they put in?” He said “No.” And you will find
it 80 appears on the record.

What was the object of this law? The register of the city of Washington
was to bring the list of tax-payers whom he deemed qualified. The clerk of
the levy court was to bring his list of tax-payers whom he judged to be quali-
fied. The clerk of Georgetown was to bring his list of tax-payers whom he
thought to be-qualified. And this board, thus together, was to select first from
the register’s list of the city of Washington the names of four hundred persons,
from that of the clerk of Georgetown eighty, and from that of the clerk of the
levy court forty. Did these three men select from the list of the register of
Washington four hundred? They never selected a man, and that evidence is
perfect and complete. Did the three select from the list of the clerk of George-
town eighty persons? Not a man. Did this board select from the list of the

derk of the levy court forty ? Not one. Now, there was some reason for
this law, was there not? The object of it was to have a fair jury. This
statute was passed by the Congress of the United States for the govern-
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ment/ of 'this Distriet,/in'- which it was known when the statute was passed
that therc were persons of a variety of views in relation to the great public
guestions. It was known that in this city there were a great many men who

id not sympathize with the government. There were others who were its bitter
enemies. T'bere were others who were zealously in its favor. There were the
strongest abolitionists on the one hand, and on the other those who believed in
and favored slavery. Every grade and class of political opinion and of moral
view and religious notion existed in this city when this statute was passed, as
it does to-day, and Congress was anxious that jurors should be so selected that
when men came to be tried in this District they should feel that they were to
haye a jury without prejudice, and a jury in the selection of which more than
one man had been engaged. That they could have a jury, after the list had been
prepared, of the kind of men that the statute required, the strict provisions of
which I have just read. Now, I appeal to your honor if, under the evidence
before the court on the demurrer w{:icb admits it, one single requisite has been
complied with. I ask your honor, suppose that these men had selected any
sort of men they had pleased, men who were not residents, and. as I before said,
men who were negroes, would that have been a good jury ? Suppose the clerk
of the Senate and the chairman of the Judiciary Committee had met together to
select jurors and put their names in the box, and then afterwards the clerk had
drawn them out, would that have been a good selection of the jury ? It would
have been just as good as this. It would have been just as strict a com-
pliance with the law as this is. Why have any law about it? Why not say,
“ Let the register and these men go and do as they please about it.”” The law
was made surely for something.

Let us see what further provisions they made to guard against any fraud or
any partiality in relation to the selection of a jury. *The names selected from
gaid lista shall be written on separate and similar pieces of paper, which shall
be o folded or rolled up that the names cannot be seen, and placed in a box.”
Were the names written on these pieces of paper taken from those lists? Not
a name selected by this board was taken from these lists; but these three dif-
ferent persons selected, and neither ever let the other know, as the evidence
shows, what he had selected. Not a man knew any except such as were his
own ; and the register of this city did not even know his own, for his own clerk,
as he says himeelf, rolled up the names dnd put them in. “And they shall be
glaced in the box to be provided by the register and the clerks aforesaid, which

ox shall be sealed, and after being thoroughly shaken shall be delivered to the
clerk of the circuit court of Washington county for eafe keeping.”” Let us see
whether that part of the law, under this evidence, was complied with. The
box was not sealed, as the evidence shows. It was not sealed or delivered to
the clerk. That is a very important provision. If the box was delivered to the
clerk unsealed, why, your honor knows, there might be a clerk dishonest—I do
not wish to be understood as making any such suggestion here, on the contrary,
very far from it—but there might be a clerk or a deputy clerk, or some one
connected with the office, who might see fit to stuff that box with other names
for other motives ; and, therefore, to provide against this, it is enacted that this
box, by these men who compose this board, shall be sealed and thoroughly
ehaken, and after it is thus sealed and thoroughly shaken it shall be delivered
to the clerk of the circuit court. "T'he evidence is that when this box was de-
livered to the clerk of the circuit court it was unsealed. Can it be said and
urged to your honor that these men, intrusted with the performance of this
high duty, can properly disregard every one of these requirements ? I submit
to your honor, and will prove by this evidence before I am through, that from
the first atep they took to the last they did so disregard them. Not one single
act did they do that was not in violation of the statute.

Next, ““that the said register and clerks and the clerk of the circuit court
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shall, at Jeast ten’ days before the commencement of each term of the circuit or
of the criminal court, meet at the City Hall of Washington city, and then and
there the clerk of the circuit court shall publicly break the seal of said box, and
proceed to draw therefrom the names of #o many persons as are required.”

There is another requisition: 'I'hat these men, that this board of three, should
thus select the jurors and put their names in a box, seal it up and deliver it to
the clerk, shaken and sealed ; and a very important provision it ig, as your honor
will see. Fuppose, for any bad motive—no such motive do I attribute in this
case, but make the supposition simply as an illustration of the point of law that
I wish to bring to the attention of the court—suppose, from any motive of par-
tiality or interest, one of these gentlemen forming the board saw fit, in drawing
from the box, to draw names which were in his hand instead of the names in the
box. The law provides that he shall not have that opportunity ; that he ehall
not draw them, but that the clerk of this court shall draw the names. Now,
what is the evidence ? It is that one of this board, the clerk of Georgetown,
drew the names, and not the clerk of this court. The clerk of Georgetown had
no more right to draw these names than my learned friend, the district attorney ;
and drawing them, he was doing that which made it an illegal draft of this jury,
directly contrary to the law. Law is not supposed to be made in folly, or in
nonsense. Congress makes this solemn provision that these names shall be
drawn by the clerk, who is not one of the board, but a totally different man,
after the box containing the names shall have been delivered to him, shaken and
sealed ; yet one of this board draws the jury. That is the evidence before us,
and uncontradicted.

Let us sec what further provisions are made in relation to this matter. It was
evidently anticipated by the Congress which passed this lJaw that a contingency
might arise in which it might become necessary to set aside the array and order
a new panel, and, in order to meet that contingency, they have made provision
for it in the section which I will now read; and I will just say that my learned
friend, in reading from this case in England, read what the learned judge there
said in relation to their law; that their law did not allow them to go behind the
sheriff in relation to the matter, and he gave as one good reason why the sheriff’s
selection should not be set aside, that there was no other earthly mode prepared
in England by which they could proceed to the trial of any case. My learned
friend read it from the report, some portions of which I shall have occasion, in a
moment or two, to cite to your honor.

Mr. Beaprey. Will you be kind enough to repeat the remark just made? I
was otherwise engaged at the moment, and did oot hear it.

Mr. PigRREPONT. I say that one of the reasons that the Lord Chief Justice
Tindal gave ae a good: reason for setting aside the selection of jurors in England
was, that if that motion were granted, there would be no mode by which they,
could get a jury to proceed with the trial of causes.

Mr. BRapLEY. Ob, yes; I now understand you.

Mr. PierrepoNT. Now, in our case no such reason can be assigned. The
statute does contemplate just such an emergency, and has made a provision for
it It provides, in section five, that *if a jury be required for the circuit court,
the twenty-six persons whose names shall first be drawn shall coustitute the jury
for that term ; and the names of the persons drawn as aforesaid shall not be
again placed in such box for a period of two years. If any person whose name
is so drawn shall have died, or has removed from the District, or has become
otherwise disabled from serving as a juror, the said register and clerks shall
draw from the box the name of another person who shall serve instead ; and after

the requisite number of jurora shall have been so drawn, the said box shall be
again sealed and delivered to the clerk of the circuit court, as aforesaid.”

Immediately following that provision is section 7th, which says that “in case
either of the officers whose duty it is to make out the lists aforesaid shall ne-
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glect 'or refuse to act; or in case either of them shall be interested in any action
or proceeding pending in the said circuit or criminal court, the chief judge of the
circuit court shall appoint a fit and proper person to discharge the jury instead;
and if the persons selected as jurors do not attend, the court may order the
marshal to summon other respectable tax-payers, possessing the other legal

ualifications, to supply the deficiency ; but if at any time there should not be,
{y reason of challenge or otherwise, a sufficient number of jurors to make up the
panel, the court ghall order the marshal to summon as many talesmen as are
necessary for that purpose.”

Now, if the persons selected as jurors do not attend, the court may order the
marshal to summon other respectable—what? ¢ Other respectable tax-payers,
possessing the other legal qualifications, to supply the deficiency.”” In the first
section it states what the legal qualifications are—* to be tax-payers, and to pos-
sess the other qualifications.” The seventh section provides that, in case of
failure from any cause, the court shall dircct the marshal to summon as tales-
men other respectable tax-payers, possessing the other legal requisites ; and the
marshal, under the direction of the court, shall thus prepare the list of other re-
spectable tax-payers, &c. Congress seemed, therefore, determined that in no
event should justice fail, and that no such reason could be given by your honor
as v:r]as given by Chief Justice Tindal, that there could be no other mode of pro-
ceeding.

Thegtbing is complete ; there is no difficulty whatever in the matter. Con-
gress has provided, first, that it shall be done in a particular way; that a par-
ticular kind of persons, and those only, shall be the jurors, and that they shall
be selected in a certain manner and drawn in a certain manner; and then, to
avoid the possibility of a failure of justice, they say that, if from challenging or
from any other cause, a sufficient number may not be bad, the court shall order
the marshal to make the selections from the proper persons having the legal
qualifications, so that all these questions will lie quite outside of this case, and
gowor in the court is complete. There ia no cause or reason for delay; it may

e done now and forthwith, and the sooner it is done the better. I take it for
granted that my learned friends want it to be done soon. They want to go on
with the case. 'We are as anxious as they to goon with it.

‘There is one argument which was made by the gentleman in the early part
of his remarks to which I desire to call to the attention of the court, and that is
this, that if this jury is an illegal jury, why, then, other men bave been convicted
here illegally. He urged it with much earnestness, that that was a reason, if
i'ou had been going on in an illegal way, why you should continue to do so.

think that, on reflection, my learned friend will not consider that argument
sound. If you have been doing illegal or immoral or any other wrong acts, the
time to stop is when you first make the discovery, and not to say, * We will
continue it, because we have always done it.” Your honor knows when we
made some attempt to civilize the Indians, and an lndian chief was reproved
for murdering his enemies. and was told that it was unchristian and wrong, he
said he had always killed his enemies, and insisted that, therefore, he should
gtill kill them. An immoral woman of the Sandwich islands, too, whom our
missionaries attempted to convert to virtue after marriage, urged as a reason for
continuing ber mode of life, that she had always been 8o doing as she was then.

My learned friend read from page 247. of Clark & Finnelly’s Reports. Let
us scc what that case was. The question came up for this judge to answer;
and the answer he gave to the sixth question was—in England they have a
statute upon the subject it seems

Mr BrapLry. 1 beg your pardon.

Mr. PierrkpPoNT. They bave a statute in England to which he alludes. I
am coming to that in 8 moment,
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Mr. MEgRick. I thought you stated that there was a statute in regard to the
grounds upon which a challenge would be allowed.

Mr. PigrrEPONT. O, no, sir; the statute upon which this was based. The
answer of the learned judge waa: “ the only ground upon which the array is
sllowed by the English law is the usindifereacy or default of the sheryf. But
no want of indifference in the sheriff, nor any default in him or his officers, was
assigned for the cause of the challenge upon this occasion.”

That was the end of the case. It ought to have been the end of the case.
This word “ unindifferency,” which I see the learned judge uses here, is cer-
tainly a new word to me—I never saw it before. I suppose, however, it is a
good one.

Mr. Mrerick. It is habitually used in that connection throughout the law.

Mr. PiBRREPONT. I say I suppose it is a good word; but it is not one that
I am accustomed to. Of course, we understand what it means. Now, the
only ground to the challenge of the array that is allowed by the English law is
the “ unindifferency or default of the sheriff.” That being so, it does not need
much comment. ‘L beonly ground upon which thelaw allowed a challenge was not
pretended to exist, as the learned judge said. ‘Iherefore there was no necessity
for epending a great deal of time upon a case like that. Of course, that would
end the case. It did not need so much learning or argument as the learned judge
and the lord chancellor seem to have given to it { but from the notoriety of the
tase, and from the magnitude of the subject involved, which was then made a
political affair, they saw fit to give it a great deal of consideration, and gave as
reazons why they should not undertake to set aside this panel the fact that they
had no possible way of having justice administered, no other mode of getting a
jury. It was not pretended in the challenge, as the judge &aid, that the legal
grouud and the only legal ground upon which there could be any complaint pre-
dicated existed. T'herefore, of couree, the motion was denied. And in this case,
if there is no ground for it, of course the motion will be denied. If there is
ground for it, 1 take it the motion will be granted. In this case, we act under
the laws of the United States directly—under a statute. It is a principle of
the common law, well known and understood by all lawyers ‘and alf men, per-
haps, that it lies in the discretion of the judge to construe the law ; it is not
only in his discretion but his duty to see that the law over which he is called
to preside is properly admiunistered. Your honor is placed in your high posi-
tion in thia court for the purpose of giving construction to this statute ; for the
purpose of seeing that the laws of Cungress relating to this District and this
court over which you preside are executed. This is not an unmeaning statute.
The reasons of it are apparent upon its face, and when Congress. passed it it was
understood that this statute was to be obeyed, and that when a man was to be
tried for his life, or when he was to be tried for any felony, or any lesser crime
or misdemeanor, or for anything else, the jurors who were to try him were
1o be selected by latw, and that no irregularity, informality, or defect in that se-
lection should be passed lightly over by the judge who presides. But it is his
daty to see that &: law is administered, if it be called to his notice; and if
the statute has never before been called to your notice, of course your honor has
not passed upon it. As I learn from my associate, the district attorney, and as
Linfer from what the learned counsel on the other eide have said, this question
bas never here arisen before.  Of course, therefore, it is no man’s fault; it has
ot been thought of. These men proceeded in their own way. They thought

they would tgke their way to get a jury, instead of the way of the law. They
chose to tread in their own path ; to be a law unto themselves ; to say,* We will
fixupa jury as we please,” reckless of the law. Itis your honor’s duty to see
that 3 jury is selected in the way that the law directs, and that is all we ask.
We are ready now to proceed to trial ; we are desirous that the trial shall be
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proceeded 'with, and we 'ask and urge that this other provision of the statute by
which your honor is empowered to direct the marshal to sammon a jury for the
purpose of trying the cause shall be enforced, and that a jury shall be empan-
elled, in order that we may be permitted to proceed to trial at the earliest day that
such jury can be selected. And we see no reason why it may not be to-morrow
a8 well as any distant day, so that any so-called reason of delay is not a reason;
so that any alleged rcason of the failure of justice is a false reason. The statute
has provided for all these things, and it lies in your honor to enforce it; and
when the facts have been presented before the court; when it is shown that the
statute is not complied with, and when it appears that the law has provided that
a jury may be selected by your honor’s direction in case of previous failure, I,
for one, cannot for a moment imagine that your honor will not direct that the law
be complied with, or that you will allow subordinates to exercise their own whims
or notions, to set aside the solemn statute of the law.

This is a case such as your honor has never tried, such as your honor never
will again try ; such as has never been before tried in this country, and such,
we hope, as never will be tried again. Itisthe first civil trial for the murder of
a Precident of the United States ; the first civil trial for the great crime of an
attempt to destroy the government of the United States; one of that class
of crimes which shock the whole world. Many people who despaired of the
republic have doubts whether you can, before a civil tribunal, obtain a just aud
honest trial, a fair and impartial verdict in a great case like this. Therefore
this case poesesses & weight and magnitude such as rurely no other case in
this country ever had. It is in fact not Bimply the trial of & man for his life;
it is in a measure a trial whether we can get a jury legally empanelled to try
assasgins and murderers of the President of the United States, who attempted
to throw our country into confusion and anarchy, and who designed all the hor-
rors to follow their act which the human mind can conceive. It is to be seen
whether such trial can be fair, whether justice can be done. All of us who have
read anything of history or who have reflected upon human nature, know that
civil society will protect itself. They know, if the civil courts and the verdicts
of juries cannot administer justice, that society, as in France and in other coun-
tries where the necessity has arisen, will be driven to take refuge in the gloomy
despotiem of military power. God deliver us from that! we want to show
before our countrymen and before the world, that an honest jury of this District
will give an honest verdict; that we can have a fair trial before an impartial
court; and we believe that when the jury thus selccted are brought together to
try the cause, they will give a verdict with which our countrymen will be satis-
fied—and that is all we want.

Mr. BRADLEY. If your honor please, I know no case in which it has been my
fortune to be engaged heretofore in which I rose to discuss a question of law
with deeper interest than I feel now. The temptation is very great to be led away
from the true question submitted to your honor for your decision,and it is ex-
ceedingly difficult to resist following the course which has been pursued upon
the other side by discussing, not questions of law, but by presenting considera-
tions to the court which should have no influence upon any judicial mind.

Weare told that & jury is to be empanelled to try the assassin of the Presi-
dent. It would have been better to have said him who has been charged with
being concerned in that monstrous crime.

Mr. PierrREPONT. Excuse me; I think my learned friend could not have
heard all the language I used. I said, as found by the grand jury.

Mr. BeapLEY. That observation escaped my attention. There are, if the court
please, other inducements which are hard to resist, that lead me to make some
commentaries upon the course pursued by gentlemen on the other side ; but time
i8 too precious, for I desire to have this discussion closed in time to receive the
decision of your honor to-day, that if this motion is overruled and the demurrer
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sustained we may at once proceed to impanel a jury, and if it is not and there is
any other movement of delay on the part of the prosecution, that we may be pre-
pared to meet every dilatory process as soon as it arises. We are in earnest,
we desire to have this party tried now, we desire to have him tried by a jury
omni exceptione majores, against whom not a breath has been uttered by an
counsel who has addressed the court since the commencement of these proceed-
ings, by a jury empanelled according to the form of law which has prevailed
since the passage of the act under which it is empanelled—a jury above challenge
for qualification—a jury conceded to have been selected by honest men with
honest purposes, without reference to this trial—a jury standing, if a jury can
stand, impartial in view of such an event as has been referred to—a jury standing
impartial between the government and the accused. We desire that the inten-
tion of the act of Congress shall be carried out, which was to take from the
marshal of this District the power to select jurors; we desire, if possible, to
avoid the selection which may be made of talesmen, for we know too well the
condition of society here ; we desire to have such a jury as has been impanelled
under the circumstances in which this jury has been summoned, admitted to be
free from all exception. .

But again I take issue with my learned friend on the other side. We desire
to have a jury that can try the case now; for if we do not try it now, no jury
wnder that statute can be summoned or returned until next February. The
condition in which the marshal is to be called in to summon talesmen cannot
arise, because there has been no panel returned, and therefore no panel can be
exhausted, and until a panel has been returned and has been exhausted
by some process of law, the authority of the marshal to summon tales-
men i out of the question. The predicate is that a panel shall have been ex-
hansted. If there is no panel, there is no predicate, and if that is no predicate,
the marshal cannot sammon. We are sincere, if your honor please, in endea-
voring to bring this question to an issue now. Our brethren claim and we
aceord to them the same sincerity. We may have done them injustice in sup-
posing this was interposed for delay; we may have done them injustice in sup-
posing that at this late stage of the term and after so many years of experience
this proceas of selecting a jury was first discovered to be wrong. I hope we did.
Bat there i8 a graver view of this question which has not been touched by the
counsel on the other side, nor by my learned brother who preceded me. We
have been told that it is an obligation of common law that the courts shall en-
force statutory provisions; but there is a higher and a holier duty, that courts shall
not make law. The counsel on the other side seek by this motion to prevail upon
your honor to make a law. We have no statute upon the subject of challenging
the array. Westand upon the common law of England, the common law of the
State of Maryland, the common law engrafted upon the laws of the District of
Colambia, the common law which must stand unless repealed or modified by
the statute, common law which is as binding upon the judgment and conscience
of this court as though it were statute law. Now, sir, what is that common
law? Can any man, lawyer or not, doubt what that common law is when he
reads or has heard read the case of O’Connell and the Queen? Can any man
doubt that by the common law of England, the only challenge to the array was
for default in the man charged with the summoning of the jury? 'The prepara-
tion of the list of jurors was not cause of challenge. If any case can bring
this case directly to judicial decision, that case of O’Connell does. There
was fraud and illegality charged directly upon the party making’ out the jury
book, which was admitted on the record as bein frauduf:mt and illegal, and, the
courts say in such a case as that there is no such remedy as a challenge of the
army. They say admit that it sounds harsh and tyrannical : what of that

Itis the law of the land, and they go back to the year beoks of Edward II and
Edward II1 where it was laid down by Lord Cook that the challenge to the
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array cannot be allowed, except for partiality in the person summoning the jury.
Whether there are other remedies or not is not for me to say. Whether there
are other remedies which in this instance the United States might have pursued
isnot for me to say. I say it is laid down by that bighest and greatest court of
the present time, a court composed of the fifteen judges of England, that by the
common Jaw a challenge to the array can only go to the disqualification of the
officer making the summons and return. No human ingenuity can escape the
conclusion of that case. Argument is vain. Itis like buffeting the light waves
against a great rock, it falls back in spray. Theie is the eolid baeis, the deei-
sion of the fifteen judges of England, the most solid basis upon which we can
rest the principles of our liberty, the common law of England. It comes to us
under that rule thus strict, thus limited, thus defined, hoary with age, baptized
in our own revolution, the common law of England.

Now, for the purposes of this case your honor is asked to make a new common
law. I appeal to your honor to vindicate the. common law of England, and to
enforce it.

Now, sir, I pass from that to another consideration. When this question was
proposed yesterday I conceded that the defendant in this case, according to the
current of decisions, could not waive a defect in the empanelling of the jury.
I stated, however, that I had seen two well-reasoned decisions the other way.
1 have since then seen four, and, unless the defect appear upon the record of the
case, or unless it shall clearly appear that the party did not know of the dis-
qualification or defect, he is as completely concluded as though it were a civil
case, and he had, in form, waived that right the waiver is conclusive, and I refer
my learned brothers upon this point to a case in seventh Wendell—with which
one of them at least, E(r. Pierrepont, is perfectly familiar—in which a man in
a capital case moved for a new trial on the ground of irregularity in empanelling
the jury. The case is found on page 421. 1 read from the opinion of the court:

“ The revised statutes provide that a jury for the trial of an indictment shall
be drawn in the same manner as is prescribed by law for the triul of issues
of fact in civil cases, (2 Rev. Stats., 734, 735;) aud in civil cases where there
is not a jury empanelled in another cause the statute directs that the ballots
containing all the names of the jurors returned and appearing at such court,
shall be placed together in the same box before any jury shall be drawn there-
from, (2 Rev. Stats., 421, §64.) Here, the ballot containing the name of S8mith
not having been placed in the box before the drawing of the jury cummenced,
it is said the statute was violated, and the prisoner is entitled to a new trial.”

The language is so distinct that no one can fail to understand it, yet the
requiremsnt was departed from in this case, and this a capital case. I read
further from the opinion :

“ We have several times had occasion to consider the effect of an ommiesion
on the part of the officer whose duty it is to draw and empanel jurors to couform
to the precise regulations prescribed by law in that respect, and we have uni-
formly held that this statute, Like many others of a similar character, is to be
considered as directory to the officers merely, and that a neglect to conform to
its provisions will not per se be a sufficient ground for setting aside the verdict
of such jury where the court sees that the party cannot have been prejudiced
by it, (5 Cowan, 289, 7 1d., 232.”)

Now, I would like to know how a party would be prejudiced by trying his
cage before this jury, but, if your honor please, I can see how he can be preju-
diced by summoning talesmen to supply their places. I read further :

“ The 59th section of the same act (2d Rev. Stats., 420,) provides that the
clerk of the court shall cause the names of the several persons referred as jurors
by the sheriff, with their respective additions and places of residence, to be
written on several and distinct pieces of paper, each in the same manner, as near
a8 may be, and 80 as to meemﬁle each other as much as poeeible, and so that
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the names written thereon shall not be visible. In Cole and Perry, (6 Cowan,
584,) a motion was made to set aside a verdict on the grouud that the ballots
containing the names of the jurors were not folded at all, but were put open into
the box, in such manuer that the names might easily have been seen by the
person drawing them. Oan the other hand the affidavit of the clerk who drew
the jury was produced, stating distinctly that he did not see the names of the
jury until after they were drawn, The motion was denied on the ground that
the statate was directory merely to the officer drawing the ballots, and that the
mistake of the officer in the discharge of his duty, was not a ground for setting
aside the proceedings where no injury to the party complaining was shown or
pretended. The dprinciple of this casa is believed to be fully sanctioned by a
great variety of decisions in our own and the English courts.”

Again, on 424, he uses this language:

* The concluzion from these cases appears to me to be this : that any mere
informality or mistake of any officer in drawing a jury, or any irregularity or
misconduct in the jurors themselves, will not be a safficient ground for setting
aside a verdict, either in a criminal or civil case, where the court are satisfied
that the party complaining has not or could not have sustained any injury
from it.”

Again, on page 426:

“ The case of King vs. Hunt, (4 Barn and Ald., 430,) bears a strong analogy
to the case at bar. That was the case of an information for a libel, hefore a
special jury. Ten of the epecial jury attended, and two talesmen were sworn,
and the defendant was convicted. He moved for a new trial on the ground
that the officer had omitted to summon the two special jurymen who had not
attended, and it was contended that it was absolutely necessary that all should
be summoned ; that the act of parlaiment was imperative, for it required all to
be summoned, and if two were omitted, so might any other number. But the
court unanimously refused the motion, saying that it would be an alarmin,
principle to establish that a verdict could be set aside becaunse the sheriff h
omitted to summon one juryman out of the whole panel; that applications of
this sort were addressed to the discretion of the court; that if the officer had
not done his duty he might be punished for it, and if his omission has actually
produced prejudice to the party, then the court might, in its discretion, prevent
injustice from being done by granting a new trial. In that case, the omission
had not been shown to have been prejudicial to the defendant and therefore the
motion was refused. This, I apprehend, is the true rule to be collected from all
the cases.”

He then reviews the cage of The People vs. McKay, which wasa capital case,
and in which the defendant was convicted of murder.

“He was then brought into this court by Aabeas corpus, and the indictment
and proceedings against him in the court of oyer and terminer, were also re-
turned in obedience to a certiorari, directed for that purpose. Upon the papers
thus before the court, the counsel for the prisoner moved an arrest of judgment
on the ground that no venire had been issued to summon the petit jury, and
it ap) that the venire issued was not under the seal of the court, and that
o official retarn had been made to it by the sheriff. It was admitted by the
counsel for the people that the case stood precisely as though no venire had
been issued, it having no seal and was, therefore, absolutely void, but they con-
tended that no venire was necessary. The ouly judgment then was whether
the judgment could be sustained when the recor(f showed that no venire had
been iseued.”

JudgeSpencer says : ¢ Inasmach, then, as the venire was necessary at the com-
mon law, and as the statute yet requires it to be issued, the omission to issue it we
must consider an error apparent on the record, and in such a case, aﬁ'ectini life, we
do not feel ourselves authorized to dispense with a process required by the



38 TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT.

common law, and also by the statute, although we may not be able to perceive
much use in continning it.” The decigion proceeded on the ground that the
error was apparent on the record, and the court could not disregard it.

I might refer your honor to other cases equally in point, but these are suffi-
cient for my purposes. I therefore say, if the court please, that there is no
error apparent on the record of the court in this case. There is no error show-
ing any irregularity in making out these lists, in preparing the jury-box, in
opening the jury-box, in drawing the jurors, there is no error of record, and if
the case should go to trial advertised as the defendant has been by the pro-
ceedings now under consideration, he would be bound by that verdict as effect-
ually as if every form of law had been complied with. There is no reason,
then, of public justice; there is mo reason of public sentiment, for that has
been invoked; there is no reason affecting the public at large which could
make a change in this caee from the ordinary course of proceedings since the
passage of the act of 1862 necessary or proper, but there is every inducement
which can operate upon the mind or conscience of the judge to continue this
trial now with this free, unembarrassed, impaitial jury, and of not submitting
the defendant to all the disadvantages which the uct of Congress was intended
to remove and subject the defendant to trial by a jury which is denounced by
the act of Congress itsclf.

Now, if your honor please, a word only as to the construction of this statute.

Mr. PicgrePonT. I understood you to argue that in England there was no
statute having any effect upon the empanelling of the jury.

Mr. BrapLey. I did not say that. )

Mr. PiErREPONT. I 80 understood you.

Mr. BRaDpLEY. What I stated was, that there is no statute in England
touching the question of a challenge to an array.

Mr. PieRREPONT. I 80 understood you. That is the very point to which I
wish to call your attention. I do so because I supposed you would desire to
answer it. If you will turn to Chitty’s Criminal Law, page 537, you will find
challenges are of two kinds:

¢ Challenges for cause are of two kinds: 1st. To the whole array. 2d. Te
individual jurymen. To challenge the array is to except at once to all the
jurors in the panel on account of some original defect in making the return to
the venire.”

Mr. BrapLEy. Now, if the comrt please, I am very much obliged to the gen-
tleman for furnishing me with that. Now, if the gentleman will find me a statute
authorizing it, I will be obliged.

Mr. PierrepoNT. If you will turn over a page or so you will find it.

Mr. BRapLEY. I will turn to that directly. ‘That is the common law. If
our honor will turn back to the time of second and third dwards, to the « Year
ooks,” you will find that it was common law then. Now I proceed, sir :

« It is either a principal challenge or for favor, the former of which is founded
on some manifest partiality, aud is therefore decisive, while the grounds of the
latter are less certain, and left to the determination of triers in the manner we
shall state hereafter. The legitimate causes of a principal challenge are not
very numerous. Thus, if the sheriff be actually prosecutor, or the party
aggrieved, the array may be challenged, though no objection can be taken in
arrest of judgment. So, if the sheriff be of actual affinity to either of the
parties, and the relationship be existing at the time of the return—if he return
any individual at the request of the prosecutor or the defendant, or any person
he believes to be more favorable to one side than to the other—if an action of
battery be depending between the sheriff and the defendant, or if the latter
have an action of debt against the former—the array may be quashed on the
presumption of partiality in the officer. So, also, if the eheriff, or his bailiff
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who makes 'the retarn, is under the distress of the party indicted, or indicted, or
has any pecuniary interest in the eveﬂ, or his counsel, attorney, servant, or arbi-
trator, in the same cause, a priucipal challenge will be admitted. And, in
general, the same reasons which we have already seen would cause it to be
directed to the coroners or elisors, will also be sufficient to quash the array
when partiality may reasonably be suspected. For all these causes of sus-
picion the king may challenge as well a8 the defendant.”

Every one of these are cases personally affecting the sheriff—every one of
them. Now, we go a step further :

* But besides these, the default of the sheriff will be sometimes a grouand of
principal challenge to the array. Thus, if the array be returned by the bailiff
of a franchise, and the sheriff return it as from himself, the return will be bad,
because the party will lose his challenge, though if the sheriff return one from
the liberty, it will suffice, and the lord of the franchise will be compelled to
resort to his action againat him.”

Was not that the default of the sheriff? 'Was it not charged against him that
he had failed to discharge his duty, aud summoned the commoners, when he
was bound to summon the knights ! It was the default of the sheriff—his per-
sonal misconduct—all of them looking to the default or misconduct of the re-
turning officer.

The Coumt. Mr. Bradley, does the default direct itself to the summoning
power of the sheriff, or to the selecting power of that officer ?

Mr. BraoLey. To the summoning power. It refers to both, your honor, bat
it must be the act of the sheriff. There is a middle stage, sir, and there is where
we are to go. The sheriff is the only party who is responsible at the common
law, and the statute has failed to provide a remedy under the new act of Con-
gress. In England, in the case of O’Connell and the Queen, the statute pro-
vided the mode of selecting and making up the jury book, and the whole duty
of the sheriff was to select jurors out of that book. There was no charge of mis-
eonduct against the sheriff, and while all the anterior proceedings were declared
to be illegal, yet the court says, ‘‘You charge nothing against the sheriff in
making his return,” and unless you do, this form of redress canuot avail you.
The court say they may have a remedy, but the question is as to the form of
the remedy. I need not say to this honorable court that the forms of the law
are as much of the subatance of the law as the law itself. The forms of the
remedies to which men resort are just as binding upon them as the highest statu-
tory obligations. Courts are bound by the forms which men adopt and deter-
mine according to the law respecting those forms. My attention is called to the
passage from the opinion of the Chief Justice in that case:

“The sheriff, therefore, being neither unindifferent nor in default, the prin-
ciple upon which the challenge to the array is given by law does not apply to
the present case.”

The statute has, in fact, taken from the sheriff that duty of selecting jurymen
which the ancient law imposed upon him, and has substituted instead a new ma-
ciinery, in the hands of certain officers, by whom the list i8 to be prepared for
the sheriff’s use.

If the sheriff, when the jurors’ book was furnished to him, had acted impro
erly in eelecting the names of the jury from the book, such misconduct would
have been a good cause of challenge to the array.

“But that which is really coinplained of is, that the material of the book out
of which the jury is selected by the sheriff, and for which the sheriff is not re-

nsible, has been improperly composed. It is not, therefore, a ground of
llenge to the array. And further, it is manifest that no object or advantage
culd have been gained if the challenge bad been allowed ; for if the challenge
bad been allowed the jury process would have been directed to some other
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officer, who would have been obliged to choose his jury out of the very same
special jurors’ book as that which the sheriff had acted on, for no other was in
existence. The same objection might again be made to the jury panel secondly
returned, and so toties quoties; so that the granting of this challenge would, in
effect, amount to the preventing the case from being brought to trial at all.
The very same difficulty might occur in England, if, through accident, careless-
ness, or design, a single jury list, directed to be returned by the overseers of
any parish within the county, were not handed over to the clerk of the peace,
or if a single name should have been omitted in any list actually delivered to
the clerk of the peace. The jury book must necessarily, in either case, be de-
ficiently made up. But if such deficiency were allowed to be a ground of chal-
lenge to the array, the business of every assize in the kingdom might effectually
be stopped. That there must be some mode of relief for an injury cocasioned
by such non-observance of the directions of an act of Parliament, is uncdeniable
but the only question before us is, whether it is the ground of challenge to the
array ; and we all agree in thinking it is not, and therefore we answer this
question in the negative.”

That is what we complain of.

Mr. PierrePoNT. We make no complaint of the sheriff. His duty is simply
ministerial.

Mr. BraoLery. It is not, therefore, a ground of challenge to the array that
they do complain of.

The fifteen judges in England say that is no ground of complaint. The
learned nientlemen here say it is ground of complaint. They say it is true thet
they make no complaint of the sheriff or marshal, becanse he is only performing
a ministerial duty, but they go back to the material out of which the list is made,
and the court—the fifteen judges—say that it is not ground of complaint. I
admit that my learned friend on the ot{er side has argued this case with great
ability, but I take the opinion of these fifteen judges in preference to his argu.
ment. These judges, I repeat, say that it is not ground of complaint, while my
learned friend says it is ground of complaint.

Then, if your honor please, if I am right in my reading of these books—that
where the cause of complaint does not exist upon the record, and a man is tried
for his life, he cannot take advantage of that defect after his trial, except upon
clear proof that he was ignorant of the defect at the time of the trial. If I am
right in that, then I say they may proceed to trial at once. The defendant, as
he has the right to do, waives the objection, notwithstanding the great value put
upon the life of an « assassin.”

Now, if the court please, I will proceed one step farther, and I have already
occupied much more time than I allowed myself. In illustrating this law, my
learned brother says: “ Supposethis board —we will call them a board, thongh they
seem to be a very soft kind of board from what I can understand from the other
side, that they did not discharge their duty any better—suppose this board had
selected 2 panel of black men, and the panel had come in, all woolly-headed
Africans—well, it would not be agreeable to me I admit—but is there no remedy ?
The remedy is not by challenging the array. That is all I have to say on that

oint.
P Mi. PierreronT. It would not be the sheriff’s fault?

Mr. BeapLey. It would not be the sheriff’s fault, and, therefore, it is not to
challenge the array. But there would soon be found an entire remedy—very
soon. Suppose they are not tax payers, and they challenge the array, and
bring in their evidence to prove the fact that they are not tax-payers. There is
no fault on the part of the marshal, and, therefore, they cannot challenge the
array by any process known to the English and the American common law.
They may have one, and another remedy, but it does not follow that they have
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the remedy of the challenge of the array; and there is the mistake, the fatal
mistake on the other side. .

But suppose, if your honor please, that this motion prevail, what then? The
learned gentleman, taking up this statute. reads as follows :

“8ecTION 5. * * * Bat in a capital case, where the said panel shall have
been exhausted by reason of challenge or otherwise, the court before whom such
capital case is pending may, in its discretion, order additional names to be drawn ;
and if all the names in the box shall have been drawn out and no jury found,
the court may order the marshal to summon talesmen until a jury shall be found.”

And, again:

“SBCTION 7. * * * Aqpd if at any time there should not be, by reason
of cha'lenge or otherwise, a sufficient number of jurors to make up the panel,
the court shall order the marshal to summon as many talesmen as are necessary
for that purpose.”

Persons selected as jurors having the same qualifications

Mr. PierreroNT. Tax-payers, and having the other qualifications.

Mr. BRaDLEY. Yes, gir; but that is not all. I will read the language of the
statute:

“ And if the persons selected as jurors do not attend, the court may order the
marshal to summon other respectable tax-payers, pussessing the other legal
qualifications, to supply the deficiency.”

After reading these sections, the gentleman turns back to the first, and says
“tax-payers” is used there; ¢ white male citizens " is also used there. He did
not, however, read to your honor the eighth section, which prescribes. the qualifi-
cations of jurors. What are they ?

«That no person shall be competent to act as a juror unless he be a citizen of
the United States, a resident of the District of Columbia, over twenty-one and
under sixty-five years of age, a good and lawful man who has never been con-
victed of a felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude.”

Now, the previous sections require that he should be a tax-payer also, and I
ask my learned friend to show me where it says he shall bea ¢ white man.”
Have I not a right then to resist this motion? Is there not every inducement
which a white man can have to resist it ?

Mr. PirrEPONT. You will find the term * white male citizen”” in the sev-
enth line of the first section.

Mr. Braprey. Oh! I know, but that is when the jury is to be listed. When
the register of the city of Washington, the clerks of Georgetown, and the
county, are to make out their lists they are limited to white men.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Does not that define the description of persons ?

Mr. BeapLey. Yes; but when the marshal goes to summon talesmen, how is
it? The statute simply says “ must be tax-payers, and possess the other legal
qualifications.” .

Mr. P1grrEPONT. The first section speaks of certain qualifications.

Mr. BRabLEY. No, sir; those are exactions, required when the lists are be-
ing made out, not qualifications.

I think I can see where this thing is drifting. It is not delay thatis sought,
but they have another motive more powerful than delay. It is to get another
jury in the place of an honest jury already summoned. Why, sir, the gentle-
man talks about the misgivings in the public prints. I do not know that he
bas seen what I hold in my hand, an article from this place denouncing this
jury because sixteen of them are Oatholics, as they say, but there it is—such an
aticle has been written and published in the New York Herald. I know, too,

that the same article, published yesterday morning, foreshadows the fact that
these gentlemen were to come into court on the day they did, and make the
identical motion that they have submitted here.
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Mr. MERRICK. 'Aud the writer states the ground of the motion.

Mr. BRADLEY. Yes, sir; states the ground of the motion, It looks to me as
if it came from very near home.

Mr. PierrePoNT. What does it state as the ground of the motion ?

Mr. BrapoLey. Thereit is, (handing a copy of the New York Herald to Mr.
Pierrepont,) just the same ground precisely as was stated here, that it was not
a lawful panel.

Mr. PigrreronT. Oh! (laughingly.)

Mr. BrapLey. But I do not mean to be led off in this way; and I beg the
pardon of your honor for being led away from what is really a very important
and grave question, to which we should confine ourselves. I repeat that I do
not mean, if I can help it, to be led into the discussion of any outside matters,
but will endeavor to confine myself to the pure proposition of law.

Now, sir, let us look at this statute. The act of 1862 says: * Itshall be the
duty of the register of Washington city, and of the respective clerks of the city of
Georgetown, and the levy court of Washington county, in the District of Colum-
bia, within one month after the passage of this act, and on or before the first
day of February, in each year thereafter, to make a list of such of the white
male citizens, tax-payers, residing within their respective jurisdictions. as they
shall judge best qualified to serve as jurors in the courts of said District, in
which lists may be included, in the discretion of the officer making the same,
the names of such qualified persons as were on the list of the previous year, but
did not serve as jurors, and the lists thus made out by the register and clerks
aforesaid shall be kept by them, respectively, and be delivered over to their
successors in office.”

That is the duty of these parties. But when the polls are exhausted, when
the jury box, or the panel is exhausted, drawn from the jury box, then the
marshal shall go out and summon * other respectable tax-payers, possessing the
other legal qualifications, to supply the deficiency.” And then the very next
clanse is: “ Aud if at any time there should not be, by reason of challenge, or
otherwise, a sufficient number of jurors to make up the panel, the court shall
order the marshal to summon as many talesmen as are necessary for that pur-
pose.” Then in the next section it is provided: “That no person shall be
competent to act as a juror unless he be a citizen of the United States, a resident
of the District of Columbia, over twenty-one and under sixty-five years of age,
a good and lawful man, who has never been convicted of a felony,”” and so on.
Now, sir, I agree that these officers in selecting their jurors are to confine them-
selves to “ white male citizens,” but I say when that panel is exhausted, and
the marsbal goes out from this court to summon talesmen, he has to summon
citizens of the United States, between twenty-one and sixty-five years of age,
tax-payers, resident iu the city of Washington.

Mr. PierrePoNT. He is confined to white men.

Mr. Bravrey. No, sir.

Mr. PigrrepoNT. That is what we hold. That is one of the first qualifica-
tions mentioned. He could not summon any other.

Mr. BrapLey. No, sir. Nowhere in the statute will you find the term
« white male citizen”’ repeated.

The CourT. Perhaps the counsel might reverse his position if the marshal
should happen to summon such on the next panel. [Laughter.]

Mr. BrabLEY. Then, sir, I might argue the other way. The question is not
settled yet, and I am only stating my present convictions. Argument by coun-
sel on the other side might disturb those convictions a good deal, and cause me
to go over to the other side. [Laughter.] If the court please, that is the
“ chance” if the motion be granted. And I would here ask the counsel, if the
marshal should go out with the order of this court to summon talesmen, * citi-
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gens of the United Statea, between twenty-one and sixty-five years of age, tax-
payers, resident in the city of Washington,” and should return here a panel of
colored men, we could challenge the array. -

Mr. PigrrepronNT. We would.

Mr. BrRapLEY. Gentlemen, I don’t want to give you the chance; I don't
want to put your virtue to so severe a test. [Langhter.|

One word, sir, as to the construction of this statute and T leave this question,
Isit directory oris it not? In the cases referred to in 7th Wendell, we find
that where certain proceedings are required, not essential to the substance, and
they be not observed, non-compliance will not vitiate the list of the jury; they
will not vitiate the pauel of the jury. Where a man is tried for a capital offence
by a jury, all of whose names were not put into the box before they began to
draw the panel, and the statute in terms required that they should be put into
the box, the court said that the statute was directory.

Now let us look at this statute. It provides that the register of the city of
Washington shall,make out a list of persons whom he deems best qualified as
jurors; the clerks of Georgetown a.mi’ the county the same. It says, “the
officers aforesaid shall select.”” The gentlemen say it was a power conferred
upon these three men jointly; each man must carry to that meeting a greater
number than the amount to be selected. The register of Washington must
carry more than four hundred, because out of his list is to be selected four
hundred, and so as to the others. If he carries only four hundred there cannot
be much of a selection. He has then to carry, according to their construction,
more than four hundred, in order that the other two may select. ‘The statute
says he shall make out a list of those whom he deems best qualified for jurors,
and each of the others do the same; and the officers aforesaid shall select from
the list made out by the register of Washington, four hundred names, and from
the others so many. They say that that is wholly illegal and void, unless they
all three unite in making this selection. Is it 8o, or is thia provision merely direc-
tory 7 Does the failure of the three to act jointly vitiate the panel or not? Is it a
gower granted to three to be excercised by the three together, or can it be exercised

y each one for himself? Suppose only two of them met—suppose there is no clerk
alive in Georgetown, or in the county, and the time comes round when they are to
make the gelection, what are we to do then 7 We cannot have any jury in that part
of the District; you cannot have any jury. If it is a power given to the three, each
and all three must unite in exercising it. Two cannot exercise it. Nay, more :
suppoze they are all three together, and two of them agree upon a man while a third
digers, what is tobedone? There is no power given in that case. The inference
is that the majority shall govern. That, I suppose, is an ordinary rule. There is no
ﬁarovieion forit. What then was the intention of the legislature? It wastogeta
ist of jurors prepared by men not concerned in trials in court, criminal or civil,
not partisans, but men hound by their official position to do justice, and to make
out a list equally as they could between all the contending parties. Each man
makes out his list; he has exercised his best judgment. Is he prepared to
submit that judgment to the other parties ornot? I mean, is the law mandatory
or is it directory ? Does anybody complain? MNo. Does anybody say there
is any irregularity except this misapplication of thelaw? No. What does Judge
Bavage eay in the case I read from 7th Wendell : * That where it was by the
mistake of the parties, it does not usually vitiate.” There must be corruption,
and the corruption must be alleged aud proved; but this is not the mode by
which that charge of corruption can be investigated and established. There is
2 mode, undoubtedly, by which the United States might have reached any
irregularity, but it cannot be by this process of challenging the array. The
statute, then, means to get an honest and unbiased jury, and although there
were, and are now, and always will be, persons residing in the same town,
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differing'in’ their political sentiments—some for, and some againat, the govern-
ment; some sympathizing and some not sympathizing—yet Congress has
invested these men with discretion ; has given them a directory authority, and
if these officers had made a mistake in the exercise of that authority thus given
to them, and the law is directory, then that wmistake does not vitiate the panel.
May it please your honor, the argument of ab inconveniente is a very appro-
riate one here. If it be true that tiis whole list of jurors is illegal, and caunot
passed upon, I ask your honor where are you going to get a jury until next
February.

Mr. PierreroNT. The statute provides the mode.

Mr. BRavLEY. I am answered that the statute provides the mode. Why,
if your honor please, does not this law affect the civil as well as the criminal
court? Does the statate provide for that? Did Congress mean when they said,
that if the Kanel is exhausted the court should order the marshal to empannel a
jury, that the court should order a jury to be summoned when there has been
no jury returned or empanrelled or listed? Can it be pregended here, if the
court pleases, that if these officers, the register of the city 6f Washington, the
clerk of Georgetown, and the clerk of the county, had never met to perform the
duty under that law, that the court could have ordered a jury to be summoned or
the marshal to go out and summon talesmen? It is made to depend entirely
upon the exhaustion of a *panel,” and a “ panel” means a “legal panel.”” This
list of names is no panel unless it is legally here. There is no return of the
jurors, because the list of jurors put into the clerk’s hands, according to their
theory, is no list, and there being no list and no return, there is no panel, and
there being no panel it canuot be exhausted, and if it is not exhausted then the
marshal cannot summon talesmen.

Mr. PigrREPONT. Our argument is, that the panel is illegally summoned.

Mr. BrRapLey. Why, may it please your honor, an illegal panel is no panel
at all. The very ground upon which they proceed is, that there is no jury here.
If there is a jury here let them go on and try the case. It is because there is no
jury here that they seek now to summon a jury here, and there is no jury here
they say because these officers failed to discharge their duty according to law, to
make their returns according tolaw. Therefore there being no return, no panel, I
ask how the panel can be exhausted. That is the question. Let me read that pas-
sage again. [ believe my learned friend has confounded words here.

* x* «Jn a capital case, where the said panel shall have been exhausted by
reason of challenge or otherwige, the court, before whom such capital case is
pending, may, in its discretion, order additional names to be drawn ; and if all the
names in the box shall have been drawn ou tand no jury found; the court may
order the jury to summon talesmen until a jury shall be found, and if a jury be re-

uired for the circuit court, the twenty-six persons whose names shall first be drawn
31&1] constitute the jury for that term,and the names of the persons drawn as afore-
said shall not be again placed in such box for the period of two years. If any
rson, whose name is 8o drawn, shall have died or removed from the district, or
as become otherwise disabled from serving as a juror, the said register and
clerks shall draw from the box another name who shall serve instead, and after
the requisite number of jurors shall have been so drawn, the said box shall be

in sealed and delivered to the clerk of the circunit court as aforesaid.”

Now, sir, if there are no such persons legall{ selected, drawn, or summoned,
how can there be a panel. How caa the marshal proceed to summon a panel in
the place of that exhausted by challenge or otherwise, when there is no panel
to be so exhausted. He cannot do it, in my humble view. 1 think the intention
of Congress in this matter is perfectly clear, and, therefore, I shall not further
discuss that question. I contend, therefore, that there is no ground upon which
this challenge of array can stand.
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The DisTeicT ATTORNEY. I do not rise for the purpose of arguing the mo-
tion before the court, but, with the permission of your honor, and my learned
friend, simply to say a word or two regarding a certain statement in one of the
newspapers of the day to which my attention has just been called. It is an
item in the New York Herald, purporting to he telegraphed from this city. The
article is not very complimentary to myself, but as my friend is spoken of in
very high terms, I am not disposed to quarrel with the writer, for, as a generous-
hearted man, I am more anxious for the reputation of my friend than 1 am for
my own. What is intimated in it, I would not think of sufficient im-

rtance to be called to the attention of the court, were it not that allusion has

n made to it here by the learned counsel who last addressed your honor He
stated that there was some reason not made known for the motion which we
bave submitted. I deem it due to myself to say

Mr. BeapLEY. I beg your pardon if I have said anything wrong. I thought
it was a fair retort upon what was said by Judge Pierrepont.

The DisTrict ATToRNRY. Notwithstanding the disclaimer of the gentleman
to impute any wrong motive to us in submitting the motion now before your
honor, I think, inasmuch as public reference has been made toit here, it isdue to my
position before the country to say a word. I will here say, then, that there is
no one who would more earnestly and sincerely deprecate any appeal to religious
grejndices than myself. Politicians may speak, think, and act as they please,

ut for my part I would drive from the halls of justice the demon of party spirit
and religious fanaticism. 1 trust in God the day will never come when a judge,
or a jury, will be influenced in the discharge of t{e highest and most solemn duty
that ecould possibly be devolved upon human beings by political or religious
considerations.

In regard to the construction which has been given by the learned gentleman
to that part of the act which invests the court with power to order the marshal,
when the panel has been exhausted by challenge or otherwise, to summon jurors,
I deem it also proper to say that the marshal would be entrusted with power,
with a right, to summon no other than white persons. All 1 desire

Mr. BrapLEY. 1 beg your honor’s pardon, but this subject has been very
fully dizcussed by counsel on both sides, and I hope no further discusion will
take place.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. Very well, sir, I am satisfied. I only intended
to say a word or two.

The CourT. I do not see how it would be possible for me to render my opin-
ion on this question to day. We bave a great deal of business before the su-
preme court, sitting in dranc, and we have a session to-morrow for the purpose of
concluding that business for the term. The court is to meet at 2 o’clock on
that day, and, as it is expected several very important decisions will then
be rendered, it is proper and necessary that opportunity should be afforded for
consultation with regard to them. I will endeavor, however, to be ready to
give an opinion upon this question to-morrow morning, and in order to hasten
the progress of the cause, and that no time may be lost by adjourning now—an
hour before our nsual time—if it will be agreeable to counsel on either zide, we
will meet to-morrow morning at 9 o’clock.

Counsel on either gide expressing their assent, the court thereupon adjourned
until to-morrow morning at 9 o’clock.

Junk 12, 1867.
The court was opened at 10 o’clock.
The CourT then said : In regard to the motion of the district attorney to quash
the array, or to challenge the array granted upon the affidavit of Samuel Doug-
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lass, register of Washington city, I have considered the argument advanced by
learned counsel on both sides, and I will now proceed to pronounce my opinion
in regard to the motion :

The act of Congress, approved June 16, 1562, entitled “ an act for the selec-
tion of jurors to serve in the several courts of the District of Columbia,’”” provides
for the selection of jurors in the following manner:

First, It makes it the duty of the register of the city of Washington, on or
before the first day of February, to prepare a list of such of the white male citi-
zens, taxpayers residing within this city, whom he may deem best qualified to
‘serve as jurors, in which he may include the names of such qualified perossn
as were on his list for the previous year, but who did not serve as jurors; the
clerk of the levy court is also required to make a list, by the same time and in
like manner, from such persons qualified to serve as jurors who reside in that
portion of the District not incluged in either of the cities of Washington or
Georgetown, and the clerk of the city of Georgetown is required to make, at the
same time and manner, a list of persons qualified to serve ar jurors, from citizens
of gimilar qualifications residing in Georgetown. And each of these officers is
required to preserve such list, 8o made, in the archives of his office, and to trans-
mit the same to his successor.

The making of these eeveral lists is to be the work of each officer in his
separate official capacity.

The lista for the three principal divisions of the District being thus prepared,
it is made the duty of these three officers to act together, and select, in their
joint capacity, from the lists 8o prepared as aforesaid by the register of Wash-
ington city, the names of four hundred persons, and from the Georgetown lists
the names of eighty persons, and from tEe lists prepared by the levy court the
names of forty persons.

The first section, which imposes the duty of preparing the lists of qualified
jurors, treats of that duty as the duty of these officers respectively. Each one
i8, in the express language of the act, “ to make a list,”” and each is permitted, by
the law, to place upon his list the names of such qualified persons as were on the
list of the previous year, as, “in the discretion of the officer making the same,”
may seem proper. The lists are to be made by them, and kept by them
respectively, each one preparing and having the charge and safe keeping of his
own list of the persons for his respective district.

About this there can be no doubt, and, indeed, there is no controversy in this
case. When we come to the second section of the act, which provides for the
number of names to be selected from these several lists of persons qualified to
gserve as jurors, persons of whose qualifications each of these officers is to judge
severally witbin his own jurisdiction or precinct, we find that the legislature no
longer uses the word respective or respectively, but proceeds to declare, in
ipsissimis verbis, “ that the officers aforesaid ”’ (all of them, not one or two, but
all three of them) ¢ shall select from the list of the register of Washington city
the names of four hundred person, from that of the clerk of Georgetown eighty
persons, and from that of the clerk of the levy court forty persons.” While the
work of preparing the three lists is the several labor of the officers, independent
of one another, the work of selecting the five hundred and twenty names is
devolved upon “ the officers aforesaid,” the whole three conjunctly. It may not,
perhaps, be necessary that they should all meet together, and at the same time
and place agree upou the four hundred names to be taken from the Washington
list, or eighty from the Georgetown list, or the forty from the county list, but
certain it is, that all ¢ the officers aforesaid ’ shall select the number of names
prescribed by the statute. If one of the clerks only shall make the selection
from the list prepared by himself, or even if two of them shall make the selec-
tion, this will not meet the requirement of the law.

The principle has been too well established by a long current of decisions to
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be now questioned, that when the law, enjoining upor three or more the duty of
performing an act, without giving to a majority the power to act in the premises,
all must act, or the action of those who do act is a nullity, and there is not in
the statute a question, one single word or syllable, that looks in the least towards
a selection to be made from the three lists, or any of them, except by the united
judgment of three officers upon whom the duty is imposed.

It is just as certain, therefore, that the entire three must act in making the
selection of five hundred and twenty names for jurors, as that each of the clerks
and the register is to prepare his own lists severally.

After these five bundred and twenty names shall have been selected by * the
officers aforesaid,” then the fourth section of the act of Congress further pro-
vides, that * the names selected from eaid lists shall be written on separate and
similar pieces of paper, which shall be so folded or rolled up that the names
cannot be seen, and placed in a box to be provided by the register and clerks
aforesaid, which box shall be sealed, and after being thoroughly shaken, shall
be delivered to the clerk” of this court. The fifth section provides, that when
juries are needed for any of the courts during the year, the register and city
clerks, and the clerk of this court, shall meet at the city hall, and such juries
shall be drawn by the clerk of this court, who is to publicly break the seal of
the box and proceed to draw the requisite number of names.

8uch are, Erieﬂy stated, the provisious of the act of Congress upon which the
motion in this case to quash the array is rested, as I understard them, and as I
apprehend they must be understood by everybody possessed of ordinary
capacity, and free from the bias of interest or prejudice. There can be no other
construction put upon these provisions, which will not do violence to, and, indeed,

utterly pervert the language used by the legislature to convey their intention.
In enacting these provisions it was doubtless the intention of Congress no longer
to leave in the hands of one man—the marshal, or any other single man—the
power of selecting juries, in whole or in part, except in the exigencies of certain
cases, for which they provided in the same act, and which cases are of rare
occurrence. 'This power, vested oftentimes in marshals and sheriffs, nobody
doubts, had heretofore been often grossly abused, and in many instances made
the instrument of injustice and wrong, and Congress thought it would better
serve the purposes of justice if it should inatitute the combined selective power
to three or four officers, the register of Washington city, the clerk of George-
town, the clerk of the levy court, and the clerk of the supreme court, in the

lace of the much abused and arbitrary solitary power of the marshal. This
anguage, in my judgement, expresses the intention as clearly as any idea can
be pictured by the English language. Each of these officers was, doubtless,
intended to act as a safeguard against any abuse which the partiality, bias, or
corrupt disposition of the other might possibly allure him to commit.

The affidavit of Samuel E. Douglass, the register of Washington city at the
time of the selection, made in January or February last, of the names from which
the present panel of jurors is taken, shows, first, that neither the clerk of George-
town, nor of the levy court, saw one single name on his list, much less aided or
co-operated with him in sclecting the four bundred which the law requires that
these three “ officers aforesaid ”” should select, and that he did not see a single
name upon the list of either of the others, or co-operate in selecting from their
lists. On the contrary, it shows that each of these three officers put into the
box the number of names specified in the act for their respective jurisdictions,
each independently of the other, and without the slightest regard to the judg-
ment or consent of either of the other two.

The affidavit further shows, that after the selection of the names to be put in
the box had been thus made, in utter disregard of the requirements of the act of

Congress in that behalf, instead of sealing up the box and thoroughly shaking
it, aud then depositing it with the clerk of the supreme court, as required by the
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fourth/séction) and. then lmeeting afterwards in the office of the clerk of the court
to witness him break the seal and draw the names of th:e jury required for the
present term of this court, as provided for in the fiith section of the act, the
clerk of Georgetown city at the same time, though in the presence of the clerk

* of the court and the other officers, proceeded to draw from the box the names of
this present panel, to which challenge is now made. This was also a most re-
prehensible disregard of the plain provisions of the act. 'These are the facts
upon which the application to quash the array ia grounded. The question
})resented by the law, and the facts, (which are all adwitted by the demurrer,)
or the decision of the court, is twofold in ite character :

Firat. Does the law of Congress require that the judgment of all three of the
officers named therein should, either united or severally, pass upon the entire
five bundred and twenty names required to go into the box in making this
selection from the three lists, or does it only require that the clerk of George-
town only should pass judgment in selecting the eighty names from that city,
the clerk of the levy court upon the forty to be chosen from the rural portion
of the District, and the register of Washington to select the four hundred
to be taken from this city ?

Secondly. Whether, if the act of Congress does require the judgment of all
three of these officers to be exercised in the selection of the entire five hundred
and twenty names to be placed in the box, the placing them there in the manner
described by Mr. Douglass in his affidavit, is cause of principal challenge to the
array.

. [{lm clear in my conviction that the law requires the united judgment of the
three officers named in the act in the selection of the entire number of names to
be placed in the box, for the reasons that I have already mentioned.

Is, then, the several action of each of these officers in selecting exclusively
from bis own list, and not even looking at the lists of either of the others, or
even knowing any of the names taken from these lists to be placed in the box,
as sworn to by Mr. Douglass, aud admitted by the counsel for the prisoner, a
ground in law upon which to set aside the array.

It is argued by the counsel for the prisoner that it is not; that nothing ex-
cept a defect in the summouning of a jury by the sheriff is principal cause of
challenge to the array in England by the common law, which we have inherited
from our DBiitish ancestors, and which is the law in this District, by which we
are to be governed in the decision of this question ; and the case of the Queen
againat O’Connell and others. has been cited by the counsel for the prisoner at
the bar as conclusive of the questiou in this case.

1 confess that my veneration for the common law of England may sometimes
even run into a weakness, but the day is long passed with me, and should be
with everybody, when decisious of courts and mere arbitrary utterances of
test-writers, however hoary with age, or exalted in position, are to be accepted
as Procustian beds, on which other courts and other people are bound to fit
themselves, with or without reason. With me no decision is of weight that lacks
of reason for its solid foundation, unless it be the decision of a superior court
that holds a mastery over me, whose maadates, right or wrong, reasonable or
unreasonable, I am compelled by law to obey.

The grand object of jury trials in this country or in England is, or ought to
be, and is supposed to be, a fair and impartial investigation of the subject in
controversy by honest and upright men, who are eutirely indiff:rent between
the parties to the suit. It was to subserve this view that challenges were per-
mitted to be made either to the array or to the poll, and either by principle or
by favor. Some persons entertain the idea that challenges, and many other
advantages, are given by the common law to the prisoner exclu-ively, and
nothing to the State. This is as if we should say, that all the provisions and
formalaries of the common law were invented simply for the purpose of pre-

| .



TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT. 49

venting the public from obtaining its just demands upon the guilty offender
against society. It is as though such formularies were a mere means and cere-
mony by which the accused is to derive every advantage and have every means
to assist in setting him at large, without respect to the rights of an offended com-
munity. I entertain a different opinion. fec‘:)ncur with Chief Justice Gibson,
of Pennsylvania, in the case of the Commonwealth vs. Joliffe, 7th Watt, 585,
in which he says: “Total impunity was not the end proposed by the legis-
lature, nor ought it, perhaps, to be desired by the philantropist. It is not easy
to discover a conclusive reason why the punishment of the felon ought to move
our tenderest sympathies, or why the laws ought to be defectively construed
in purpose that he might elude them. To rob the executioner of his vietim when
the laws are sanguinary, it might be an achievement to boast of, but we are told
at the mitigation of our penal code that the certainty of conviction to be ex-
pected from mildness of punishment would more than compensate in its effects
the want of that severity which was thought to deter by its terrors. * * If
it be farther indulged. a shorter and certainly a cheaper mode of obtaining ite
end would be to have no prosecution at all. But it 18 one which would scarce
be found to answer in the state of the times. Why, then, should the prisoner
have more than serves” (speaking of challenges) * to give him a fair trial? and
his twenty peremptory challenges certainly gives him that, and having secured
to him all he had a right to require, it must have occurred to the legislature that
the commonwealth must have a fair trial too.”

Let us now see whether the case of O’Connell and the Queen, tried in 1844,
is one which we ought, according to the counsel of the prigoner at the bar, to
accept as conclusive upon the question now before us. In that case, by 3d and
4th William IV, chapter 19, and by 4th and 5th William IV, chapter 8th, cer-
tain provisions were made regulating the mode in which certain gooks should
!)e prepared, from which the sheriff was required to make certain a selection of
juries.

In the preparation of one or more of the lists from which these jury books
were made a number of names of persons qualified as jurors was omitted. A -
challenge to the array was made in this case on the ground of the omission, and
it was held that such omission in one of the preliminary lists was not a suffi-
cient cause of challenge to the array. But that is by no means the present
case. To make the case at bar similar to that of O’Connell, and bring it within
the ruling in that case, it would be necessary,that Congress should, in the law
for sammoning jurors, have incorporated a provision requiring that the three
officers, who stand in the place of the sheriff, should have prepared their respect-
ive lista from the lists of the assessors, or some other officers, and that in mak-
ing the lists of said other officers some negligent or fraudulent omission should
have occarred. It may be admitted, without any prejudice to the motion in
this case, that the omission by such assessors or other officers to make a com-
plete list from the list or jury book, if we may so term it, used by the register
and clerks, in order to inform them as to who all the persons legally qualified
as jurors in their respective jurisdictions were, would not have been of sufficient
ground of itself to set up this motion. And yet I am free to say that, in my
opinion, it ought to be sufficient. But admitting it were not, it is a very differ-
ent case from the one before us. Here Congress requires that we combine the
judgment of three officers in selecting the persons of whom the juries are to be
composed. Each of these officers is to be a guard over the other two, to pre-
vent him from perpetrating a wrong agaiust individuals or the community by
putting in the box, from which jurors for a whole year are to be taken in all the
courts, the names of persons who are disqualified, either from want of mental
capacity, moral rectitude, purity of blood, want of proper age, or tax paying
qualifieations.

4
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It one of these officers. a2 Mr. Douglass did on the occasion of filling the
jury-box on February last, should exercize an exclusive judgment in the selec-
tion of 400 out of the 520 names put into the box, the safeguard which Cou-
gress sought. by the act, to throw around the selection of jurors, is not worth a
fig. and the law was not worth the time consumed in its passage. Mr. Douglass
way be, and doubtless is, an honest. fair-minded and honerable man; but the
law canuot be relaxed on that aceount. for we cannot tell how long the office
may continue to be filled by such men. It was enacted to prevent dishonest or
preindiced or partial men from carryving ou: their dishonesty. prejudices or ?nr-
tiality, and we have no rght to relax the law because of our belief in the fair-
nesz of any man.

The publie, as well as ind have a right t2 exact a rigid compliance
ithrhe reqiinements of the law. and the only way to sevure a 12ir and impar-
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tain in respect to the eelection of jurors, and the securing of a fair and impar-
tial trial on either side, that they require a strict compliance with the very letter
of the law, no matter from whichr:i%e the challenge may be moved. It is just
as important to have fairness and impartiality upon the one side as upon the
other, otherwise the trial of a criminal, however deep his infamy, may be made
& mere farce through which his enlargements is to be procured. If it be im-
portant to observe the mere forms of the law, it is, in my opinion, of much
graver importance fully to comply with the least of its substantial requirements.

Believing, therefore, that the substantial requirements of the act of Congress
in this case, providing for the selection of a fair and impartial jury, have not
been complied with, but entirely set at naught, and that there has been grave
default upon the part of these officers whom that act has substituted in the place
of the marshal, for the purpose of having them exercise united judgment in the
telection of all the persons whose names are to go in the jury-box, I am con-
strained to allow the motion of challenge in this case. I do not consider the
fact that the present panel were improperly drawn by the clerk of Georgetown,
who had no right to put his hand into the box, because the objection which I
have allowed ﬁies even deeper than that.

It is, therefore, ordered by the court that the present panel be set aside, and
that the marshal of the District of Columbia do now proceed to summon a jury
of talesmen.

Judge Fisher subsequently said : My order is that the marshal summon
twenty-six talesmen.

Thereupon the court adjourned till to-morrow morning at 10 o’elock.

JUNE 13, 1867.

The court was opened at 10 o’clock, when the clerk proceeded to call over the
names of talesmen summoned yesterday, in accordance with the directions of
the court.

The first name called was that of Mr. William B. Todd, who responded.

The name of George Mattingly was next called. He failed to answer.

The CourT said: I will remark, with respect to Mr. Mattingly, that I have
received a letter from him, as I have, aleo, from numerous other gentlemen who
have been summoned, asking to be excused from serving. I will read Mr.
Mattingly’s letter. I have no doubt that what he states is true. The letter
is as follows :

« WasningToN, D. C, June 13, 1867.

“ DEAR SiR: I was summoned yesterday on the jury to try Surratt, and I have
to say that I cannot possibly serve. Whilst I am willing to serve you, and my
country, at all times, I must respectfully ask you to excuse me on this occasion. I
will here atate, that I am exempt on two grounds, 8o that you will have no difficulty
in excusing me. First, I am engaged in carrying the United States mails; and
secondly, I am over age, having attained my sixty-fifth year on the 24th of
Dembay 1866.

“Very respectfully, yours, )
“GEORGE MATTINGLY.
“Hon. GEORGE P. FISHER.”

Mr. Mattingly is a very excellent man. He has served here a number of
times on the grand jury, and I have no doubt that he would make a good juror,
but if he is over age of course he is exempt, and not only exempt, but he can-
not lawfully serve.  What do you say, gentlemen 1

Mr. BeapLey. He will have to be excused if he is over sixty-five years of

age.
The CourT. Yes, I have no doubt of it.
Mr. Clerk, you will strike his name from the lists.
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Wilham' H. Tenney was ‘called, and responded.

‘William P. Dole was pext called, but failed to answer.

Andrew J. Joyce was called, and

The CotrT. Was not Mr. Joyce on the grand jury that found this bill ?

Mr. JovcE. No. «ir.

Mr. WiLsex. I thought he was. He was on a previous ome, I remember.

Mr. Jovce. Yes, sir: I was on the grand jury previous to that, seventy-one
davs.

Mr. Baaprey. It would make no difference. your howor, as far as this case is
concerned. as the law makes no exemption in case of talezmen.

The Cocrr. Mr. Joyce bands me thiz note :

“ Wasaixerox, D. C., June 13, 1867.
~ This cersities that the child of Mr. A J. Joyee is very dangeroualy ill, and
tha: his presence i necessary at home.
«THOMAS MILLER,M.D.”

The Corxr. What kave yor to say to thas !

Mr. Beapixy. All we can say is that it is subject to the disposal of the court.

Thetotn’.Ico-xﬂmrmnﬂndrrhse:huenobpcxmm:de
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valil exense the party omzhz o be relieved.

'l'!lel\ts-nxcr ArrorsEy. If your bocoe under the circumstances,
I shall interpoce w0 objection w excusing Mr. Joyee.
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™ 3¢ ocder of the coart.  We wizh w be saved the mecsssity of either objecting
& Lisening.

The Cocrr. I ind thaz. wader the eizheh sectivm of the act for =ommoning
Fzmes dhere 3 a Osorechn nepowed I3 the wwart and ¢ 1 woald not wish
w Ye reqaed 0 53 wpez 2 jUT in 3 cawe winn my ki was Iying at the point
o Sk ol my physivim advised my preseace © be secessary at home, I do
et devd s 3 woald te jass o me o regaie Mr Joyee to & s He e excused.

Framek Tayloe was caled, sadd res i

The Coczr. I Bave alin received 3 2 Svm Mr. Tavix. waich I will read:

+ WassiwsTox. Jeaw 13 1967,

“ T miersirond. r‘imm‘usmwawwymbmrmt
b2 has deen detsiiend at juzvmme & B Seora: case. mew peaizg: that beis
®K 25 e Tme. amd hnm:mnrwwmu‘\namknnd'hhiﬁt
Roc e oY, wer b T Tndersske X wibvaz 3 prwpees of éedaving and em-
barrassime The emve: hus sean: basitess afais wew muszring meed wrgently his
mm.a‘xummuamv&xixmxamm&vnhm

w2 schvrs : ami ez T s asics amav: tweeive ;i atamciea 2z his hands
ruxmvamhxmm“mwmv;.u“rn;udn
e DHrvRpx cvanarins

*memv&aﬂz&ww“waﬂx‘whhu
afiari e ongectily oars yras dbrooe 7 alew Mim w Encharge his duty
3 T3¢ MW, i 3 e NaTT AT 33X JCINT Ieapen: han She presens ome.

« Remmaiime i aunsh svepess and Taad. Yvar broec's :dwben: servant,
“FRANCK TAYLOR

“~Hm Cavass P Pssss”™

Mr. Brasexy. He michs smke ek 2 B cavavet of fase S the letter
mmh#ﬂmaew«mnm&m

The Quanr. I wil sax thaz M= hﬂnmammq&gﬁrnﬁr-
n*m:&nhhﬁw\mmatﬁ&ms
| -, *



TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT. 53

making' it necessary for him to raise very large sums of money in the transac-
tion of that business, which business is transacted between him and persons
residing in foreign countries, and unless he had the opportunity to make those
business arrangements, it might prove extremely rejugicial to his credit.

Mr. BrabLey. Will yonrghonor gudon me ? e on both sides concur that
this is a matter entirely within the discretion of the court; and we take it for
granted that there may be excuses, personal, and relating solely to the private
affaira of individuals, which they do not want to have made public. 1 would
suggest to your honor, therefore, that we do not desire to hear any reasons of
that nature which may be assigned by the party.

The CourT. Mr. Taylor, I am quite sure, does not object to having the rea-
sons he urges made known. He is a man of good standing, and he is desirous
of maintaining that good standing.

Mr. PieagepPoNT. As I understand my learned friend, we both agree, that
in any of these cases that may arise we do not ask to hear the reasons, but leave
it entirely with the court.

The CourT. Very well. With regard to the case of Mr. Taylor, I will state
that I know from the statement he made to me that it is of the first importance
that he be relieved in order to attend to his business arrangements. He is ex-
cused.

Jobn R. Elvans was called, and responded.

Davip P. HoLLoway was called, when he rose and said :

I beg leave to state to the court that I suppose I am not competent to sit as
a juror in this District, from the fact thatg am not a citizen of the District.
For the last six years I have voted in the State of Indiana, and am in business
there—keeping a farnished house for the purpose of retaining my residence in
that State I never voted here, and do not contemplate doing so, but expect
soon to return to Indiana. :

Tke CourT. Are you residing within the limits of this District at this time ?

Mr. HoLLoway. I do not know what technical meaning is given to the word
“residing.” I am staying here.

The CovrT. Keeping house and transacting business here ?

Mr. HoLroway. I am not keeping house.

The CourT. Are you transacting business here ?

Mr. HoLLowaY. I am transacting business here. I am engaged temporarily
in business here.

Mr. PigreepoNT. Will your honor permit us to make a suggestion, for
although we all agree to leave this matter to your honor, yet we feel that we have
adaty to perform in the way of making such suggestions to you as may occur to
us. Witﬂ the permission of the court I would say, that if light excuses are
taken, judging from the experience we have all had in such matters, the men
best fitted to serve as jurors are those who are engaged in important business
for themselves ; and there is some danger, unless the rule is adhered to somewhat
strietly, that men, from a view to their private interests alone, will get rid of this
very high duty which they owe to their country. We know very well that
they wish to be excused, as it is very natural for them to, but they should be
made to feel the importance of this great duty which they are called upon to
perform.

The CourT. The law says that if the party is a resident here, is over twenty-
one and under sixty-five years of age, a good and lawful man, who has never
been econvicted of a felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude

Mr. BrapLEY. And & “taxpayer.” [Laughter.]

The Court. He is a “ taxpayer §”

Mr. HoLroway. No, sir. I have paid an internal reveuue tax here, but I
Pay my other tax in Indiana.

The CourT. Do you pay any tax on real estate, or a personal tax, here }
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Mr. HoLroway. "I donot.

The CourT. Then you are disqualified ? Mr. Holloway is excused, Mr. Clerk.

Taomas BLAGDEN being called, said : :

I have formed an opinion. I have read the testimony.

The CourT. That will be for you to state, Mr. Blagden, when you come to
answer on your voire dire. -

. Riley A. Shinn was called, and responded.

RicHarD M. HALL being called, said :

I would like to represent to your honor that I feel that it would be almost
impossible for me to sit here as a juror in thia case. I am entirely alone in my
business ; and it is of that character—the agency business—that not only
would my own interests materially suffer by being required to serve as a juror
in this case, but the interests of a great many other persons who have confided
business to me. There are several matters that demand my attention this
week—matters that I could not delegate to a clerk in my office, as I do not
think he would be able to carry on the transactions. They require my per-
sonal attention. The interests of other persons would suffer, perhaps, a great
deal more than iy own, and I may state beside that that I am living in the coun-
try with my family, and if I am required to serve here, they will be left alone,
and in a very lonely place. I will, therefore, be under the necessity either of
moving back into the city, or i)iroviding for their care in some other way.
thThe CourT. Your excuse, Mr. Hall, would let off nine out of every ten of

e jury.

Mr. HaLu. I will state further that my business is one that I have just be-
gun—that of real estate agency—having just left the office of register of deeds,
and that in consequence of its being so young, and from the fact that I can
delegate no one to attend to it for me, it would suffer materially—in fact irre-
parably if I have to remain here two or three weeks.

The CourT. I hope you will not have to stay three or four weeks.

Thomas J 8. Perry was called, and responded.

Franklin Philp was called, but failed to respond.

The Cover. Mr. Philp addressed me a letter. I do not know whether I
have it or not.

Mr. WiLsoN. Mr. Gooding (addressing the marshal who was standing near
the judge) I gave you a letter which he addressed to me. I will state to the
court that he addressed me a letter saying, that it would be necessary for him
to leave the city immediately on matters of importance, and asking to be ex-
cused.

The letter was handed to the court by the marshal.

The Courr. Mr. Philp came to see me last night, and I referred him to the
attorneys on either side ; and now it seems that he wrote a letter to Mr. Wilson
stating, that he was engaged in public business which would require him to leave
in this morning's train. I suppose he is not here.

Mr. WiLsoN. He is not here, I infer from that letter, although I told him
that he would incur a grave responsibility by going away.

The CouRrt. I told him he had better see Mr. Merrick and Mr. Carrington,
or Mr. Wilson.

Mr. MeRrrick. He saw me, your honor, and I told him that I did not feel
that we had the power to excuse him, and that the proper course for him to
parsue would be to present himself here this morning to answer to his name,
and to present to your honor for your consideration the excuse he made to me.
He stated to me that his excuse was that at present being engaged in public
business, some matters connected with the public, he had, in execution of some
of his business, already taken passage for Europe in a steamer to sail some
time in July.

The MaRsHAL. I would state that Mr. Philp was served in person.
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The/CourT. 'Well, he'ig not here—proceed to call the other names.

The DisTicT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, it seems to me there ought
to be some process to enforce the attendance of Mr. Philp. He has been ad-
vised by the assistant prosecuting officer, and by connsel representing the pris-
oner, that he should be here to respond to the summons of the court, and if he
had any reason to present why he should be excused, to offer it thea. While I
have been dix;posedp to accommodate gentlemen, as far I can, consistently with
my eense of duty to the public, I now feel that it is incumbent upon me
to interpose. This is a very important and solemn trial, and surely every
American citizen should feel that there is an obligation resting upon him to
respond to any call which is made upon him- by the court. 1 cannot remain
silent when the case is presented here of a gentleman who has been served with
process by the court failing to appear in consequence of mere private ar-
rangements, which would be disturbed by his appearing in court in answer to
its summons. v .

The CourT. Do you ask for an attachment ?

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I do ask for an attachment against him.

The CourT. Let the attachment issue.

Mr. BaapLEY. Where is he ?

Mr. WiLson. His letter states that he was going to New York.

Mr. Braprey. Then he has gone to New York 1

Mr. WiLsoN. I presume so.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. I wish the attachment issued and placed in the
hands of the marshal of the District, and then I will feel it my duty to take
whatever steps may be necessary to vindicate the power of the court, and to
enforce his appearance. )

The MagsHAL. At what time shall the attachment be returnable ?

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. Immediately.

George H. Plant was called, but failed to respond.

The CourT. I have a note upon my table from Mr. Plant, in which he says:
“I am subpcenaed by the marshal to court to-day. I am advised by my physi-
cian that I am too nnwell to attend, and hope the court will excuse me.”

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, will you be kind enough to
let me see that letter. While I am not disposed, for a moment, to discredit any
statement which Mr. Plant may make, orally or in writing, I submit that it is
his duty to appear in person before the court, in obedience to the summons, if
he possibly can do so. If not, I submit that it is his duty to send to your honor
a certificate of the physician. Surely, sir, if he was unable personally to cb-
tain that, he has friends who would do him that favor.

I again say that, in any criminal case and surely in a case of this importance
(where every one, although willing to do his duty, I hope desires that the duty
of serving as a juror may fall upon some one else,) should appear in person, or
he should satisfy the court of his inability personally to attend in the manner
which this court has always heretofore required. I hope your honor will not act
in this ease in determining upon the excuses of jurors upon written communica-
tions of this kind.

The CourT. The gentleman who handed me this letter was informed by me
that such a letter would not do; that nothing other than the certificate of his phy-
sician, stating his inability to attend on account of his illness, would eatisfy the
court. Perhaps it may be that such a certificate may be coming forthwith;
but it has not reached here yet.

Mr. PiggrEPONT. We can pass on.

The DisticT ATTorNEY. 1 will only say, sir, that if it is not coming forth-
with I shall feel it my duty to ask for an attachment.

The CourT. Very well, the attachment shall issue.

The Cuerk. Shall I issue one now ?
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The Cotrr. Yes; you may issue one now, but defer awhile sending it out.

Reuben B. Clark was called, and responded.

John Van Reswick was called, and responded. '

SamusL P. BRow~ was called. when he rose and said : I will state to the court
that [ have been out of health for some time, and under the treatment of a physi-
cian, and I have a certificate here which I presume will be safficient.

The certificate was then read, as follows :

“WasaingTon, D. C., June 13, 1867.
1 certify that Mr. S. P. Brown has been under my treatment for a disease of
his kidoeys, which, in my opinion, renders him unable to endure the fatigue

attendant upon being a juryman.
r " «JAMES B. KEASBY, M. D”

Mr. BRowN. I will add, that I have been out of health for some time, and it
is impossible for me to sit very long at any one period.

The CourT. I understand something about that Mr. Brown. I cannot object
to excusing you, sir. You are excused. )

Z. D. Gilman was called, and responded.

Joseph F. Brown was called, and responded.

Zenas C. Robbins was called, and responded.

Cornelius Wendell was called, and responded.

Valentine Harbaugh was called, and responded.

The CourT. I have here a certificate from Dr. Elliott, stating that Mr. Har-
baugh is physically unabie to discharge the duties incambent upon a juror. The
certificate adds : “He is now under my professional care. 1n addition to this,
he has two members of his family sick, who require his constant attention.”

Mr. BeapLey. Mr. Harbaugh has private family matters which need not be
disclosed publicly here. They are, to my personal knowledge, sufficient to
Jjustify the court in excusing him.

The CovrT. I am satisfied that this is a case where the gentleman ought to
be excused.

Joseph Gerhardt was called, and responded.

Mr EBRHARDT. If your honor please, I do not think I am qualified. I do
not pay any taxes ou real estate. Besides, sir, I do not hear well. Persons
have to speak very loud to me in order to enable me to hear them.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I8 your hearing defective with regard to both of
your ears !

Mr. GERHARDT. Yes, sir; but oue a little more than the other. (Laughter.)

The DistricT ATTOoRNBY. I do not think there is any legal objection to
General Gerhardt, although he does not pay any tax on real estate, which I am
surprised to hear, because I thought he was a very substantial and energetic
citizen, and thought, therefore, he had accumulated a considerable amount of
real estate ; but he does pay tax on personal property, and I think, although I
have a very feeble voice myszelf, that I can make myvelf heard.

Mr. BRabLEY, (in rather a low tone.) He, sitting in the jury box, could not
hear half of what was said by a witness standing at this dezsk, (« distance of ten
feet) He can bardly hear me now. (Mr. Gerbardt standing at this time between
three and four feet from Mr. B.)

Mr. GezraepT. That is 20, your honor. (Prolonged laughter )

Mr. BeapLey. He hasn’t heard half of what I said, although I spoke loud
enough to be heard away outside of this bar; he only guessed at it. (Laughter.)
However, it is none of my business.

The Cotat. How long have you been deaf?

Mr. GerEARDT. I am not quite deaf, but I do not hear well.

‘The CorxT. I guess you can be made to hear, Mr. Gerbardt.

Mr. PizregroNT. Yes, 8ir; we will endeavor to speak loud enough.

it .
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Mr. \G&uuARDT.(I will'state further, that during the war I was so disabled
?: toh render it impossible for me to sit any great length of time. (Buppressed

ughter.)

The CourT. Oh, I guess you can manage to get along, Mr. Gerhardt. Pro-
ceed with the next, Mr. Cler{.

Horatio N. Easby was called, and responded.

W. W. MooRe, being called, said :

I beg to be excused. I am not at all well. 1 have been unwell for two or
three weeks ; but the principal reason that I would urge why I desire to be
excused is, that I am engagecf in a business that will really suffer if I am required
to it through this case. It is not & business of my own, but one of public
accommodation. The other party who is there in the management of it is at
present absent from the city. It is the Metropolitan railroad that I refer to as
the businese which I am engaged in managing.

The DistricT ATTORNRY. How old are you—are you sixty-five ?

Mr. Moogg. I am not quite that. '

The District ATroRrNgY. I think it is hardly necessary for me to state
that there is no legal objection to Captain Moore, and the excuse is hardly suf-
ficient. I think, upon reflection, the juror himself will see it; because, if the
court in ruling upon these excuses is to be guverned by private considerations—
the fact that the juror will be subjected to private inconvenience, that his busi-
ness or the business of his employer will suffer—it is difficult to imagine when
a jury can be had in this case. )

The CourT. Yes; as much as I would desire to accommodate Mr. Moore, he
will have to commend himself to me by very strong considerations as to the
injury that would result to his business from his absence before I can consent
to excuse him on that ground. If he should bring a certificate from his physi-
cian that it would be seriously prejudicial to his health, it might be satisfactory.

Mr. Moogrk. I could easily bave obtained a certificate if I had known the
rules of proceeding here. I can get it, your honor, as soon as I can see my
physician.

The CourT. Very well, Mr. Moore. Mr. Clerk, pass on to the next.

Thomas Perry was called, and responded.

W. P. Dole was called, but failed to respond.

The CourT. Mr. Dole met me this morning on my way to the court-house
and put into my hands this letter:

« WASHINGTON, June 13, 1867.

“3ir : Being summoned as a juror to attend your court, I beg leave to say
that I am not a citizen of the District, and never was.

* Respectfully, yours,
« WILLIAM P. DOLE.
“ Hon. GeorGe P. Fisugrg.”

Mr. WiLson. He is an owner of real estate.

The DistricT AtToRNEY. I Wwill ask for an attachment against Mr. Dole;
that is the only response I can make.

The CouRrT. I asked him if he was a taxpayer. He said he paid tax on an
wimproved lot that he had; that makes him a taxpayer. Whether he iz a
resident here or not I do not know.

Mr. WiLsoN. I understand he has recently purchased a lot, and intends soon
to build & house on it. He can answer for himself when he comes.

The Courr. Yes; let the attachment issue.

The MansaaL. There is one other that I have summoned; his name is J.
H.Crane. He was summoned in the place of Mr. Mattingly, who was excused
by your honor because of being over sixty-five years of age.
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J. H. Crane was then called, and responded.

The calling of the list having been concluded Mr. ELvans said: I neglected
to state to your Lonor when my name was called, that within two years past I
have served a full term as a grand juror. If your honor will allow me I will
state, that in reply to an inquiry made at that time as to whether the service
which I had thus rendered would exempt me from further service for two years
I understood your honor to say it wouls. I would ask your honor whether I
understood properly, and whether, if 80, I am not exempt ?

. Mr. BrabLey. If that were so, we would have to take off nearly half of this
ist.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I do not think, your honor, that talesmen are ex-
empt because of such service. I do not think there is any difficulty about it,
sir. I hold in my hands the 12th statutes, p. 428. The 3d section of the Act
of June 16, 1862, with which your honor is familiar, declares who shall be
exempted. It says;

“Be it further enacted, that the mayors of the cities of Washington and
Georgetown, all judicial officers, salaried officers of the government of the United
States, commissioners of police, and those connected with the police or fire
department, counsellors and attorneys-at-law, ministers of the gospel and
priests of every denomination, practising physicians, surgeons, keepers of hos-
pitals, asylums, alms-houses, or other charitable institutions created by, or under
the laws relating to the District of Columbia, captains and masters, and other
persons employed on vessels navigating the waters of said district, and keepers
of public ferries, shall be exempted from jury duty, and their names shall not
be placed in the list aforesaid.”

Then, your honor will observe in the 1st section, what the law says, in refer-
ence to those who have rendered jury duty. I will read it:

* Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United
States of America, in Congress assembled, That it shall be the duty of the
register of Washington city, and of the respective clerks of the city of George-
town, and the levy court of Washington county, in the District of Colambis,
within one month after the passage of this act, and on or before the first day of
February in each year thereafier, to make a list of such of the white male citi-
gens, taxpayers, residing within their respective jurisdictions, as they shall
judge best qualified to serve as jurors in the courts of the said Diatrict in which
the lists may be included, in the discretion of the officer making the same, the
names of the previous year, but who did not serve as jurors, and the lists thus
made by the register and clerks aforesaid, shall be kept by them respectively,
and be delivered over to their successors in office.”

By implication it would seem that these officers who are charged with the
duty of making out the list, and from which the jury are to be selected, shall
be confined to those who had not served within the time prescribed before these
lists were prepared. Bat when talesmen are summoned there is no limitation,
as your honor will observe, by reference to the other sections of the Act, which
has been so frequently brought to the attention of your houor.

The CotrT. I do not see that there is any provision in the act exempting
Mr. Elvans.

The DistricT ATTORNEY. Now, if your honor please, I understand that
Captain Moore, one of the jurors who requested your honer to excuse him,
stated that he could obtain a certificate from a physician, of his physical ipa-
bility to act in that capacity, and by the permission of the marshal, I believe,
he has gone to get a certificate.

Mr. BeapLEY. It was my fault that he went. I understood the court to say
that he had better go quick.

The DisTrRICT ATTORNRY. I am not complaining of the fact that he has gone
for the purpose of getting a certificate, but f simply desire to say, although it
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may/notbé necessary /in-his particular ease, that I hope your honor will not
act upon the written certificate of a physician, but will satisfy your own judg-
ment as to the capacity of the juror to serve, from the personal examination of
the juror, and of the physician upon whose opinion he relies. They should
both appear before the court. Your honor should be satisfied from your own
examination, aided as far as it is possible for us to aid you, by cross-examina-
tion 3?33 the part of the counsel who appear for either the government or the
accused. .

The CourT. I shall examine as I have done in all these cases, by putting
questions to them myself.

Mr. BeapLEY. There have now been seven jurors excused out of the twenty-
six. Wewant to get thembefore the panelis attempted to be selected for this case.

The CourT. Is there any objection to that?

Mr. BeapLEY. I believe there is no objection, sir.

The CourT. A juryman has been sommoned in the place of Mr. Mattingly,
who was excused, being disqualified by over age.

Mr. BrapLEY. Then six ounly are to be summoned.

The CouRT. Gentlemen the marshal informs me that it will probably take
him until about one o’clock before he can have the parties here who will be
rammoned in the place of those who have been excused. If you have no ob-
jection we will take a recess until that time, and let these gentlemen who are
here, and who have some business to attend to, go until that time.

Mr. MEeRRgicK. Before your honor takes any action in the matter, I would
like to consult with Mr. Bradley in relation to something that may facilitate our
action after one o’clock.

After a brief consultation, Mr. MRRRICK said: What we were going to suggest
to your honor is this : That whilst the jury, of course, in accordance with the

tion of the court, can leave the room until the time indicated, we on both
tides think that it will hasten the matter if the marshal, instead of simlél‘f
bringing in at one o’clock, seven jurors to supply the place of those excused,
would bring in about twenty, in view of the fact which has become apparent
that a great many will seek to be excused. One juror who is present has indi-
cated to your honor an excuse, which will have to be considered when he comes
upon his voire dire, and which will probably show him to be disqualified, and
we do not know how far that examination—on the voire dire—of the others
may thin the panel.

Mr. PierrepPoNT. I think we quite agree to that, your honor, if it is within
the law, and I suppose it is, though I do not pretend to know about it.

The CourT. 1 am rather doubtful about it.

Mr. BrapLEY. Your honor will pardon me, but by turning to the act of De-
cember, 1865, I think you will find an exposition.

The CouRT. Let us see what that act is, because this 7th section only gives
the power to order a sufficient number of jurors to make up the panel.

r. BRADLEY. You have ordered that, and now as I understand it, it is left
to the discretion of the court to summon as many more as may be necessary.

The CourT. I am doubtfnl, Mr. Bradley, and I do not know whether we had
not better go on, unless there is something in that act, and examine these gen-
tlemen upon their voire dire, 80 as to get what you can from this panel which
bas already been made up. I think t%at would be the legitimate mode of pro-
ceeding with this business.

Mr. BeapLrY. We cannot proceed, if your honor please, to select a jury until
the panel of twenty-six is complete. We have the right out of that twenty-six.
he CourT. I see the act of 1865 does not bear upon this question at all.

Mr. PigereponNT. I bhave not, if your honor please, the slightest doubt of
their right to have the fullest panel, but there cannot certainly be any irregu-
larity in going on.
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Mr./ Meggick./'We object to that. We require the panel to be full.

Mr. PieraeroNT. We have not & word to say if they require it.

The Cocar. Then there is no other course left but for the court to take a
recess until one o’clock.

The court therenpon took a recess until the hour named.

A few minutes after one o’clock the court was reconvened, when

The CocrT #aid: One of the parties who served the subpena on Mr. Plant
yesterday, brings me this note:

“WasSHINGTON, D.C., June 1,1867.

s I certify that I have occasionally attended Mr. George H. Plant with nephre-
tis, brought about by fatigue and exposure. I would judge that the duties

of a juror would tend to aggravate his disease. _
«JOHN C. RILEY, M. D.”

The CourT. I do not know whether Mr. Plant is in the city or not.
The MarsHAL. No, sir; he is in Baltimore.
The CotrT. Mr. Moore hands me the following certificate :

« WasHINGTON, D. C., June 13, 1867.

« This is to certify that Mr. W. W. Moore has been for many years a patient
of mine, and from my knowledge of his constitution and condition of health I
would regard him as unfit for performing the daties of a juror without the risk
of being himself injured by the confinement, and the peculiar duties which

would devolve upon him.
“W. P. JOHNSON, M. D.”

The CovrT. Upon examination of Mr, Moore I do not think that he would
be able to withstand the fatigue of a trial of this sort, and I purpose excusing
him. I have no doubt he would make a most excellent juryman, if he could
only stand the fatigue. He is therefore excused.

The Clerk then proceeded to call the names of the six additional jurors who
had been eummoned during the recess.

William M. Shuster was called. but failed to respond.

Robert Ball was called, and responded.

Henry M. Knight was called, and responded.

John F. Ellis was called, and responded.

Samuel Fowler was called, but failed to respond.

Terrence Drury was called, and responded.

The CLer&. Four out of the six answer, your honor.

The CourT. What are the names of the absent ones.

The CLerk. Mr. Shuster and Mr. Fowler do not respond.

The MarsHaL. Mr. Shuster was served by copy. He was not at his house,
but his wife expected him there between twelve and one. He was served with
a copy, and it may be that he has not received it. As to Mr. Fowler, he was
served in person.

Mr. BaabLey. There are two Mr. Samuel Fowlers; which one isit?

The MarsHAL. The banker.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I feel it my duty to ask for an attachment against
Mr. Fowler.

The Courr. Let the attachment issue.

Mr. BraprLey. He will be here I am gure, for he is a law-abiding citizen.

The MarsHAL. I would here state, your honor, that Mr. Dole, for whom an
attachment was issued, is not to be found, and that Mr. Plant, for whom an at-
tachment was also issued, has gone to Baltimore.

The court then directed the clerk to call over the names of those who had
responded, and were present.
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The 'CLERK 'proceeded to call as follows :

William B. Todd, William H. Tenney, John R. Elvans, Thomas Blagden,
Riley A. Shinn, Richard M. Hall

Mr. BrabLey. He has gone to get a certificate of attorney.

Thomas J. 8. Perry, Reuben B. Clark, John Van Reswick, Zadok D. Gilman,
Joeeph F. Brown, Zenas C. Robbins, Cornelius Wendell, Joseph Gerhardt.

Mr. BrapLey. He is with his physician in the ante-chamber.

Horatio N. Easby, Thomas Berry, Jobn H. Crane, William M. Shuster.

Mr. BeapLey. He is not present.

Robert Ball, Henry M. Knight, John F. Ellis.

The CLERE. Including those who have been summoned, but who are not here
at this moment, there are twenty-four, your honor.

Mr. PiearepoNT. Does your honor find that there would be any objection to
baving an order made that some fiftcen or twenty, or some larger number. be
subpenaed, if we on both sides consent to it? We are all desirous of consent-
ing to that, either orally, or in writing.

Mr. BrapLey. It will not appear of record, sir, how many are summoned,
if there are enough sumnmoned to make up the panel.

Mr. PierrePoNT. That is all we want on both sides.

The CLERE. O, yes, it will appear of record. The subsequent order to fill
the vacancies which have occurred, will appear.

Mr. PiErrREPONT. Would there be any error in it if it did so appear?

The Courr. I fear there might be.

Mr. PierrePONT. Well, sir, we do not want any error. 'We only want to
show that we on both sides are anxious to facilitate the matter in any way we
can.
The CourT. As I understand, all the jurors who have been properly sum-
moned answer, with the exception of two, Messrs. Dole and Plant, who are
returned non est.

Mr. Samuel Fowler being brought in at this stage of the proceedings, under
attachment,

The CourrT said: Mr. Fowler, you were attached for non-obedience to the
summons of the court to be here at one o'clock.

Mr. FowLER. T meant no disrespect to the court, sir; I intended to come in
time, but mistook the hour.

The CocrT. I suppose we will have to excuse you under those circum-
stances, as you are pretty near the time. (It being then half-past one.—Rep.)

The CourT. You have twenty-two jurors, gentlemen, now in attendance for
this panel. You, therefore, require four more.

Tl‘:e CLERE. An attachment is out for two—Messrs. Dole and Plant.

The CotrT. Yes; but those attachments cannot, in all probability, be served
to-day.

Mg MerRick. The panel would be one short even were those who have been
sttached here.

The CourT. Yes, sir; inasmuch as Mr. Moore has been excused since.

Mr. Merrick. We want one more, anyhow.

The MarsHAL. We can get him in twenty minutes, I think.

William Morrison, J. Russell Barr, and Jedediah Giddings next appeared in
court, in obedience to the summons of the marshal completing the panel of
twenty-gix jurors. .

Mr. BeaDLEY. If your honor please, we are ready to proceed to empanel the
jury. Before doing 8o, however, we think it our duty, in behalf of the prisoner,
w0 file our challenge to the present array. Your honor has virtually decided the
question, and we do not desire to take up any time in its argument. We simply
wish that it may be filed, so that it may be passed upon.

Mr. Bradley then banded to the clerk the following challenge:
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. 4In the Supreme Court of the District of Columbia. The United States vs.
John H. Surratt. In the Criminal Court, March term, 1867.

« And the said marshal of the District of Columbia, in obedience to the order .

of the court, made in this cause on the 12th of June instant, this day makes re-
turn that he hath summoned, and now hath in court here, twenty-six jurors,
talesmen, a8 a panel from which to form a jury to try the said cause, and the
names of the said twenty-six jurors so returned being called by the clerk of said
court, and they having answered to their names as they were called, the said
John H. Surratt, by his attorneys, doth challenge the array of the said panel,
because he eaith it doth plainly appear by the records and proceedings of the
court in this cause that no jurors have ever been summoned according to law to
serve during the present term of this court; thatno panel has ever been lawfully
returned to this present term of the court, and no names of jurors, duly and law-
fully summoned, have been placed in the box provided for in the fourth section
of the act of Congress, entitled, “ An act providing for the selection of jurors to
serve in the several courts of the District,” approved 16th June, 1862, on or
before the 1st of February, 1867, to serve for the ensuing year, wherefore he
prays judgment that the panel now returned by the said marshal, and now in
court here, be quashed. '
“MERRICK, BRADLEY & BRADLEY,
“ Attorneys for Surratt.”

After consultation on the part of counsel on behalf of the United States and
for the prisoner, the following names were presented to the court as having been
mutually agreed upon as the jurors in the case :

William B. Todd, John P. Elvans, Thomas Blagden, Richard M. Hall,
Thomas J. S. Perry, William H. Shuster, Z. D. Gilman, Horatio N. Easby,
Thomas Berry, Robert Ball, Samuel Fowler, and J. Russell Barr, all of whom,
except Mr. Barr, were directed to appcar at the book to be sworn iu as jurors.

Mr. BLAGDEN, (one of the jurors.) I wish to repeat the objectioun that I made
this morning, that I feel myself unfit to act as juror in this case. I have both
formed and expressed an opinion upon it.

The CourT. Have you formed a decided opinion ?

Mr. BuagpeN. I have done so, sir.

Mr. PierrePONT. I hope your honor will ascertain whether this gentleman
has formed such an opinion that he would not be governed by the law and the
e}ridence as it may be brought before him. He has not heard any evidence in
the case.

The DisTriCT ATTORNEY. I may say, if your honor please, that this doc-
trine of the gentleman being disqualified to act as a juror because of his having
expressed an opinion, should be the subject of inquiry as to whether he hus
formed an opinion on all the evidence, and as to whether he would not be pre-

ared to decide according to the law and evidence.

The CouRrr. If he is sworn on his voire dire I will try to ascertain that fact.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. We do not care to have that done. We are
willing to trust this gentleman in his judgment on the law and the evidence.

Mr. BLaGDEN. If the court please, I have read a great deal upon this subject
and have formed my opinion very decidedly.

Mr. FowLER, (a juror.) That, also, is my case.

Mr. GiLmAN, (a juror.) And mine.

Mr. PERRY, (a juror.) And mine; and besides, I am opposed to capital pun-
ishment.

Mr. GiLMAN. T, also, am opposed to capital punishment.

Mr. PiERREPONT. Let me say to the court that we have agreed, upon both
sides, not to ask any of these gentlemen to be sworn upon their voir dire until
we believe they are such men as will render a verdict in accordance with the
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law and the evidence. There has not been one word of evidence published,
except such as may have appeared in the newspapers.

The CovrT. One gentlell:nn says, however, he is conscientionsly opposed to
capital punishment.

r. PIBRREPONT. We should like to know whether his scruples would go
to the extent that he could not conscientiously bring in a verdict according to
the laiw and the evidence.

The Cover. That would be a proper test by which to ascertain the extent
of his conseientious convictions,

Mr. P1errEPONT. I wish these gentlemen would consider this question a little
in the light of a duty to the public. The counsel on both sides have, with
more courtesy towards each other, such as 1 have never seen in the whole
conrse of my experience, tried to get a jury of emiunent citizens who were
honest, and who were above suspicion, against whose verdict nobody could raise
a whisper. 'We have earnestly desired to produce that result and had hoped
we had accomplished it. We think jurymen owe something to the community
in which they live, "

Mr. SHUSTER, (one of the jurors.) While appreciating the compliment given to
us, I think that probably some of us, and I most assuredly, have formed and
entertained decided opinions in regard to this case. I speak for myself, and
others, as the question has been discussed among those who are here as jurors,

Mr. PiergrePONT. Before proceeding further, I hope the court will ascertain
from the jurors who suggest conscientious scruples on the subject of capital
punishment, to what extent his conscientious scruples go.

Mr. Merrick. I hope I may do something to facilitate the obtaining of this
panel. A jury sitting in the case has but very little to do with the con-
eequences of their verdict. They are sworn to find a verdict according to the

law and evidence. The sentence on their verdict is a matter which, as good
citizens, they have nothing to do with in their capacity as jurors. If they are
opposed to capital punishment, in their political relations to the government as
citizens, they may exert their influence in having the law providing for capital
Enniahment -modified; but as jurors, in the box, they have nothing to do
ut to render their verdict in accordance with the law and the evidence.

The CourT, 8till, when a person is called to be sworn as a juror in a capital
case, if, on the one band, he shall say that such are his conscientious scruples
that he could not, no matter how strong the evidence might be, render a verdict
of guilty, it seems to me that the court would not be justified in admitting that
juror to be sworn. While oun the other hand, if he declared to the court that
while he has formed and expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the party, which opinion it would not be possible or probable that any
evidence might overcome, such person would not, I think, be a proper person
to discharge the duties devolving upon him as a juror by the law.

Mr. GiLMAN, (a juror.) I have formed and expressed an opinion publicly.
I am decidedly prejudiced in the case. I do not think any evidence I might
bear would change my view upon the subject.

Mr. EasBy (a juror.) I beg leave to say, with the permission of the court,
that I think it nothing more than fair that jurors be permitted to express their
opinion upon this subject. This case has been discussed in the newspapers;
the evidence given on the trial of the other conspirators in the assassination of
Mr. Lincoln has been published, and for myself I must confess that I am deci-

dedly biased in such a way that I do not feel that I could do justice in this
case ; whether I might do injustice to the prisoner, or to the public, is a matter I
cannot say ; but I do not feel that I am in sucha condition of mind asto enable me
to sit upon this jury. I do not feel like taking the life of this man in my hands.
I'feel utterly disqualified, and 1 beg to protest against being compelled to sit
on the jury in this case. These gentlemen for the prosecution and defence have
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arranged the matter to suit themselves, and have referred in a very complimen-
tary manner to those who have been selected, but while appreciating compli-
ments, we cannot say for ourselves that if we acquit this man we shall be per-
fectly satisfied with the verdict, or if we convict him we shall satisfy oar own
conscience, For myself at least, I repeat, that I feel myself utterly disquali-
fied to sit upon this jury. I should feel that I was committing murder if I
should bring in a verdict of guilty, and I might feel if I brought in a verdict of
not guilty, that I was instrumental in putting forth a man upon the public who
was guilty of murder. I am not in a proper state of mind to try the case. If
the court chooses, however, to compel me to rit upon the jury under the ecir-
cumstances ; of course I cannot help it, I should hear the evidence and endeavor
to bring in a verdict according to the law and the evidence, and although against
my own convictions of right and wrong. The responsibility will rest npon some
one else, not upon me.

The CourT. After having heard what has been said by the jurors, I do not
see any other course than to put each man upon his voire dire.

Mr. BrapLey. That i our opinion upon both sides, we have done our best
upon both sides, and I think that at least we deserve credit for the spirit we
have manifested.

The CourT. The counsel on both sides deserve great credit for the efforts
they have made on this occasion. The jurors summoned will now be exam-

ined in order upon their voire dire.
WiLLiam B. Topb, sworn upon his voire dire, and examined as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in regard to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. To a certain extent I may have formed an opinion, I do not remember
having expressed an opinion. .

Q. Would that opinion have such a influence upon your judgment that you
would not be able, upon the oath you have taken in consequence of such opiunion,
whatever may be the extent of it, to render a fair, honest, and impartial verdict
upon the evidence adduced on both sides in the trial ?

A. I do not think it would.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in
a case in which the punishment shall be death, provided the evidence should
warrant you in finding such & verdict ?

A. None at all.

_ The CourT. Does the counsel for the United States wish to challenge this
juror.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. The court will remember that this question arose
a short time ago for the first time since the passage of the act of Congress giv-
ing to the United States five peremptory challenges. I then submitted whether
g: was right to require the United States first to challenge a juror if it desires to

0 80.

The CourT. The law is silent upon that subject, and in this instance the rule
will be established to require the counsel to alternate in the order of their chal-
lenge.

. No challenge having been made, Mr. Todd was accordingly sworn in as a
juror.
. WiLLiam H. TENNEY, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
ows :
By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed or expresed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-

‘ of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?
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A. T bave.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. I have.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
so formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner after having heard all the tes-
timony in the case ?

A. I thiok I could give as good a verdict as if I had never heard of Surratt.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty
where the punishment is death, provided the evidence be such as would satiefy
you of the guilt of the party accused ?

A. T have none.

Q. Bat you say you have formed and expressed an opinion as to the guilt or
innocence of the party accused ?

A. I have.

By the DisTRICT ATTORNEY

Q. Will you state when and to whom you have expressed that opinion ?

A. I bave expressed the opinion generally, in conversation with my family.

Q. Upon what evidence was this opinion based ?

A. Not upon any evidence, but upon common report, such as Surratts leav-
ing the couutry.

Q. That is all ?

A. That is all. Not upon any knowledge of the facts of the case, or from
hearing any evidence io relation to it. Upon common report, such as Surratts
escaping from the country.

By Mr. BRaDLBY :

Q. Have you not talked very freely on the subject, and expressed your
opinions very decidedlly ?

A. I do not think I have expressed any opinion publicly. It has been in
casual conversation with my family. It may be possible that I have expressed
it to others than to members of my family, but I do not think I have.

The CourT. I think, under the ruling of Judge Marshall, in the case of Burr,
this jaror is exceptionable.

The DisTrRICT ATTORNEY. I hope, before ruling definitely upon that question,
the court will hear argument upon it. I had prepared myself upon this ques-
tion, knowing it to be one of great importance. In a case of such notoriety as
thia, I suppose there is hardly an intelligent man in the whole country who has
not, to some extent, formed and expressed an opinion. I hope your honor will
wt consider it presumption on my part, in asking to be heard upon it.

The CourT. 1 bave no pride of opinion upon the subject, and am ready to
hear argument upon it. It will, perhaps, be better to go through with the ex-
imination of the other jurymen, and let this question be argued to-morrow. Mr.
Tenney will stand aside for the present.

JouN R. ELvang, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows :
By the CourrT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
tence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Burratt ?

A I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion }

A. Yes, sir. '

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
% furmed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a

verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
lestimanve in the casa ?
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AV \Your honor will 'allow me to say that I have expressed myself go deci-
dedly, and in such a manner as would lead me to fear the impressious of the
community as to my ability or dieposition to render a fair verdict. 1 believe,
peresonally, that T am sufficiently dispassionate to be able to render a verdict in
accordance with the evidence. But I fear the effect of the public manner in
which I bave spoken of this particular case on the community as to my dispo-
sition to give a fair verdict.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples againet rendering a verdict of guilty in a
case in whici the punishment is death, provided the evidence sball eatisfy you
of the guilt of the party ?

A. None at all.

The Courr. You will stand aside for the present.

THomAs BLAGDEN, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:

By the CouRrT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, Jobn H. Surratt

A. I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. I have.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed or expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prizoner, afier having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. I should fear it would.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in a
case where the punishment ie death, provided the evidence shall warrant you
in that finding ?

A. 1 bhave not.

The CuuRT. You may stand aside for the present.

RiLEY A. SHINN, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. I bave.

Q. You bave buth formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, gir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. I fear it would, though I do not know what the evidence may be.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty ina
case where the punishment is death, provided the evigence shall warrant you
in such finding 1

A. Not in the least.

By the DIsTRICT ATTORNEY :
Q. Where did you express this opinion ?
A. While the trial was going on at the arsenal.
Q. Upon what evidence or what information was this opinion, which you ex-
pressed, based ?
A. From reading the evidence on the trial of the others.
Q. Where did you read that evidence ?
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A. Tn a'book published by the government. I have one of those books.
The CouvrT. You may stand aside for the present.

Ricuarp M. HALL, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows :

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ? :

A. Yes, sir; I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you bave taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
a3 formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after i':ving heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. There are some facts in connection with the case that 1 think would very
strongly prejudice my mind.

Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty
in a case where the punishment is death, provided the evidence is such as to
warrant that finding © '

A. I have not.

By the DisTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. Do you suppose that if the evidence were entirely different from what you:
bave seen, your mind has been so far affected by what you have rcad that you
would be unable to do justice in this case ?

A. It has not been altogether upon the evidence I have read that I have-
formed an opinion about it. There are circumstances that always attend certain.
occurrences which produce their effect, and there are some circumstances in con-
nection with this case that have constantly, from the begioning, warped my judg--
ment. I do not know whether I would be able to overcome them. 1t would.
bave to be pretty strong evidence.

Q. Do you mean to say that your prejudices and feelings have been so ex-
cited that you would be nnable to decide according to the law and the evidence,.
upon your oath as a juror?

A. I would, if compelled to sit as a juror, listen to the facts and to the evi--
dence, but I have no hesitancy in saying that my judgment would be greatly:
inflaenced by circumstances.

By Mr. BrapLey:
Q. That is to say all the evidence would come to you through a.prejudiced:
medimn ?
A. Yes, sir.
The CourT. You may stand aside for the present.

| THomas J. S. Prrry, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
ows ;
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an oginion in relation to the guilt or inno--
tence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A I think I did at the time of the trial, two years ago.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Under the oath you have taken do you say to the court that that opinion,
4 formed and expreseed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisouer, after: baving. heard all the
lettimony in the caee ?
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A. T do'not think it would.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty
in a case where the punishment is Seat.h, provided the evidence shall satisfy
you of such ﬁnding?P

A. I have.

Q. Have you such scruples as would prevent you from rendering a verdict
of guilty in such case?

A. T think I have.

The CourT. You are discharged.

ReuBeN B. CLARKE, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
lows:

By the Courr :

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
_ cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt?

A. Ihave, sir, decidedly.

Q. You bave both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you eay to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering
a verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. T think it would influence my opinion.

Q. Have you conscientious seruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in
a case where the punishment is death, provided the evidence shall satisfy you
of such finding ?

A. None at all.

By the DiSTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. When was that opinion formed and expressed ?

A. It was formed in the early part of the trial below there.

Q. Upon what evidence or information was this opinion based ?

A. From common rumor, and from what I could gather by being at the
court below.

Q. How often did you attend that trial ?

A. About three or four days, I judge.

Q. Did you read the evidence ?

A. I read the evidence.

Q. The whole evidence on that trial ?

A. 1 read it from newspaper reports as published in the Intelligencer.

The CourT. You are excused from fnrtEer attendance.

Joun VaN Riswick, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

Q. Hawe jyou formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of John H. Surratt, the prisoner at the bar ?

A. I am not aware that I ever have either formed or expreseed an opinion.

Q. Have you any conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty
in a case in which the punishment is death, provided the evidence shall warrant
you in such a finding ? .

A. I bhave not.

By Mr. PIERREPONT:
Q. Do youlive in Washington ?
A. Ido.

Q. Were you here at the time of the former trial of the conspirators
A, T was.
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. Did you read the evidence on that trial ?

. T believe 1 did.

Did you express or form any opinion as to the effect of it ?

Noue, 8o far as the prisoner is concerned.

And you have not now an opinion as to his guilt or innocence ?

I have no decided opinion.

. You have not said anything about it 1

. T am not aware of having said anything in regard to his guilt or inno-

>OPOPOPO

2
g
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By the DISTRICT ATTORNEY : .

Q. You have no decided opinion upon the subject at all?

A. None, as to his guilt or innocence.

Q. Have you formed any opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
other conspirators ? :

Question objected to by counsel for defence.

Mr. PiergreponT. If t{e court please, we wish to argue that objection, if it is
insisted upon. The prisoner is indicted as a conspirator with others. If he is
not guilty with others, he is not guilty at all.

Mr. Merrick. It would be exceedingly difficult to get a jury of men who
had not formed or expressed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of those

rsons who are charged with the murder of the late President of the United
tates, and of the guilt or innocence of the other parties named in the indict-

ment as conspirators with him is permitted to be drawn out. I apprehend you
could not get a jury in this District, and scarcely one in the United States. I
presume there is scarcely a gentleman in the United States who has not formed
and expressed an opinion that Booth shot Lincoln. I apprehend there are very
few who have not formed or expressed an opinion that the mother of the pris-
oner at the bar suffered death without competent testimony to convict her, and
to we might go through in an inquiry in relation to all the others. To allow
this question would entirely prevent the empannelling a jury. The question
for this jury to try, is, according to the indictment, whether or not John H.
Surratt is guilty of the murder of Abraham Lincoln. 'The indictment charges
that this deed is the result of a conspiracy between various parties; that the
prisoner at the bar was one of the conspirators, and that he commitied the
murder. The parties summoned as jurors may entertain the opinion that two,
three, four, or five of the others charged in the indictment as conspirators, did
conepire, and at the same time may not have formed any opinion at all as to
whether or not the prisoner at the bar was the sixth conspirator. Or the party
may entertain the opinion that the prisoner at the bar was in a conspiracy of
some kind or other, or in the conspiracy to murder the President of the United
States, and may have formed no opinion as to whether, in point of fact, the
prisoner did commit the murder. I therefore submit to your honor that the
mquiry made by the District Attorney, is an inquiry relating to matters beyond
the limit of investigation, for the purpose of ascertaining the qualifications of a
juror,

Mr. PiergepoNT. If your honor please, before we knew in what mode we
thould have to meet this question of challenge, the question received the consid-
eration of my learned friend, the District Attorney, with myself and his associate.
We gave it a very careful examination, and we came to the conclusina founded,
we believe, npon competent authority, that this was a proper question to be
uked and answered, in order to get at the qualification of a juror in a case of
this kind under such an indictment. The reason urged by my learned friend
against it is, that he believes, I do not know but that, he asserts, that there are
very few in the United States who do not believe Mrs. Surratt was illegally ex-
ecuted. Therefore we could not get a jury competent to try the prisoner at the
bar, if this question is allowed to be put.
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Mr. MerRrick. ' My brother will allow me to say that he did not state my
entire propoeition. I said there were few intelligent persons in the United
States who had not formed an opinion upon the question of Booth’s participa-
tion in the killing of Lincoln, and there were aleo, I presumed, but few persons
who had not formed an opinivn that Mrs. Surratt had been executed upon
insufficient evidence.

Mr. PierrEPONT. Precisely ; that is the very statement, except that my
friend has made it a little stronger than I did. I did not intend to overstate it,
as there is nothing gained by over statement, but it seems I did not come up to.
the mark. My friend urged this reason on the question of law about the adr
missibility or propriety of the question propounded to the juror, as to whethe
your honor should exclude the question. Now, I do not suppose that is any
reason at all in law, or that your honora will give it 2 moment’s considera-
tion. Both sides of this case have certainly acted very fairly. I have no com-
plaint whatever to make of my learned friends. They have acted like gentle-
men, and I think we have tried to act honestly on both sides ; that we have
tried to get an honest and impartial jury. We have doue all that we could, and
have exhausted our power, and now find ourselves thrown back upon the law.
We have got to take that, and we intend to take it. 'Wherever it may lead us,
however long it may take us to get at it, we intend to pursueit. We have pre-
pared ourselves upon this very question, and now, if your honor please, if you
are not entirely familiar with the indictwment, it will be necessary for us to bring
it into court. The indictment charges the prisoner at the bar with having en-
tered into a conspiracy with other parties—Mrs. Surratt, Booth, Herold, Paynue,
&c.—mentioned by name. Now, then. if a juror comes here and says he does
not believe these other conepirators were guilty, there could not, by any possi-
bility, be any guilt upon the part of this party, because he is only cha as &
conspirator with other persons, and if a juror has made up his mind in such a
way as that, the evidence will not change it; that the other parties charged as
conspirators in this indictment with the prisoner were innocent, then he is not
in a frame of mind such as will qualify him to act as a juror, because, haviog
expressed that opinion, it is utterly impossible for him to find the prisoner guilty.

he DisTRICT ATTORNEY. In addition to the point which has been suggested
by my learned colleague, that this question is entirely relevant to the indict-
ment which charges the prisoner at the bar with being engaged in a conspiracy
with others named, I will suggest, that if a juror has expressed an opinion in re-
gard to any of the parties named as conspirators in the perpetration of the crime
alleged in the indictment, he has expressed an opinion on a part of the case, and
I may add, in regard to a material part of the case—I think it may so affect the
mina of the juror that he will not be prepared to form an impartial judgment,
aud he is therefore an incompetent juror npon that ground. Moreover, not only
does this indictment charge that the prisoner co-operated with others in the per-
perpetration of the offence named, but it distinctly alleges, with others to the
jurors unknown. Surely, then, if the juror has expressed an opinion in regard
to the guilt or innocence of the one, does he not by implication, however he may
not in so many words mention the name of the prisoner, express some opinion in
regard to his guilt or innocence. In regard to thecharacter of the offence charged
against him in the indictment, if the juror says, «although I may believe (by
way of illustration) that the prisoner did commit a certain crime, my opinion is
that he is not guilty as indicted,” is he a competent juror ? If the party is not
guilty as indicted, however great the crime he may have committed, he is not
guilty, and under the law cannot be punished. The statement of this juror
is, that he has formed and expressed an opinion which goes to the guilt or
innocence of the accused as indicted. I shall have something to say of this
hereafter, but I submit that such a statement disqualifies a juror. Again,
if your honor please, you observe by the act of Congress, March 3, 1865,
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13 Btat. at Large, p. 500, section 2, the government of the United States is
allowed five peremptory challenges, and the accused twenty. It provides
that in addition to the challenges of the array. or panel, individual jurors
for eanse or favor shall be tried by the court without the aid of triers. Your
honor, then, withont the aid of triers, shall determine whether there ia good
cause for challenging the jurors. If your honor please, the question of fact
which was submitted to the decision of the trier is transferred by express legis-
lation to the court; and was it ever heard that counsel are precluded from
asking any question which may be calculated to elicit the fact, or tending to
instruct the mind of the court in regard to the subject-matter of inquiry? You
are the trier as to whether this is an impartial juror. I submit that you cannot
do otherwise than to allow the counsel on both sides to ask any question tend-
ing to elicit the state of mind in which that person is in regard to the issue which
would be submitted to him if sworn as a juror. Now, is not the guilt or inno-
cence of the co-conspirators a material fact? Is it not relevant? And if so,
however remotely relevant the question submitted to your honor, we have the
right to elucidate the facts upon careful examination. The examination in chief
has been conducted by your honor; your honor has submitted certain questions
to this juror, and his answers may satisfy your honor’s mind that he is a compe-
tent or incompetent juror; your honor is the tribunal before which that question
of fact is to be triedJ ; you are the judge and jury both ; but you will allow us to
pursue our cross-examination as we think best, being only restrained by matters
which are relevant. If I should ask this juror an entirely irrelevant question, hav-
ing no connection with the case, you would properly close the door upon me; but
will your honor say that the co-conspirators with whom this prisoner is alleged
in the indictment to have co-operated are not connected with the very matter we
now propose to investigate? Surely not. And therefore we have the right to
ask these questions; and for what purpose ? It would be a brutum fulmen for
this act of Congress to make a court a trier if we are not permitted to ask ques-
tions tending to develope good cause of challenge in cases where good cause of
challenge may be shown upon a cross-examination. My object is merely to
enable your honor, by cross-examination, to determine whether this juror is
qualified or not. I concur with the learned counsel who spoke in behalf of the
prigoner, that it would be exceedingly difficult to empanel a jury if the principle
enanciated by your honor is correct. Your honor, I am sure, would not charge
me with presumption for asking to be heard with reference to the question of
such great importance before making your final decision; but, sir, I do must
respectfully submit that the mere forming and expressing an opinion by a juror
does not necessarily disqualify him.

Mr. BrapLry. That, however, is not the question under discussion now.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I know that is not the question, but I referred to
it incidentally. We surely have a right to ask a juror a question which will
bring before the mind of the court, either directly or indirectly, whether or not
thia juror has, in point of fact, formed and expressed an opinion. My desire is
to enlighten the judgment of the court in reference to this matter.

Mr. BrapLey. I do not exactly understand, from the argument of the coun-
sel on the other side, what it is that we are going to try. I had read the indict-
ment with some care, and, until what has falleu from my lcarned brothers on the
other side to-day, I supposed I understood for what offence we are to be put on
trial ; but after what has been said, I am ignorant, as my client is, for what
offence he is to be tried. But I will assume that their understanding of the
indictment is just, and that he is on trial for conspiracy, and that he is on trial
for murder. Oa the question of his guilt or innocence of either of these a juror
has been interrogated ; and he has formed no opinion whether he is guilty of
murder, and he has formed no opinion as to whether he is guilty of conspiracy,
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He'has'answered -these -questions distinctly ; but now he is asked whether he
has formed an opinion as to whether other people were engaged in it or not!
Are we to be tried for that? Is that a matter on which we must know whether
a juror hae formed an opinion? Suppose e believes that other people are guilty,
or that other people are innocent; can they throw him out for that reason?
Certainly not; and they cannot ask him the question. They can only ask him
whether he has formed and expressed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of
the accused. The juror has answered that question distinctly in the negative;
and now, can you ask him the question whether he has formed or expressed an
opinion as to the guilt or innocence of anybody else ?

Mr. PierREPONT. I suppose we can when he is charged with them.

Mr. BRADLEY. The question is whether he was connected with them, not
whether they were guilty. The juror has answered that he has formed no
opinion as to whether he was connected with them, and that is the only question
that can be put.

1 am enlightened again, in another point of view, by this statute to which
reference has been made. My learned brethren know perfectly well that before
that statute, under the common law, the court was the trier of the fact as well
a8 the adjudicator of the law. It was only when triets were demuanded that the

uestion of fact was turned over to triers for decision. Until they were demanded
the judge passed upon both the law and the facte; and the only effect of the
statute was to so modify the law as not to permit the question of fact to be
referred to triers.

The CourT. I suppose the intention of the law was to get rid of triers when
challenge was made for favor.

Mr. BrapLry. Certainly, for favor or for cause. The party had the right to
demand triers, but the court would decide unless they were demanded. Is there
any change in the mode of conducting the investigation? Did any human be-
ing ever hear before when a man is called as a juror and the proper question is
{ut to him by the court, that the counsel on either side may cross-examine him?

confess that I never heard of the practice before.

Mr. PirRREPONT. I never heard the contrary, and I have known of 50
cases at the New York bar.

Mr. BRapLEY. Then I thank fortune I do not belong to the New York bar.
I bave heard your honor upon the bench say time and again, « This has gone
far enough. {think we can risk him.”” You bave always stopped an exami-
nation of a juror just as soon as it has proceeded to the point of ascertaining
whether be has formed or expressed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of
the prisoner. But that a juror may be put upon his cross-examination as to
whether le is eligible or not, I never heard before.

The question that it is now propused to ask is unnatural and irrelevant. It
is unnatural and irrelevant whether a man has expressed or formed an opinion
a8 to the guilt of other parties charged with the murder of the President. I do
not think the question is admissible in any point of view, because, when you
come to examine the indictment, there is no such question to be tried by a jury.
It is inadmissible because the charge to be tried by this jury is, whether the
accused is guilty of the murder of the President. When your honor comes to
examine the indictment, with great respect to my friends on the other side, I
submit that any one with common sense who reads it, will say that the cLarge
is murder of the President, and that the matter of the conspiracy is merely
thrown in,

Mr. PiErrEPONT. The whole thing is conspiracy to murder, and in a con-
spiracy to murder all are principals.

Mr. BrRanLey. That may be New York law, but it is not law here.

Mr, PierreroNT. We shall desire to bring in the law.

The Court. I shall ask gentlemen to bring in their authorities and I will
then decide it. ,
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Mr. MgreRick. I alluded the other day, incidentally, to the fact that the act
of 1854 was at least liable to the construction, that unless the panel is completed
by Baturday night the new term will have commenced and this case could not
be tried. I hope, therefore, the court will not adjourn now, but wilkgo on until
all these jurors shall have been examined.

Mr. BRapLey. The new term commences at 10 o’clock Monday morning, and
we may sit until that time if we please.

Mr. Merrick. That is true, but Sunday is a dics nom juridirus.

The CourT. Gentlemen may bring in their authorities and I will decide this
question to-morrow morning. In the meantime the witness may stand aside,
and the examination of others may be proceeded with.

Z. D. GILMAN, duly sworn and examined apon his roire dire, as follows :
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, Jobn H. Surratt ?

A 1 have formed and expressed an opinion.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
a8 formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict a8 to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. T fear it might.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against finding a verdict of guilty in a
case where the punishment is death, provided the evidence be such as to satiefy
you of the correctness of that finding ?

A. 1 bave.

By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q. Do you mean to say that you could not find a verdict of guilty in a
capital case, although you were satisfied the evidence warranted it ?
A. 1 could find a verdict of guilty, I sappose.

By the CourT:

Q. That is the case I put to you, whether you have conscientious scruples
tuch a3 would prevent you from saying a man was guilty of a capital offence, if
the evidence justified that finding?

A. I could say that.

Q. Aud you could find a verdiet of guilty ?

A, Yes, sir.

The CourT. You may stand aside for the present.

JosepH F. BrowN, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows :
By the CourT : )

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or
innocence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. Yes, sir; frequently.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
M lormed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
lestimony in the case

A. I think it should not, but I would be afraid to trust myself.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in a
tase punishable with death, provided the evidence justified such finding ¥
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A. None, whatever.
The CourT. You may stand aside for the present.

Zgnas C. RosBins, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:

By the CourT: -
Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or
innocence of the prisoner at the bar, John Hp Surratt ?
A. I have.
Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?
A. Yes, sir,

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdiet as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. No, sir; Icould not adwit that, still in view of my repeated and strong
expressions on the subject of the guilt of the prisoner at the bar, and his
associates, I think it would be unfair to the prisoner to have me on the jury.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in
a case £unishable with death, provided the evidence justified such finding ?

A. Not any.

The CourT. You are excused from farther attendance.

CorNELIUS WENDELL, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as
follows :

By the Courrt:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or
innocence of John H. Surratt, the prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have both form:d and expressed.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say that the opinion, thus formed
and expressed by you, would bias or prejudice your judgment in making up a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. I feel sure it would.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

JosePH GERHARDT, duly sworn and examimed upou his voire dire, as follows:

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or
innocence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
a8 formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of t{le prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case {

A. I think it would.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in
a case punishable with death, provided the evidence justified such finding?

A. I have not.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

HoraTio N. EasBY, duly sworn and examined upon his zoire dire, as follows:

By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, Jobn H. Surratt?
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A. T bave, sir.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Both formed and expressed.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judiment. in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of tﬁe prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case !

A. Your honor will permit me to say, that ever since the conspiracy, which
culminated in the murder of Lincoln, my feelings have been 8o excited against
every person connected with that conspiracy, however remotely, that I think it
would rfectly unfair and unjust to have the life of this party placed in my
bands, mr therefore, 1 do not think I could give an unbiased opinion in this
case.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

TnaomAs BERRY, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:
By the CuurT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you eay to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. It would not.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against bringing in a verdict of guilty
in a case punishable with death, provided the evidence shall satisfy you of the
propriety of such finding?

A No, sir.

The CourT. You may stand aside.

JouN H. CRrANE, duly sworn and examined upon his veire dire, as follows:
By the CouRrrT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt?

A. I bave.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion

A. Both formed and expressed.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
a formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. I do not think it would. I should feel tound to bring in a verdict ac-
cording to the law and the evidence.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against bringing in a verdict of guilty in
dcagse punishable with death, provided the evidence justified such finding ?

A I will state to your honor that I am very strongly opposed to capital pun-
ishment, and I should have to be satisfied, beyond a doubt, of the guilt of a
Prisoner before 1 could bring in a verdict of guilty. If there was a shadow of
doubt, 1 should feel bound to give him the benefit of that doubt. I would not,
wever, say that I would not bring in a verdict according to the evidence,
The CourT. You may stand aside for the present.

WiLLiam M. SnusTER, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
Li H
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By the CouRrT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, Jobn H. Surratt?

A. T bave, sir.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. I bave.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. If I were obliged to sit upon a jury I would endeavor to render a verdict
according to the evidence, but at the same time I feel that I have formed and
expressed an opinion, and that I would go into the jury-box somcwhat preju-
diced; that I would have something to overcome. Having entertained a very
unfavorable opinion toward the prisoner, I would not like to go into the jury-
box without stating that fact. '

The CourT. I think that comes right to the case decided by Chief Justice
Marshall, that a witness must start with a fair chance on either side. You are
discharged from further attendance on the court.

Henry M. KniguT, duly eworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
lows:
By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. T have.

Q. You bhave both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Both formed and expressed an opinion.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after baving heard all the
testimony in the case ! v

A. I believe it would.

The CouRT. You are discharged from further attendance.

RoBERT BaLL, duly sworn and examined upon his roire dire, as follows :

By the Court:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. T have probably given some expression of an impression formed upon my
mind from common rumor, but I do not think I bave given any decided expres-
sion of opinion, nor have I formed any very decided opinion.

Q. From what you have seen and what you have heard in regard to these
rumors, do you believe you would be able to render a fair and impartial verdict,
after having heard all the testimony in the case?

A. It is my impression I could do justice to the prisoner as well as to the
State.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples against rendering a verdict of guilty in s
case punishable with death, where the evidence would justify such finding ?

A. None, whatever.

The CourT decided Mr. Ball to be a competent juror, and no challenge b:ing
made, he was accordingly sworn as such.

Joun F. ELuis, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

_ Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
.we of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?
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‘A. T have, sir. :

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion?

A. 1 have.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of S.le prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case {

A. It would.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

SamuiL FowLkR, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows :
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt?

A. T bave.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir; on several occasions. .

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you eay to the court that that opinion,
a8 formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after baving heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. It would.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

TereENCE DRURY, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt ?

A. T have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Both.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you state to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
verdict a8 to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, atter having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. T am satisfied it would.

The Courr. You are discharged from further attendance.
leLLlAu H. MorrisoN, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-

LIH

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-

tence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt?

A. I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. Yes, sir; very decidedly.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you state to the court that that opinion,
a formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering a
Verdict as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case?

A. It would.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendanca.

J. BusseLL BagR, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as follows:

By the Counr:
Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-

tence of John H. Surratt, the prisoner at the bar?
A. 1 have formed—I am not certain that I ever expressed an opir°
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Qv\Will youCsayCon.thie oath you have just taken, whether that opinion, ®o
formed by you, would prejudice or bias your judgment in arriving at a fair and
impartial conclusion with reference to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner at
the bar, after hearing all the evidence in the case?

A. I do not think it would?

Q. You have never expressed any opinion at all ?

A. Not that I recollect ; I may have done so.

Q. And whatever opinion you have formed is not a decided one ?

A. Not adecided one.

Q. You remain open to conviction, free from prejudice and bias ?

A. T think so.

Q. Have you conscientious scruples againet rendering a verdiet of guilty in a
case where the punishment shall be death, provided the evidence shall war-
raut you in such findiug ?

A. T havenot.

The CourT decided Mr. Barr to be competent as a juror, and no challenge
being made, he was accordingly sworn in as such.

JEDEDIAH GITTINGS, duly sworn and examined upon his voire dire, as fol-
lows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed or expressed an opinion in relation to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar, John H. Surratt

A. I have.

Q. You have both formed and expressed an opinion ?

A. T have.

Q. Under the oath you have taken, do you say to the court that that opinion,
as formed and expressed, would bias or prejudice your judgment in rendering
a verdict as to the guilt or iunocence of the prisoner, after having heard all the
testimony in the case ?

A. I think it would.

The CourT. You are discharged from further attendance.

The court then adjourned until to-morrow at 10 o’clock a. m.

JuNnE 14, 1867.

At 10 o’clock Associate Judge Wylie took position upon the bench, and
directed the crier to open court.

As soon as the court had been opened, he said :

GENTLEMEN : I regret to have to announce to yoa this morning that Judge
Fisher is quite sick, and unable to attend court. I have a note in my hand to
that effect. He does not request me to hold court for him, and if he had, I have
other engagements which would render that impossible. I am at present hold-
ing the circuit court with a large amount of business before me.

Mr. PigrrepoNT. What disposition can be made of all these jurymen who
have been subpeenaed here for to-day?

The CourT. I will hear any suggestions you have to make.

Mr. PigreeproNT. I do not know what we can do exactly; I presume we
had better talk first among ourselves. I have no doubt, judging from what has
passed, that we can agree upon anything amongst ourselves, so far as agreement
will do it.

The CourT. But you cannot agree to try the case without a judge.

Mr. PigrekproNT. I would like to know what, in the meantime, is to be
done with this large number of jurors. The order was for summoning 100 for
this morning, ani they, I suppose, are here, or will be. Ouly three have been
empannelled.

'l':he Court. I have not had an opportunity of examining this recent act of
Congress upon the subject, but my impression is, that unless the jury is obtained
to-day, the case will have to be continued until the next term of the court.



TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT. 79

Mr. MerRick. "To‘morrow; your honor, or until Monday morning, as Judge
Fisher intimated yesterday. '

Mr. PIERREPONT. Let me ask if it is not in the power of your honor to adjourn
this court until to-morrow morning, with direction to these same jurymen to
appear here then, for if the sickness of Judge Fisher shonld prove to be but tem-
porary, which I hope it will, we might then succeed in getting a jury this week.

The CotrT. I will add that I have also a note from Judge Fisher, stating
that in consequence of representations made to him, he is satisfied that Mr. Riggs,
who i3 a talesman, summoned in this case, ought to be excused from service on
the jury. He is therefore excused.

Mr. BrapLgy. If your honor will allow me, I would suggest that it would

rhaps expedite business, if those persons summoned as jurors, and desiring to
Eee excused, and who have a sufficient and valid excuse should make the same
now, and let your honor decide upon it at once. We can in that way get rid of
a portion of this number, and have their places supplied by to-morrow morning.

Mr. PIERREPONT. Yes, sir; Ithink it would be very well, indeed, if your honor
can afford the time, to proceed to excuse such as shall present sufficient excuses,
who are physically disqualified, or those who ought to be excused for other
reasons.

The CourT. Very well; the clerk will proceed to call the list.

Mr. BeapLey. Mr. George E. Jillard tells me that he is summoned before the
grand jury for Monday morning, and, is, therefore, of course, discharged from
this jury. '

'1‘{:3000031. Mr. Jillard is excused. The clerk will proceed to call the
talesmen, in their order, and gentlemen will be kind enough to signify their
presence as their names are called.

The clerk then proceeded to read as follows :

Thomas Lewis, no response.

Matthew G. Emory, present.

William H. Harrover, present.

Daniel Breed, present.

Thomas Young, present.

James Kelley, present.

William Orme, present.

John McDermott, no response.

William Helmick, present.

Mr. Heumick. If the court please, I ask to be excused. I have now, and
always have had, conscientions scruples against capital punishment. I could
not sit as a juror and do myself justice.

The CourT. I do not pass upon questions of that kind now. The clerk will
proceed.

George T. McGlue, present.

James McGran, present,

Geurge A. Bohrer, present.

Douglas Moore, present.

Christian C. Schnieder, present.

Upton 1. Rodenour, present.

Isaac W. Ross, present.

George J. Seufferle, present.

Joseph Crandall, present.

Thomas E. Lloyd, present.

Walter W. Burdett, present.

Frederick Bates, no response.

Moses T. Parker, present.

Nicholas Acker, present.

Jobn T. Mitchell, present.
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Jenkin ‘Thomas; present. -

Benjamin H. Stinemetz. *

Tue Court. Mr. Stinemetz I am told is confined to his bed by sickness. I
have a note from his physician to that effect. He is therefore excused.

Joseph L. Pearson, present.

Mr. Pearson. I am not a taxpayer.

Mr. BrabLey. That settles it.

The CourT. Why are you not a taxpayer? Have you been overlooked
merely ? '

Mr. PearsoN. I own no real estate in thia city, and have never been assessed,
to my knowledge, for any other tax, except the school tax which I have paid
on voting.

The CourT. I do not think you have a good excuse.

VWilliam Ballantyne, present.

William Flynn, present.

William H. Lane, present.

Mr. LANE approaching the court as if desirous of addressing him rivataelz.

Mr. Megeick said: I will simply state to the court that on yesterday we had
agreed among ourselves that the court should hear these excuses, and act as it
saw proper; and that was suggested from the fact that in some cases the excuses
presented by the jurors might involve matters of delicacy, which it might not be
desirable to have made public, and that such should therefore be addressed solely
to the court, and not made known to us, unless the court saw proper to call our
attention to them.

The CourT, (after a brief conversation with Mr. Lane) I am satisfied Mr.
Lane has a just excuse, and he is therefore relieved from service.

Patrick Flemming, present.

Francis Lamb, present.

The CourT. Mr. Germon Crandell, one of the jurors summoned in this case,
informs me that his wife is seriously sick, and therefore aska to be excused. He
is therefore excused.

William Orme, present.

The CourT. Dr. Burrows certifies that Mr. Orme is laboring under such
physical disability as to render him unfit to serve as as a juror. He is excused.

The CourtT. Francis Lamb hands me a certificate to the effect that his wife
is very seriously ill. He is excused.

Thomas Young, whose name bas been called, I have known for many years,
and have known him to be an invalid. I hold in my hand a certificate from
Dr. Young stating that he is unfit. He is therefore excused.

William H. Tenney, excused.

The CourT. Dr. Breed, whose name has been called, says that he has been
educated a quaker, and entertains such strong scruples that he could not serve
as a juror. That is not the class of questions, however, that I propose to act on.

Dr. Breep. I have still another reason, perhaps a stronger one; f have formed
a very decided opinion.

The Court. We have nothing to do with that at this time.

James Y. Davis, present.

George F. Gulick.

Mr. GuLIck stated that his father-in-law had died last night, and of course he
did not feel like being detained at court under those circumstances.

The Court. We will not pass upon your case now, because the court is not
going to be in session to-day.

John Grinder, present.

The Court. John Grinder has furnished the court with a certificate that his
left collar bone has been broken by being thrown from a carriage, and he is
therefore unable to sit as a juror. He is excused.
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John A. Markriter, present.

Columbus Alexander, present.

William H. Baldwin, present.

John W. Simms, present.

John T. Given, present.

Paulus Thyson, present.

William B. Williams, present.

The CourT. Jenkin 'Bhomas informs the court that he is subjeet to attacks
of inflammatory rheumatism, of which he has.had two of great severity within
the last two months, and that he is liable to a return of them on any very decided
change in the temperature of the weather.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. Almost every man is liable to a disease of some
kind, and I respectfully submit to your honor that that is hardly a sufficient

excase.

Mr. Tuomas. I am suffering now.

The CourT. I do not think, Mr. Thomas, that your case is such a one as
would justify me in excusing you.

Norman B. Smith. no response.

The CotrT. Mr. Paulug Thyson has presented me with an excuse, which I
think is a sufficiently good one to justify the court in excusing him. It is rather
of a private nature. He is excused.

A. B. Stoughton, present.

Peter Hepburn, present.

James S. Topham, present.

The CoURrT. I am informed that Mr. Topham has a little child at the point of
death. He is therefore excused.

William J. Redstrake, present.

J. J. May.

The MaRsHAL. He is in New York.

‘Williara McLean, present.

Thomas Magnire, present.

James C. Kennedy, present.

Mr. KennEeDY. I claim exemption on the ground that I am not a resident of
the District. I pay taxes on property here, but I vote in the city of New York,
and pay my personal taxes there. 1 claim my residence in that city.

The CourT. You are excused.

John Wilson.

Mr. WiLson. I would state, your honor, that when I am away from my place
of business, it is left without any one at all to attend to it. My family are all
well, sir, and, notwithstanding, I am in a very delicate state of health myself,

(laughter, being a gentleman weighing about 210 pounds,) I conld not get a
cettificate from my physician. I have no excuse to render, your honor, other
than to say that I would like very much to get off on account of my business
tngagements.

The CovrT. Judging from your appearance the court will give you exemp-
tion when you bring your doctor’s certificate. (Renewed laughter.)

William H. Barbour, present.

George L. Sheriff, present.

Samuel Bacon.

The CourT. Mr. Bacon is a little unwell, and he is not certain whether he
¥ill be able to be here to-day or not. He is willing to serve if he feels well
twough.

Perry W. Browning, present.

Mr. Browxine. I will simply state that I am resideat of the State of Mary-
laud, and vote there.

R
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The Covr't.’Mr.-Browning is excused. I know the fact which he states.

John Alexander. : ’

The MarsHAL. He is in New York.

George E. Jillard, excused.

William Bryau, no response.

Amos Hunt, present.

Lot Flannery, present.

Jeaac W. Ross, preeent.

The calling of the list being completed, the court said Mr. Kelly holds the
office of watciman in the Navy Department, and is therefore exempt by law.
Mr. Stoughton says he has a large business in the patent line, which sitting as
a juror here would materially interfere with. The court does not feel at liberty,
however, to excuse him on that ground.

Mr. StoveHTON. I will state that I cannot possibly be here.

Mr. PiERREPONT. The court will not eit to-day, and perhaps not to-morrow,
and you may not be required at all. You had better let your case lie over.

The CourT. Mr. Douglass Moore is excused on account of sickness.

Have you any propositions, gentlemen, to make in regard to the disposition
of this case to-day ? ’ .

Mr. BrapLey. I wish to suggest, sir, to my brethren on the other side, that
it would, perhaps, be well to have the court direct the marshal to summon as
many more to-morrow as have been excused to-day.

The MagrsHAL. I will explain, if the court please, that I understood the order
of the court yesterday to be, that the marshal summon 100 additional jurors.
In view, however, of the very limited time which we had in which to execute
the order, the full complement was not made out, and I propose now, if euch
meet the appreval of the court and the counsel, to fill up such vacancies as have
occurred by gentlemen being excused, and summon the remaining number of the
100, so that the list shall be complete to-morrow morning. '

The CourT. The marshal will complete the list, so that we may have 100
here to-morrow morning.

Thereupon the court adjourned till to-morrow morning at 10 o’clock.

JUNE 15, 1867.

The court met at 10 o’clock a. m. Justice Wylie on the bench.

The CourT. I will announce to the gentlemen of the bar engaged in this caee
that it is not my purpose to go into the trial of it, but merely to preside here to-
day for the selection of a jury. I am engaged in holding the circuit court, and I
suppose that one of my brethren will be here in time to go on with the trial of
this cause on Monday. I have adjourned the circuit court for to-day in order
that the jury may be completed in this case, and all parties thereby eaved from
the expense, labor, and vexation of going over again all that has been done from
Monday until this time,

If the court shall adjourn to-day without completing the work, on Monday
there being a new term, the case would have to be continued. For that purpose
then alone is it that I have adjourned my own court to come here and assist in
the conclusion of this work that has been entered upou of the selection of a jury.
There is no other judge who can attend to it, and Judge Fisher is sick, and my
other two brethren are absent.

The CourT excused Mr. Larmon, it being shown that he was an officer of the
government, employed in the Treasury Department, as master machinist in the
Currency Bureau.

The CLERK was directed to call the list of talesmen, which he proceded to do
ag follows :

Thomas Lewis, no response.

John McDermott.
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The MARsHAL. He has not been served. He is not in the city.

Norman B. Smith, present.

J. J. May, no response.

John Alexander, present. :

The Court. I think it would be better for those who intend to apply for
exemption to make their application as their names are called.

Mr. BRapLEY. That has been done heretofore.

Mr. SurtH. May it please your honor, I don’t think I am physically able for
the endurance of a juryman. Besides that, I do not believe I am competent,
for I have expressed an opinion relative to this case.

By the CourT:

Q. When did you express that opinion ?

A. I believe I have done it repeatedly.

Q. When 1 ’

A. After the trial of the conspirators—after reading the testimony in that
case.

Q. Itisnotenough tohave expressed an opinion. Have youformed an opinion,
ig what I desire to know, for sometimes then express opinious that they do not
believe in.

A. T believe I had formed an opinion before I expressed it.

Q. You say you formed your opinion from reading the testimony given on
the trial of the conspirators ?

A. Yes, sir.

The CouRrT. I do not think that is a sufficient excuse. I do not see how a
man can form an opinion in regard to the guilt of a man in one case, by reading
the evidence in another case.

Witxess. If that is not sufficient ground to excuse me I claim it on the other;
I am certainly not physically able to endure the fatigues of sitting on a jury.

The CourT. I do not believe you are. You seem to be very tremulous.
You are excused.

The DisTrict ATTORNRY. If your honor please, I was not in when your
honor first appeared upon the bench, but permit me to say, sir, several diffi-
culties occur to us upon consultation, in the way of procee(ﬁng with the cause
at present. ] do not know whether your honor’s attention has been called to
the act of Congress, which was read to Judge Fisher, providing that unless a
jury i8 empauelled during one term of the court, we caanot continue the trial
of the case during the succeeding term.

The CourT. I understand that.

Mr. BrapLiy. Is that any reason why you should not get a panel.

Tae Court. That is why I am sitting here to-day in order that we may get
a jury before the next term begins.

The DisTrICT ATTORNRY. Precisely, but it occurred to us that it would be
impossible for us to empanel a jury to-day. But even if we should sueceed in

doing so, there are other difficulties which suggest themselves to our minds, and
which we deem it our duty to bring to the attention of the conrt. The term of
the eriminal court is assigned to one of the judges of the supreme court of the
District of Columbia, and during the term, I believe a rule of court requires that
where a judge takes the place of the one to whom the term has been assigned,
it should be upon his written request. I think that is the rule of the court in
tuch a case.

The Covrr. How do you know but what I have that.

_The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I am not aware of how the fact is in this par-
ticular case. I merely suggest these difficulties because we wish to proceed in
tuch a way that there can be no objection made hereafter to the mode of pro-
teeding. We conceive it to be our duty to bring to the mind of the eourt such
lifficulties as may occur to us, and which your honor may have overlooked.
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There is one other point, if your honor please, that I desire to call to the atten-
tion of the court. It is this, whether it would be a legal proceeding for ome
jadge to commence the trial of the case, to decide an important question, such as

has been decided during the progress of this trial, and to empanel a part of the
jury; for a second judge to complete empanelling of the jury, and then for a
third judge to try the case, for the reporter has to me the announcement of
your honor that it is not your purpose to try this case, but simply to go on and
empannel the jury.

T'he CovrT. Yes, that is all.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. If your honor were to empannel this jury, and
then proceed to try the case, that might obviate the difficulty to a certain extent.
The case would then be presented of one judge empanelling a part of the jury,
and the other j taking his place, in conformity with the rule of the court,
and completing the empanelling of the said jury, and presiding during the
entire trial ; but if this case is presented with Judge Fisher deciding one import-
ant question which has been submitted to him, empanelling three of the jurors,
aud your houor empanelling the nine other jurors, and then of the case
going to the next term, and the chief justice trying it, I doubt whether that
would be a legal proceeding. At all events it is a question of such grave im-

rtance——

Mr. PierREPONT. Three judges will then have been engaged in the trial of
one case

The INSTRICT ATTORNEY. I say, sir, the question is one of such grave im-
portance that we have felt it our duty to bring it to the attention of the court,
and to submit some observations upon it.

The CovrrT. It ia not worth while to waste any time upon points of that sort.
T am not dizposed to listen to argument upen such. The law knows npeither
Judge QOlin. Judge Fisher. nor Judge Wylie. but locks to the “justice of the
criminal court.” and it makes no difference if all four of us are concerned on the
trial at different stages of the case.

Mr. PigrrEPONT. We frel it to be our duty to present to your honor the
view we entertain, that under your law, three jndges cannot sit in the trial of
one cauae, and have it legal.

The CorrT. There are not three jndges sitting—only one.

Mr. PirreEroNT. As I understand i1, the empanelling of a jury is as much
the trial of a canse as the hearing of the teztimony.

Mr. RRADPLEY. Are we 1o understand the Jearned counsel a2 holding, that if
the judge be taken sick after he shall have entered upon the trial of a canse, and
be unable 1o artend. that another judge cannot take his place.

Mr. PiReREPONT. 1 cortainly suppose be cannot in a murder trial

Mr. Reaprurv. He certainly can.

Mr. PieggrroNT. N.1 when the case mmns into another term.

The Covrr. Raduce your paint 1o writing.  The court overrnies the objection,
an«i;sorhp:\ i1 would be well for wox 1o Lave your point folly presented on the
record.

The TisTRICT ATTORNVFY. T am not aware that 1 wonld accomplish anything,
br reducing i 10 writing, beesnse 1 wonld have no appeal. At least thatisa
wooted question, wheiher In evimimal canses the sovernment bas any appeal. ’

The CorgT. 1 have cverrmied the obdectiom.  These is no wae. thendfore, dis-
cussing the matrer.

Mr. IisrgsronT. Iz & Jow tope 1o the disitict attermexy! We cannot g0
o,

The Coa RT. Tracred 1o eall the Jumv, Mo Clesi.

The clork hez srqumoneed aa.ling over the B in the f.0owing order:
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Thomas' Lewis, no response.

Matthew G. Emory, present.

The CourT. I have a certificate from Mr. Emory’s family physician, stating
that his wife is quite sick, and requires to be removed to different air, and that
Mr. Emory himself is rather indisposed, (laughter ) T'he act of Congress makes
that & good excuse. He is therefore excused.

WiLLiamMm HARROVER was next called, and after being duly sworn—examined
on his voire dire, as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you any reason why you should not serve upon this jury ?

A. No, sir; but I would rather not. I do not like to serve on such cases.

The CourT. Gentlemen have you any questions to put to him. .

Mr. BrabpLEey. I thought your honor intended putting the question to him as
to whether he had formed and expressed an opinion,

By the CourT. Have you formed an opinion in this case ?

A. I cannot say that I have. Itisimpossible to tell. We have our opinions
about these things.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of capital
punicshment ?

A. T do not know.

Mr. BaaoLey. He has served upon capital cases. It is hardly worth while
to aek him that question.

The Court. Mr. Harrover is a competent juror.

Mr. HARROVER. I have a certificate here.

The CocRT. Let me see it. I thought you were through. (After reading
the paper.) Here i3 a very strong medical certificate to the effect that Mr.
Harrover is wholly physically incapacitated from sitting on a jury.

Mr. Megrick. Who is the physician ?

The CourT. Dr. Toner,

Mr. Harrover. My neighbors can certify to the same.

Mr. BeapLey. Dr. Toner is a man of character.

Mr. Harrover. I tried to get it in yesterday, but did not succeed.

The Courr. If the facts stated in this certificate be true, he is physically
incompetent.

The juror was excused.

Danier BREED was called, and examined upon his voire dire.
By the CourT :

Q. Are you physically able to sit on a jury ?

A. I think I am, though I am not very well now, and was recently quite
indispoged.

Q. Have you formed an opinion in this case ?

A. I have.

Q. When did you form it ?

A. From the-first history of the murder of Lincoln. I have watched every-
thing I have seen in the papers, and little by little have come to the conclusion
and expressed an opinion long ago, in regard to the prisoner.

Q. lpn regard to this prisoner ?

Q. Yes, sir.
The CourT. You are incompetent, and are excused.

‘JOH.\' R. ELvANS called, and after being sworn was examined upon his voire
dire, as follows :
By the CousT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in this case ?
A. 1 have.
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Q.'When’did'you’ form that opinion ?

A. Probably fiom the time of the trial of the conspirators by the military com-
mission at the arsenal. It has been founded on the newspaper reports of that
trial of course.

Q. Do you think that opinion is such as to sway or bias your mind 8o as to
effect your judgment upon the evidence and the law a3 given to you by the
court and witnesses ?

A. So far as I can analyze my own mind, I do not think it would have any
effect on my judgment in the rendition of a verdict. I believe I could render
a verdict in accordance with the evidence, notwithstanding the fact that I may
have formed an opinion from reading the newspapers.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. None, sir. .

The CourT. I think he is a competent juryman. Have you any questions
to ask, gentlemen ?

The DisTeicT ATTORNEY. If you honor please, having upon consultation
entertained some doubt as to the legality of the present mode of proceeding, we
have thought it best to reduce our proposition to writing, in order that hereafier
we may take some advantage of it, if necessary, and then have the matter more
materially considered, either by the judge who does preside, or by the court in
banc.

I will now, with the permission of your honor, proceed to read the paper.
It was then read, as follows :

«JuNg 15, 1867,

“The district attorney, on the part of the United States, objects to any pro-
ceeding to empannel a jury, on the ground that this term ends on Monday unext,
June 17, 1867 ; that the judge, to wit, Judge Fisher, assigned to hold the
present term, is sick, and not present ; that he was preseat on Thursday last ; that
another judge, to wit, Judge Cartter, is assigned to the next term of this erimi-
nal court, and that as the commencement of the empannelling of the jury was
by Judge Fisher, it is submitted by the district attorney to be illegal to proceed
before Judge Wylie, to complete the em}i;mnelling of the jury in this case.

«“EDWARD M. CARRINGTON,
“U. S. Autorney for District of Columbia.”

The CourT. The objection is overruled. You except of course.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Yes, sir. We desire to have the paper filed.
Mr. BrapLey. (Lo the district attorney.) Do you challenge Mr. Elvans 1
The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. No, sir.

Mr. BrabLey. We do.

THomAs BLAGDEN was called, and after being duly sworn was examined

upon his coire dire.
By the CourrT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in this case ?

A. I have. I have formed an opinion, and expressed it the other day ?

Q. When did you form that opinion.

A. During the progress of the trial of the assarsins. I cannot specify exactly
the time. 1 read attentively all the evidence that was given.

Q. You formed it from newspaper reports of the evidence of that trial 1

A. Yes, gir.

Q. Do you suppose that your bias is so strong in consequence of that opin-
ion that you could not do justice to the prizoner, or to the United States ?

A. Ido.

The CourT. You are excused.
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RILEY A. SHINN wag called, and after being duly sworn was examiuned on

his zoire dire, as follows :
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion?

Mr. SuixN. Your honor, I wish to state that I suffer a great deal with a dis-
ease, which I have had for years, and which would be rendered much worse by
sitting as long as I would have to, were I required to serve on this jury. I
mentioned the fact to Judge Fisher the other day, and would have come prepared
with a certificate from my physician, had I suppused there would be a session
of the court to-day. If the case were expecl,eg to occupy only a few daye, I
would have no objection at all; but it would be impossible for me to sit on a
protracted case like this promises to be. Some time ago, while serving on the
grand jury, I was compelled to get a leave of absence from Judge Fisher for
some fiftcen days, in consequence of this complaint.

Q. Is it a chronic complaint ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did it disable you at that time ?

A. Yes, sir. Sitting any length of time has the eff-ct to aggravate the dizease,
and render me very uncomfortable. Walking does not effect me at all; but it
frequently happens that I am not able to ride for a week or two. Some times
I am unable to lie in my bed, and have to eleep in a reclining chair.

The CourT. You are excused.

Ricaarp M. HaiL was called, bat not responding, hiis name was passed.

Jou~ VaN Reswick was called, and after being duly sworn was examined
on his zoire dire, as follows :
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in this case.

A. T have not, nor expressed any that I am aware of.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of capital
punishment ?

A. I have not.

The CourT. I do not observe any physical disability, and I think him, there-
fore a competent juror. '

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. We asked Mr. Van Reswick a question the other
day.

The CouvrT. Well.

Mr. PierrepoNT. The case stands in this peculinr position, your honor.
This same juror was upon the stand the other day, and a certain question
was asked him, to which objection being made, the court concluded to hold the
matter over and let the juror retire for the time being. I may state, in this
eonnection, that the question was argued at great length by counsel on both
sides,

The CotvrT. What was the question ?

Mg. Pirrwepoxrt. Has your honor read the indictment, allow me to ask, in
order that 1 may make myself intelligible.

The CourT. I heard it read ; 1 was present when the prisoner was arraigned.

Mr. PierrEPONT. The indictment, as your houor will perceive, in the third
ad fourth counts charges this prisoner with being engaged in a conspiracy
with certain other persons named; it follows, therefore, that if the other persons
vith whom he is charged with being engaged in a conspiracy, were themselves
inocent of any conspiracy, why of course this party is innocent, because he
tannot conspire alone. The question which had been put to the witness, and
which was held under advisement by Judge Fisher, was as to whether we could
Properly ask the wituess whether he had formed and expressed an opinion re-
garding the guilt or innocence of the other conspirators named iu the indictment.
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Mr'BrapLey.CAnd)/thé 'principal objection to which was, that they did not
ask him whether he had formed or expressed an opinion as to the complicity of
the prisomer with ‘the parties charged with that conspiracy, or stated any
opinion as to his connection with them in any shape, but as to people entirely
outside of him.

Mr. PIERREPONT. It came up on a single question; the whole substance of
the thing was debated, and of course the determination of that question would
determine the other questions which were to be asked of this witness.

The CourT. I remember observing something about this question being
raised in the published reports.

Mr. PierrePoNT. If the court should say that any opinion formed in relation
to the guilt or innocence of the co-conspirators disqualified the juror, why then
of course he could not git any more than if he had expressed it in relation to
the accused himself. Under these two counts of the indictment, if the other
parties were not conspirators, why then this man was not a conspirator, for no
man can conspire alone ; hence I say it being a material averment in the indict-
ment that he is guilty as a co-couspirator, it becomas in our judgment a matter
of very great importance to know whether this juror has made up his mind in
relation to the innocence of the other conspirators charged with this crime; if
80, he has so made up his mind on the subject as will necessarily acquit the
prisoner.

Mr. BRapLEY. I thought the gentlemen had determined to abandon the case.

Mr. PierrepoNT. We are determined to file our objection, and have done so.

Mr. BrapLey. We do not propose, sir, to discuss any of these questions relat-
ing to the qualifications of jurors, but gimply to submit them for your honors
decision, without argument, so far as we are concerned.

The Cougr. I called over to see Judge Fisher last night, and this question
was mentioned by him. We both concurred in the opinion that the objection
raised to the competency of the juror was not a valid objection, and he would
have so ruled had he been able to have come into court this morning.

Mr. PierREPONT. If your houor please, I do not know exactly what the cus-
tom here is, in relation to the trying of jurors before the court, in place of triers,
as the statute provides. The learned district attorney and the learned counsel
on the other side, seem to entertain different views as to the custom. I will only
say, sir, that by the statute of 1862, as well as at common law, these were proper
questions to be asked of the juror, in order to discover whether he was competent
on various grounds

Mr. BeapLey. Will my brother permit me to ask him what question there is
before the court ?

Mr. PIERREPONT. I want to see whether I will be permitted to ask any ques-
tions,

'The CourT. I have overruled your objection, you will understand.

Mr. PiergrPONT. Yes, sir; I understand that. What I am now desirous of
ascertaining is, whether other questions going to the competency of the juror,
. are in your honor’s judgment, proper to be azked of the jurors. My learned
friend the other day suggested that it was not customary to examine, or to cross-
examine a juror. I do not see how we are otherwise to get at his competency.

The CourT. This juror is now being examined by the court on his voire dire.
If counsel ask questions it is only by permission of the court. The court will
grant you that permiseion, if you have any other questions, reserving to itself,
of course, the right to decide upon the competency of the questions asked.

Mr. PierreroNT. Of course. I see the statute provides certain qualifications
in order to makea juror, and with the permission of your honor, I will now
proceed to ask him with regard to such.

The CourT. Very well, sir.

Q. You are a citizen, I suppose?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Born in this country ?

A. Yes, eir; a native of Washington.

Q. I presume you pay taxes ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you been living in Washington the whole time since the assassina-
tion?

A. O, yes, sir.

Q. Have you read the evidence connected with the trial of the conspirators, or
much of it.

A. T read some of 1t, perhaps all, I am not sure.

Q. And you formed no opinion as to the guilt of the prisoner ?

A. No, #ir; none at all.

Q. And you did not express any ?

A. No, sir.

Q. And have not any now formed in your mind, one way or the other ?

A. I bave not.

Mr. PierrepoNT. I will now put to you a question which I do not wish you
to answer unless the court shall decide it competent. I presume it will be over-
ruled, but I put it simply for the purpose of preserving the poiut.

Q. Have you formeg and expressed an opinion touching the guilt or iunocence
of those who are charged in this indictment as conspirators with the accused.

Mr. BrapLey. Do not answer.

The CourT. I have just overruled that question.

Mr. PierrePoNT. I so understood your honor, but I was desirous of having
the point spread out on the record.

Mr. BRapLEY. It was on the record before.

Mr. Merrick. I understand that every thing that is said goes upon the re-
cord. The reporters, I believe, take down every thing that is said and done.

The CourT. What the reporters take down does not constitute the official
record of the court.

Mr. Megrick. Not the record usually made by the clerk I am aware, sir.

By Mr. PigrRREPONT :

Q. Do you know what the charge is for which the party is arrested here ?

A. T think I have understood it.

Q. What have you understood it to be ?

A. T understand that he is indicted for murder ; being engaged in a conspiracy
with other parties to commit murder.

Q. On ueither you have formed an opinion ?

A. On neither.

Challenged by the district attorney.

Josepr T. BrowN was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
towre dire, as follows :

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in this case ?

A. I have.

Q. When did you form this opinion ?

A. Abont the time of the trial of the conspirators. I also formed that epinion
thout the time of the arrival of Mr. Surratt, I believe, having then re-read the
testimony in the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is the biag which you have received from reading that testimony on your
mind 8o strong as would interfere with your impartial discharge of your duty as
ijuryman upon the evidence given to you in the cause, ang upon the law as
given by the court ?

A. I think it would ; at least I would be afraid to trust it.

Excused.
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Tu>MAs BRRRY- was'called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire

dire, as follows :
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner?

A. T have.

Q. How, and in what way did you form this opinion ?

A. From reading the statement of his arrest, and a portion of the proceedings
on the trial of the other conspirators.

Q. Is the bias on your mind so strong as to prevent you doing impartial justice
between the United States and the prisoner ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you think you could decide it fairly ?

A. Yes, sir; according to the law and the evidence.

Q. Have youn any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of capital
punishmeut. :

A. No, sir.

'The CourT. Gentlemen, he is a competent juror.

Mr. BErrY. Permitme to say, your honor, that I am not in very good bealth,
and therefore do not know as I would be able to serve.

The Court. Have you a doctor’s certificate?

Mr. Berry. No, sir.

The CourT. The presumption then is that you are able to serve.

: h{‘r Berry being accepted by counsel on either side was sworn in by the

clerk.

Joun H. CraNE was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his

voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

Q. Have your formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar? ‘

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form this opinion?

A I formed the opinion from reading the report of the assassination trial two
years ago, and from circumstances connected with the case.

Q. Is the bias on your mind so strong as to disable you from rendering an im-
partial verdict between the United States and the prisoner?

A. No, sir.

Q Do you believe you could decide according to the law and the evidence in

the case?

A. I think I could.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of capital
punishment ?

A. ] am opposed to capital punishment.
Q. But 80 long as capital punishment is lawfal by the laws of the land, would

that disapprobation on your part influence you in rendering a verdict ?

A. Tt would not.

The Court. He is competent.

Challenged by the prisoner.

WiLLiam HeLMicK was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
voire dire, as follows :

By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the

prisoner at the bar ?
A. I have formed, and expressed frequently, an opiniun in reference to this

case.
B Q. Inwhat way have you formed that opinion ?
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A. From reading the proceedings on the trial of the conspirators some two
years ago.

Q. Is that opinion 8o decided as to bias your mind in determining between
the United States and the prisoner at the bar?

A No,sir; I donot think that a person should form such an opinion as would
force him to a decision contrary to the law and the testimony that should be
presented. If I were otherwise competent, I could not consider myself incom-
petent on that ground.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ? '

A. I do, and always have. Many years ago I favored the passage of a law
in my State to abolish capital punishment in the State entirely. My opinion is
very decided on it.

Q. But as capital punishment is lawful by the laws of the land, do you think
you would have anything to do with that as a juror?

A. I should very much regret to have to take an oath to decide a case of the
kind. With my present views on that eubject I do not think I would be com-
petent to decide. My prejudices against capital punishment have always been
such that I do not feel as if I could sit as a juror in a case of murder.

The CourT. You are excused.

GEeorGE T. McGLUE was called, and being duly sworn was éxamined on his
roire dire, as follows :

By the CounT:

Q Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?
" A. T have.

Q. How did you form that opinion ?

A. By reading, ard from rumor.

Q. Is that opinion 8o decided as to affect yonr impartiality as a juror, in case
you ghould be sworn, in weighing the evidence ?

A. If it had not been for circumstances I think it would have been, but my
opinion, from circumstances, has been changed.

Q- So you have a double opinion on the subject ?

A. 1 say my opinion has been changed from circumstances transpiring in re-
gard to the rebellion.

Q. What I want to get at is this: whether you could do impartial justice
between the government and the prisoner at the bar, according to the law and
the evidence

A. I would rather be afraid to trust myself.

Q. Do you believe though, you could decide fairly and impartially upon the law
and the evidence in the cause, notwithstanding those former opinions which you
may have entertained 1

A. I might do 80, and then again my feelings are of such a character that I .
might not be able to.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No, sir.

The Court. He is a competent juror.

Challenged by the prisoner.

Javes McGRAN was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire

dire, as follows :

By the CourrT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
Prizoner at tlfe bar 1
4. I have.
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Q. 'By what means'did you form that opinion ?

A. By reading, and hearing conversations in regard to the matter.

Q. Is that opinion 8o strong in your mind that it would affect your verdict as
a juryman ?

A. I think it would.

Q. Do you think it would bias you as to your verdict upon the law and
evidence that you might receive in this case ?

A. 1 think that it would have a tendency to do so.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No. sir,

Mr. McGran was declared to be a competent juror.

Challenged by the district attorney.

GEORGE A. BoHRER was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his

voire dire, a8 follows :
‘By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar?

A. I should like first to hear the names of the conspirators read before I
answer the question. I understand that he is indicted jointly with others.

The CourT. No, sir, he is not indicted with others.

Mr. Bowrer. But indicted for acting jointly with others, as I understand.

The CourT. No, sir; he is indicted for murder; the result of a conspiracy
with others.

Mr. Bourer. I have formed and expressed an opinion in regard to the con-
spiracy trials that have heretofore been ll:ad '

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. From reading the newspaper reports of the evidence taken on the trial of
the conrpirators.

Q. Ts this bias on your mind so strong as to disturb the impartiality of
your mind in weighing the evidence on the trial in this case?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. Probably I can convey a better idea to your honor before answering that,
gy saying that I expressed this opinion in regard to this matter from the evi-

ence.

Q. You will please answer the question I have just asked.

A. T have not.

I desire to say with regard to the first questions put to me, that I have said
that I could not have convicted Mrs. Surratt on the evidence adduced before the
commission. I think it is due to the court, to the public, and to myself to make
this statement.

The CourT. That has nothing to do with this case. We are not inquiring
here as to the guilt or innocence of Mrs. Surratt.

Tur CourT. Mr. Bohrer is a competent juror in the opinion of the court.

Mr. Bohrer was accepted and sworn.

CurisTiaN C. SCHNEIDER was called, and being duly sworn was examined
on his voire dire, as follows : _
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion?
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A. From the papers and from the evidence given on the trial of the conspira-
tors.

Q. Is that opinion on you mind so strong as to render yonr incapable of
deciding according to the {aw and the evidence in this case ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No, sir.

The CourT. Mr. Schuneider is a competent juror.

He was then accepted and sworn.

TUproN H. RipENoUR was called, and being duly sworn was examined as fol-
lows :

By the CourTt:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. From reading the evidence given on the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Do fyou feel that you have such a bias on your mind as to render yon un-
capable of rendering an impartial verdict between the United States and the
prisoner at the bar?

A. T would have considerable to overcome before I could do it. I havestreng
prejudices.

The CourT. That is not an answer to my question.

My question is whether you feel that you lEmve such a bias on your mind as

" to render you incapable to decide upon the law and evidence in the case !

A. I think I do.

The CourT. You are excused.

Isaac W. Ross was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire
dire, as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No, sir.

The CourT. He is competent.

Mr. BRADLEY. Mr. Ross is very infirm in health, being affected with paralysis,
and I think it would be irapossible for him to sit upon a jury when the trial will
be as long and tedious as tgis romises to be.

The CourT. How is that Mr. Ross ?

Mr. Ross. I guess there would be no difficulty about that. I do notappre-
bend any.

Challenged by the prisoner.

GeoruE A. SUEFFERLE was called, and being duly sworn was examined on

ki vorre dire, as follows:
By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How?

A, From newspaper reports of the proceedings of the trial of the conspirators.
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Q/'T#'youir mind 9 biased as to render you incapable of deciding impartially
on the law and the evidence ?

A. I think not.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions in regard to the lawfulness
of capital punishment. .

A. None at all.

By the DiSTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. Were you on the last grand jury ?

A. No, sir; I think I was on the grand jury in 1864.

Q. You were not on the grand jury that found this bill of indictment ?

A. No, &ir.

Challenged by the district attorney.

TuoMAs E. LLovyD was called, and being duly sworn wae examined on his
voire dire, as follows :

By the Courr:

Q. Have i;lrou formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. I formed the opinion by reading the proceedings on the trial of the con-
spirators before the military commission and subsequently.

Q. Is that opinion so strong as to affect your impartiality on the trial be-
tween the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?

A. As far as I can analyze my own mind, 1 believe I would not be a com-
petent juror.

Q. You think you would be controlled in some measure by that bias ?

A. I think so.

The Courr. You are excused.

‘WaLTER W. BURDETTE was called, and being duly sworn was examined on hi®
voire dire, as follows :

By the CourT: :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the gunilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. From what I have heard and reag.

Q. Is your mind so settled in that conviction as to prevent you from render-
ing an impartial verdict according to the law and the evidence, between the
prisoner at the bar and the United States ?

A. I believe I could come to a just conclusion in the case.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions in regard to the lawful-
ness of capital punishment ? '

A. For many years I have been opposed to capital punishment, or the pen-
alty of death for any crime.

Q. Would that prevent your rendering a verdict according to the law and the
evidence ?

A. It would, where I believed the sentence would be capital punishment.

The CourT. You are excused.

FrEDERICK BATES was called, and being duly sworn was examined on bis
voire dire, as follows:
By the CouRT: .

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar ?
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A. Yes, 'sir.

Q. In what way did you form it ?

A. From attendance on the trial of the conspirators, and from reading the re-
rts in the newspapers.

Q. Is that opinion 8o strong as to bias your mind and affect your impartiality
a juror, between the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?

A. T think it would be.

The CourT. You are excused.

Moses T. PARKER was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
ire dire, a8 follows :

By the Courr:
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
soner at the bar.
A. At the early incipiency I did.
Q. How did you then make up your opinion ?
A. Merely from the floating ideas and opinions at that time.
Q.- Do you feel as if that opinion is so strong as to render gon incapable of
«dering an impartial verdict between the United States and the prisoner at
: bar, upon the law and the evidence ?
A. I have never thought that an opinion entertained by me would prevent
rendering a verdict according to the law and the evidence.
3. Do you entertain any conacientious convictions against the lawfulness of
iital punishment ?
A. No, sir.
['he CourT. He is a competent juror,
Shallenged by the prisoner.

NICHOLAS ACKER was called, and being duly sworn was examined on bis voire
e, as follows :

By the CourT:

. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
soper at the bar ?

A. I have.

2. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. As far back as the conspirney trials. I read the book on it.

Q. Is that opinion so strong as to affect your impartiality as a juror in the
U between the United States and the prisoner at the bar ¢

A. T do not know that it would on the evidence.

2. Have you any conecientious convictions against the lawfulness of capital
nishmeut ?

A. No, sir.

The CourT. He is a competent juror.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. You are an American citizen, are you not ?

A. Partly so and partly not. (Laughter.) 1 was born in Germany.

Q. You have been made a citizen 1

A. O, yes, sir. I will atate, however, that I cannot very well serve as a juror

cause I am not in good health, as you will sec by that note.

The CouRrT, (after reading the note referred to by Mr. Acker.) He is aflicted

th rather a curious diecase. Dr. Garnett certifies that he is at present under

' professional care ; that he is troubled with a disease of the stomach, which
uces at interva's sudden rushings of blood to the brain, educing attacks of

mnolency, which arerirresistible, and oblige him for the moment to go to sleep.

Mr. BrapLEY. Were you not discharged from a jury in the civil court on that

tount ?
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A" Yes, sir, pretty much on that account ; I told the judge how I was afflicted.
nzhe CourT. Mr. Acker, you are excused ; it won’t do to go to sleep on this

trial.

Dr. J. L. KipwELL was called, and being duly sworn was examined upon his
voire dire, as follows:

By the CourT:

Q.? I understand, Mr. Kidwell, that you have some special claims for exemp-
tion

A. T have three letters from physicians in my immediate neighborhood stating
that my services are indispensable in my store at this time. . f will state that I
have no one in my store at present but a couple of boys, both of my clerks being

. sick with the typhoid fever—one of them very ill.
The CourT. You are excused.

Joun T.MiTcHELL was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire
dire, as follows :

By the Court:

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ? ‘

A. I formed my opinion from reading the testimony before the court that tried
the other parties. Also, by being thrown in contact with one of the witnesses
before that court, while travelling. We had a conversation that lasted a consid-
erab‘;e length of time. What he said made a very serious impression on my
mind.

Q. Do you think this impression on your mind is such as would render you
incapable of deciding impartially upon the law and the evidence which may
be elicited in the case ?

A. If I have ever conscientiously endeavored to come to a conclusion in regard
to a matter, I have in this particular case. If sworn as a juror I would strive
to do my duty both to the prisoner and the United States, but I should be afraid,
that under the circumstances, with the impressions that have been made upon
my mind, that it would be a lifelong regret with me if I should be compelled to
serve.

The CourT. You are excused.

Jexnkins THoMAs was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire
dire, as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar ?

Mr. THomas. Will your houor allow me to call your attention to the certifi-
cate that I have laid on your desk? You will see by that that I am physically
incompetent.

The CourT. Dr. Magruder certifies that Mr. Thomas is subject to violent at-
tacks of inflammatory rheumatism, and that a change of atmosphere is always
likely to produce them. I think it better to excuse you, Mr. Thownas.

JoskPH L. PRARSON was called, and being duly sworn was examined on bi®
voire dire, as follows:
By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar?
A. The reading of the evidence taken on the trial of the conspirators, aod
the events which have since taken place, leave an impression on my mind of the

ﬂ, t of the prisoner.
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Q. Is that impression 0 strong as to render you incapable of deciding impar-
tially upon the law and the evidence in the case

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of cap-
ital puuisZme’ntt

A. I am only opposed to capital punishment when conviction is had on eir-
cumstantial evidence.

Q. You are not opposed to capital punishment if the case is made out?

A. No, sir; not positively.

By Mr. BeabpLEY :

Q. Are you a taxpayer !

A. T never pald any taxes other than the school tax.

The CourT. He is a resident here.

Mr. BeabiLEv. There is no school tax now, but he says that he has paid a
school tax beretofore.

The CourT. Ts the payment of taxes required now in order to render a man
a competent juror !

Mr. BRADLRY. Yes, gir; he must be a taxpayer.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY. Have you not paid the school tax?

Mr. Pearson. I have paid the school tax heretofore; I have never been as-.
gessed to my knowledge.

The CocrT. I suppose the word * taxpayer " means a man who is liable to
pay taxes, whether he has paid them or not.

Q. Are you a housekeeper ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And liable to pay taxes?

A. Yes, sir.

The CourT. I think he is a competent juror.

Mr. Merrick. We beg leave to except to the ruling of your honor in view
of the answer that he gave as to whether rne had formed an opinion. Desiring to
have this exception reserved, we challenge him.

WiLniaM BALLANTYNE was called, and being duly sworn was examined on
hia voire dire, as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. I have.

Q. In what way have you formed that opinion?

A. From reading the testimony and from listening to the charge of the judge

who conducted the prosecution.

Q. Is your mind now under such a bias as to render yon incapable of decid-
ivg impartially between the United States and the prisoner at the bar, in case
you should be empannelled as a juror in this case ?

A. I think not.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictious against the lawfulness of capital
puwishment ?

A. I have not.

The CotrrT. He is a competent juror.

Challenged by the prisoner.

WiLLiam FLINN was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
toire dire, as follows :

By the CourrT :
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the

Misanaw a¢ tha haw ?
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Mr//FriNn.CDbégthe court to excuse me ; I have a very sick child at home.
The CourT. I think that is a good ground for excusing a person from service
here. You are excused.

Patrick FLEMING was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
voire dire, as follows :

By the Court :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar 1

A. I have.

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. From the evidence, from newspaper reports of it, and from conversations.

Q. Are you, in your own judgment, incapable of deciding impartially between
the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?

A. T think so, decidedly.

The CourT. You are excused.

James Y. Davis was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his
voire dire, as follows :

By the CounT:

. Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have not.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No, sir.

The Courr. He is competent.

Mr. Davis was then accepted and sworn.

JouN MARKRITER was called and duly sworn.

The CourT. Dr. Riley certifies that Mr. Markriter is under his medical care,
and that he is wholly unfit to sit on the jury. He is therefore excused.

CoLumBus ALEXANDER was called, and being duly sworn was examined on
his voire dire, as follows :

By the CouRr :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at tZe bar ?

A. I have.

Q. In what way ?

Q. From reading the testimony in the conspiracy trials.

Q. Do you think your mind is so biased as to render you incapable at thiz
time of decidin% impartially in this case between the United States and the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I should decide the case according to the law and the evidence.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfalness of
capital punishment?

A. I do not know that I have any conscientious scruples about the matter
but I am opposed to capital punishment. :

Q. As a political question?

A. Yes, sir,

The CourT. He is a competent juror.

Accepted and sworn.

WiLLiam H. BaLpwiN was called, and being duly sworn was examined on
his voire dire, as follows : -
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By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. T have. )

Q. In what way have you formed it ?

A. From reading the cvidence of the trial at the arsenal.

Q. Do you feel yourself under such a bias at this time as to render you in-
capable of deciding impartially between the United States and the prisoner at
the bar upon the evidence in the case ?

A. I do.

The CourT. You are excused.

Jou~ H. Simms was called, and being duly sworn, was examined upon his
voire dire as follows:

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar?

A. T have not.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment?

A. T do.

Q. Is that such a conviction as would render you incapable of rendering a
verdict according to the law and the evidence?

A. T think it would.

The CourT. You are excused.

Joun T. Givens was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his

roire dire as follows :
By the CovurT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the gnilt or innocence of the
prigoner at the bar ?

A. I presume I did do so, in common with others, when this case was on trial
gome two years ago.

Q. Is the bias you received from that trial so strong as to render you incapa-
ble of deciding impartially at this time between the United States and the pris-
oner at the bar?

A. T do not know that it would be.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. None whatever.

The CourT. He is competent.

Challenged by the prisoner.

WasnineTON B. WiLLIAMS was called, and being duly sworn, was examined
on his voire dire as follows: '

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. T have. L)

Q. In what way did you form that opinion ?

A. From reading the papers, and conversing with the prigoner’s friends and
&quaintances.

. I that bias so strong as to render you incapable of deciding impartially

Upon the evidence ?

A, Itis.

The CourT. You are excused.
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A/B./StovéHTON ‘was-'called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. Ibave.

Q. In what way?

A. Mainly from reading the record of the trial of the conepirators.

Q. Is that opinion such as would render you incapable of deciding impartially
on the evidence between the United States and the prisoner at the bar?

A. I think it would.

The CourT. You are excused.

PeTER HEPBURN was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
roire dire as follows :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. I have.

Q. In what way have you formed it ?

A. By reading the proceedings of the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is the bias upon your mind so strong as to render you incapable at this
time of deciding impartially upon the evidence ?

A. Itis.

The CourT. You are excused.

‘WM. J. RRDSTRAKE was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows:

By the Courr:

Q. Have f'ou formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. T have.

Q. How did you form that opinion ?

A. By reading the reports of the former trial—the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is your mind so strongly biased as to render you incapable of deciding
impartially upon the evidence in this case?

A. I think it is.

The CotrT. You are excused.

WiLLiAM McLEAN was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the Courr:

Q. Have iZou formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. I did at the time of the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Is the bias left on your mind at this time so strong as to reunder you inca-
pable of deciding impartially according to the law and the evidence in this case!

A. T do not thinkit is.

Q. Have you any conscientioup convictions against the lawfulness of capital
punishment.

A. No, sir.

James McGUIRE was called, and being duly sworn was examined as follows:
By the CounT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?
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A. T have read the testimony given on the trial of the conspirators. I wasin
New York at the time, and I formed an opinion at that time.
Q. Did it leave such a bias on your mind as to render you incapable of

deciding impartially on the evidence between the United States and the pria-
oner at the bar?

A. T believe not.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. I do not.

The CourT. He is a competent juror.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. Mr. McGuire, do you pay taxes ?

A. Ido. I would say to the court, however, that I am a Catholic, and I saw
in the New York Herald that the United States had taken exception to Cath--
olics being on the jury.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. I hope, Mr. McGuire, you will not hold us re-
sponsible for what appears in the public newspapers ?

Mr. McGuirg. I would rather not serve, for the reason stated.

The DisTRicT ATTORNEY. I think it is very wrong for the newspapers to pub-
lish such statements.

The CourT. If the newspapers say so it is to be presumed that the contrary
ia the fact. .

Challenged by the district attorney.

JoHN WiLsoN was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his voire
dire as follows :

By the Courr :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the-
prizoner at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. How did you form that opinion ?

A. From reading the proceedings had at the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Is that bias on your mind 8o strong as to render you at this time incapa-
ble of deciding impartially on the evidence between the United States and the
prieoner at the bar?

A. It bas rendered me altogether one-sided, your honor.

The CourT. You are excused.

WitLiam H. BARBOUR was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on
hia voire dire as follows :

By the CouRrT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. 1 have.

Q. In what way 1

A. By the developments of the trial of the conspirators at the arsenal.

Q. Are you under such a bias now as to be incapable of deciding according
tthe law and the evidence in this case, between the United States and the
Prisoner at the bar?

A. No, sir.

Q. Yoa think you are capable ?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of

tanital nnniahmant ?
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A. T do. T have been refused service on the jury over and over again on that
account.
The CotRT. You are excused.

GEORGE T. SHERIFF was called, and being duly sworn, was examiuned on his
voire dire as follows :

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar !

A. I bave.

Q. Iu what way ?

A. From the evidence.

Q. Are you incapable of deciding impartially between the United States and
the prisoner at the bar, on the evidence that might be brought before you in
thia caze?

A. The evidence would have to be very explicit to change my views.

Q. Do you believe that you conld not weigh the evidence impartially between
the government and the prisoner ?

A. I think I could provided it was explicit enongh.

Q. What I want to know ia this: whether, in weighing the evidence, your
mind could do justice to both sides ?

A. Tt would have to be more explicit on one side than the other.

The CorrT. I see you ar: biael. You are excused.

SaANMUEL BacoN was next called, but it being announced that he was confined
te his houze by sickness, hiz name was passed.

JouN ALEXANDER was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
“voire dire az follows :
By the Covrr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar!

A. I have.

Q. In what way?

A. From the testimony given on the conspiracy trials.

Q. Is the biss on your mind 20 strong az to render you incapable of deciding
impartially on the evidence between the United States and the prisoner at the
bar?

A, Yea sin

The CorrT. You are excuzed.

WiLtian Bevax was called. and being duly sworn. was examined on his
reicy dire as tollows:

Ry the Covrr:

Q. Have a:\m\:mui an opinion in regand to the guilt or innocence of the
taer at t !
an. 1 have,
Q. In what way !
A. From reading the evidence in the conspiracy trial.
. s that bias so stroug upen dour mind a¢ to render vou incapable of de-
elding tmpartially oun the evidence between the United States aud the prisoner

. st the bar?

b
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A. 1 think it is.
Excused.

Lot FLANNERY was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his roire
dire as followsa :

By the CotrT:
Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar?
A. I have.
Q. In what way?
A. From being present at the military trial.

Q. Is that bias so strong as to render you incapable of deciding impartially
at this time ?

A. It is, most undoubtedly.
Excused.

Patrick WHITE was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
roire dire as follows :

By the Courr:
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ! .
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How have you formed it ?
A. From the testimony given on the trial of the conspirators,
Q. Is that bias so strong a8 to render you incapable of rendering an impar-

tial verdict in this case between the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?
A Itis.

Excused.

WiLLiam J. MuRTAGH being called, was sworn and examined on his voire dire
as follows :

By the Coter:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
priconer at the bar?

A. I have.

Q. In what way?

A. From reading the testimony before the military commission.

Q. Is your mind so biased as to render you incapable of rendering an im-
partial verdict according to the law and the evidence ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of capital
punichment ? .

A. None whatever.

The CotrT. He is competent.

Mr. McrTAGH. I desire to state that I am a United States salaried officer,
and am, therefore, I presume, exempt under the law.

The CouRrT. Yes, if that is the case you are excused.

CuarLrs H. ArRMEs was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on
8 roire dire as follows :

By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the

Diasnor at tha har?
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A. T have not.

Q. Have you any conacientions scruples against the lawfulness of capital
punizhment ?

A. No, sir. .

Mr. BRADLEY. Are you a tax-payer!

A. Yes, &ir.

Challenged by the prisoner.

JAMES M. LATTA was called.

The CorrT. Dr. Johnson certifies that Mr. Latta has been confined to his house
yesterday by sickness, and is not able to be out.

JAMBS SMALL was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his roire
dire as follows :

By the Coter:

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner
at the bar in this case ?

A. T have not.

Q. Do you entertain any conacientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. I'do not. I wish to state, your honor, that I am not a tax-payer—that
. I am not the holder uf any real estate.
Q. Do you keep house ?
A. Yes, gir; I am a householder.
The CotreT. Yon are competent.

Challenged by the prisoner.

JoxaTeaN Kirgwoop was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on
his roire dire, as follows : ‘

By the Cotrr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner ?

A. T have.

Q. In what way?

A_ From the reports published of the proceedings in the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is that bias on your mind so strong as to render you incapable of decid:
ing imga.nially on the evidence ?

A. No. sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conacientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. I do not.

Challenged by the district attorney.

[Thiz challenge exhausted the number allowed to the United States, they
being allowed five and the prisoner twenty.]

Awnos HUNT was ealled, and being daly swomn, was examined on his soire A
dire as follows :
By the Counr:
Q. How old are you?
A. 1 will be 64 years old the 15th day of August.
Q. Have &:a ex‘n.ed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar
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A. No, sir; T know nothing about it.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions in regard to capital pun-
ishment?

A. No, sir.
Challenged by the prisoner.

JacoB RaMsBERG was called, and, being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar?

A. Nothing more than impression—not an opinion.

Q. Is that impression on your mind such as to render you incapable of ren-
dering an impartial verdict ?

A. I think not.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of capital
punishment?

A. I have not.

Challenged by the prisoner.

GeorGE CLENDENIN was called, and beingduly sworn, was examiued on his
voire dire as follows : ’

By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. T have.

Q. In what way ?

A. Unfavorable to the prisoner.

Q. What I meant was how you formed it ?

A, From the evidence.

Q. Is that impression or opinion of yours such as to render you incapable of
deciding impartially from the evidence ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment 1 :

A, No, sir. I would gay, sir, I would like to be excused on account of the
business in my office. Mr. Middleton knows what my duties are ; I am in charge
of the office at Glenwood Cemetery, and have to be there 365 days in the year.
My son, who assists me, is a witness on this trial.

The Cov:rT. That is necessary work, and entitles you to an excuse. You
are, therefore, relieved from attendauce here.

BenjamiN F. MORSELL was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on
his voire dire as follows :

By the CotRrrT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
Prigoner at the bar ?
A. T have.
Q. How did you form it ?
A I formed such an opinion as I suppose every man in the community has
"ho reads and thinks. f formed this opinion from reading and reflecting upon
evidence given on the trial of the conspirators.
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Q: 'Does 'that amount to' such a bias on your mind as to render you incapable
of an i::partial verdict between the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital ?uniehment 1

A. None at all.

Accepted and sworn.

JouN W. WRraAy was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the Cotrr :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the

prisoner at the bar 1
A. I have.

Q. How have you formed that opinion ? .

A. From the newspaper reports of the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Does that opinion amount to such a bias as to render you incapable of
doing impartial justice between the United States and the prisoner at the bar!

A. Yes, sir.

Excused.

JoHN MARBURY, JR., was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CourT :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. The impression was made on my mind at the time of the trial, and from
his guing away.

Q. Does that impression amount to such a bias of your mind as to render you
incapable of deciding impartially according to the law and the evidence ?

A. T think not.

Q. Have you any conscientious scruples against the lawfulness of capital pun-
ishment ?

A. T have not.

Challenged by the prisoner.

Epurain K. WHEELER was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on
his voire dire as follows :

By the CourT :

Q. Have you formed an opipion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How have you formed that opinion ?

A. From the newspaper reports of the conspiracy trial.

Q. Does that opinion amount to such a bias of your mind as to render you
incapable of doing impartial justice between the United States and the prisoner
at the bar?

A. I do not think it would.

Q. Have you any conacientious convictions against the lawfulness of capitsl
punichment ?

A. No, sir.

The CourT. He is a competent juror.

Challenged by the prisoner.
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C. M. Sioussa was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his roire
dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. I have.

Q. How did you form that opinion ?

A. From the evidence on the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Does that opinion amount now to such a bias as to render you incapable

of deciding impartially between the United States and the prisoner at the bar ?
A. It does.

Excused.

BeNsamiN Swarmy was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
roire dire as follows :

By the CourT:
Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prizoner at the bar?
A. T have.
Q. How did you form that opinion ?
A. From reading the evidence on the conspiracy trial.
Q. Does that opinion 8o bias your mind at this time as to render you incapas

ble of weighing impartially the evidence on this trial between the United State-
and the prisoner at the bar ?

A. Tt would require a great deal of evidence to remove it.

Q. You think it would require more evidence on one side than it would on
the other ?

A. Yes, sir.
Excused.

Apaym GADDIS, Jr., was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
toire dire as follows :

By the CourT :

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. I have.

Q. How did you form that opinion ?

A. From what I read of the evidence given on the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is that bias on your mind so strong at this time as to render you incapa-
]l)llxe %f;r giving an impartial verdict between the United States and the prisoner at

e bar ?

A. 1 think not. I think I could decide according to the evidence and the law.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
tapital punishment ? :

A. T do not.

By Mr. BrapLEY @ .
Q. Ts not your store on the road leading down to the Navy Yard bridge ?
A Yes, air.

| Q. Is it not a great place of resort for persons who live across the Eastern
ranch ?

A. Yes, sir.

I:Q' Has not this subject been greatly discussed in your store and in your
earine ?



108 TRIAL OF JOHN H., SURRATT.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And does that, together with what you have read, form the ground of
your opinion ?

A. Yes, sir.
mﬁ’y Have you not had conversations with persons who were witnesses on that

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did such conversations assist in forming your judgment ?

A. I do not know that they did.

Q. You have had conversations with witnesses on that trial,and how far they
have affected your judgment you do not know ?

A. T do not know particularly how far they have affected my judgment.

Mr. BrapLey. I submit that he is not a competent juror.

The CourT. He says there is no such bias on his mind as would render him
incapable of deciding impartially according to the law and the evidence.

Mr. BRabLEY. In ordinary cases I would have the utmost confidence in him,
for 1 bave known Mr. Gaddis all his life.

The CourT. I think he is a competent juror.

Challenged by the prisoner.

TuoMmas E. CLaRk was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q- Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the pris-
oner at the bar ?

A. T have.

Q. Did you form that opinion from the evidence elicited at the trial by the mili-
tary commission ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you such 2 bias on your mind at this time as to render you incapa-
ble of deciding impartially between the prisoner at the bar and the United States
on the evidence that might be brought before you ?

A. I feel that I have.

Excused.

WiLLIAM LorD was called, and being duly sworn was examined on his voire
dire as follows:

By the Count:

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner at
the bar?

3’ By rading th

. By ing the newspa ?

A. Nothing ffrtber. papess

Q. Is it such a bias on your mind as to render you incapable of impartially
deciding upon a verdict ?

A. T think not.

Q. Have you any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of capital
punishment ? :

A. None whatever.

Challenged by the prisoner.

HograTio BROWNING being called,

The CouaT said : Dr. Stone sends me a certificate certifying that Mr. Brown-
ing has been under his professional charge for many years past, and that the
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re of hia/¢omplaint ig Buch'as to render him wholly unfit to sit on any jury
xcused.

eNJAMIN E. GITTINGS was called, and being sworn, was examined on his
s dire as follows :

By the CourT:

. Have l)';ou formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
ner at the bar?

3 GiTTINGS., May it please your honor I have been summoned on the next
d jury.

heJCgIRT. I think this case takes priority of the grand jury.

. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
er at the bar ?

. Partially so, from the evidence I read in the papers of the trial that took
e down at the arsenal.

» Are you conscious of such a bias on your mind at this time as to render
incapable of coming to an impartial verdict according to the law and the
en;Te etween the United States and the prisoner at the bar?

. No, sir.

. Have you any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of capital
ishment ?

. Not a bit, sir.

'he CounT. He is a competent juror.

r. GitTiNGs. I hope the judge will excuse me. I am the only male about
store, and I have to open and close it every morning and evening.

{r. MERRICK. I would simply say to your honor that Mr. Gittings has one

he most enterprising wives in the city of Washington.

r. GITTINGS, (good-bumoredly.) I hope that will have no weight with the

orable court.

'he CourT. Mr. Gittings, this is a case in which the court feels justified in

aliog to the public spirit of the city. Citizens must make some personal

ifices for the public interest.

Ir. GiTTINGS. There are 8o many others here who can serve without any

it inconvenience to their business, that I hope your honor will consent to

use me.

"he CourT. I would be glad to do so, but you are so well qualified as a

yroan that I do not feel justified in doing so. There is no citizen who has
his private affairs to attend to. A man who has no business is not fit to be

uryman. I hope you will be able to make such an arrangement as will

‘e you from any loss.

Accepted and sworn

WitLiam M. GALT was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
ire dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
fisoner 7 )
A. T bave,
3. I suppose from the newspaper reports of the trial of the conspirators ?

- Yes, sir.
Q Are you conscious of such a bias on your mind at this time as to render
ot incapable of deciding impartially on the evidence between the United States
ud the prisoner at the bar ?
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AT think) Dhave(xot.
Challenged by the prisoner.

N. CLeary McKNEW was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CouRT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar ?

A. T have not.

Q- Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. I do not.

The Courr. He is competent.

Challenged by the prisoner.

LemueL Towers was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows :

By the CourT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner ?

A. T have.

Q. How?

A. From the proceedings of the trial of the conspirators, and from converss-
tions with officers on the trial.

Q. Have you such a bias on your mind as to render you incapable of deciding
iﬂxp%rtially om the evidence between the United States and the prisoner at

e bar?

A. I have no such bias. I believe I could give him a fair trial.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions against the lawfulness of
capital punishment ?

A. No sir.

By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q. How is your health ?

A. I am suffering a great deal with rheumatism. I will say here that I can
bring a surgeon’s certificate that my health is such as not to admit of my sitting
on a jury.

Q. Do you feel capable of going through a protracted trial? Is your health
such as to enable you to do so?

A. T think not.

Excused.

George T. LANGLEY was called.

The CourT. Dr. Howard certifies that Mr. Langley’s health is such as to
render it unsafe for him to sit as a juror. I take it the doctor’s certificateis
true, although I must say Mr. Langley’s appearance does not indicate it.

Mr. LANGLEY. I am a little flush just now.

GiLeert M. WiGHT was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on b
voire dire as follows:
By the Courr:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
priconer?
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A!/'T'have.

Q. How did you form that opinion?

A. From reading the evidence on the conspiracy trials.

Q. Are you conscious of having such a bias on your mind at this time as

would render you incapable of giving an impartial verdict between the United
States and the prisoner?

A. I do not think I could give such a verdict.
Excused.

AvausTus SCHNEIDER was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire diie as follows :

By the CourT:

. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
A y P g g
prisoner at the bar? .

A. I have.

Q. How? '

A. From reading the proceedings of the trial at the arsenal. T will here state
that there is another reason why I think I ought to be excused. I am at work
up in the post office, and there is nobody there except myself to attend to it. I

will bave to stop the work if I am required to sit as a juror here.
Excused.

RoserT M. CoMBS was called.

The CourT. The mayor certifies that Mr. Combs is one of the curporation
zeigh-mastere in the Sixth ward, and is at this time very much engaged in that
usiness.
The DisTriCT ATTORNEY. Isthat a good excuse, your honor? It is not made
%0 in the act.
The CourT. It is a public employment.
Excused.

CHARLES E. RITTENHOUSE was called.

The CovrT. Mr. Rittenhouse is subject to some infirmity that renders him
unfit to sit a8 a juror. I do not know what it is. He is excused.

JoserH G. WATERS was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
toire dire as follows:

By the CotrT:

Q. Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. T have.

Q. How did you form it?

A. From reading the proceedings of the trial of the conspirators.

Q. Have they left such an impression on your mind as to render you incapable

?15 rendering an impartial verdict between the United States and the prisoner at
e bar?

A. They have, to a certain extent. .
. Q. Does that bias go to such an extent that you could not weigh the evidence
Tupartially 1
A, It would ecertainly require a very large amount of evidence to get rid of
¢ impression left upon my mind.
The CourT. That is a bias. You are excused.
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WitLtiaM ‘W0 (BIrTH was called, and being duly sworn, was examined on his
voire dire as follows:

By the CourT:

Q, Have you formed an opinion in regard to the guilt or innocence of the
prisoner at the bar?

A. T have.

Q. How did you form it?

A. From reading the testimony in the conspiracy trial.

Q. Is the bias upon your mind so great as to render you incapable of weighing
the evidence in the case impartially?

A. I think not.

Q. Do you entertain any conscientious convictions as to the guilt or inno-
cence of the prisoner at the bar?

A. No, sir.

The CourT. He is a competent juror.

Mr. BirTH. I would suggest, your honor, that I am summoned on the next
grand jury.

The CouRrT. O, well, if you are sworn in this case it will be a good excuse
for getting off from service there. The other court would hardly expect you
to serve there if you are engaged here.

Mr. Birth wae then accepted.

T'he DisTrIcT ATToRNEY. I would state, your honor, that we wish in this
case to pursuc the course, ordinarily adopted in sach cases, of having the eleven
jurors sworn now, and the twelfth remain unsworn until Monday morning, in
order that the jury may be allowed to separate and be at liberty on to-morrow,
(Sabbath,) and thue be able to make such arrangements as they may desire before
entering upon the trial on Monday.

Mr. BrabpLey. That is all very well if we had not understood from our learned
brothers that, unless the whole panel was sworn in to-day, there is no panel;
that the case is not made up. We learn from them that that is their interpreta-
tion of the law, and. therefore, if they should succeed in maintaining that view,
this week’s work will be lost unless this jury is eworn in before Monday. We
" can agree among ourselves very readily that there may be a recess from now
until some time this evening, when the jury can be sworn in. Bat unless that is
done—unless the panel is made complete—if your honor will look at the statutes
you will find that these gentlemen will accomplish in this way just what they
would have accomplished by their motion which has been denied. 'I'o acquiesece
in the suggestion of the learned district attorney will defeat all the work of the

ast week.

P Mr. PigrrePONT. If your honor please, this question was up before Judge
Fisher, and the conclusion he then announced from the bench, and which I su
posed was concurred in by counsel on both sides, was this, “ That should the
Jjury be sworn in before the meeting of the next term, to wit, 10 o’clock on Mon-
day morning, it was all that was required.” ‘T'bat is the view then expressed,
as 1 understood, and, I repeat, concurred in by counsel an both sides. The
jurors, therefore, being obtained, let the swearing in of the twelfth one be de-
ferred until Monday morning, and thus will the uecessity of keeping the jury
together over Sunday be avoided.

Mr. Mergick. If your honor please, I think my learned brother is in error
as to the conclusions to which the judge and counsel came. I say this with all
due respect. It wae suggested when Judge Fisher was on the bench that the
time was very much limited within which to get a jury, Saturday night beiog
fixed as the extent of that limitation. I suggested that at common law, as !
understood it, a session of the court or a term of the court never ended until the
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first 'day' of ‘the succeeding 'term, and tbat the court ought to be called on the
first day of the succeeding term as of the old term, and I believe that to be the
rule, that this court may be called on Mouday morning. There is great doubt,
however, as to what may be done by the court on that first day of the new term
acting as of the old term, and I find that the general rule is that nothing can be
done except the mere correction of its records as of the old term; that you can-
not then enter upon new business. Now, the swearing of the twelfth juror be-
ing the completing of the panel, would be the entering upon the case anew, and
the act of Congress says that the case can only go on where a new term inter-
vencs during its progress—where the jury has been impanelled, and it is neces-
aug, therefore, to complete the empanelling in order to get rid of the question
of doubt in reference to the matter. It certainly is expedient that the panel
should be completed to-day.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, our only object is, if pos-
sible, to avoid keeping the jury unnecessarily in confinement over Sunday. I
would suggest, sir, that we might adjourn this court over to meet at 9 o’clock
on Monday morning, in order to meet the view of the gentlemen.

Mr. Merrick. Yes; but at common law you cannot divide a day.

The DisTRicT ATTORNEY. I am distinct in my recollection that Judge
Fisher

Mr. Mereick. You made a similar suggestion to Judge Fisher, and he gaid
langhingly that you might even sit on Sunday ; that he would sit right straight
through

Mr. PierrEPONT. Could not this court be adjourned to Sunday night? It
seems to me that if we can avoid keeping this jury over Sunday it would be
well to do so.

The CourT. Bunday is a “ dies non juridicus.”’

Mr. PierreEPONT. Well, sir, we will agree to anything that is proper by which
this jury can have their freedom on Sunday.

Mr. BeabLey. If the gentlemen will agree that the prisoner can consent to the
jury separating after being sworn until Monday morning, there will be no diffi-
culty whatever in accommodating the jury in the way of which the gentleman
ﬁh. Their doctrine, however, is that the prisoner can consent to nothing ;

by the most formal stipulations he cannot waive any of his rights. We
apprehend, therefore, that difficulty may arise in the event of the jury separat-
ing without being sworn. I do not see how the end which the gentleman says
he aims at, of giving the jurors time to make necessary arrangements for sitting
on the trial, can be obtained otherwize than by letting the jurors go now until
9 or 10 o’clock to-night, and then resuming the session of the court at that time
to have them sworn in.

The CourT. I would like to see the language of the act.

Mr. PierrepoNT. I supposed the proposition we made could not by any pos-
sibility work against the prisoner.

Mr. BRADLEY. I am not quite sure, if your honor pleases, who is to preside
over the trial of this case; and what his view may%e of the question to-day
made by the gentlemen, I do not know ; and we donot think it proper to run any
risk about this matter. The prisoner is now upon his trial; a jury has been
selected, and is ready to be empanelled ; and the law says unless it is empan-
elled before the next term, the case shall be continued.

Mr. PirREPONT. We have no other object in view than the securing for
these jurors the privilege of separating until Monday. Any mode which may
be ted that will accomplish that object we will readily adopt.

Mr. Mexrick. We are a8 desirous as the gentleman can be, of accommodating
the jury, but we do not wish to embarrass the proceedings in the case.

8
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Mr//BrADLEY.) I'd0 'not/ see how we can bind the United States to any such
stipulation as is proposed.

The DistricT ATToRNEY. The language of the law is this :

Mr. PigrREPONT. So far as I can understand, the panel has now been formed,
and I cannot see why, under that statute, the panel having been formed, the
court cannot adjourn ; but of course that is a matter for your gonor to determine.

Mr. BRADLEY. Does my learned brother mean to say that a jury is empao-
elled in a cause before it is sworn ?

Mr. PikrrEPONT. It is generally sworn in connection with it.

Mr BrapLey. There is no panel in this particular case.

Mr. MerRick. When is a jury empanelled 7

Mr. PicreePoNT. That is the question.

Mr. MeRrrick. The jury cannot be said to be empanelled until the last man
is sworn upon the jesue. ’

Mr. PigrreroNT. I do not waat to appear or claim to be at all learned upon
the technical question as to when a jury is and when it is not empauelled, but
my own imgression is that when a jury is ordered into their seats, the panel
is completed. The swearing of them is proceeded with in different ways in
different courts. In some courts they are sworn separately, and in others again
they are all sworn together.

The CourT. We have always understood here, I think, that the jury is re-
garded as empanelled after the clerk pronounces the words:  Gentlemen of
the jury, stans together and hear the evidence.” That closes the empanelling
of the jury.

Mr. Bradley read from Wharton’s Criminal Laws as follows: ¢ Until the jury
are all sworn, as has been already noticed, it is not necessary that they should
be kept together. They are not empanelled until the whole jury is sworn.”

The Court. I think the best way under this law is to have the jury empan-
elled without delay. »

Mr. BrabLEY. I suggest to your honor that we might take a recess until ten
o’clock to-night, and then swear in the last juror. |

The CourT. If agreeable to counsel the court will make that order.

The DisTRICT ATTORNEY. If your honor please, attachments were issued
against Messrs. George H. Plant and William P. Dole. Those gentlemen are
now in court; what shall be done with them? :

The CourT. O, we are so happily through, now, that I am not disposed to
punish them. They are discharged.

After an order for the discharge of all jurors who had been summoned and
not called, the court took a recess till ten o’clock p. m.

EVENING SESSION.

The court reassembled at ten o'clock, evening, in the circuit court room,
pursuant to adjournment at half past one o’clock.

The prisoner having been brought into court, Judge Wylie announced the
fact, ans asked the counsel if they had any proposition to make. !
TLe jurors were then called, and Mr. Birth, the twelfth juror, was about to

be sworn, when Mr. Pierrepont said he did not know what conclusion had been
arrived at in reference to a stipulation allowing the jury to separate. 1
The CourrT said he knew nothing of a stipulation, and could only pass upon ;
such agreement as was consented to by counsel.
Mr. PigrrEPONT 8aid there seemed to be a doubt in the mind of the district
attorney whether the jury could separate after huving been empanelled ins
murder trial.
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dr. BRADLEY said the whole subject was a matter of agreement hetween coun-
and he proposed to read a stipulation that the defence had offered.

Che CourT said he had no desire to hear it, because all parties must first

ee, and it was for the court to decide what had been agreed upon.

fr. Merrick said the defence desired to have the last juror sworn, and then

dlow the jurors to separate until Monday morning.

Che CourT said he did not wish to hear the contents of any agreement,

ess it had been consented to on all sides.

fr. BRADLEY asked if the counsel should agree that the jury should be dis-

rged, whether such agreement would meet the approval of the court.

Che CourT said he was clearly of the opinion that, under the act of Con-

18, the jury must be empanelled and sworn. The act uses the word
elled, but the panel is not completed until the jury is sworn. The word
elled was a technical word, but it had evidently been used by the lJawmaker
ts proper sense, and it is therefore necessary that all the jurors shall be sworn.
Ir. Birth, the twelfth juror selected, was then sworn.

[r. BuaDLEY said that, with the permission of the court, he would submit a
ion that the indictment should not be read, or the jury fully charged in the
, until Monday morning, and that some stipulation be agreed upon whereby
jury should be discharged.

'he counsel for the prosecution wrote out a stipulation to the effect that the
* might be discharged until Monday morning, with the consent of the court,
without prejudice to either party.

[r. BRADLEY 8aid they could no! consent to that. The defence offered a
nlation that the same jury should be retained, and that there should be no
udice to either party, in order that some of the questions that had heretofore
aged the attention of the court might again arise. The defence made the
t, and it was for the prosecution to accept or reject.

[r. PIERREVONT paid the defence shonls accept the proposition of the pro-
ition, or the whole question was at an end.

[r. MERRICK said the prosecution had so modified the stipulation submitted
the defence as to make much difference. Under the stipulation offered by
prosecution the whole subject may be brought up, and the court may be asked
£t anew.

[r. PIERREPONT 8aid the stipulation of the prosecution was that, if the court
sented, the jury might separate without prejudice to either party.

fr. BRADLEY eaid the defence stipulated in such a way as to prevent the
stion from being reopened, while the stipulation of the prosecution leaves the
sle subject open.

The CourT said it appeared counsel could not agree, and he would, there-
5, put the jury in charge of the bailiff.

dr. PIERREPONT said the stipulation offered by the defence covered a great
1 The prosecution was willing to stipulate that the jury should separate,
. they could not agree to waive their exception to the mode of empanelling
‘jury. They were willing to take this jury, however.

Ur. BRADLEY said the prosecution, it appeared, were willing to take this jury,
- sroposed to raise the question of the legality of the panel. It was this that

efence wanted to prevent, as they desired not to open the question of the

ity of the panel on Monday.

The Courr said, he understood that the prosecution was not willing to waive
exception they had taken to the empane‘l)ling of the jury.

{r. PierrEPONT said he would state candidly that the prosecution desired
jary, as they believed them to be good and fair men, and that was all they
wanted. If, on Monday, it should appear to the court that the jury was not
lly empanelled, Judge Cartter, who would be here at that time, could dis-
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charge the jury, and immediately subpeena them over. They would agree to
any reasonable stipulation; but they wanted all things doue fairly, as the trial
promised to be a long and tedious one.

Mr. MERRICK argued that to make the trial lestl the jury should be em-
panelled to-night. On Monday Judge Cartter would open the June term of the
criminal court, and it was necessary that the jury should be empanelled at this
term.

Mr. BRADLEY said that the whole action of the prosecution seemed to look as
though an appeal was to be taken from the decision of Judge Fisher aud Judge
Wylie to Chief Justice Cartter, and it was to prevent all objection on Monday
that the defence desired to have an explicit stipulation consented to. If the
prosecution desired to have the jury separate, they could agree to that stipula-
tion. '

The DiSTRICT ATTORNEY said it seemed to him that the stipulation of the
United States was perfectly fair, namely : That the jury separate until Monday
without prejudice to the rights of either party.

Mr. BRapLEY. What objection have you to our stipulation? We have not
heard it yet.

Assistant District Attorney WiLson. We have an exception on file to the
empanelling of the jury. The other side asks us to deprive ourselves of that
advantage.

Mr. BrabrLey. We will accept that, and will modify our proposition in that
way, but not deprive ourselves of the right of the trial by jury.

Mr. Mergick was willing to say that the terms of the stipulation were not to
apply to any exception taken by the United States, or appeal to the court in
general term.

Mr. PiRRRRPONT. If you are willing to let the jury separate, and the case
stands as it does now until Monday, this atipulation covers it.

Mr. BRADLEY. Counsel on the other side have stated their object to be to rave
this exception. If there is anything else to save, let us know.

Mr. PIERREPONT. We only wish to give the jury the benefit of a separation.
We don’t wish either party to waive any right.

Mr. MEerrick. The gentleman stated the question about the empanelling of
the jury which Judge Cartter may entertain on Monday ; but there was no ex-
ception Judge Cartter could entertain. It could only be entertained by thecourt
in general term.

Mr. PierrePoNT. I have no doubt about that.

o Mr. MegRick. The gentleman said the exception might come before Judge
artter.

Mr. PigrreEPONT. I said whoever might preside ; and to avoid any question
about the mode of empanelling the jury, we are ready to stipulate that this same
jury ehall contiuue to be the jury : but we did not want to have the question e
tirely out of the way.

Mr. BrapLEY. It is imposcible to come to an accommodation with such
diverse views. We want the jury to go home without reservations or questions
as to the empanelling.

t?

tment read.
wceordingly read 0

the prisoner pleads
| country you are.
iparate till Mondsy
lege for the jury.
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Messrs. PregrRePoNT and CArriNGTON. We don't object. We offered the
stipulation.

Mr. BeapLey. Nothing like it. .

The CovrT. By consent of counsel on both sides, the jury will be permitted
to separate. The clerk will enter this upon the record. To the jury: Be here,
gentlemen, on Mouday morning at ten o’clock. I do not know that I shall have
the pleasure of seeing you. The jury are admonished to avoid conversation with
anybody on the subject of this canse. If you are thus approached, you should
regard it as a personal indignity. I am inclined to think that under the act of
Congress this termis extended. I shall not, therefore, order the court adjourned
in couree, but adjourned until Monday morning at ten o’clock.

The court was accordingly adjourned.

Moxpay, June 18, 1867.
CriminaL CourT— Associate Justice Fisher, presiding.

The court was opened at ten o’clock, when the clerk proceeded to call the
names of the jurors empanelled on Saturday, when they all responded.

Mr. BRADLEY, Jr., then rose and said : < May it please your honor, before the
district attorney proceeds to open the case to the jury, I desire to present an
application to the court in behalf of the prisoner, in reference to the procuration
of his witnesses.”

The paper was then read, as follows :

To the honorable the justice of the supreme court of the District of Columbia,
holding the criminal court for March term, 1867:

The petition of John H. Surratt shows that he has now been put on his trial
in a capital case in this court; that he has exhausted all his means, and such
farther means as have been furnished him by the liberality of his friends, in pre-
paring for his defence, and he is now unable to procure the attendance of his wit-
nesces. He therefore prays your honor for an order that process may issue to
summon his witnesses, and to compel their attendance, at the cost of the govern-
ment of the United States, according to the statute in such.case made and pro-
vided.

JOHN H.SURRATT.

Sworn to in open court, this 17th June, 1867.

Test : R. J. MEIGS, Clerk.

Mr. BRaoLEY. We merely submit the motion now; your honor can determine
upon it in the progress of the cause.

The CourT. Very well; your petition, however, I will remark, it seems to
me ought to indicate the witnesges that you desire, and where they reside. I
may be mistaken in that respect, however.

Mr. BeapLiy. If the application is granted, of course we will have the order
drawn up 8o as to conform to the requirements of the statute.

The CourT. Gentlemen, are you now ready to proceed with the case ?

Mr. BeapLeEY. We are, sir.

Mr. CarRINuTON 8aid the assistant district attorney would open the case.

Mr. NaTaaNIBL WILSON, assistant district attorney, then addressed the jury
a follows :

May it please your honor and gentlemen of the jury, you are doubtless aware

it is customary in criminal cases for the prosecution, at the beginning of a
trial, to inform the jury of the nature of the offence to be inquired into, and of
the proof that will be offered in support of the charges of the indictment. By
making such a statement I hope to aid you in clearly ascertaining the work
that is before us, and in apprebending the relevancy and significance of the
tstimony that will be produced as the case proceeds.
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The grand " jury of the District of Columbia have indicted the prisoner at the
bar, John H. Surratt, as one of the murderers of Abraham Lincoln. It has
become your duty to judge whether he be guilty or iunocent of that charge—a
duty than which one more solemn or momentous never was committed to human
intelligence. You are to turn back the leaves of history to that red page on
which is recorded in letters of blood the awful incidents of that April night on
which the assassin’s work was done on the body of the Chief Magistrate of the
American republic—a night on which for the firat time in our existence as a na-
tion a blow was struck with the fell purpose of destroying not only human life,
but the life of the nation, the life of liberty itself. Though more than two
years have passed by since then, you scarcely need witnesses to describe to
you the scene in Ford’s theatre as it was visible in the last hour of the Presi-
dent’s conscious life. It has been present to your thoughts a thousand times
gince then. A vast audience were assembled, whose hearts were throbbing with
a new joy, born of victory and peace, and above them the object of their grati-
tude and reverence—he who had borne the nation’s burdens through many and
disastrous years—=zat tranquil and at rest at last, a victor indeed, but a victor in
whose generous heart triumph awakened no emotions save those of kindliness,
of forgivenees, and of charity. To him, in that hour of supreme tranquillity,
to him in the charmed circle of friendship and affection, there came the form of
sudden and terrible death. .

Persons who were then present will tell you that at about twenty minutes
ﬁast ten o’clock that night, the night of the 14th of April, 1865, John Wilkes

ooth, armed with pistol and knife, passed rapidly from the front door
of the theatre, ascended to the dress circle, and entered the President’s box. By
the discharge of a pistol he inflicted a death wound, then leaped upon the stage,
and passing rapidly across it, disappeared into the darkness of the night.

We sha.lf prove to your entire satisfaction, by competent and credible wit-
nesses, that at that time the prisoner at the bar was then present aiding and
abetting that murder, and that at twenty minutes past ten o’clock that night he
was in front of that theatre in company with Booth. You shall hear what he
then said and did. You shall know that his cool and calculating malice was
the director of the bullet that pierced the brain of the President and the kuife
that fell upon the face of the venerable Secretary of State. You shall know
that the prisoner at the bar was the contriver of that villany, and that from the
presence of the prisoner, Booth, drunk with theatric passion and traitorous hate,
rushed directly to the execution of their mutunal will.

We shall further prove to you that their companionship upon that occasion was
not an accidental nor an unexpected one, but that the butchery that ensued was
the ripe result of a long premeditated plot, in which the prisoner was the chief
conspirator. It will be proved to you that he is a traitor to the government that
protected him; a spy in the employ of the enemies of his country in the years
1864 and 1865 passed repeatedly from Richmond to Washington, from Wash-
ington to Canada, weaving the web of his nefarious scheme, plotting the over-
throw of this government, 4he defeat of its armies, and the slaughter of his coun-
trymen ; and as showing the venom of his intent—as showing a mind insensible
to every moral obligation and fatally bent on mischief—we shall prove his
gleeful boasts that during these journeys he had shot down in cold blood weak
and unarmed Union soldiers fleeing from rebel prisons. It will be proved to you
that he made his home in this city the rendezvous for the tools and agents in
what he called his * bloody work,” and that his hand provided and deposited at
Surrattsville, in a convenient place, the very weapons obtained by Booth while
escaping, one of which fell or was wrenched from Bootlh’s death-grip at the mo-
ment of his capture.
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While 'in Montreal, Canada, where he had gone from Richmond, on the 10th
of April, the Monday before the assassination, Surratt received a summons from
his co-conspirator, Booth, requiring his immediate presence in this city. Inobe-
dience to that preconcerted signal ie at once left Canada, and arrived here on the
13th. By numerous, I had almost said a multitude of witnesses, we shall make
the proof to be as clear as the noon-day sun, and as convincing as the axioms of
truth, that he was here during the day of that fatal Friday, as well as present at
the theatre at night, as I have before stated. We shall show him to you on
Peansylvania avenue booted and spurred, awaiting the arrival of the fatal mo-
ment. We shall show him in conference with Herold in the evening ; we shall
show him tgurchasing a contrivance for disguise an hour ortwo before the murder.

‘When the last blow had been struck, when he had done his utmost to bring
aparchy and desolation upon his native land, he turned his back upon the abomi-
nation he had wrought, he turned his back upon his home and kindred, and com-
menced his shuddering flight. '

We shall trace that flight, because in law flight is the criminal’s inarticulate
confeasion, and because it happened in this case as it always happens, and always
must happen, that in some moment of fear or of elation or of fancied security, he,
too, to others, confessed his guilty deeds. He fled to Canada. We will prove
to you the hour of his arrival there, and the ronte he took. He there found safe
concealment, and remained there several months, voluntarily absenting himself
from his mother. In the following September he again took flight. Still in dis-
guise, with painted face and painted hair and painted hand, he took ship to cross
the Atlantic. In mid-ocean he revealed himself and related his exploits, and
spoke freely of his connection with Booth in the conspiracy relating to the Presi-
dent. He rejoiced in the death of the President; he lifted his impious hand to
heaven and expressed the wish that he might live to return to America and serve
Andrew Johnson as Abraham Lincoln had been served. He was hidden for a
time in England, and found there sympathy and hospitality ; but soon was made
again an outcast and a wanderer by his guilty secret. From England he went
to Rome, and hid himself in the ranks of the Papal army in the guise of a private
toldier. Having placed almost the diameter of the globe between himself and
the dead body o% his victim, he might well fancy that pursuit was baffled ; but
by the happening of one of those events which we sometimes call accidents, but
vhich are indeed the mysterious means by which Omniscient and Omnipotent Jus-
tice reveals and punishes the doers of evil, he was discovered by an acquaintance
of hia boyhood. When denial would not avail he admitted his identity, and
avowed his guilt in these memorable words : « I have done the Yankees as muck
harm as I conld. We have killed Lincoln, the niggers friend.” The man to whom
Surratt made this statement did as it was his high duty to do—he made known
his discovery to the American minister. There is no treaty of extradition with
the Papal States ; but so heindus is the crime with which Surratt is charged,

tuch bad notoriety had his name obtained, that his Holiness the Pope and Car-
dinal Antonelli ordered his arrest without waiting for a formal demand from the
dmerican government. Having him arrested, he escaped from his guards by a
leapdown a precipice—aleap impossible to any but one to whom conscience made
lfe valueless. He made his way to Naples, and then took passage in a steamer
that carried him across the Mediterranean sea to Alexandria, in Egypt. He was
Pursued, not by the *“ bloodbounds of the law” that seem to hannt the imagina-
liou of the prisoner’s counsel, but by the very elements, by destruction itself,
made a hond-slave in the service of justice. The iaexorable lightning thrilled
tlong the wires that stretch through the waste of waters that roll between the
shores of Italy and the shores of Egypt, and spoke in his ear its word of terrible
tommand, am{ from Alexandria, aghast and manacled he was made to turn his face
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towards'the land he-had pollated by the curse of marder. He is here at last to
be tried for his crime.

- And when the facts which I have stated have been proved, as proved they
assuredly will be if anything is ever proved by human testimony ; and whenall
the subterfuges of the defence have been disproved, as disproved they assuredly
will be, we, having done our duty in farnishing you with that proof of the pris-
oner’s guilt, in the name of the civilization he has dishonorecr, in the name of
the country he has betrayed and disgraced, in the name of the law he has vio-
lated and defied, shall demand of you that retribution, though tardily, shall yet
be surely done, upon the shedder of innocent and precious blood.

Mr. Bradley, er., 8aid the defence would reserve their opening remarks to the
jury.

MY o X et ny e



EVIDENCE.

Mox~vay, June 17.
et at 10 a. m.

'ARNES, Surgeon General United States army, residence Wash-
8 sworn and examined as follows :

DISTRICT ATTORNEY :
1 acquainted with Abraham Lincoln, late President of the United

u called in your official capacity to visit him about the 14th of
If =0, state where it was, and what his condition was at the

led to vigit him on the night of the 14th of April. I found
;dthe effect of a gunshot wound in the head. I remained with
ere that was ?

‘eterson’s, on the west side of 10th street, opposite Ford’s theatre.
the number of the house.

oon and describe fully and accurately the character of the
iether, in your opinion, that wound caused his death.

entered the sculf to the left of the middle line, and below the
ar. It ranged forward and upward toward the right eye, lodg-
If an inch of that organ. That wound was the cause of his
ed until twenty minutes past seven on the morning of the 15th.
ascious at any time after receiving the wound.

u present when he died ?

: not in the theatre that night ?

: Mr. Peterson’s, on 10th street, I understand you to say, where
1 to sec him, in this city ?

n present at the post mortem examination ?

upon the post mortem examination you digcovered any new fact
it important to state to the jury, or whether it eimply confirmed
ef that the wound was the cause of his death ?
! mortem examination merely confirmed my opinion of the night
the gunshot wound was the cause of his death.
re present at Mr. Peterson’s house at the time you were first

e, Dr. Licberman, Dr. Tafte, Dr. Ford, some members of the
me officers of the army.

examine the bullet ?

wt not with the view of ever recognizing it again.’

give some gencral dercription of it ?

I can give a general description.

a0t know that you would be able to identify the particular bullet
gce it again ?
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Q. Can'you express an opinion as to what sort of an instrument this was in-
dicted with ?

A. I call it a gunshot wound, as we do all injuries inflicted by projectiles.

Q. Can you give us any opinion as to the character of the instrument, whether
it was large or small ?

A. I think it was a wound from a pistol ball, at a very short range.

No cross-examination.

James M, WeiGHT, chief clerk Bureau of Military Justice, residence Wash-
ington, sworn and examined. '

By the DiSTRICT ATTORNRY :

Q. Will you examine the package on the desk before you, and state if the
articles contained therein were placed in your official custody; and if so, by
whom and when, and whether they have been in your official custody from the
time you received them until now ? !

A. These articles belong to the government, and have been in my official
custody ever since the records of the conspiracy trial were sent to the office.
These are exhibits which were then given in evidence. They are all marked.
Here is a ball, and here iz a part of the skull, (witness removing paper coveriag
around the articles as he referred to them.) This is the pistol that came along
with the other articles.

By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q. Who put these things in your custody ?

A. Judge Holt. They came from the War Department, I believe, after the
decigion of the commission was promulgated.

Q. Were the packages when you received them sealed up or open?

A. They were all open just as they are now. They have various marks o
the back of them which I never read.

JoserH K. BARNES, re-called.

By the DisTRICT ATTORNEY : 1

Q. Will you examine these two exhibits (handing witness certain articles e
closed in paper covering) and state if you ever saw them before. If so, whe
and where, aud under what circumstances ?

A. T recognize in one of these papers a fragment of bone that was taken ot
of Mr. Lincoln’s head on the morning of the 15th of April, by Dr. Wood'l!‘c
in the presence of Dr. Stone and myself. This in the other paper (holding i
his hand a small piece of lead) I recognize most positively as the shred of led
that was found just inside of the wound, on the edge, and taken away by s
This (holding up a leaden ball) resembles most closely the ball. I could have
described it 8o that you could have recognized it from its flattened curled edges §
That was found in the position I have described, behind the orbit of the right 3
eye, and buried in the brain.

Q. Did you see the pistol there ? )

A. I know the kind of pistol. I never saw this one here. That is the balk.:
however, for a pistol of this size. [

Q. That ball resembles in appearance the one which you saw taken from
Mr. Lincoln’s head ? |

A. Yes, sir. This is very much discolored. I made a cut upon this h‘o%
because it is made of very much denser lead than is generally used in balls. I8
is made of brittannia rather than lead. ,

Q. Do you see that cut now ? 1

A. I do not recognize it, it is 8o much discolored. I made no private madé;
on the ball. :

d

i
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Q. Suppose you state now whether that is hardened lead or not. See if there
is any mark upon it?
A. Not to my eye, I cannot detect any.
Q.? Was there any mark put upon it at the time of the post mortem examina-
tion
A. Not that I know of.
By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q. Did I understand you to say you cut this ball?

A. T merely touched it with my knife. It has become black since then.
Q. You didY not make any incision ?

A. No, sir.

By Mr. WiLsoN :

Q. Who made the post mortem examination ?

A. Dr Woodward of the army, my assistant, made it by my orders.
- Q. You were present ? ’

A. Yes, sir; and Dr. Stone was present also.

“ WiLLiam F. KeNT, residence Eighth strcet east, near D, Washington, sworn
‘s examined.
By the DISTRICT ATTORNEY :
Q. ‘Were you at Ford’s theatre in this city on the night of the 14th of April,
1865 ?
~A. I was.
ith. Examine this pistol and state whether you ever saw it before, or one sim-
to it ?
A. I think it is the same pistol I picked up in the box the President occu-
mdduring the night of the 14th of April. I was present during the play ;
the shot ; saw the man jump out of the President’s box ; and I ran round
from the parquette to the entrance of the President’s box, which I entered.
When I entered it there were two men present, who were in the act of lifting the
President out of his chair and placing him on the floor. Some one helped a
wrgeon up from the stage, and he asked if any one present had a penknife. I
banded him mine, and with that he cut the President’s clothes open, examined
the body, and tarned him over to see where the wound was. Not discovering
sy on his body, be run his hand round his head, and then said, “ Here is the
“wound ;" “ here is where he is shot,” or words to that effect. After they had
euried him out of the theatre, I went out also. As I was about to go into my
boarding-house—I was then boarding on E street, near the theatre—I missed
‘mykeys. Thinking that in pulling out my penknife I might have pulled out
the keys with it, and dropped them in the box, I turned and went back to the
theatre, and entered the box again. It was then pretty dark, they having turred
all the gas, and I could not see. In moving round in the box, I knocked
my foot against something bard on the floor. I stooped down and picked u
What proved to be this pistol. It was lying close to the outside of the box.
ilnmegi:otely beld it up, and exclaimed, I have found the pistol.” Some per-
son present told me to give it to the police. I did not see any there. Just then
aman who represented himself as Mr. Gobright, agent of the associated press,
came up, and being vouched for by several persons, I gave the 'Bistol to him.
The next morning I identified the pistol at the police station. is is appar-
ently the same pistol, as far as I can judge from the appearance of it. 1t was
about the lengtg of this one.
No cross-examination.
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HEeNRY R RATHBONE, brevet lieutenant colonel in the regular army, and
assistant adjutant general of volunteers, residence Albany, New York, sworn and
examined.

By the DisTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. Did you know the late Abraham Lincoln, President of the United States ?
If so, state whether you saw Lim on the evening of the 14th of April, 1865,
where you saw him that evening, and all that occurred from that time until he
received his death wound.

A. I was well acquainted with the late President Lincoln, and was present
with him ou the night of the assassination.

Q. State all that then occurred.

A. On the evening of the 14th of Aprii, at about twenty minutes past eight,
I, in company with Miss Harris, left my residence at the corner of Fifteenth and
H streets, joined the President and Mrs. Lincoln, and went with them in their
carriage to Ford’s theatre, on Tenth street. When we reached the theatre and
the presence of the President became known, the actors stopped playing, the
band struck up “ Hail to the Chief,” and the audience rose and received them
with vociferous cheering. The party proceeded along in the rear of the dress
circle to the box which had been set apart for their reception. On enteringthe
box there was a large arm-chair placecf nearest the audience, and furthest from
the stage, which the President took and occupied during the whole of the eve-
ning with one exception, when he rose and put on his coat. He immediately
after, however, resumed his former position. When the second scene of the third
act was being performed, and while I was intently observing the performance on
the stage, I heard the report of a pistol from behind me, and on looking round
saw dimly through the smoke the form of a man between the President and the
door. I heard him shriek out nome such word a8 “ Freedom.” He uttered it
in such an excited tone that it was difficult for me to understand what be said
I immediately sprung towards him and seized him. He wrested himself from
my grasp, and at the same time made a violent thrust at me with a large knife
I parried the blow by striking it up, and received it on my left arm, between
the elbow and shoulder, and reccived a deep wound. 'T'he man sprung towards
the front of the box. I rushed after him, but only succeeded in catching his
clothes as he was leaping over the railing of the box. I think I succeeded id
tearing his clothing as he was going over. I instantly cried out,  Stop that
man.” I then looked towards the President. His position had not changed,
except that his head was slightly bowed forward and his eyes were ¢
Seeing that he was insensible, and believing him to be mortally wounded, I
rushed to the door for the purpose of getting medical aid. I found the door
barred with a piece of woodl,l a heavy piece of plank, which was resting agaimt
the wall and againet the centre of the door, abont four feet from the floor. The
people on the outside were beating against it. With some difficulty I removed
the bar, and those who were there came in. When I returned into the boxI
found that they were examining the person of the President, but had not yet
found the wound. When it had been discovered it was determined to remov

him from the theatre, and I with some assistants went with Mrs. Lincoln tothe -

house on Tenth street opposite the theatre.

Q. Will you state your relative positions? Iu the first place, who werein
the box occupied by the President besides yourself?

A. President Lincoln. Mrs. Lincoln, and Mies Harris. President Lincoln was
gitting at that part 6f the box furthest from the stage and nearest the audieace.
Mrs. Lincoln was sitting nearest to him.

Q. Toward the front of the box ?

A. Yes, sir ; sume two feet distant, probably. Miss Harris was next to her,
and I a little in the rear.
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Q. Did you get a good look at the man who fired the pistol ?
A. Idid not; I on% 7 saw him dimly through the smoke.

Q. You would not be able to identify him ?

A. No, sir.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. Did you examine this plank that you speak of !

A. Not carefully. .

Q. Did you observe to see how it was fixed ?

A. I merely know that it barred the door and rested against the wall, and
against the centre of the door, and that I removed it with difficulty, so securely
was it fixed.

Q. Do you know whether there was any niche in the wall ?

A. Idid not notice.

Q. Nor how it was fastened against the door?

A. No, sir. .

The court here took a recess for half an hour.

AFTERNOON SESSION.

Josern B. STEWART, residence Westchester county, New York, sworn and
tumined.

By the DisTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. You have resided in Washingtou city ?

A. I resided in Washington city for a time.

Q. And practiced at this bar ?

A. And practiced at this bar in this court; yes, sir.

Q. State to the jury whether you were at Ford’s theatre, in this city, on the
night of the 14th of April, 1865. If so, state your position at the time, and
everyihing that occurred there under your observation, connected with the as-
tusination of the late President of the United States.

A. I was at Ford’s theatre on the night of the 14th of April. I went in
empany with my sister, or sister-in-law, and two other ladies. I occupied four
seats directly in front of the orchestra. To illustrate what I want to say : the
theatre is divided by two aisles one on the left and one on the right. I was
sated in the lefi-hand corner chair (looking towards the stage) on the right-
band aisle. The four seats I had taken would commence with the corner; I
occupying the corner seat, and the three on my left. I was just in a position
where I could see everything on the stage, and off at an angle could see the
President and the company who were with him. A young lady sat next him,
#d then a gentleman who I knew to be Major Rathbone. I believe Mrs.
Lincoln sat next. They were in a second-tier box, and just in a position where
Iconld see from the breast up, of the President, and the upper portion of the
breast and face of the other persons in the box. I frequently noticed the box
daring the performance, and more than once had occasion'to remark on the
presence of the President, and his appearance. " At the moment of tae oc-
emrence I am about to state, there was a pause, a sort of interlude, when, while
not looking straight at the box, I saw a flash and heard the report of a pistol or
ﬁ; a clear report like that of a shotted gun. Any one at all accustomed to
hear the report of a gun can tell the difference. I, at the moment, was speak-
ing to my sister, and on raising my head, and directing my attention to the
box, I saw, at the same instant, a man coming over the balustrade, and noticed
the curl of smoke right immediately above him, as he wae in a crouching posi-
tion, in the act of leaping out of the box. It was slowly sailing out from the box.

As he cleared the box I heard him exclaim, * Sic scmper tyrannis.” That ex-
clamation had escaped his lips before he reached the stage below. This person
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came down to the stage with his back to the audience, crouched as he fell, and
came down upon his knees with a considerable jar, but rose instantly with his
face turned full upon the audience. I noticed at the same instant that he held
a very lasge knife in his hand. At the moment he rose, and by the time he
was fully up, with his face to the audience, my attention was fixed right on him.
I rose up, stepped forward on the balustrade of the orchestra, but it seemed to
project over with a sort of cushion or something, and my foot slipped. I step-
ped into the chair I occupied and jumped over on to the stage, keeping my eyes
distinetly on the movements of this man, who I thought I recognized whenI
looked into his face. As I made my second step I threw my eye back to the
box, aud could see the other persons, but could no longer see the President.
He had disappeared from my view. When I reached the stage this man crossed
rapidly, not in a full run, but in a quick springing walk, over to the left-hand
gide of the stage. I saw him disappear in the passage leading to the rear of
the building. I crossed the stage in less time then he did, consisembly. I ran
across the stage with all my might I said to persons on the stage, ¢ Stop that
man; he has shot the President.”” When I turned around towards the baeck
building, and had gone perhaps a second or third step, I heard the door slamat
the end of the passage. As many as five persons, ladies and gentlemen, whom-
I would suppose, from their appearance and action, belonged to the stage, came
into the passage. They were in a great state of excitement, and somewhat ob-
structed my movements, particularly one lady, who seemed to be wild with ex-
citement. Near the door, as I approached it, I noticed a man standing.

Q. Near the back door?

A. Yes, near the door, which evidently had slammed, and through which I

assed out. When I first observed him, his face was turned towards the door.

e gradually turned towards me, but in a very quiet manner; did not show
any of that measure of ‘excitement and agitation which characterized everybody
else T saw. I exclaimed again, and heard somebody say, « He is getting ons
horse.” By this time I was at the door. All this occurred in less time than I
am telling it. When I reached the door, which was in an instant, I first took
hold of the hinge side, then changed to the other side, and opened it. I heard
the tramping of the feet of a horse outside. I passed within a half arm’s length
of this person, who was standing in the position I have mentioned, and who
turned his face toward me. As I opened the door a person was right at it, and,
as I passed out, directly under my arm, or, I might say I passed my arm di-
rectly over the Liead of that person. The action of that person was much like
one taken by surprise. He seemed to crouch away. He either might have
passed in to the door behind me or at the side door. He seemed to give way
as I passed. My attention was not directed to his action more than to observe
that that person was there. My attention was fixed upon the movements of
the man mounting his horse. He was imperfectly mounted ; was in the saddle,
but leaning over to the left. The horse was moving with a sort of jerking,
agitated gait, as a horse would do if spurred or touched at the instant of mount-
ing, describing a eort of semicircle from right to left, as 1 have had a horse do,
with an uneven rein drawing him a little to one side. I never had been in the
alley before. I did not know even that there was an alley there, and was dis-
appointed to find it there. I approached immediately, with the intention of
taking the rein., The horse was heading round, in the direction that w
bring his head directly towards some houses there. I ran as fast as I possibly
could, aiming to get at the reius of the horse. I got up near the ﬂanEoof the
horse and nearly within reaching distance of the man—a stride further, and I
might have got hold of the bridle. With an oath he brought his horse round
80 ?nick that his quarter came against my arm, so that I gave way towards the
buildings. He then turned and came round pretty much the same way to
™ +ight hand side of the alley. I followed him at the right flank of his horse
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as I had done before until near the opposite side of the alley, when he hgaded
him round, and, crossing the alley, Ipnoticed that he leaned forward, holding
firm his knife. Looking upward I could see every movement; when lookin
down I could see only indistinctly. When near the further side of the alley he
brooght the horse up and headed him off. At the moment the horse made the
first turn from these buildings over on to the other side, I demanded of the per-
son to stop. I had no doubt in my mind at all who I was speaking to. I be-
lieved I was speaking to John Wilkes Booth. At that instant some person ran
rapidly out of the alley, and, after hearing a few taps of the foot going out of
the alley, I heard two clicks or something that echoed, and directly a shrill
whistle was heard over towards F street. That occurred while the horse was
crossing from the left over to the right hand side of the alley, before he got him
directly ahead. As soon a8 he got the horse headed he did not seem to get him
completely under control of the rein until he came to the turn. I was then so
ner the flank of the horse that if he had taken another step in that direction I
could have put my hands on him. He then crouched over the pommel of the
saddle, and rode furiously out of the alley. I was so close to the horse at the
time of the first two or three strides that he sent mud and dirt into my face and
bosom. I still ran after the horse some steps; why I did it I do not know. It
was a sort of feeling of desperation. I entertained no doubt in my mind on the
ttage, on seeing the person, of being able to lay hands on him in the house or
ot of it. I heard tﬁe horse’s feet as he rode out of the alley distinctly, and
beard them again in what I would take to be over F street. At all cvents,
there was a quick sound like that of a horse crossing a plank. The direction
wes towards the Patent Office.
By Mr. PIERRBPONT :

Q. Who was the man you saw come on to the stage and cross over ?

A. That man was John Wilkes Booth.

Q. You have spoken of an alley through which the horse went; please state
'hitb? the diagram handed you is correct.

. It is.

(The witness here explained to the jury, from the diagram handed him, the
ifferent positions in the alley, and also from another diagram the different po-
titions referred to on the stage.)

' By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q You were on the oppozite side of the stage, as I understand, from that on
which Booth jumped ?

A.Yes; I was on the right-hand aisle, I should judge about twenty feet
from the extreme right-hand side of the stage.

Jonx B. PeTTIT sworn and cxamined.
By the AssiSTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. 8tate to the jury where you resided in April, 1865.

A. On the 14th of April, 1865, I occupied a room in the dwelling-house No.
339 F street, below Tenth. T ate elsewhere. I was in the rear part of the

tlding. There was a back building to the house, which was occupied by Mrs.

Q. Dezcribe the position and relation of your room to the back part of Ford's

. A. T was in there that night or evening, and was not out till the next morn-
Bg. The rear part of that building which I occupied was, I suppose, one hun-
ed and fifty or two hundred feet from the rear part of Lord’s theatre. I wag
& my room reading by gas-light.

. Q. Deseribe, if you please, any sounds that you heard between the hours of
%ght and eleven o’clock.
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AL\ Adjoining) Mrs! Lindsay’s house there was an eating saloon, kept by a
Mr. Gilbert. 'The rear of it, with the exception of a small tencment, was ad-
joining the theatre lot. Immediately west of that lot was a vacant lot, which
appeared to be a part of the same, and, I believe, was not separated from it by
any fence. I was sitting with my back to that vacant ground. My attention
was directed to several low whistlings, as though they were signals. I do not
know how often they were repeated, but sufficiently often to attract my atten-
tion, in connection with some other noises which I heard.

Q. State where they appeared to come from.

A. The signals or whistlings appeared to come from thia vacant ground. I
stopped reading once or twice, and my attention was so much attracted to it that
I got up to see if I could ece any person, or what there was going on. It struck
me there was some mischief going on—boys, or something of the kind. My
attention was attracted to that in connection with the noise of a horse—as I sup-
posed, it was immediately in the rear of me—which appeared to be very uneasy,
changing his position on the paving stones back in the alley leading to the the-
atre from the east. I saw nothing, and knew nothing until the next morning of
what had transpired that night.

Q. State whether or not you heard the sound of a horse rapidly retreating.

A. Yes, I did; some time after, a very short time. They appeared to be
pretty much together—say within a quarter of an hour. All this passed, I should
judge, in fifteen or twenty minutes or lees. One of the whistlings, the last,
was a very loud whistle.

Q. From what direction did the sound come?

A. The horse was very uneasy, and directly after this uneasiness had taken
place the horse appeared to run down the alley. I could hear his hoofs very
plain; as plain almost as if I had been in the alley, if it was in the alley. Ido
not know whether it was or not.

Q. This was about the time you heard the shrillest whistle ?

A. Tt was after. There is an alley from the theatre running eastward;
whether it was in that alley or not I cannot say; I saw nothing.

Q. Do you know at what time of the night that was?

A. Not accurately ; it was pretty late. It was during the progress of the
play. I could hear the voices of the actors. I frequently heard the voices of
the actors from the room where I sat. During this time I heard the explosion
of a gun or pistol, and I could hear voices. I do not know from what direction.

Q. T understand you that by the side of Gilbert’s cating saloon, and back of
it, the lots were vacant ?

A. Yes, eir; there was an alley of some three or four feet between Gilbert's
eating saloon and the dwelling where 1 resided. Immediately in the rearof
Gilbert’s saloon there was a vacant epace of twenty, thirty, or forty feet, between
that and the tenement-house occupied by a man of the name of Raidy. Ad-
joining that was a vacant space running to the theatre line, on F street, and to
a tenement of a man by the name of Birch.

Q. So that there was free communication to I street ?

A. T think there was no fence between these vacant lots and the theatre lob
becaunse I know these Raidy’s came back of the theatre to get water for washing:

Q. Do I understand you to say that immediately west of Gilbert’s eating
saloon there was a vacant lot ?

A. Yes; my recollection is that there was no well-defined line between that
and the vacant lot running from the theatre to the line of F street; but if Ire-
collect right there was a board fence along on the street.

Cross-examined by Mr. BRADLEY:

Q. You eay there was a fence on ¥ strcet, across the vacant lot west of Gik
bert’s saloon; I understand you that there was no fence on the line of the alley
inside ?

.
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A\/Noy there was(norie.

Q. Let me understand exactly this locality. You had rooms at Mrs. Lind-
say’s. West of you, with an alley three or four feet between, was Gilbert’s
eating saloon ?

A. Yes; and west of that was the tenement of a man by the name of Birch.

Q. And between the eating saloon and Birch’s house there was a three or
four foot alley ?

A. No, there was a vacant lot of perhaps twenty feet between the saloon and
Birch’s house.

Q. Who lived next east of Mrs. Lindsay’s ?

A. Mrs. Shinn, 341.

Q. Is there not an alley-just beyond that ? :

A. No, sir; there is a frame building belonging to Mrs. Barry. Then there
is a carpenter’s shop between Mrs. Moore’s house and the house of Mrs. Barry,
nnd then Moore’s house is on the corner of the alley. .

Q. Is not the carpenter’s shop on the alley ?

A. No, sir; Moore’s house is on the alley.

Q. Is not the alley west of Moore’s house ?

A. No, 8ir; east.

Q. I understand you then that your recollection is that there was no fence
runing on the west and north sides of the theatre alley, but that there were
vacant lots running dewn to that alley ?

A. My recollection is that there was no fence between the theatre lot and this
vacant lot, and the lot occupied by Gilbert’s eating saloon adjoined the vacant lot.

Q. You did not hear the testimony of Colonel Stewart ?

A No, I did not. I do not pretend to be accurate about the fence. My
room fronted this vacant place, and I was there for several months, but I do
Dot recollect about it.

James P. FERGUSON, a resident of Washington, sworn and examined.

By the AssiSTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q. State whether you were at Ford’s theatre on the night of April 14, 1865,
wd state distinctly and as briefly as you can what you observed there about ten
o'clock, or at the time of the assassination of the President.

A. On the 14th of April I was keeping a restaurant right adjoining Ford's
theatre. Harry Ford came into my house in the afternoon and told me if I
wanted to see General Grant I had better go into the theatre and secure a seat,
B he was to be there that night—he and the President. Harry Ford was the
tressurer of the theatre. He came into my house along about four o’clock in
the afternoon and told me this. I went in and secured two seats. There was
tlidy who was going with me. I secured two seats in the dress circle right
djdining the private boxes, on the opposite side from the one in which the

ident was in at night. That night about half past seven I took this lady
Wthe theatre and occupied these two seats in the dress circle. The President
tame in along about a quarter past eight, accompanied with some other gentleman
Yhom I understood to be Major Rathbone, and two ladies. one of whom was
.Lincoln ; the other I did not know. They took their seats in the box, and
play went on until between fifteen minutes and half past ten, in the second
&t and the second scene of the American Cousin. I saw Wilkes Booth come
fround the dress circle down to the door at the entrance to the passage to the
E;vm boxes. He stood there and looked all around well. A few minutes
ore that General Burnside came in and took a seat in the orchestra. Booth
ed about the dress circle, then into the orchestra, then stooped down and
Bushed open the door to the passage leading to the private boxes from the dress
erele. There are two boxes there, but when the President occupied one the
putition was taken away and the two thrown into one. He passed iuto the
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little Nall' leading 1o the 'boxes where the President zat, and I did not see him
for. I suppose, ten or fifteen seconds. I was looking right at the box, for I was
very anxious to see whom he was acquainted with. I understood that this other
lady was a Miss Harris. I wanted to see whether he was acquainted with this
lady or with the President. I then heard the report of a pistol. I saw him go
past the President’s head and come right over the front of the box, swinging
around. keeping hiz hand on the box and letting himzelf down. As he came
down he struck on his right knee, but jumped to hiz feet again. He had a knife
in his hand. He ran acrose the stage with his knife in his hand.

Q. Where did he disappear?

A. He passed out at tie small passage where the actors come in. There is
a passage on each zide of the stage. *

Q. Had v>u seen him before on that day !

A. I forgot that. I saw him, I think, abont one o’clock. I went to my door
right 3djoining Fords theatre on the upper or north side, and saw him on a
little horse out on the street talking with a man by the name of Maddox. Booth
said. - Is not this a nice horse I have got! It can run like a cat.” Just then
I started to come out. when he struck his spur into him to show how he coald
run. and went down on Tenth street. It was the last I saw of him until I saw
him go into the box that night

Q. What part of the play wa: it when you zaw Booth come into the box !

A. Idont know what part. It was the second scend®of the second act, I
think. of the American Cousin. What part of it I do not remember now. Itis
something I am not very well posted in. .

Q. Did he say anything more a: the iime y~u saw him in the afternoonin

10 hiz horse !

A. Thatis all he said. I had gw: almoas: ou: to him to the curb-atone, when
be started off.

Q. He did not zay anything a: to how lang he had the horse!

Mr. BeapLsy. We are not trying Booth.

The AssisTaxT DisTRICT ATTORNEY. I am aware of that.

Mr. BeanLgy. Then I objec: o that question.

The AssisTANT DisTRICT ATTORNEY. Very well. let it go. Give the fall
name of Mr. Maddox.

A. James Maddox. I donat knew bis other name. He wa: employed at
the theatre.

Cross<examined by Mr. BrapLey:

Q. Did you sev anybody ¢lse on the stage twsides Baoth at the timel

A. Henry Hawk was oz the siage. I ihink.

Q. He was an actor!

A Yes sin

Q. Who zat on the stagy nex: afies bis!

A. 1 declare 1 eaanes eally iells 1 ihink & owas Mro Stewar.

Q. Was Booth on ke stage then. oo Bad be vt oF ¢

Al I think ke had go1 o 38 far as | ean reeolleet.  There was no person o8
e stage when Rooth was on 3. 1 saw Hawk oz the stage aboat the moment
Booth bad his knife. but 1 1hizk he was 13¢ saly sze zniil Booth had passed
clear through avd cat

Q. Where was your scat |

AL 1 was rFight adivining the paivaie b i the dness drcle. The President
war dirvetly oppasite where s

Q. Then if a larpe man had o7 outhe stz w23 Rasth wasoniit you would
have wen him !

A. 1 comld have seen him weall cvongh

N And yow did vot aee any sach kg’

~nan the stage while Booh was siwee 1 3kisk no onme got 08 ‘
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1e stage until Booth was off. The instant he was off Laura Keene was on the
:age. In fact there were a half a dozen there in 2 moment.
‘&? He ran directly across the stage and disappeared ?

A. Yes, gir; he came down out of that box and ran out across the stage.

Q. Hawk ran off ahead of him ?

A. Yes, sir; the very moment he got on the stage Hawk ran off, and then
.ere was nobody on the stage.

Q. Who came on after Stewart?

A. Two or three soldiers, I think; I do not know where they came from.

Q. And you did not see any one close e¢nough behind Booth almost to touch
m as he was coming out ?

A. No, sir; I did not.

By the DiSTRICT ATTORNEY :

Q.'l But you say there were a good many persons on the stage about that
me

A. Yes; the moment after he pased ont.

Q. Did you not see some persons advancc towards the stage immediately
ipon his falling on it ?

A. Yes, sir; a good many jumped on the stage.

Q. You do not know Colonel Stewart ? .

A. Yes, sir; he is a large man. [ saw him on the stage, but I do not recollect
hia getting on the stage until after Booth was off.

By Mr. BRaDLEY:

Q. You saw Booth go off the stage?
A Yes, sir : I saw Booth go off the stage before I saw any persen on it.

Josepy M. DyE, sworn and examined.
By Mr. PIERREPONT :
Q. State your age and occupation.
A. Twenty-three next August; I belong to the United States army, and am
Arecruiting sergeant in Philadelphia.
Q. In the regular army ?
.+ Yes, gir.
Q Where are you now stationed ?
A. T am stationed in Philadelphia.
Q. How long have you been stationed in Philadelphia, or about how long ?
A. Alittle over a year. .
Q Where did you go to Philadelphia from?
A From New York. -
Q. From what place did you go to New York?
- From my home.
Q. Where is that ?
- Waghington county, Penneylvania.
. }Vere you in the army in April, 18657
» Twas,
Q Where was your regiment stationed on the 14th of April, 18657
A IBbelonged to battery C, independent Pennsylvania artillery, stationed at
P Barry.
Q. Tell me where Camp Barry was.
It was at the junction of H strect and the Baltimore turupike.
- Give us a description of what direction it was from Ford’s theatre.
It is out H street.
- The same way as the Capitol, except north of the Capito} ?
+ Yes, sir. ’
How far was your camp from Ford’s theatre ?
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I presume nearly two miles.
ere you in Washington on the night of the murder ?
I was.
Was there any officer with you ?
Yes, sir; Sergeant Robert Cooper.
Is Sergeant Robert Cooper here in town?
Yes, sir.
You have seen him lately ?
. Yes, sir.
Have you geen bim to-day ?
Yes, sir.
. Where were you on the evening of the 14th, at the time of the murder?
I was in an oyster saloon.
. Will you state when you went into the oyster saloon, and from what place
went ?
From Ford’s theatre.
At what time in that evening did you come to Ford's theatre ?
T arrived there about half past nine o’clock.
‘Who was with you ?
Sergeant Cooper.
Had you any pass—were you allowed to come there ?
. I had a monthly pass, but I think it was then out of date.
Were you at the theatre ?
I was in front of the theatre.
Were you sitting or standing most of the time ?
Sitting.
What were you sitting upon ?
. Upon some plank, or something of the kind, placed there, in order to alle-
viate persons getting in and out of carriages.

Q. Did you sec Mr. Lincoln’s carriage there ?

A. I did, sir. -

Q. What was the condition of the street in front of the theatre that night as
to its being light ? .

It was light directly in front of the door.

. In what way?

. There was a large lamp there.

A gas lamp?

I cannot swear as to its being gas or oil.

State whether it was light or not.

It was light. .
. Do you remember what the temperature of that evening was, whether it
was cold or mild ?

A. It was mild.

Q. As you sat there upon this plank, what was Sergeant Cooper doing!

A. Sergeant Cooper was moving up and down upon the pavement.

Q. Did you have any conversation with him while you remained there !

A. Yes, sir.

Q. While you were sitting there, state whether there was any ckange in the
inside of the theatro as to pegsons coming out at the end of any act 1

A. They did.

Q. State what that was, and when.

A. Parties came down—I presume it was about ten or fifteen minutes afief
we got there—and went into the saloon below and the saloon adjoining
theatre to drink.

Q. Were there quite a number of them ?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. As these people came down from the theatre at the time you mention,
whom did you see, and what did you hear said in relation to Mr. Lincoln’s car-
i ?

A. Before they came down I heard conversation there.

Mr. BeapLEY. We object to that conversation.

Mr. PIERRKPONT. Before you answer that question I will ask you auother.
State whether you know John Wilkes Booth.

A. T do, sir. .

Q. State whether John Wilkes Booth was one of the persons who entered into
that conversation.

A. He was.

Q. Now state what it was.

Mr. Merrick. We object to the question. I will state our objection, unless it
ia the proper order for the gentleman on the other side to state the grounds on
which they offer the declarations of Booth.

The CourT. You may state the ground of your objection.

Mr. Merrick. The ground of our objection is that they propose now to offer the
declarations of Booth for the purpose of affecting the priconer at the bar. They
have established no connection between Booth and the prisoner as yet. I state
this objection, not for the purpose of arguing it, but in order that counsel may
present the grounds upon which they make the offer.

Mr. PrerrEPONT. I present no grounds. It must be apparent, without any
sort of argument, that what John Wilkes Booth did in connection with this mur-

is evidence.

Mr. BRADLEY. We supposed that possibly might be the ground of the gentle-
man’s offer. I take it for granted that whatever John Wilkes Booth may have
sid or done, unless they connect the prisoner at the bar with John Wilkes
Booth in that trausaction, is of no sort of consequence. I suppose, if the prosecu-
Hion are to proceed upon the ground of conspiracy, they must first establish some
tonnection between the two parties; when that is done, how far the evidence may
beadmissible is another question. But until that is done, although Booth may
have killed the President, and fifty other people have been connected with him—
until they show that this party was so connected, his declarations cannot possibly

evidence.
itllr. PigrrEPONT. We state to the court that we shall connect the prisoner with

Mr. BrapLEY. That is an entirely different question. 'That has never been
Stated before.
Mr. PieerEPONT. Wesay it now.
. The CourT. Of course, if the counsel for the prosecution fail to make connee-
tion of Booth with the prisoner at the bar, what ever Booth said or whatever he
' d}'l.tltlmugh he may have committed the murder charged against the prisoner,
declarations could not be testimony against the prisoner.
Mr. BeaDLEY. As the gentlemen now put it upon the ground that they ex-
Pect to connect the prisoner with Booth, it is entirely within the discretion of
court to say whether they will permit testimony to be given until some
parent connection is established. This is an enormous case, aud I ask the
court whether they are to be allowed to continue the trial of all the parties named
Mthe indictment, through this immense mass of testimony, before they offer any
®unection of the prisoner at the bar with the transaction, or will your honor
Mvertised beforehand require them to bring forward their evidence connecting
with it.
The CourT. The usual course of procceding in such case s to tell the counsel
they must use their discretion as to what part of the case they will present
Wy particular evidence in. I always advertise counsel, however, that unless they
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contiett/ the ‘defendddt With the trausaction, the testimony will all be thrown
out. °

Mr. PierrepPoNT. Of course; but I will say, that. if the counsel had not inter-
rupted us, we would have connected the prisoner with the transaction, long before
this.

Mr. BrabpLeY. All I can eay is that I interrupted you at the proper time.

The CourT. The court will exercise its jurisdiction in this and every other
case, as far as possible, to elicit the truth of the whole matter. If the prisioner at
the bar is not connected with the transaction, the testimony will be ruled ont.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Proceed now and state what you saw done, and what you heard said, by John
Wilkes Booth, and with whom he was conversing.

A. The firat who appeared on the scene was John Wilkes Booth himself.
‘What first attracted my attention was his conversing with a low, villauous
looking person. at the end of the passage.

Q. You mean by low, short in stature ?

A. Yes, sir; it was but a moment before another person joined them. This

erson was neat in appearance—neatly dressed—and entered in conversation.
x.)l‘his rush came down from the theatre, and as they were coming, Booth
said to this other person that he would come out now, as I supposed, referr-
ing to the President. They were then standing facing the place where the
President would have to pass in order to reach his carriage, and watching
eagerly for his appearance. He did not come. They then hurriedly bad a
conversation together ; then one of them went out and examined the carriage, and
Booth stepped into a restaurant. At this time all the party who had come down
from the theatre had gone up. Booth remained there long enough to take a drink.
I could not say whether he did or not. He came around and stood in the end
of the passage from the street to the stage where the actors passed in. He t:r
peared in a moment again. This third party, neatly dressed, immediately
stepped up in front of the theatre and called the time.

Q. To have no misunderstanding, state what you mean by calling the time.

A. He stepped up and looked at the clock, and called the time to the other
two.

Q. That is he stated what it was ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where was the clock ?

A. The clock was in the vestibule of the theatre.

Q. State how the light was at the time relating to the face of the neatly dressed
man who called the time. .

A. I did not observe it particularly at that time. As soon as he called the
time to the other two, he weut up the street towards H street. He did not
remain there long, but came down again, stopped in front of the theatre, looked
at the ;lock, and called the time again, lvoking directly at these two, and
excited.

Q. That is, Booth and the other man?

A. Yes,si1. He then immediately turned his heeland went towards H street
It was then I thought something was wrong by the manner in which these threé
had been conducting themselves, and as a soldier I had a revolver in my pocket
with my handkerchief wrapped around it.

Q. What part of it? . )

A. Around the revolver. We wore artillery jackets, and the revolver wasit
my breast pocket. My suspicions were 8o aroused that I unwound my handker
chief from around my revolver. It was not long before he appeared agsin:
going on a fast walk from the direction of H street. ’

Q. How did he look then ?
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A. He placed himself in front of the theatre, where the light shone clear on
his face. There was a picture on that countenance of great excitement, exceed-
ingly nervous and very pale. He told them for the third time that it was ten
minutes past ten o’clock. That is the last time he called it. It was ten min-
utes past ten o’clock.

By Mr. BrRapLEY:

Q. And that was this time ?
A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. PIERREPONT: .
Q. Did you say that the person said three times that it was ten minutes past
ten o’clock ?
A. I said he called the time three times, and this time it wgs teu minutes past
ten o’clock.
Q. And the other periods of time were before ?
A. Yes sir.
By a Juror:

Q. He did not state each time that it was ten minutes past ten ?
A, No, gir. There were eight or nive, or ten minutes between them. The
last time I do not think there were more than five.

By Mr. PigRREPONT :

Q. Did you see that man distinctly ?

A. I did.

Q. Very distinctly ?

A. I did very distinetly.

Q. Do you sce him now ?

A. I do.

Q. Can you tell us where he ia?

A, I can.

Q. Tell us where he is.

A. He sgits there, (pointing to the prisoner.)

Q. Is that the man? '

A. It is. I have seen his face often since, while I have been sleeping—it

vas 80 exceedingly pale. He hurried up towards H street again, and that is
the last I have seen of him until lately.

Q. You say he was the prisoner at the bar?
A. Yes, sir, and I say that I have seen him since, while I have been sleeping.

Q. Did it make a very strong impression from what occurred at the time ?
A. It did, sir.

Q. What did Booth do then?
A. He walked directly into the theatre.

Q. Did Xon call anybody’s attention to this at the time ?
A. I did.

Q. Who?

A. Sergeant Robert H. Cooper.

Q. Did you point out at the time who Booth was ?

(Question objected to by Mr. Bradley and withdrawn.)

Q. Where did Booth then go ?

A. He entered the front of the theatre.

Q. Where did you go, and who went with yon?

A. Bergeant Cooper and myself went to an oyster saloon. Sergeant Cooper
vas particularly with me. -

Q. How soon after you got into the oyster saloon did you hear of the murder ?

A, We had not time to eat our oysters.

Q. What did you do when you heard of it ?

[ J
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A. We did not go to the theatre. We hurried right up H street to the camp.
I thought a detail would have to be made, and as I was first sergeant I would
have to be there.

. Did Sergeant Cooper belong to the same camp ?

. He did.

. Did you both go up H street ?

. Yes, sir, we both went up to H strect, and out H street.

. When you got out to H street, what did you do ?

. We passed out to Camp Barry.

. What occurred on the way ?

. A lady hoisted the window of her parlor, and asked —
(Question objected to by Mr. Bradley.)
Mr. PierREPONT stated that he would not press the question, and would turn

the witness over to the defence for cross-examination,

The court thereupon took a recess until to-morrow at 10 a. m.
) L]
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TuESDAY, June 18, 1867.

The Court met at 10 a. m.

Mr. PieerepoxT said: If your honor please, when the court adjourned on
yesterday I had just put a question to the witness Dye, touching what occurred
as he and Sergeant Cooper hastened from the oyster saloon up H street, to which

uestion the counsel for the prisoner objected. I withdrew the question for the time,
thinking then that I would renew it on the cross-examination. I.have come to
the conclusion, however, that it would be more orderly to ask the question in
the direct, and now propose to do so. I will ask it in such a form that the
gentlemen on the other side can take whatever exception to it they see proper.
The witness will understand that he is not to answer until the court has ruled
upon it.

pThe question is this:

Q. You stated yesterday that you and Sergeant Cooper hastened up H street.
What did yon and Sergeant Cooper see as you hastened up H street ?

(Mr. Bradley objected to the question as irrelevant.)

Mr. PierrepoNT. We suppose, may it please your honor, that all the inci-
dents and facts that trauspired at the time of the murder are proper. We
suppose that a signal-light is proper; we suppose that a signal-whistle is proper.
Such have always been allowed to be given in evidence. We do not suppose
it is necessary to prove that the prisoner gave the signal-whistle, or that the
signal-light was displayed by him. I repeat it is our opinion that all the
incidents connected with a murder of this kind are proper to be given in evidence,
as having a tendency to throw light upon the question being inquired into.

The Court. It is very difficult for the court to determine at this stage, with-
out knowing what the evidence is, whether it is relevant and admissible. I
propose, therefore, to let the auswer be given, and then if it be found to in any
way connect the prisoner with the transaction—the taking away of the life of
Abrabam Lincola—it will be regarded as proper cvidence. If not, it will be
ruled out.

To this ruling Mr. Bradley reserved an exception.

Examination of Jusepn M. DYE resumed.
By Mr. PIBRREPONT :

Q. Please state what occurred as you aud Sergeant Cooper hastened up H
street.

A. As we were passing along H street out to Camp Barry, a lady hoisted &
window and asked us what was wrong down town. :

Q. What did you say, and what did she reply ? .

el X told her that President Lincoln was shot. She asked me who did it
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I told her Booth. She asked me how I knew it. I told her a man saw him
who knew him. ’ .
Q. Will you tell us what was the condition of the moon at that time? -

A. I cannot say exactly. I disremember.

Q. Do you know whether it was full or different at the time ? -

A. It was light enough for us to see some distauce on the street.

Q. Do you know whether the moon was up ?

A. Yes, sir; I believe it was. -

Q. Do you know whether the moon was then at or about the full ?

A. I cannot say.

* Mr.BRADLEY here interposed an objection to the course of examination being
pursued. The witness had answered that he did not recollect what the condition
of the moon was, and he did not think it altogether proper to pursue this line
of examination further with leading questions.

Mr. PierrePONT. Very well, sir; I will not press the examination farther.
The almanac will show what the condition of the moon was on that night.

Q. Please describe this woman who opened the window, and with whom you
bad this conversation.

A 8he appeared to be an elderly lady.

Q. How was she as to being stout or otherwise ?

-4, I could not say particularly. She resembled the lady on the trial of the
oaspirators—Mrs. Surratt.

Q Have you seen the house since ?

A I have.

Q Do you know the number ?

A1do—541.

-Q Tell the jury which side of the street it is on as you go up.

A As you go towards the camp—an easterly direction—it is on the right-

side.

Q. Is there anything peculiar about the house ?

A, Yes, sir. Iy recollect the steps distinctly as they appeared that night.

Q Tell the jury how the steps are.

+ A In order to answer her question I bad to go up in the direction of the
; ﬁz. which are very tall.

-Q. Will you state what was the manner of this woman when she thus ad-

| dnsed you'?

A 8he just asked the question.

Q. 8tate whether her manner was excited or not.
i A I do not recollect.

Q. What then did you do? .

A, Passed on out towards the camp.

Q. Did you paes swiftly or slowly ?

A Passed along as on a fast walk.

Q. At the time she opened the window, state whether anybody was ahead of
Y% in the street.

A. There was not. We met two policemen a short distance beyond that,
¥ho had not even heard of the assassination. What I mearn by that is, that no
Pedestrians had passed that way.

Q. When you saw Booth and Surratt at the theatre, just before this occur-
reace which yoa have now described, was Booth disguised ?

A. No, sir. He had a slouched hat on.

Q" Was Surratt disguised ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Was the short man who was with him disguised ?

I A. No,sir. He was a villanous, rough-looking character,
in




138 TRIAL OF JOHN H. SURRATT.

Q! 'T'mean’as'to the 'disguise of their dress. Was the dress of any of them
disguised ? )
A. No, sir.

Cross-examination :
By Mr. MERRICK :

Q. What is your age ?

A. I will be twenty-three next August.

Q. Where are you from ?

A. From Washington, Washington county, Pennsylvania.

Q. What was your business in Washington before you entered the army ?

A. I was going to school, and in a printing office before that time. Wash-
ington is where I went to school.

. Did you go to Washingten College ?

. No, sir. I went to what is called Union School, just opposite the college.
. When did you leave that school ?

. About a year before I entered the army ?

. What year was that ?

1862.

. Then you left the school in 1861 ?

. Yes, 8ir; between 1860 and 1861. I do not exactly remember what time
it was.

Q. Did you leave the school for the purpose of going into the army ?

A. No, sir. I left the school to go with Adam If Ecker, the editor of a
paper there, called the Washington Examiner.

Q. How long did you remain with him before you went into the army ?

.A. A year and a couple of months, I believe; somewhere in that neighbor-
hood.

Q. What was your bnsiness in connection with the paper ?

A. I set up editorials and such things as that.

Mr. PIERREPONT. We do not wish to object to any reasonable latitude; but
does your honor think it can possibly favor public justice to go into the question
as to whether a man wrote, or set type, or did something else? If your honor
thinks so, why, of course, I do not want to object.

The CourT. I cannot see that it is of any great advantage either one way or
the other; nevertheless, it is responsive to the preliminary question that was put
to all these witnesses, as to their age, residence, occupation, &e.

Mr. PiererPoNT. All I desire is, to suggest that there be some reasonable
limit to such examination. .

Mr. Merrick. I understand the limit to a cross-examination to be the daguerre-
otyping of the witness, as far as possible, to the jury.

The CourT. You will proceed with the examination.

POPOPOBO

By Mr. MERRICK

Q. Your business was setting up editorials?

A. Yes, sir, and locals, and such things.

Q. Did you write*for the paper?

A. No, sir.

Q. I understand you to say that on the 14th of April, 1865, you were sts-
tioned at Camp Barry ? :

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that, on that night, you eame into town ?

A. Yes, gir; on that afternoon.

Q. What time in the afternoon did you come in ?

A. In the evening, just before dusk.

Q- What time di§ you have tattoo at your camp ?

|
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About nine o’clock.

I suppose you were not there at tattoo?

No, sir.

‘What was your position in the camp ?

I was firat sergeant.

Of your company ?

Yes, eir.

‘Who called your roll for you at tattoo ?

The first duty line sergeant generally.

Did youn have permission to go into town ?

. I generally came into town whenever I felt like it.
That was your habit ?

. I was quartermaster before, and had a monthly pass. That pass, I be-
lieve, was not then quite out of date.

Q. I underatood you to say, yesterday, that your pass was out of date?

A. I do not think it was; but I could not properly use it. I should have
handed it to the captain.

Q. What did you mean, then, by saying that your pass was out of date ?

A. Out of date to me, because I had no right to use it.

Q. Why had you not a right to use it, if it was within date ?

A. Because 1 was promoted from quartermaster to first sergeant, and should,
therefore, have handed it in. My duty as quartermaster brought me into town
every day, as a general thing, for rations and such things as that.

Q. Do I understand you to say that it was your habit, as first sergeant, to
come into town every day, or as quartermaster?

A. As quartermaster.

Q. What was your habit as first sergeant ?

A. I generally came into town two or three times a week.

Q. Did you get ‘any permission to come ?

A. Yes, sir, often. Our captain was not very strict; he relied upon his men
to do their duty. .

Q. He reliecly upon the honor and integrity of his men ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you feel that yon were acting worthy of that confidence reposed in
you by your commanding officer, in coming into town, and remaining in after
tattoo, without permisgion ?

. No, sir.

. What did you come into town for that night ?

. To see the torchlight procession.

What did you go to the theatre for ?

. Because I ascertained the President was to be there.
. Did you buy a ticket?

No, sir.

. You did not, then, go inside of the theatre ?

. No, sir; I did not.

Q. T understood you to say yesterday that you took a seat on some planks
that were there ?

A. Yes, sir, on a platform. I do not know whetherit was composed of planks
o not, but I presume it was. It was a platform on which they got in and out
of the carriages.

Q. You took your seat on that platform ?

A. Yes, sir; with my feet resting on the pavement.

Q. At what hour was that ?

A. About nine and a half o’clock.

Q. How long did you remain there ?

A. Until ten minutes past ten—a couple of minutes after that.

POPOPOPOPOPOP
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(/Did youlgo)into) the drinking saloon ?
No, sir.
. Did not you take a drink while you were there?
No, sir.
Did you remain seated on those planks all the while you were there ?
I did. I took my seat there and remained there until I left the place.
Did Sergeant Cooper stay there beside you?
No, sir. He walked up and down the pavement.
‘When and to whom did you first communicate what you observed on that
night ?
g;&. I believe I first observed it to my father.
Q. To whom next?
A. No person in particular. I spoke of it in general conversation; (after a
pause,) Oh, do you mean my suspicions on that night ?
Mr. MERRICK. Yes, sir.
WiTNEss. To Sergeant Cooper.
Q. Whodid youfirattell what you could prove as to what occurred on that night !
A. I did not tell any person any such thing as that; I only told them what
I bad seen. The first thing I knew I was summoned in town here.
Q. When was that ? .
A. That was just before the trial at the arsenal.
Q. Who did you see when you came here after being summoned ?
A. I went down to the provost marshal’s office, and from there to the old
capitol prison.
Q. Were you put in the old capitol prison ?
A. No, sir, not so bad as that.
Mr. MERRICK : You may thank your fortune for not being court martialed
for being out after tattoo ?
WiTNEss: But discretion is the better part of valor sometimes.
Q. Who did you see at the provost marshal’s office ?
A. I saw several gentlemen there.
Q. Who talked with you there particularly about what occurred on the night
of the 14th of April
A. The ofticer who was on duty.
Q. Who was he 1
A. He was a colonel. I do not know what his name was.
Q. What were you sent up to the old capitol prison for ?
A. To see if I recognized the villanous looking person, or any of the parties
in front of the theatre.
Q. Were you ever examined by any one before you testified at the military
commission ?
A. No, sir; some questions were asked me at the provost marshal’s,
Q. Was that the only time any questions were asked you by any officer or
person in authority ?
A. To the best of my knowledge it was.
By Mr. BrabLEY :
. And that was by the colonel ?
. By the officer there ; I believe he was a colonel.
. Had he not a uniform on ?
. His coat, I believe, was not a uniform one.
. What rank had he on his shoulder 1
. He had a military blouse on. To the best of my knowledge he wass
colonel. I heard him addressed as colonel. Whether he was only a lieutenant
colonel or a full colonel I do not know.
. By Mr. MERRICK :
M. Were any photographs shown you at the provost marshal’s office?

OPO>OPOPO
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A. No, sir.

Q. Did you see any there?

A. No, sir; they were busy sending out for different personsin town. There
was a coat brought in there, I remember.

Q. Were any photographs shown you before you testified at the trial before
the military commission ?

A. There was not.

Q. When did you arrive in town ?

A. Last Monday a week.

Q. When were you here last before that ?

A. I was here the 10th.

Q. Before the 10th, when were you here ?

A. I was here in March, I believe.

The CovrT. The 10th of what?

WitxEess. When the court met before and the case was postponed.

Q. Were you here in March ?

A. Yes, sir; I believe it was March, I am confident it was March.

Q. Who did you talk with when you came here last about your testimony,
on the 10th of March, as you say ?

A. T talked with General Carrington.

Q. Any one else?

A Mr. Wilson, sometimes.

Q. Any oneelse?

A. No, sir. »

Q. Sergeant, in looking over your testimony of yesterday, I observe that
you give quite a succinct narrative of what transpired on the night of the 14th
of April; mention the name of Booth; speak of a villanous-looking person.
and then speak of a third party neatly dressed. You describe the latter through-
out as the “ third party neatly dressed.” Can you give any reason to the jury
why you did not mention his name in the first instance? You knew who he was.

A. T did not think it was necessary until I was called upon to point him out.

Q. You knew his name ?

A. I knew his name after I had seen him.

Q. ¥%udkncw his name when you took the stand yesterday ?

A. T did.

Q. Why, then, did you not use his name instead of referring to him as the
“third party neatly dressed
N A. Because 1 did not think it was necessary until I was called upon to point

im out. :

Q. Did you think it was necessary to use Booth’s name ?

A. T used it just because I deemed it necessary in my own mind.

Q. Why did you deem it necessary in your own mind to use one name and

not to use another ?

A. T did not think it was necessary to use the other name until I was called
upon to identify him.

Q. Were you not told not to use his name?

A. No, sir; I was not.

Q. Please tell us what was the position of these three men when you first

obeerved them ?

A. Just as I gave it yesterday; Booth was speaking to this rough, villanous-

looking person, and just then this third party appeared.

Q. How long was that after you had taken your seat upon the planks ?

A. Very eoon.

Q. Five or ten minutes ?

A. No, gir, not that long.
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Q.' Tell the " jury where Booth and this villanous-looking person were stand-
ing when you first observed them.
A. Below the door next to Pennsylvania avenuc, just at the entrance
between the saloon and the door of the tgeatre where you enter the vestibule.
Q. How far from the wall of the building ?
A. Close to it.
Q. How wide is the sidewalk ?
A. I prerume some fourteen feet.
Q ngere did this neatly-dressed third party come from when he joined the
two?
. I cannot say.
From which side did he approach them ?
. I do not know. I did not see him until he was right in with them.
. How long did they stand there together?
. For some time.
About how long ?
Until that man began to call the time.
. How long about did they stand there ?
. I presume they were all three of them together there about ten or twelve
tes.

Q. At that time ?

A. They were never together afterwards—all three of them.

Q. I want to know how long they remained there together conversing ?

A. Well, I suppose ten or twelve minutes. It might not have been that

long.

5. Did they talk loud enough to be overheard ?

A. No, sir; only Booth in using the expression to which I have referred.

Q. Did they speak in a whisper ?

A. They did.

Q. Was the expression you speak of made use of by Booth while the three
were standing there together 1

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was it made before any one of them had examined the carriage ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Theq, as T understand you, you now tell the jury the two were talking
together when the third joined them ; and that that was the first time you
observed them, and that the three remained together ten or twelve minutes ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All you heard was the exclamation of Booth, « He will come out now.”

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that up to that time nothing else had occurred except their being
together and talking ?

A. No, sir.

Q. When Booth made this remark what did they do ?

A. The rush was then coming down.

Q. Let us have the remark.

A. «T think he will come out now.”

Q. What did they then do?

A. They lined themselves below the door; that is, towards Pennsylvani:
avenue. They were below the door facing the space the President would have
to pass in, in order to reach his carriage.

. They were then below the door, towards Pennsylvania avenue, fronting
F street ?

A. Yes, sir; looking up in that direction—just facing the passage from the
door to the carriage.

Q. You were still occupying your seat ?

[ N
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Al T'vwas.

Q. In what order did they stand ?

A. They stood facing that space.

Q. Who stood nearest the theatre.

A. The villain.

Q. Who stood next ?

A. I do not recollect ; I think, though, it was Booth.

Q. Who stood next ?

A. The third party—John H. Surratt.

Q. You cannot be mistaken in what you have said about their position ?

A. Not at all.

Q. I understood you to eay yesterday, that when Booth said, I suppose
will come out now,” you supposed him to refer to the President ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why did you suppose so ?

A. Well, I presumed so. I was not any ways excited then myself, and I
tbor;]ght they were speaking just as other persons would who were anxiouns to
see him.

Q. You had, however, obrerved them, had you not ?

“]ﬁ. Yes, sir; particularly on account of Booth holding conference with that
in.

Q. That was what first attracted your attention ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. To see a gentleman talking with so villanous-looking a man ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q- Did you also observe them particularly when they were lined ?

A. I saw them in their positions. Some of the parties coming down out of

the theatre passed between some of them.

Q. After you got them into Jine, what occurred next !

A. President Lincoln had not appeared, and these parties who came down

after a drink, went up again.

Q. What did the three men do ?

A. Booth stepped into the saloon adjoining the theatre in the direction of

Pennsylvania avenue.

Q. What did the villanous-looking man do?

A. He remained in position near the passage.

Q. In or out of the theatre ?

A. Outof the theatre, right against the wall. He never changed his posi-
tion while I observed him.

Q. What did the man you called Surratt do?

A. He walked out and looked at the carriage in the rear.

Q. Did he walk around the carriage ?

A. He went into the rear of it, and nearly stumbled over my foot as he was
passing me.

Q. What did he do then ?

A. He came back again. Booth in the mean time had come out of the sa-
loon, and stepped into the passage. Surratt then joined them, and as Booth
appeared from the passage, Surratt stepped up to the clock and called the time.

Q. Where was that clock 7

A. In the vestibule of the theatre, opposite the door.

Q. Whereabouts in that vestibule ?

A. T cannot exactly describe that. I know the clock was there, that is all.
I'think it was right above the “ delivery of tickets,” if I am not mistaken.

Q. Did you see it ? )

A. ] have seen it. I could not see it just exactly as I sat then.

Q. Was not the clock right opposite the door ?

he
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AV\It/was ag)you wentin the vestibule.
Q. There is a door that leads into the vestibule ?

A. Certainly.

Q. You walk into the vestibule and then see the clock right in front of you 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. This man whom you call Surratt, you say, stepped up to the door and
looked at the clock ? )
. Yes, sir; and called the time.
. What did he do then ?
. He walked up towards H street.
. The villanous fellow still retained his position ?
. Yes, sir.
. What did Booth do ?
. He stood in conversation with him.

. How long a time passed from the time when they lined themselves oppo-
site the space where the President was to pass, and the time this man callecf the
time ?

A. About five minutes.

Q. They then lined themselves, and this man Surratt examined the carriage?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He went up and joined Booth when he returned from the passage, and
that occupied five minutes ?

eObﬂOb(ObeOb

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He then went up the street ?

A. Hedid.

Q. And Booth remained talking with the villanous-looking man ?

A. Hedid.

Q. How long was it before this man whom you call Surratt returned ?

A. Tt was very soon. I cannot state the time exactly. It might have been
some five or ten minutes. I think it was at least five minutes.

Q. Did he go up the street, or did he go in the alley-way that leads back
into the theatre ?

A. No, sir; he went up the street.

Q. He then returned ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What did he do when he came back ?

A. He immediately stepped in front of the theatre again, and looking in the
vestibule called the time to those two.

Q. Where were those two standing?

A. In the same position, just below the door towards Pennsylvania avenue.

Q. What did he do after he called the time ?

A. Turned on his heel and started up the street again.

Q. Did he speak to them ?

A. He just directed the time to.them. He was very much excited. That
was the first time my suspicions were aroused of there being anything wrong—
the manner of those two conversing there, and his coming down again and call-
ing the time to them.

Q. In what manner did he attract their attention?
thA The moment he appeared they observed him, and he hallooed the time to

em.

Q. How do you know they observed him ?

A. They looked at him.

Q. Did he look at them ?

A. He did.

Q. Did he speak to them ?

A. He called the time to them.
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Q. Did he address them? :
X A;l He could not, from where he stood, without having his private matters
eard.

Q. That is your conjecture ?

A. That is my conjecture, and my conjecture, I believe, is right. I have not
the least doubt of it.

Q. He did not, however, in point of fact, address them ?

A. He just told them the time in a very excited manner.

Q. And you said he could not address them because their private matters
would thereby be revealed ?

A. He could not address them unless he wanted to be heard by persons
all around them. Men engaged in such plots are generally disposed to be a little
emarter than that.

Q. Did it never strike you that it would have been more consistent, if he
was engaged in a plot like that, for him to have looked at the time and whis-
pered it to them?

A. I think there was something up H street that attracted his attention as
toon as he called the time to them. He may have been conferring with Payne,
at H street, for all I know.

Q. Don’t you think it likely he was ?

A. T do not know; I have my own conclusions.

Q. Then you account for hig failure to carry out what would have been the
ordinary course of a man in a plot of that kind—that is, to have looked at the
time and whispered it—on the ground that there was something up H street that
attracted his attention ?

A. That is why he hurried up there.

Q. Is that the reason why he called out the time in a loud voice?

A. I believe he was regulating the time for Booth, Payne, and the whole of
them to strike.

Q. He was a general commander ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you dream that ?

A. No, sir.

Q. If he was vegulating the time for all these men, who else was there within
the scope of your observation who could hear him call the time ?

"~ A. No one else. :

Q. How far is it from the theatre up to H street ?

A. T'wo blocks, I believe. He just had time, in my estimation, to walk up
there in a rapid manner and get right back again in time to call the last time.

Q. Did you see him when he went across F street ?

A. No, sir; I could not.

Q. It was moon-light, wasn’t it ?

A. The light was there right in front of the theatre, and it kind of blinded
oze in looking up in that direction.

Q. There is one point in regard to which I don’t distinctly understand you,
and I desire to do so. I asked you whether it was not more consistent that he
thould have looked at the time, and gone and whispered to these men, than to
bave hallooed out? You say you think it was because he was regulating time
for some persons up H street.

A That is my opinion.

Q. How did his calling out the time so that other people could hear it, help
to regulate the operations gn H street?

A. They conlg not hear it on H street.

?' What did he call it for, then ?

Tae Daask
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Q!/Bat youOsay(that it 'would have been more natural that he should have
whispered it ?

A. I said that,didI? He appeared to be in a very great hurry, and hadn’t
time to whisper. He did not ta}i:e time to go right to them, but stood there and
hallooed it.

Q. And then hurried up in the direction of H street ?

A. Yes, sir; I cannot say that he went clear up to H street, but I know it
just took him as much time as would be required to walk those two blocks and
back again in a rapid manner.

Q. He was a neatly dressed gentleman ?

A. He was.

Q. Most gentlemen who are dressed as neatly as you say he was carry a
watch, do they not?

A. T have seen cases where they did not.

Q. Don’t you think that a conspirator, moving upon time and seconds, would
be likely to carry a watch for the occasion ?

Mr. PIERREPONT interposed an objection to the present line of examination.
It was not the opinions, but the facts within the knowledge of the witness, that
were wanted.

Mr. MEeRRICK stated that the witness had given an opinion, and he thought
it but fair to show how that opinion arose—its absurdity, and the bias that in-
duced it. However, he would not pursue the examination on that point any
further.

Q. He did not speak to them ?

A. He just spoke the time, and then hurried up towards H street.

Q. How long a time elapsed from the time of his appearance until the time
of his diaagpearance on this second occasion ?

A. At the rate he was going, which was very fast. just about the time that
it would have taken him to have walked from there to H street.

Q. Five minutes 1

A. Well, you can judge of the time it takes to walk two blocks as well as I
can. He was walking as fast as he could walk. '

Q. You say your suspicions were very strongly excited ?

A. They were at that time. i

Q. Was it then that you undid your handkerchief from around your pistol!

A. Tt was at the time of the second calling that I undid my handkerchief
from around my pistol.

Q. What did the other two do after he left there, subsequent to the second
calling of the time ?

They remained there.

In the same position ?

Yes, sir, and in deep conversation.

How long a time elapsed before he came again upon the scene ?

1 believe it was not as long as before.

What then occurred ?

He then called ten minutes past ten o’clock.

Where was he 1

Just where the light from the vestibule shone plain on his face.

Was there anybogy clse about there at that time ?

. Sergeant Cooper.

Anybody else? .
. Yes, sir; some others, but I can’t recollect how many. I was payiog
very strict attention to those movements. -7

Q. When he called the time the third time, did he stand in the same relative.
poeition to these men and the door as when he called the second time ¢

A. Just about the same; but this time he was very nervous and excited, and

POPOPOPOPOFOS
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looked directly in the face of Booth. My suspicions were so aroused that I
obzerved him very closely—even the movements of his lips, which were thin
and pale. It was that face in that order that 1 afierwards saw in my
ms.
. How far was he from Booth ?
. About seven feet.
. Booth was down between him and the avenue, was he not ?
. Just below the door there.
‘Was he on a line with Booth ?
. The two men were standing againet the wall, and he was standing there
in conversation with them. You can judge the distance. The rough had his
back against the wall, with his face turned towards the outside of the street—
towards the curbstone. Surratt was in front of the entrance of the theatre,
standing a little nearer to the theatre, just on a line with Booth and the villain.
Q. But one was standing against the wall, and the other was fronting him ?
A. Yes, sir; Booth wasa little further out than he was. I presume, if a bee
line had been drawn, Booth would have been found to be a little further out
towards the curbstone than he was.
Q. What did he do after he called time on this third occasion ?
A. He made a very rapid disappearance up towards H street.
Q.- How was this man’s beard ?
A. He had no beard. He bad a moustache, but that was a very small
one.

B 3O O

. The light shone full on his face from the vestibule ?
. Yes, sir.

. As he looked at the clock ?

. Yes, sir.

Q. It was then you saw him ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you tell the jury it was then you saw him, and yet you did not change
your place since you originally took it on the curbstone opposite the vestibule ?
That you could see his face when he was standing between you and the light,
and looking at the clock which was in front of him?

A. T could see him very readily.

Q. Through the back of his head ?

A. No, sir; I was sitting kind of below the point where he was standing,
near the very end of the platform, and looking in the same direction that he
was—only his face was turned a little more towards the wall than mine was. I
could see his face very readily. .

Q. How far were you from him ?

A. I was about on a line with those other two.

Q. Those other two were standing between the door that leads into the
theatre and the door that leads into the restaurant ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How wide is the space between the door that leads into the theatre and
the door that leads into the restaurant ?

A. 1 presume some fifteen feet. It might not be that much.

Q. I understood you to say, yesterday, that there was pictured in that coun-

tenance great excitement and nervousness ?

A. Yes, sir; and there was.

Q. Had you ever seen John H. Surratt up to the night of the 14th?

A. Never, to my knowledge.

Q. When did you next, jt:r that, see this individual whom you call John
- H. Surratt ? .

A. 1 saw him here in Washington.
0 When ?

PO PO
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A. No, sir.
Q. Did not you request to see him?
A. No, sir. They told me I bad better go there and see whether I would
recognize him ?
Q. What did you say ?
A. I told them I would go.
Q. Did you know Booth ?
A Idid.
Q. How long had you known him ?
A. I bad known Booth during my stay here in Washington. I was here in
Washington nearly the whole of *64.
Q. Were you on social terms with him?
A. No, sir. I had seen him at the saloon. I was on social terms with the
bar-tender of that saloon below the theatre.
Q. In your dreams of Booth have you ever seen him in any other position
than that in which you saw him that night ?
A. No, sir. The one who attracted my attention more particularly than did
Booth was the villain?
Q. What is your religious faith ?
A. ] am a Protestant.
Q. Of what denomination ?
Mr. PigrgePoNT. 1 must object to that.
Mr. Megrgick. I will waive the question. I thought it possible that he was
s Swedenborgian.
Mr. PigrreroNT. We don’t desire to bring religion into this case in any
ny.
The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I have no objection to the witness disclosing his
rligion, but we object upon principle to introducing any religious inquisition
into a court of justice.
Mr. Megrick. Ihave no purpose to introduce religious inquisition, nor to fol-
low your example in any particular.
_The DisTricT ATTORNEY. I think that remark is entirely without founda-

Mr. PiErREPONT. I hope we shall avoid all such controversies, and try this
%lemn case in a solemn way.

Mr. BrRapLRY. Well, we are all solemnized now. Let’s get on.

Q. Have you ever had any communication with spiritual mediums ?

A. No, sir. I don’t believe in such foolishness as that. I cannot say that I
an a firm believer in dreams, but I have often seen things in my dreams that I
have seen before.

Q. Don’t you often in your dreams have things presented to you which are
to happen, and then have those things happen?

A, F:io not know that I have. I do not put any trust in dreams of events
that are to happen ?

Q. But have you not seen things in your dreams that had not then happened,
but which did afterwards bappen? Have you not been in positions in your life
Which were familiar to you when you thought of the past, and yet in which you
had never really been before ?

A. 1 bhave dreamed I was married, but I was not married. I was afterwards,

owever.

Q. Did you see the vision of the bride in your dreams ?

A. Well, I saw the person I had communication with—that is all. It did
happen that I got married.

Q. To the same person presented before you in your dreams ?

A YVon ala
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Q! 'Then' there'are-some of your dreams which tell of the future as well as
the past.

A;.) Yes, sir; but I never put confidence in them, or allow them to bother me.

Q. But they obtrude themselves npon you sometimes, do they not?

A. Not materially.

Q. But they do to some extent ?

A. That is the only case.

Q. Don’t you find that you sometimes have a dream recalled which it is dif-
ficult for you to shake off?

A. When I dream of falling from any height, or anything of that sort.

Q.'I mean the next day?

A. I simply think of it as a horrible dream—that is all. It soon goes away;
generally after breakfast.

Q. Did you say you were examined at the conspiracy trials.

A. T was.

Q. Did you state there that yon knew Booth ?

A. I have known him by sight. I believe I stated on the occasion of that
trial that I knew him. A photograph was handed me, and I told them that was
Booth.

Q. Did you state to that commission that the man, or one of the men, you saw
conversing there that night was J. Wilkes Booth ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I understood you to say that after these three parties lined themselves
oppogite the space the President was to pass, the man whom you called Surratt
went out to examine the earriage, and stumbled over your foot ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Afterit?

A. Yes, sir; that is, after President Lincoln didn’t come down.

Q. Did you state on your examination before the military commission that
one of the three parties had been standing out, looking at the carriage, on the
curbstone, while you were sitting there, and then went back; that they watched
awhile, and the rush came down; that many gentlemen came out and went in
and had a drink in the saloon? Then, aftey they went up, the best dressed
gentleman stepped into the saloon himegelf; remained there long enough to get
a drink, and came out in a style as if he was becoming intoxicated ? Is that
your testimony ?

A. That is my testimony ?

Q. Then, in this testimony, you state that the examination of the carriage
had been made before the rush came down, and * before the President did not
come down as they seemed to expect.” In your testimony now, as I understand
you, you say that it was ¢ after he did not come down, as they seemed to ex-
pect,” that the examination of the carriage was made ?

A. Yes, sir; the rush was a long time coming down. They did not all come
down at once.

Q. Then you think these are harmonious statements ?

A. Yes, sir; that is correct. I have thought more deeply over it, and have
figured it out since the best I could.

Q. This testimony, then, before the military commission 18 not correet, and
what you now state is correct ?

A. I see nothing wrong in it.

Q. Then why do you say you have thought more deeply over it since ? '

A. T have not changed it materially. 1

Q. Is your mind the same now that it was when you testified down at the °
arsenal ?

A. Tt is a little clearer now.

Q. In what particular is it a little clearer
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A. In the transactions in front of the theatre.

Q. Then wherein does your recollection differ now from what your recollec-
tion was at the time of that trial, with regard to the examination of the carriage ?

A. Not any at all.

Q. Then it is no clearer as to that?

A. 1t is a little clearer.

Q. Then, if it is a little clearer, in what particular is it a little clearer ?

A. There are little incidents that I did not think of before.

Mr. MerRick. I am not calling your attention to any little incidents. In
your examination before that commission youn stated that a man had been stand-
ing out and examining the carriage before the time when they expected the Presi-
dent to come down. You now state that the man went out to examine the car-
riage after the time they expected the President to come down. Which is correct ?

A. It was all about the same time. I can say that my testimony now, and
then, is just the same. I believe he was out there just immediately as they
commenced to come down. I know he was there, and know it from the fact of
my foot being in his way. I have thought deeply over this, and every particular.

Q. How large a man was J. Wilkes Booth 1

A. He was a tall man—a heavier man, a great deal, than Surratt.

Q. How tall was he ?

A. Astallas I am.

Q. How tall are youn ?

A. About five feet eleven; I was five feet ten and a half some time ago—
guess I am eleven now.

Q. How large was the mean-looking man; you say he was rather low in
stature ?

A. Yes, sir; just such a man as Edward Spangler.

Q. Without the moustache ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you as confident about the identity of Spangler, as you are about the
identity of Surratt?

A. No, sir; the shade of the wall, you know, kind of hid Spangler. Hewas
leaning against the wall; the light did not strike exactly there.

Q. Did you, or not, testify before that commission to this effect: That after
Booth (the well dressed man as you call him in this report) came out from the
galoon, he stepped up and whispered to this ruffian, (that is, the miserablest one
of the three,) and then went into the passage that leads to the stage from the
atreet ; then the smallest one stepped u a:g called the time ?

A. That was my testimony then, and it is my testimony to-day.

Q. That the smallest one of the three called the time ?

A. Yes, gir.

Q. Did you state before the military commission, when asked to describe the
third party, as is reported here: “He was better dressed than any I see here.
He had on one of the fashionable hats they wear here in Washington, with round
top and stiff brim. Q. Can you describe his dress as to color and appearance ?
A. No, sir, I cannot describe it. Q. How was the well dressed man as to size ?
A. He was not a large man—about five feet gix inches high.” Did youstate that?

A. Yes, sir; from sitting down. That is what I judged from.

Q. Do you now state that the man that called the time was five feet six inches?

A. No, sir; but from my position, sitting down on the curbstone, I should
bave judged him to be five feet six or seven inches. I paid no particular atten-
tion to that, so as to be able to judge exactly his height. .

Q. He was not a large man then, but is a large man now. The man you saw
has not changed so much as that, has he ?

A. I call a man a large man if he be only five feet high, if he is heavily built.
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Q./But/thiswas(dn inquiry as to his height, and you answered five feet six
inches ?

. A. Yes, sir; that is what I thought; I was sitting down; I did not intend
to be very precise in deseribing the size of the man. What I meant by the
smallest man was the slimmest one.

Q. You then knew that Booth was 5 feet 103 or 11 inches ; and you then
testified that the smallest man of the three called the time ?

A. T was not 8o confident of Booth being 5 feet 11 inches. I thought he was
somewhere about my own size.

Q. When you said this man was the smallest man of the three, did you mean
that he was the slimmest man of the three ?

A. T meant he was the lightest man.

Q. Now, I will ask you this question : According to your recollection of the
appearance of those men there that night, was there not of the three men one or
two who were over 5 feet 61

. Well, I am a better judge now than I was then.

. Why so?

. Because I have measured men every day.

. Has that been your business ?

. Yes, sir.

. Howso?

. As recruiting sergeant; I have to take the heights of the men. ThenI

was no judge at all. I was then not observing the height of the men particu-

larly, but what they did and said.

Q. You say you stated to the military commission that the man who had such
a villanous look was the shortest, but yet the heaviest man of the three ?

A. No, sir; I said that at the provost marshal’s office.

Q. Did they write it down there ?

A. I do not know. They sent me up to the Old Capitol prison to identify
him. I pointed out Edward Spangler as the man. He was among others who
were brought up. Sergeant Cooper was present.

Q. Was he the smallest one ? :

A. He was the largest man, although the shortest, in my way of speaking.

Q. Did you testify before the military commission as follows: Q. About
how high do you think the man dressed in slouched clothes was? A. He was
about 5 feet 8 or 9 inches high '1

A. I believe I did.

Q. Then did you not testify at the same time that the genteelly dressed man
was 5 feet 6 inches }

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then if you did that, was not the man with the slouch hat the larger of
the two ?

A. Yes, sir; he was larger in proportion. I mean by large, a man who is
stout and heavy; not that he is the tallest. I will say here that I had nota
good judgment of the man against the wall ; because he was in a leaning attitude.

Q. T understand you to say that Booth was taller than the man who called
the time ?

A. No, not particularly. I did not pay much attention to the height then;
but now, since I have looked at it, I do not believe there is much difference in
the height.

Q. Looked at what?

A. At the position of the men; at the position they had occupied.

Q. You mean, then, since you have looked at John Surratt ? i

A. No, sir; I mean since I have been in the habit—since it has become my
businesss to measure the height of men.

.
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Q. Did you state to the military commission that you paid no particular at .
tention to their heights ?

A. No, sir; I only gave what I supposed to be their heights.

Q. Can you account to this jury for the fact that when you were called upon
to speak of this man before the military commission, you should have picked out
from the three one, and said the smallest one called the time ?

A. I called him the smallest man because he was so thin.

Q. Then afterwards you stated that he was five feet six ?

A. I stated that was my judgment. .

Q. You say now that Booth was five feet ten and a half or eleven, and the
other, Spangler, five feet eight ?

A. I could not on my oath say how tall Spangler was, because he was lean-
ing against the wall and not straightened up.

Q. Can you tell us why, when you said the smallest man called the time, you
gid not explain to the commission that you referred only to heft and not to

eight ?

E. Because it was not necessary.

Q. Then you told the commmission that the smallest man of the three called
the time ; that he was five feet six ; the other five feet cight, and the other, again,
five feet ten, and never explained that you did not mean the height ?

A. No, sir; with regard to the man standing againat the wall I could not tell
what his height was, but I judged him to be the height mentioned there, when
straightened up. I did not consider my judgment then as to height worth any-
thing at all ; now, however, I do. :

Q. If you knew John Wilkes Booth at the time of the trial before the military
commisaion, why did you not tell the commission that it was Booth whom you
saw there that night 1

A. They gave me the picture in order to have me satisfy myself before them
that that was the man.

Q. Then you did not tell them that it was Booth you saw talking there ?

A. Yes, sir; I did.

Q. How did you tell them?

A. I told them it was Booth who came out of the restaurant. 'T'hey showed
me his photograph. and I told them that was the man to whom I referred.

Q. Did not they show you that photograph at the provost marshal’s office
before going down to the military coramission ?

A 'Fhey did not.

Q. Let me ask you if this is correct—

“Q. How was the well-dressed man as to size ?

«A. He was not a very large man—about five feet six inches high.”

Did you testify to that ?

A, I'did; but I had no reference to height.

Q. Then why did you say “five feet six inches high?"

A. I put that in afterwards. I meant that he was not a very large man. A
man forty-four inches across the breast is a large man, in my opinion, if he be
ouly five feet four inches in height.

6. When you were examined before the military commission did you see
.‘% fresent the same man who had examined you at the provest marshal’s

ce

A. No, sir; not to my knowledge. I did not get to see the cross-examiner
atall. The man who was cross-examining was sitting in the rear of me. 1 was
ot allowed to face him at all; I faced the major generals. The questions were
%ked me from the other side.

Q. Did you, in your examination before the military commission, give an
Qescription of the individual—the third party—whom you now call John H.
| N
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A/VI\did.

Q. Did you say then anything about the light shining on his face ?

A. T cannot now recollect whether I did or did not say anything about the
light.

Q. Did you say anything about his pale face?

A. I have not read my testimony over for some time.

Q. I am not asking whether you have read your testimony or not, but as to
what you testified to.

The CourT. Mr. Merrick, do you propose in the cross-examination of each
of these witnesses to take up the testimony delivered somewhere else, and go
through it seriatim, and inquire why they did not say this, and why they did
not say that ?

Mr. Megrrick. No, sir.

The CourT. If there is anything in regard to which you wish to contradict
the witness, thie proper way is to lay the foundation by asking him whether he
said so and so. That is the usual rule. We will never get through in this
way. You have now been two hours examining this witness.

Mr. Mereick. I think it was very profitably spent, your honor, although it
may appear rather self-complimentary to say so. I do not wish. sir, to trans-
gress any rule, but to keep entirely within proper limits.

The CourT. I do not object to considerable latitude, but the cross-examina-
tion ought to be kept within bounds, and with some regard to the general rules
of evidence on the subject.

The court here took a recess for fifteen minutes.

AFTERNOON SESSION.

Cross-examination of Sergeant DYE continued :

By Mr. MERRICK:

Q. Will you state whether there was anything else that excited your suspi-
cions except what you have already told the jury ?

A. No, sir.

Q. At what time in the relation of incidents did your suspicions become ex-
cited ?

A. At the second calling of time.

Q- It was then you-undid your pistol ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you think it anything remarkable to see Booth about that day ?

A. No.

Q. It was only remarkable, as I understaind you, that a well dressed man
should have been conversing with so villanous a looking man ?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. I desire that you will describe to the jury, as near as yon can, the location
of that clock ?

A. To my recollection, just as you went into the theatre, you look right be-
fore you and you will see it. To my mind the clock was right in front of you
in the vestibule.

Q. Right in front of the middle door, was it ?

A. That is my recollection ; it was right square up before you as you go in.

Q. You could not see it from where you were siiting ?

A. No, sir; I could not see inside the door.

Q. You were sitting on the edge of the plank, as I understand ; was the car-
riage above or below you ?

A. The carriage was above me—the rear part of it.

Q. Which way were you facing as you sat on the platform ?

A. Facing the theatre.
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Q!'Yot have #aid_that Cyou went afterwards to take some oysters ; please to
tell the jury what was the nature of the suspicion you had ?

A. I thought there was something wrong going on, or that was not right.

Q. Of what nature ?

A. I thought it was something a?lainst the President, but I could not say.
The excited manner of the man calling the time and his frequent whispering
there was what attracted my attention.

(Objection by district attorney that the suspicions of a witness are not admis-
gible. Much latitude is to be allowed in cross-examination, but counsel for the
defence have transcended the discretion allowed even upon cross-examination.

The court said there was no objection to a witness stating as a part of the res
geste, that certain actions of other parties excited suspicion in his mind, but it
was inadmissible to examine him as to the nature of those suspicions.

Mr. Bradley admitted that the question would be inadmissible on an examina-
tion in chief, but held it to be within the legitimate limits of cross-examination.

The court ruled the question to be inadmissible.

Exception to ruling taken by counsel for defence.)

Q. You went, as you have stated, to the oyster-house; what did you do after
you went there ?

A. Ordered oysters.

Q. What next?

A. We sat down to eat them. I do not recollect whether we ate all of them

ornot; I do not think we did. A man came rushing in and said the President
was shot.

Q. What did you do then?

A. We immediately got up and started for camp.

Q. Why did you go out to camp ?

A. We went out to camp because we did not know but there would be a detail
made of a guard.

Q. Was that all you did after you satarted out of the oyster-house ? .

A. Yes, sir; we hurried out to camp. I was the first one who told General
Hall, after I got there, that the President had been shot.

Q- How came you to tell this lady at the window on H street that Booth had
shot the President ?

A. The man who came into the saloon said it was Booth. It confirmed my
suspicions immediately, and I so spoke to Sergeant Cocper, that I was right in
my suspicions in front of the theatre of their actions.

Q. Have you ever testified to that before in any of your examinations ? Have
you ever stated this affair on H street ?

A. I have not. This occurred to me a long while afterwards. I never knew
vwhere the Surratt’s lived until within three months.

Q. It occurred to you after that trial

A. O, yes; after I ascertained they lived on H street, I asked where the
house was, and since I have arrived here I went to the house, and the house
was familiar to me.

Q. I understand you to say that the lady you saw then resembled the one you
saw at the conspiracy trial

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did that strike you when you saw her at the conspiracy trial ?

A. No, sir; it did not.

Q. When did it firat strike you ?

A. Since I learned of the house on H street,

Q. Did not you know the house on H street at that time ?

A. No, sir ; 1 never knew it until I came to this city lately. '

Q. Then it never struck you that the lady you saw at tge conapiracy tria
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resembled 'the lady you #aw on H street, until you learned that Mre. Surratt’s
house was on H street ?

A. Not until I learned that she lived there, and the relation of the house to
the incidents that had occurred.

Q. How long after the trial was that ?

A. Some time after. Since I came back to the city.
hQ. ?You did not know at the time of the trial that Mrs. Surratt’s house was
there

A. No, sir, I did not.

Q. What recalled this to your mind ?

A. When I learned that her house was on H street, after I came back to
‘Washington.

Q. Two years afterwards ?

A. Yes, sir; I remember that she was an elderly lady.

. Then you saw Mrs. Surratt on the trial, as I understand you, within two or
three weeks of the occurrence on H street, and it never struck you that she re-
sembled the lady who looked out of the window that night ?

A. No, sir; it was when the question was raised in the press of the country
that Mrs. Surratt had been condemned unjustly that all this came into my
mind about her. I learned that she lived on H street, and 1 remembered the per-
son asking what was going on down town, in a state of excitement, although no
person had passed that way. I thought it was a person who knew something
was coming off down town ; that is it. I believe it in my own mind, too, that
she knew all about it, and was waiting with a dim light in the parlor.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. You stated in your cross-examination that your judgment two years ago
about men’s height was not of any value, but that it is now of considerable value;
why is it of greater value now than it was two years ago?

-6uestion objected to by Mr. Bradley as having been already answered.

Mr. Pierrepont thought not, directly.

The CourT. The record taken by the stenographers will show that the wit-
ness was asked this question, and he answered that his judgment was better now
than then, because for the last year or more he had been engaged in enlistin
men; that it was his business to take the height of every man he enlisted, ang
that in that way he had become an expert or judge of the height of different

persons. :
Mr. PierrREPONT. I am quite content with that statement. I will ask the

witness but one other question.

Q. State whether you have ever had a habit of considering or speaking of
men 5 feet 6 inches high—men weighing 130 —as large men or small men.

Mr. BrabLey. We object to that question.

Mr. PierrEPONT. The question is in response to questions they have asked
the witness in relation to large men and small men.

The CouRT. And he has answered that he estimated the size of men by their

heft rather than by their height.
Mr. PigrrEPONT. That is all I desire to have understood.

By a Juror:

Q. I wish to ask the witness whether he saw the entire full face of the pris-
oner from the position he occupied on the carriage step on the night in ttuesﬁon?

A. T eaw all the time three-quarters of it, and a part of the time the whole
it.

By another Jugror:
Q. How was the prisoner dressed on the night of the assassination ?
A. His coat was drab, his hat was something like this hat I have here, but 80
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exactly’;/\one of these fashionable round-top, stiff-brimmsd. It appeared, to my
recollection, to have been black.

Q. How as to the pants?

A. I do not recollect.

Q. Had he on a watch chain or guard that night ?

A. I did not observe any.

PETER TALTAVUL 8worn and examined.

By Mr. PIERREPONT :
Q. Where did you live on the 14th of April, 1865, on the day the President
was murdered ?
. I lived on Eighth street east, at the Navy Yard, between G and I, south.
Where was your place of business ?
On Tenth street.
. What was your business ?
. I kept a restaurant.
. Where was that ?
. Right next to Ford’s theatre.
. Were you in the restaurant at the time the murder was committed ?
I was. :
Did you know John Wilkes Booth ?
Yes, sir.
Had you frequently seen him there, or otherwise ?
. He used to come in there very often.
You knew him well by sight ?
Yes, sir.
Did he come in that evening ?
. He came in that night.
What did he do ?’
He walked up to the bar and called for some whiskey.
What did you do ?
I gave it to him.
State whether he was alone.
He was.
Did he drink it ?
Yes, sir.
Then what did he do.
. He called for some water. I did not give him any water when he calles
for the whiskey. It is usual to give water, but I did not give it to him. He
called for water, and I gave it to him. He laid the money on the counter and
went right out.
. State how he appeared as to coolness or nervousness.
. I did not see anything unusual in him at all.
. Nothing unusual in his dress ?
. No, sir.
. He was dressed in his usual way—no disguise ?
. No, sir; no disguige.
. How many minutes after he took that drink was it before you heard the
President was assassinated ? .
A. As near a8 I can come at it, it must have been from eight to ten minutes.
Q. Had you seen Booth often before ?
A. T used to see him almost every day.
Q. Who bad you geen him with near the time of this occurrence ?
A. T could not exactly recollect. He used to come in with several gentlemen ;
metimes with one, and sometimes with another.
Q. I will call your attention to a particular time. Did you see him with any
Person charged as one of the conspirators ?
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A. 1 saw him two or three days before with Herold.
Q. Where was that ?
A. In the same place; he came in there.
Q State what occurred.
- I could not exactly say. I think they just came in—came to the bar and

ot a drink ; probably had a little conversation together, and went out again.
% could not particularly describe what passed there at all, not taking any par-
ticular notice.

Q. On the night of the murder did you see this same Herold come in?

A. No, sir; 1 did not.

Q. On that night or the night previous did any one come in and inquire for
Booth ?

A. No, sir; that was in the afternoon. In the afternoon of the same day
Herold came in there and asked if I had seen John. I asked him what Jobn.
He said John Wilkes Booth. I told him I had not seen him.

Q. What, then, did he say; did he ask you anything; and if so, what?

A. No, he simply came to the bar and inquired if ohn had been there. I
asked him what John, and he said John Wilkes Booth. .

Q. Did be ask you whether he had been there that day or evening?

A. No, sir; he just shut the door and went right out.

Q. And between the time Herold came in and the time Booth came in, JI!B
before the assassination, you had not seen either ?

A. No, sir.

Q. At what time in the afternoon of the 14th was it that Herold came in ?

A. T judge it must have been about 4 o’clock, as near as I can possibly think
of it.

Q. At the time Booth came in and took a drink, just before the assassination,
was there anything in his dress or appearance to awaken suspicion in your
mind ?

A. No, sir; I did not take notice of anything unusual at all. He just came
in there and asked for a drink. )

Davip C. REED sworn and examined.

By Mr. PIRRREPONT:

. In what city do you live?

In Washington city.

. How many years have you lived here ?

. About thirty years.

Do you know the prisoner at the bar by sight? (prisoner made to stand

=
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I do.

How long have you known him by sight ?

Since quite a boy.

Since you or he was quite a boy ?

Since he was quite a boy.

. Were you in the city of Washington on the day of the murder of tht
President?

A. T was.

Q. Did you see the prisoner at the bar on that day in Washington ?

A. T think I did.

Q. Where did you see him?

A. Teaw him on Pennsylvania avenue just below the National Hotel. !
was standing as he passed just in front of where Mr. Steer keeps the sewing:
machine atore.

Q. Which way was he going ?

A. From towards the Capitol.
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Q. Abont what time of 'the day of the 14th was it?

A. Tt was about half past two, as near as I can recollect—between two and
half paat two.

Q. Had you had a nodding acquaintance with him at all?

A. I had; I knew him, and I suppose he knew me. There was no intimate
acquaintance at all. I recognized him when I met him.

. As he passed did you recognize him, or he you ?

(Question objected to by Mr. ﬁnradley a8 leading.)

Q. As he passed, state what occurred.

A. There was a recognition; whether it was by him or me first, I am unable
to say.

Qy State whether it was by both.

Al i could not state positively whether I nodded first or he did; we both
nodded.

Q. Will you state whether there was anything about his dress or equipments
on that occasion which attracted your attention ?

A. There was.

Q. Will you tell the jury what it was?

A. What attracted me more particularly was his dress rather than his face.
I remarked his clothing very particularly.

Q. What was there about him that attracted your attention?

A. The appearance of the suit he wore—very genteel; something like country
manufactured goods, but got up in a very elegant style, the coat, vest and panta-
loons. '

Q. Was there any reason why you noticed his clothes? If so, state it to the
jury.

A. I cannot say there was anything particular, except his appearance so re-
markably genteel. I was rather struck with his appearance.

Q. State whether he was on foot or on horseback.

A. He was on foot.

Q. What was there on his feet ?

(Question objected to by Mr. Bradley as leading.

Objection overruled.)

A. I suppose he had boots or shoes. As he passed from me I turned and
looked at his feet. He had on a new pair of brass spurs.

Q. Now describe these spurs.

A. They were plain common brass spurs; nothing very particular about them

except the rowel.

Q. What was there about the rowel ?

A. The rowel was very large and xery blue; they evidently were bran new.

Q. What was upon his head ?

A. He had on a felt bat. It was not one of these very low-crowned hats; it

had a rather wide brim, a sort of drab-color felt hat.

Q. State whether the brim was a stiff or a limber one.

A. Tt was a stiff-brimmed hat.

Q. Which way did he go after passing you?

A. He was passing up the avenue towards the Metropolitan Hotel from where

I was standing.
Q. State whether his gait was rapid or slow ?
A. It was not very rapid; an orSinary pace in walking; nothing very hasty.

Cross-examined :

By Mr. BRADLEY:
Q. What was it that attracted your attention about his dress; was it a par-
ticolarly fine dress ?
A. It was a singular dress—one that I had never seen him wear before. It
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* wag/very- ' gentéel - ‘and' very pretty. I noticed him coming up; I stood facing
“him as he passed; I was standing on an elevated position, probably eight inches
above the pavement.

Q. Was bhe in the habit of dressing genteelly or not ?

A. T had never seen him dressed in a suit of clothes anything like that before;
I cannot say but what he was in the habit of dressing genbeeﬁly.

Q. How did he usually dress when yousaw him?

A. T cannot say that I could describe any particular dress. Sometimes I have
geen bim in rather rough costume as he would come in from the country; at
other times I have seen him dressed as genteely as anybody that walks the
street.

Q. How long had you been in the habit of seeing him come in from the
country ?

A. Fifteen years, as nearly as I can recollect.

Q. What was he doing; what was he engaged in ?

A. T have seen him here market days, I suppose, passing and repassing.

Q. Did he stand in market ?

A. T cannot say; I never saw him standing in market.

Q. At what intervals of time were you in the habit of seeing him during
that fifteen years?

A. I could not come at how often I had seen him in that fifteen years; it
would be very hard for me to say.

Q. When did you see bim last before you saw him on the 14th of April?

A. T cannot exactly name the time—that is, give the date. It was about the
{’ime gf the opening of the race-course across the river beyond the Eastern

ranch.

Q. You gaw him then and there?

A. I saw him then and there.

Q. You mean the first openiag ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q2. For how long a time had you been accastomed to see him coming in from
the country ?

A. I could not give exact dates; I have seen bim since he was quite a boy;
I have seen him here with his father.

Q. How often gince he was grown ?

A. That I could not say positively, as to the number of times; there was
nothing remarkable about it by which I could fix any particular number—ten,
twenty, fifty, or any other number.

Did you ever meet with him anywhere except passing ?

A. I have met him at the livery stable, where he stood talking.

Q. What livery stable ?

A. Pumphrey’s ; they used to put up there, but subsequently changed to the
brick stable across the way.

Q. When was that; how long before this event ?

A. It was a considerable time before the death of his father.

Q. Do you remember when his father died ?

A. I think his father died some timec in 1863—somewhere about that veigh-
borhood.

Q. Four years ago ?

A. I think he has been dead near about that time.

Q. Were you ever at his father’s house ?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. How long ago was that ?

A. In 1851.

Q. Sixteen years ago ; how large was Jobn Surratt at that time.

A. He was a little chunk of a boy, probably so high. (Three feet.)
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Q. How often were you at their house ?

A. T was there on three occasions.

Q. In what year ?

A. During the fall of 1851.

Q. How often since then?

A. 1 have not been there since.

Q. Where did you meet him at any time between then and the fall before
the death of Mr. Lincoln ?

A. I have seen bim in the city.

Q. Where?

A. As I have said, at the livery stable, and I have seer? him on the street.

Q. Did you ever talk with him at the livery stable ?

A. That I cannot say positively ; whether I ever entered into conversation
with him more than merely speaking.

Q. Do you recollect ever to have said that he had been in your room since
you knew him ?

A. 1 said I thought he had, but I was mistaken.

Q. Have you not said you have seen him in your room frequently ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you recollect telling any citizen of your acquaintance that the place
where you met him at the time you have mentioned on the 14th of April was
further up the avenue, above Gth street ?

A. No, sir; I never said so.

Q. Do you recollect having said to any acquaintance of yours what his age
was or his personal appearance ?

A. I described his personal appearance.

Q. With any citizen, in conversation, do'you recollect saying that he was a
man about 35 years old ?

A. From 30 to 35 years old I supposed he might be.

Q. You say your attention was not particularly drawn to Surratt’s face at
that time ; can you state whether he had any beard or not ?

A. I cannot say Yositively whether he had, or not; if he had. it was so
glight as to be scarcely perceivable.

Q. Do yon mean so light in color or in growth ?

A. So light in color and in growth.

Q. So that if he had a beard you do not recollect it ?

A. I do not recollect any at all.

Q. What livery stable did you go to after his father’s death ?

A. To the brick stable belonging to Marshall Brown. His father changed

fom Pumphrey’s to that before his death.

Q. Who kept that stable then ?

A, Levi Pumphrey.

Q. Do you mean the stable at the corner of 6th and C streets ?

A. Yes, sir; at the corner of 6th and C streets.

Q. Where did young Surratt put up his horse after his father’s death ?

A. Whether he pntiis horse there or not I am not sure. I have seen him
it the stable, but I have no recollection of seeing him stop there on horseback
tince the death of his father.

Q. Do you recollect where Surratt the elder lived when you visited him ?

A. Away down here in Maryland.

Q. In what ir called Surrattaville?

A. It was not called Surrattsville then ; it was called John Surratt’s.

Q. What was there at the place called John Surratt’s?

A. He kept a hotel and a post office.

Mr. Bradley desired to have the privilege of recalling Mr. Reed for croes-
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examination at-some future'time, after the defence should bave consulted with 2
witness now out of the cit

Mzr. Carrington obJecte({ to this course, a8 being without precedent, and held
that there was no rule of court that justified such a course.

Mr. Bradley argued that it was a matter within the sound discretion of the
court. The defence expected to prove that Mr. Reed had made statements out
of court contradictory to what had been testified to in court. The defence,
however, did not know that Mr. Reed was to be called, and they could not put
the question in form until the absent witness referred to was here.

The decision of the question was reserved until to-morrow morning.

.
SusAN ANN Jackson (colored) sworn and examined.

By Mr. PiERREPONT :

How long ago were you married ?

. I have been married two years this May.

. What was your name before marriage ?

. Susan Ann Mahoney.

Were you married before or after the assassination of the President ?

. I was married two weeks after it.

. You remember that event do you ?

. Yes, sir.

- Do you remember where you were living iu the month of March, or the
latter part of March, of the year in which the President was assassinated, before
you were married ?

1 was living at Mrs. Surratt’s.

. On what street was Mrs. Surratt's?

On H street, between 6th and 7th.

. And as you go up that way east, on which side of the street is it?

. On the right-hand side.

Do you remember the number ?

. No, sir, I do not.

Do you remember about the entrance or stoop of the house, how that
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was }

A. There were high steps run up in front.

Q. State to the jury about how iigh, whether they went up to the story or
not.

A. It was up to the second story, pretty near the windows.

Q. Then it was very high, was it ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where did you go from when you went to Mrs. Surratt’s in March—from
whose service did you go?

A. Mrs. Brown’s.

Q. Where did Mrs. Brown live?

A. Bhe lived on the island.

Q. Do you know Mrs. Brown’s first name, or her husband’s name ? _

A. No, sir, T donot. I did not stay there very long. -

Q. Do you remember the Good Friday in the April following the March J
when you went to Mrs. Surratt’s.

A. No, sir; I don’t remember the very day I went there.

Q. Do you remember the Good Friday following that day, or any circun-
stances about that Good Friday in April 7

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether Mrs. Surratt went away that day ?

11& l:'es She went down in the country on Good Friday, between 11 and 12
o’clock.

Q. In what did she go ?
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A. Bhe went in a buggy.

Q. Did you see the man who went with her ?

A. Mr. Weichman.

Q. Did you see him ?

A. Yes, sir. He boarded there at the same time.

Q. You would know him now, if you were to see him ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see Mr. Weichman when he came back with Mrs. Surratt

A. Yes, sir; I saw him when he came back with Mrs. Surratt.

Q. About what time in the evening did Mrs. Surratt return ?

A. As near as I can recollect, it was between 8 and 9 o’clock.

b Q. After that, on that evening, will you tell us whether you saw the prisoner
ere ?

Witygss. That one sitting over there? (pointing to the prisoner.) .

Mr. PierREPONT. Yes.

A. Yes, sir; I have seen him in the dining-room.

‘Who was with him ?

His motber was with him.

What did bis mother say to you ?

. I do not know.

. Had you ever seen him before ?

No, sir; I had never seen him before.
How long had you lived in the house 1
. T had been there three weeks.

Q. What did his mother say ?

A. She told me that was her son.

Q. What else did she say to him, or about him ?

A. Bhe did not say anything else. WhenI was gathering up some clothes to
put in the wash, I asked if they were for Mr. Weichman, and she said no, they
were for her son.

Q. Did she say anything about who he looked like ?

A. She asked me did he not look like his sister Annie.

Q. What did you ray to that ?

ﬁ‘A. g said I did not know; I did not take good notice of him to see who he
vored.

Q. Who was it that asked you if be did not look like his sister Annie ?

A. Mrs. Surratt.

Q. Did you bring anything into the room you have spoken of where she was
titing with her son ?

A. I had just brought a pot of tea into the room.

Q. Who was in the room when you brought in the pot of tea ?

A. Not any one, except her son. ‘

Q. Do you gee any one now who she told you then was her son?

A. Yes, sir; I am looking at him now.

Q. State whether that is the one.

(The prisoner made to stand up.)

. That is the man, sir.

After you took in the pot of tea, what did you do?

. Just went out again.

. Did you return again?

. No, sir; I did not return in the room any more.

. Will you tell us, a8 near as you can, about what time in the evening you
took in the pot of tea?

A. As near as I can come at it, she came home between 8 and 9 o’clock.
Well, when she came home and came to the dining-room, I carried in supper for
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Mr!'Weichman, the ' man-who boarded there. After he went out she called me

and asked me for a second plate, cup, and saucer. I carried them to her.

Q. And then you found this man there ?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you know his sister Annie ?

A. Yes, sir; she lived there.

Q. She was in the house?

A. Yes, sir.

Cross-examined :

By Mr. BRADLEY :
Q. Were you ever examined as a witness about this matter before ?
A. Yes, sir; Mr. Orrut examined me—or Captain Orfutt. I am not sure
about the name. .
. Where were you examined ?
He carried me down to his office—I forget where it was—in the night.
. When was that?
Monday night after the assassination happened.
They took you down to a guard-house, or some place?.
. They took me to the office.
Do you recollect where it was ? .
No, sir; I had never been there before. I do not recollect where it was.
ink it was somewhere near the Treasury.
‘Who took you there—do you remember ?
No, sir; I went in a back.
You were examined there?
Yes, sir.
Did they write down your examination 7 -
Yes, sir.
You were not examined afterwards ?
No, sir; not then. I was not.
Were you at any time after this? ]
. Yes, sir; since then I have been down to what they call the War De-
partment; in the course of last week, I think it was.
Q. How long after the assassination ?
A. It was just last week I was canied down to the War Department. Mr.
Kelly carried me.
Q. And you were examined there? ‘
A. Yes, sir. |
Q. Do you remember who examined you there ? '
* A. No, sir; I do not know the gentleman’s name.
Q. Was what you stated then written down ?
A. Yes, gir; it was written down.
Q. When you were examined before General Augur, if that was the place,
did you then make the same statement you do now ?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You stated that Mrs. Surratt’s son was there that night?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What became of him ?
A. I do not know, indeed; I did not see any more of him.
Q. You saw him about 9, or half past 9?
A. It was between 8 and 9 when she came—after Mr. Weichman and she
took tea, she called me to bring a pot of tea to this gentleman.
Q. Was Mr. Weichman in there also ?
A. No, sir; there was not any oune there at all; he was gone out.
Q. Did he come into the same room ?
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A. No, sir; he was not in there with Mr. Weichman.
Q. Who came in from the country with Mrs. Surratt ?
. Mr. Weichman.
. Where did he go then !
. I suppose he went up stairs to bed, or somewhere.
Where was thiz gentleman then ?
I do not know.
You had seen him before that?
. No, 8ir; I had never seen him until that night.
. And when you went into the parlor you found him eitting in the dining-
m. and Mrs. Surratt told you it wae her son ?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And this i3 the very same gentleman ?
A. Yes, sir; this is the very same gentleman who was in there with Mrs.
rratt.
2. And that you told to these gentlemen and they wrote it down the Monday
rrwards ? .
A. Yes, sir.
Q- And you never saw him before then, or since ?
A. No, sir; never before nor since, until one day last week when he was
ught up here.
. And you are sure he is the very same man ?
. He is the very same man she told me was her son.
. And the very same man you saw. at her house?
. The very same man I saw the night after she came in from the country.
. The night of the assassination ?
. Yes, sir; the same night.
. You say you had been living there three weeks; was it just three weeks?
. Yes, sir; three weeks on Monday.
. Now if you can go back a little, are you quite sure the gentleman you saw
re, who she told you was her son, was not there on Monday, ten days before
assassination of the President ?
\. I never saw that gentleman she called her son until Friday night.
- You are sure it was Friday night ?
\. Yes, sir; it was the Friday night she came from the country.
J- And that was the night the President was assassinated ?
\. Yes, sir; it was the very night she came from the country; it was the
day night before Easter Saturday.
3 Do you not recollect the night the President was assassinated ?
A. It was Friday night.
) Was that the same night you saw this gentleman there ?
A. It was the very night I saw this gentleman there.
3- You must have been there the night of the 3d April, the Monday night of
week before the President was assassinated ?
A. I was there a week in March.
3 Did you not see him there on that Monday night the week before the
sident was asassinated ?
A. No, sir; not as I know of, I did not see him there the week before; I saw
100 Friday night.
By Mr. PIERREPONT :
). You stated that you went into the dining-room, and that when you were
here Mrs. Surratt told you the person there was her son; did you go there

rour own accord, or did she you in {
.. She called me in to bring a clean plate and cup ; yes, sir.
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JAMES . SANGSTER sworn and examined.
By Mr. PIERREPONT :

If your honor please,in consequence of this witness being out of the jurisdic-
tion of the United States, we are obliged to go a little out of our order so that
he may return; I will therefore examine him now.

Q. Where do you reside ?

A. Montreal, Canada.

Q. Where did you reside in April, 18657

A. Montreal.

Q. What was then and now your position ?

A. Book-keeper at St. Lawrence Hall.

Q. Will you take this book and state to the court and jury what it is ?

A. That is an arrival book.

Q. Take these and state what they are.

A. One contains a copy of the bills rendered, and the other is a leaf from our
departure book, in which is writien the number of the room the parties occupied,
when they go away, or by what train or boat.

Q. Explain what you mean by arrival book.

A. Parties come there and register their names before procuring rooms.

Q. Will you state how you know when a party leaves your house, what train
he will take, and in what direction ?

A. The entry is made in this departure book of the train or boat of the party
going away. :

Q. Now turn to this arrival book, or register, as we are accustomed to callit,
and will call it, to April 6, 1865, and state whether you see there the name of
John Harrison?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Please now show the book to the court and then the jury, (entry pointed
out by witness to court and jury.) Now turn to the next arrival with the same
name and tell us what day of April it is under ?

A. The 18th.

Q. Now can you tell us whether the last is the same handwriting as the first!
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Will you tell us from that register at what time in the day that arrival
was

A. 12.30 noon.

Q. What was the time of the firat arrival 7

A. 10.30 a. m.

Q. Will you now show these names to the jury ? (Register exhibited to jury
and entries pointed out.) Now will you tell the court and jury, after the arrival
on the 6th, when was the departure of the man who entered his name as Jobn
Harrison; tell us when he paid his bill, when he departed, and by what train!
. He paid his bill on the 10th, but did not go away.

. When did he go away ?

He went away on the 12th.

How do you know he did not go away on the 10th?

It is written opposite the number of the room, “ Not gone.”

How do you know he went away on the 12th ?

. His bill was paid on the 12th for two days.

. Turn and see if there is anything there that proves that.

. The name is entered in this bill book, with the amount paid on the 10th,
four days; then it is on this departure book that he staid two days, and went
away on the 12th.

Q. Which way did he go ?

A. On the New York train.

>
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left the hotel instauntly, did he?
left it instantly.

:xamined :
y Mr. BRADLEY, jro:
1 say he left the hotel instantly on the 1Sth. What is the entry on the

ere is no entry excepting the name on the register.

may have been there or somewhere else ?

may have been; he paid no bill.

d had no room assigned him?

3; he had a room assigned to him. :

d he may have been there without your knowing it ?

.may possibly have been thére.

you identify this gentleman at the hotel as the prisoner at the bar?

, 8ir; I cannot say that I identify him.

ve you ever seen the prisoner at the bar before you came here ?

annot say that.

e there any circumstances that would recall this man to you?

e circumstancee were, that after the death of Lincoln parties came there
for him, and from the description they gave of his dress I remembered
urty there answering to that deacription.

bat was this dress ?

: wore what is called a Garibaldi jacket.

y the CourT:

2at is a Garibaldi jacket ?

is a kind of straight coat, or jacket, with a belt of the same material.

y Mr. BRADLEY, jr.:

+ you recollect anything else peculiar about his dress ?

:emember that he was tall—nothing more than that. At the time of
(uiries I remembered that such a party had been in the house. I do
mber now his appearance except that he wore a Garibaldi jacket.
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Q."Was'the’bat hard or'soft ?
A. My impreseion is, it was a soft bat.
By Mr. PIERREPONT :

Q. You saw the prisoner standing up just now. What do you say as to height
compared with this man ?

A. I do not remember much about it.

Q. Do you remember what description was given of this John Harrison by
the parties who came to inquire ?

A. I do not remember exactly what the description was. I remember they
gave such a description that I knew the party had been in the house; what it
was I do not recollect. .

Mr. PigrrePoNT. I am informed by counsel upon the other side that they
are going to bring in a dress they claim to correspond to that of this John Har-
rison ; I will not, therefore, ask any further question at present.

Mr. Braprey. I will say that we had sent a subpcena for Mr. Sangster for
the purpose of proving these facts. I state it in order to ascertain how far it
may be taken as a stipulation that the prisoner, John H. Surratt, on the 6th of
April, 1865, arrived at that hotel, and entered his name on the register as John
Harrison ; that he left there on the 12th of April, returned on the 18th, and
again registered his name as John Harrison.

Mr. PierrePoNT. And that these two entries are in his handwriting.

Mr. BRapLEY. That he registered that identical name. We wish to exhibit to
Mr. Sangster not the dress worn by the prisoner, but a dress of the same kind.

Mr. PierrepoNT. That will certainly save us the necessity of taking a very
considerable amount of evidence.

The dress referred to was here brought into court, and the question asked
by Mr. Bradley, jr., « Is that the style of garment worn by the person entering
his name as John Harrison on the occasion referred to "’ Ans, « Thateis the
style of garment.”

The court took a recess until to-morrow at 10 a. m.

: WEDNESDAY, June 19, 1867.
The Court met at 10 a. m.
The court said that on Monday a request had been made by the counsel

for the defence to have the court direct the prosecuting attorneys to furnish

them with a list of the witnesses who were to be examined on the part of the
government. He had carefully considered the subject, and had come to the
conclusion that he had no power to make such an order, and that such an order
would look like an infringement on the rights of the prosecution in thus com-
pelling them to make known and lay open their case. There were various rea-
sons why the order should not be made. It would gratify him to accommodate

{.he counsel in this respect, if he could do so consistently with his view of the

aw.

In regard to the subject proposed yesterday, relative to the defence being
allowed the privilege of retaining witnesses and cross-examining them at any
time during the trial, he won!d say that he had never known that course of
practice to be allowed, and could not see any good ground for permitting it in
this case. The same principle should apply in this case as in all others, which
was that the cross-examination be restricted to the subject-matter brought out
on the examination in chief. He then read the rule as set forth by the Supreme
Court, to the effect that the defence had no right to cross-examine except as to
matters brought out on the examination in chief.

Mr. Bradley said they were advertised of a list of seventy witnesses which
the prosecution had, but they knew nothing as to what these witnesses would
testify to, and could not therefore contradict them, and they had accordingly
askeg that the cross-examination of each witness be postponed.
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CarroL '"HoBART, conductor, sworn and examined.

By Mr. PIBRREPONT :

Q. What is your present occupation ?
A. I am running the train on the line of the Vermont Central railroad.
Q. Will you tell the jury from what point to what point that train runs ?
A-trial run it from White River Junction to St. Albans. The train runs to
m
Q. Where is this White River Junction ?
A. It is on the line of the Vermont Central railroad, at the terminus of the
nm New Hampshire railroad. It is on a direct route from Boston to
n . [
Q. State how far this is from Burlington.
A. One hundred and three miles.
Q. Does the road from Burlington unite with this road of yours?
A. Yes, sir. It is the Vermont Central and the Vermont and Canada prop-
ly. We run out of the Vermont and Canada road at Essex Junction. T'he
:rmont and Canada starts from Easex Junction, and runs to Rouse’s Point.
he Vermont Central and the Vermont and Canada is a consolidated concern.
Q. In starting trom Burlington, Vermont, the road goes to Rouse’s Point ?

A. Yes, sir. I go twenty-four miles over the Vermont and Canada road to
) to St. Albans. I remain there one day, and the next morning I start and
o twenty-four miles to Rouse’s Point. That night I return and go back to
Vhite River Junction, the whole length of the route.

Q. 8o that, then, the Burlington train comes up and meets your train ?

A Yes, sir; that comes up to Essex Junction, and the passengers from that
riin get on to mine. I stay that day and that night at St. Albaus.

% {)3 you take the Burlington passengers at Essex Junction ?

o.

Q. From there you take them to St. Albans ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. At what time do you get to St. Albans, if you run regularly ?

A. 1 was due there at G o’clock in the morning.

Q. Between the 10th day of April, 1865, auf the 20th day of April, 1865,
tate whether you were the conductor on this same road ?

4. I was, and have continued to be ever since.

Q. Do you remember about what time in April, 1865, the first boat came up
e lake, t{at left passengers at Burlington ?

A. T got the passengers from the first trip up the lake by the beat on Tues-
iy morning, in April.

Q. Have you any memorandum of what kind of a night it was prior to this
oming that you took these passengers; I mean as to whether it was stormy
*otherwige ? :
A I think it was a clear night, but I am not sure.

Q. At what time in the morning or night was it that your train started ?

A I started from White River Junction at 11.55 at night; I cannot say
thether we were then on time or not, but that was the time of starting.

Q. Where did you go ?

A. Directly to St. Albans.

Hl'lih; prisoner was here requested to stand up, that the witness might see him.

e did s0.)

Q.‘Will you tell the jury what occurred on the train that night that was
peealiar }

. A lamived at Essex Junction at 5 o’clock in the morning—Tuesday morn-

g, 1left Essex Junction with the passengers from Burlington and the boat

12
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on Lake Champlain: ' As-I'went through the train, I found between the passen-
ger car and the sleeping car two men standing on the platform ; they were on
the platform of the passenger car, one on each side of the door. I spoke to
these men, and asked them for their tickets. They said they had none, and
that they had no money ; that they had been unfortunate.

Q. Please describe these men ?

A. One of them was tall; he was about my height as he stood up in the car;
he was rather slim; had on a scull cap—one of these close-fitting caps—and
short coat. His vest was opened down low, and his scarf came over under his
collar and stuck in his vest. The other man was a short, thick-set man, of
sandy complexion, with whiskers around his face, and had a slouched hat on.
Of what color were his whiskers ?

. Sandy, I think.

Was he a rough or genteel looking man ?

. He was a rough-looking man.

How was he dressed ?

. I cannot state about his dress.

With whom was the conversation ?

. With the tall man.

. State what the conversation was ?

I told him to come into the car, and put my hand on his shoulder. He

came in. He said that three of them had been to New York ; they were Ca-

nadians, but had been at work in New York ; that they had received some

money two nights before—I won’t be positive about the time—and that a third

Earty who had been with them got up in the night, took all the money they
ad, and left ; that he had left them without anything—in a destitute condition.

Q. What were they trying to do, did he say ?

A. He said th:aiy must go to Canada; that they wanted to get home; that
their friends lived in Canada, and that when they got home they would get
pleuty of money, and would remit the amount of fare to me.

Q. What further ?

A. T told them that I could not carry them. I spoke to them of the necessity
of having mouey if they were going to travel, and that I could not carry them
through free. They expressed themselves as very anxious to get through. I
told them that 1 should leave them at the next station—Milton—between Essex
Junction and St. Albans. I was busy when I got there with the train, and so
forgot them. I went through the train again after leaving Milton, and found
them in the rear end of the car. I tried them again to see if they had not some
money. They said they had none, but that they must go to St. Albans; that
when they got there they could foot it. They inquired of me how far it was to
Franklin ; that they were going through the country. I asked them how they
were going to get there? They said they were going afoot.

Q. State where Franklin is ?

A. Franklin lies northwest of St. Albans fourteen miles ; I think the distance
is about four miles from the line—the Canada line.

" Q. Wl';en you asked them how they were going to get to Franklin, what did
they sa

A. They said that they would have to go afoot; that they had no money to
pay their fare on the stage; that if I would carry them to St. Albans they
would try and get home, or where their friends were.

Q. Who did this talking ?

A. The tall man.

Q. In the progress of this talk, or in the beginning of it, state what there
was, if anything, peculiar about their dialect.

A. This tall man tried to use broken English, as if he were a Canuck, but

POPOEOPO

o
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ally he would get a little in earnest for fear he was to be put off, and
would drop the Canuck and speak good square English.

‘hat did you discover as to his square English finally ?

bat was what aroused my suspicions that things were not all right; that

re travelling incog., and I urged the matter more than I would if they

2 really poor people and I had had strong proof of that fact.

id anything happen in relation to the position of the tall man's hands
If 8o, what ?

is hands were not like those of a lahoring man; were not like those of a
n who had been used to hard labor. They were white and delicate.

n (;ook them to St. Albans ?

did.

hen they got to St. Albans what did they do?

hey went out into the yard, on to Lake street. I went into the general
fice to attend to my business.

d you see them any more that day ?

will not be positive. I cannot say whether I did or not.

you did, it was soon after, I suppose ?

8, sir; after I had done my worlf—about ten minutes, perhaps.

mn you tell us the time the train went on from St. Albaus to Montreal
1 got there ? or what time it would be due in Montreal ?

ne there at 9.45 a. m.

1at same morning ?

8, sir.

{ Montreal ?

'8, 8ir.

ave you seen anybody in court to-day that looks like-the tall man that
1

10 man that stood up before me resembles the man that I saw ve
[ should not recognize his face. He had at that time & moustache, wiltz
ters on his chin. He had a cap on.

»w did he wear his skull cap ?

was drawn down over his f?}rehead, in the usual way.

1ything on one side at all ?

it that I poticed.

d you hear anything soon after that about a handkerchief at St.

BRRICK. That is hardly admissible.

IBRREPONT. I mean a handkerchief with Surratt’s mark on it—the
«J. H. Surratt.”

RaDLBY. That doesn’t make any difference.

ourT. Not anything that he heard. If he saw anything of the hand-
it would be proper for him to state it, but not what he heard.
IBRREPONT. I do not believe that he did see it. That's all we wish
witness.

: the cross-examination was proceeded with the following agreement was
nto by counsel on either side :

agree that the time-tables of any railroad in the United States, duly
from the office of the company, for the month of April, 1865, and con-
ith the routes from the city of Washington to Canada, and from Detroit
ec, may be put in evidence, and shall be received without objection ; and,.
that these time-tables shall be produced on either side before the close
ase, in the regular process of the examination.”



172 TRIAL OF JOHN H BSURRATT.

Crose-examination-:

By Mr. BRADLEY :

Q. Have you any time-tables showing when the first steamboat went up the
lake to Burlington from White Hall?

A. I have no means of knowing the time that it arrived at Burlington—that
is, the day of the month. I know it was on a Tuesday morning that I took the
passengers from the first trip of the boat, because her trips are only Tuesdays
and Fridays.

Q. Can you ascertain the day of the month, when you return home ?

A. I cannot. There iz no way that I can get the date, sure. The accounts
go in regularly every trip. There is no difference in them; they are all alike.
I could send you the account for the month; that is all.

Q. You do not know, as I understand from your testimony, whether these
parties came by the steamboat to Burlington, or not?

A. They told me that they lay in the depot at Burlington all night.

Q. You started the next morniug at 5.55 ¢

A. No, sir.

Q. What train brought them to you?

A, It is a short train. 'There is a branch road from Burlington to Essex
Junction. I think there are seven miles of road there.

Q. They arrived, then, at Essex Junction before 5 55 in the morning ?

A. I think, at that season, 5 o’clock in the morning was the time for leaving
Essex. I left White Hall Junction at 11.55; arrived at Essex Junction at 5,
and left there immediately, as soon as I could get the passengers removed and
take on baggage, &c.; and then reached St. Albans, twenty-five miles further
north, at 6 o’clock. .

Q. How far beyond St. Albans did you run?

A. T go twenty-four miles to Rouse’s Point the next morning.

Q. From where?

A. From St. Albans.

Q. What train took up your passengers at St. Albane, and went on' im-
mediately ?

A. It was the morning mail train out of St. Albans, going west.

Q. To Ogdensburg and Montreal 1

A. Yes, sir. The passengers for Ogdensburg and Montreal went to Rouse’s
Point on the train, and then they separated.

Q. What interval was there between your arrival at St. Albans and the de-
parture of the train for Rouse’s Point?

A. 1 think the time allowed for breakfast at that season was twenty or thirty
minutes. At Rouse’s Point there are two trains running northwest—one to
Ogdensburg and the other to Montreal.

Q. What time does that train to Montreal arrive in Montreal ?

A. At 9.45, I think.

Q. I understand you ran up to Rouse’s Point in the morning after your
arrival at St. Albanz, and made a long stay there ?

A. Yes, sir; I think from 7.15 a. m. to 5.45 in the evening. I took my
departure for White River Junction at 5.45 in the evening.

Q. At what time does the afternoon train which you took at Rouse’s Point
leave Montreal ?

A. I think, at that season, it left at 3 o’clock in the afternoon.

Q. Did the passengers, by the Montreal train reach St. Albans in time to
connect with you at 5.457

A. They came back to Rouse’s Point at 5.30, I think—giving me fifteen
minutes in which to change passengers, baggage, &ec.

Q. That is the connecting train?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. What time do you reach White River Junction

A. I reached White River Junction, at that season, at 1 o’clock a. m.—in the
night.

Q. What traio, coming south, takes up your passengers at White River
Junction ?

A. At that time it was a train going directly through Springfield. We have
two roads to New York—one by way of Springfield, and the other by way of
Albauny. :

Q. '{aking the New York road first, what time did the train leave which takes
your passengers? What time does that train leave for Albany ?

A. It leaves for Essex Junction at 8.40, I think, in the evening, going to
Barlington and Albany. Left White River Junction at that time at 1.10, I
think, for Springfield.

Q. The train from New York, then, leaves at Essex Junction ?

A. Yes, sir; for New York by way of Troy and Albany.

Q. Is there any other route except the Springfield route

A. No, sir; except by way of the boats from Rouse’s Point. The boats run
from Lake Champlain to White Hall, leaving Rouse’s Point at 5.45.

Q. Do you recollect whether the tall one of the two persons who went on that
trip with you had any * goatee,” a8 it is called ?

A. I think not, though I would not be sure.

Q. Was not his face quite clean ?

A. Otherwise than a slight moustache.

Q. Do you recollect his eyes at all ?

A. I could not state positively anything about them.

Q. Did not his skin strike you as being quite fair ?

A. No, sir; I should not think he looked very fair. He was poorly clad and
looked as if he had been without his sleep for some time.

Q. The taller one of the two 7

A, Yes, sir; be did all the talking that was done. He looked rather rusty—
not particularly fair.

Q. Do you recollect whether or not, in the month of April, especially the
April of 1865, the route from Albany to Burlington was very irregular ?

A. The boats were irregular in their arrivals at White Hall. They were not
8o irregular out of Burlington.

Q. Did they fail to make their connection with you?

A. Yes, ¢ir; they did on the beginning of navigation.

Q. That is a daily route, is it ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you make more than a trip a day ?

A. No, sir. It takes the boats some twelve or fourteen hours to make the
passage over the lake. They go up one day and come down the next.

Q. Do you know whether that same route goes to Rutland or not ?

A. O, yes, sir; we connect with a train through to Rutland, at Saratoga,
Troy, and Albany. :

Q. Does the boat also go to Rutland ?

A. No, sir; it goes to White Hall.

Q. Can you state whether or not the Troy train to Rutland connects with
any train immediately—morning train ?

A. Yes, sir; I think that train connected with us as it does now. I take the

tleeping car that comes from Troy on at Essex Junction.

Q. At that time, according to your recollection, the morning passengers from

Troy did not lie over at Rutland for the evening train?

A. I think I received those morning passengers from Troy and Albany, with
e sleeping car, on my train at Essex.

Q. Hpaa the arrangement been altered since ?
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A" No, sir.
Q. If a passenger leave Troy in the morning, going north, does the train go

through, or does he lie over in Rutland till the night train passes and then
goes on !

A. No, sir: that train connects with the Rutland train. Some few weeks
ago they did not run in connection with our express train. This irregularity,
however, continued but a short time. It was caused by some misunderstanding
among the managers of the road.

Re-examination by Mr. PIERREPONT:

Q. I understood you to state, that in the beginning of the navigation the
boats were sometimes irregular?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. I understand you to state, alzo, that this train that you speak of contained
the firet boat-load of the season; am I right?

A. Yes, sir; the first boat-load on the lake for that season.

Q. I understand you to state that, after you arrived at St. Albans, you never
saw these two men again ?

A. T am not positive; I was questioned by a gentleman as I was passing to
my boarding place.

(Mr. Merrick objected. Objection sustained.)

Mr. Bradley desiring some rule laid down as to the re-examination of wit-
neeses, after the cross-examination had been concluded,

The CouRrT said: The rule will be, that wherever there is any doubt on the
part of one of the counsel as to what the answer of a witness on cross-examina-
tion has been, he may repeat the question to the wituess, and ascertain from him
what answer he had given. :

CHarLEs H. BLINY, clerk, Weldon House, St. Albans, Vermont ; residence,

St. Albans, Vermont.

By Mr. PiERREPONT:

Q. What was your employment, and where were you employed, between the
10th and the 15th of April, 18657

A. Between the 10th and the 15th of April, 1865, I was employed as night
watchman in the passenger depot of the Vermont Central depot in Burlington,
Vermont.

Q. Do you remember when the first passenger boat of that season landed its
passengers at Burlington that season ?

A. The first trip made by the boat that season was the 17th of April.

Q. What day of the week ?

A. Monday.

Q.1 Can you tell whether it arrived in time for the passengers to take the
train

A. It was four hours late

Q. At what time did it arrive ?

A. About twelve o’clock in the night.

Q. Were you on watch that night in the depot ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see two men in that depot? If so, tell us about them.

A. There were two men who came in from the boat; one was a tall man, aod
the other shorter. They requested permission to sleep in the depot until the
train left for Montreal.

Q. At what time did the train leave?

A. The train left at 4.20 the next morning.

Q. Where did that boat come from ?

s T

-l
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A. It came from White Hall, and connects with the cars from New York
city. It runs from White Hall to Rouse’s Point. on the lake.

Q. State what arrangement, if any, was made between you and them, about
sleeping there.

A. They requested permission to sleep on the benches in the depot.

Q Which one made the request ?

A. The taller gentleman; he did all the talking.

Q. What did he say?

A. He wished to know if he could sleep there. People very often come along
in that way, when the cars from the Rutland road were late.

Q. I am merely asking what he said ?

A. He wished to know if he could sleep there. I asked him if he did not
wish to go to a hotel. He said he thought not; he was going to Montreal on
the early train, and would like to sleep 